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Dear Chairman and Councillors

I advise that an Ordinary Meeting of the Western Metropolitan Regional Council will be held at the
Town of Mosman Park, Cnr Bay View Terrace and Memorial Drive, Mosman Park, WA 6012 on
Thursday 3 December 2020 commencing at 5.30pm.

Stefan Frodsham
Chief Executive Officer

Open Council Meetings – Procedures
1.

All Council meetings are open to the public, except for matters raised by Council under
“confidential items”.

2.

Members of the public may ask a question at an ordinary Council meeting under “public
question time”.

3.

Members of the public who are unfamiliar with meeting procedures are invited to seek advice
at the meeting. If unsure about proceedings, just raise your hand when the presiding member
announces public question time.

4.

All other arrangements are in accordance with the Council’s standing orders, policies and
decisions of the organisation.

Stefan Frodsham
Chief Executive Officer
26 November 2020
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1. DECLARATION OF OPENING
2. RECORD OF ATTENDANCE AND APOLOGIES
Councillors
Cr. C Hohnen

Chairman

Shire of Peppermint Grove

Cr. B Haynes

Deputy Chairman

Town of Claremont

Cr. S Stroud

Member

City of Subiaco

Cr. P Shaw

Member

Town of Mosman Park

Cr. L Young

Member

Town of Cottesloe

Staff
Mr. S Frodsham

Chief Executive Officer

WMRC

Ms. A Bell

Manager Finance & Governance

WMRC

Mr. P Engel

Manager Operations

WMRC

Ms. L Eustance

Manager Communications & Education WMRC

Ms. E Mickels

Customer Service & Finance Officer

WMRC

Leave of Absence
Nil
Visitors
Mr. K Swift

Manager Operations (to 27 November)

Mr. P Ward

Barrister

Francis Burt Chamber

Mr. L Wilk

Solicitor

Jones Day

Mr. J Dyer

Director

Hesperia

Observers

Apologies
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3. DISCLOSURES OF INTERESTS
4. RESPONSE TO PREVIOUS PUBLIC QUESTIONS
TAKEN ON NOTICE
5. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
6. APPLICATIONS FOR LEAVE OF ABSENCE
7. PETITIONS, APPROVED DEPUTATIONS AND
PUBLIC STATEMENTS
8. ANNOUNCEMENTS BY THE PERSON
PRESIDING WITHOUT DISCUSSION
9. CONFIRMATION OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL
MINUTES
9.1

CONFIRMATION OF PREVIOUS ORDINARY COUNCIL
MEETING MINUTES

Minutes of the previous Ordinary Council Meeting held on 1 October 2020 were circulated earlier
under separate cover. A copy of the minutes is at Attachment 9.1A.

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION
9.1.1

That Council accepts the minutes of the previous Ordinary Council Meeting
held on 1 October 2020 as a true and accurate record of proceedings.
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10. REPORTS OF COMMITTEES AND OFFICERS
10.1 SAFETY MANAGEMENT PROGRESS REPORT
Responsible Officer:

Manager Operations

Date:

24 November 2020

SUMMARY
Risk and safety management issues are discussed below.

BACKGROUND
Nil

DETAIL
Incidents and Accidents
There are no safety incidents to report since the last OCM of 1 October 2020.
Safety Actions
The following safety meetings have occurred:
•

Staff have been briefed on the new WMRC OH&S Management Plan.

•

The Safety Risk Register has been integrated with the new WMRC Integrated Risk Register.

•

Toolbox meetings continue to be held fortnightly at the Recycling Centre.

•

The Quarter 3 Safety Committee meeting was held in October.

•

An Emergency Response Plan has been developed for the West Metro Recycling Centre

•

Training continues as and when required including:

•

o
o

first aid training for Cody Cummins

o

forklift training tickets completed for two of our staff members (George Fowler and Paul
Gosford)

fall rescue training conducted by Saferight (a refresher course conducted onsite for
transfer station staff demonstrating how to follow our fall from heights rescue procedure
and use the fall from heights rescue equipment)

Covid-19 contingency planning is discussed on a weekly basis at our management meeting.

Audit Results
No new external audits have taken place since the last council meeting.
Our insurers LGIS will be requested to conduct an external safety audit in May 2021 (their last
audit was May 2019).

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
WMRC OCM Agenda 3 December 2020
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WMRC has duties under the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 (OSH Act) to, so far as
is practicable, provide and maintain a working environment in which the employees of the
employer are not exposed to hazards.

CONSULTATION
Consultation with staff on safety matters is carried out regularly at toolbox meetings, admin
meetings and staff can also relay safety concerns / opportunities for improvement to their safety
representatives to raise with management and for discussion at the quarterly Safety Committee
meetings.

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil

Financial Implications
Nil

Strategic Implications
This item relates to Key Strategy 5 – Build a strong and capable organisation – as set out in the
WMRC Strategic Community Plan.

COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
10.1.1

Council note the report
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10.2 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Responsible Officer:

Manager Finance & Governance

Date:

24 November 2020

Attachments:

10.2A September Accounts; 10.2B
October Accounts

SUMMARY
This report serves as a monthly summary of the Council’s operating financial position. Its primary
purpose is to allow Councillors to be able to track budgeted figures to actual outcomes throughout
the financial year.

BACKGROUND
Reporting requirements are defined by Financial Management Regulations 34 of the Local
Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996.
At the SCM of 14 July 2016, Council resolved to adopt a 10% value for reporting material variances
in the Statements of Financial Activity. Accordingly, variances of 10% or more between actual and
budgeted monthly figures are accompanied with explanatory notes.

DETAIL
Operating statements are presented for the periods ended 30 September and 31 October 2020:
•

For September 2020, WMRC had an operating deficit of $112,042 compared to a budgeted
deficit of $200,808 with a positive variance of $88,766.

•

For October 2020, WMRC had an operating deficit of $250,669 compared to a budgeted
operating deficit of $248,617 with a negative variance of $2,052.

•

As of 31 October 2020, Council had a provisional operating surplus of $111,976 compared
to a budgeted operating deficit of $771 with a positive variance of $112,747.

•

As of 31 October, revenue for the year-to-date is 3% below budget and expenses are 9%
below budget. This is due to lower than budgeted tonnage receivals at the West Metro
Recycling Center. Tonnages were a little over-estimated for the 2020-21 year when setting
the budget due to the surge of waste received in the first four months of the Covid-19 crisis.

Note that Reserve Fund drawdowns are now recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as a
movement in equity and not as budgeted as a Non-operating Grant, Subsidy and Contribution.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
In accordance with the Local Government Act 1995 and Local Government (Financial Management)
Regulations 1996, a Statement of Financial Activity is required to be presented to Council as a
minimum requirement. In addition, an explanation of the net current assets of the month to which the
statement relates is also required.
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In accordance with Regulation 34(5), a report must be compiled on variances greater than the
materiality threshold adopted by Council of 10%. As this report is composed at a summarised level,
variance commentary considers the most significant items that comprise the variance.

CONSULTATION
Nil

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
The Council’s financial reporting is prepared in accordance with its accounting policies. These are
reviewed periodically to ensure compliance with legislative and statutory obligations.

Financial Implications
The report represents the financial position of the Council.

Strategic Implications
The financial statements relate directly to Key Strategy 5 in the Strategic Community Plan - to
develop a strong and capable organisation.

COMMENTS
WMRC revenues are tracking close to budget and costs are well in control.

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
Council note the financial statements for the months of September and October
2020.
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10.3 LIST OF CREDITOR AND DEBTOR PAYMENTS
Responsible Officer:

Manager Finance and Governance

Author:

Customer Service and Finance Officer

Date:

24 November 2020

Attachments:

10.3A September Payments
10.3B October Payments
10.3C Debtors Payments

SUMMARY
The schedule of accounts paid for September and October 2020 is attached for the endorsement of
Council. The schedule of debtors as at 24 November 2020 is attached for receival by Council.

BACKGROUND
Nil

DETAIL
Nil

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Local Government Act 1995
Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996

CONSULTATION
Nil

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil

Financial Implications
Nil

Strategic Implications
This is aligned to strategic actions as follows:
Key Strategy 1: Achieve a comprehensive, cost effective waste management service across the
region.
Key Strategy 5: Develop a strong and capable organisation – Deliver responsible financial
management.

WMRC OCM Agenda 3 December 2020

10

COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
10.3.1 Council endorses the schedule of accounts paid of $363,448.22 and
$440,268.02 for the months of September and October 2020 respectively.
10.3.2 Council receives the schedule of Debtors outstanding at November 24, 2020.
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10.4 MINUTES OF CEOAC MEETINGS
Responsible Officer:

Manager Communications and Education

Date:

23 November 2020

Attachments:

10.4A – Confirmed minutes 17 September
10.4B – Unconfirmed minutes 19 November

SUMMARY
This item presents the confirmed minutes of the 17 September CEOAC meeting and the draft
minutes of the 19 November CEOAC meeting for confirmation and reception respectively.

BACKGROUND
The unconfirmed minutes of the 17 September CEOAC meeting were presented at the October
OCM; and confirmed at the 19 November CEOAC meeting as a true and proper record of the
meeting. The minutes are presented here for reception (Attachment 10.4A).
The unconfirmed minutes of the 19 November CEOAC meeting are presented here for reception
(Attachment 10.4B).

DETAIL
All CEOAC recommendations at the 19 November were unanimous and none were changed from
the officer recommendation.
No new actions were arising from the meeting.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
The CEOAC is constituted as a committee without delegated authority under the Local Government
Act 1995 5(2).

CONSULTATION
Nil

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil

Financial Implications
Nil

Strategic Implications
This item relates to Key Strategy 5 – Develop a strong and capable organisation - in the WMRC
Strategic Community Plan.
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COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
10.4.1 Council receive the confirmed minutes of the 17 September 2020 CEOAC
meeting
10.4.2 Council receive the unconfirmed minutes of the 19 November 2020 CEOAC
meeting
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10.5 AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Responsible Officer:

Manager Finance & Governance

Date:

3 December 2020

Attachments:

10.5A Confirmed Minutes of the
4 August 2020 Audit & Risk
Management Committee
10.5B Annual Financial Report
10.5C Audit Completion Report
(Available at meeting)
10.5D WMRC Integrated Risk Register

SUMMARY
This report seeks Council approval of the minutes of the 4 August 2020 Audit and Risk Management
Committee meeting; presents the Annual Financial Statements for 2019-20 and the annual Audit
Completion Report; presents the new WMRC Integrated Risk Register; and report on the CEO’s
annual review of WMRC Systems.

BACKGROUND
The draft minutes of the 4 August 2020 Audit and Risk Management Committee were provided to
Audit and Risk Management Committee members in August. These minutes were accepted as a
true record of the meeting at the 3 December 2020 Audit and Risk Management Committee and are
presented here for confirmation by the WMRC Council.
In accordance with the Local Government Act 1995, an Audit for the year ended 30 June 2020 has
been completed. The Office of the Auditor General appointed Butler Settineri as WMRC’s auditors.
The Office of the Auditor General reviewed the work carried out by Butler Settineri before issuing the
Audit Completion Report. The Audit Completion Report and Annual Financial Report were made
available at the Audit and Risk Management Committee meeting held immediately prior to this OCM.
At the OCM meeting of August 2019, it was resolved that the remit of the Audit Committee be
extended to cover risk management. As was advised to the Audit Committee at that time, an
Integrated Risk Register should be developed to capture WMRC’s strategic, operational and special
risks. This register has been completed.
Regulation 17 of the Local Government (Audit) Regulations 1996 requires a CEO to review the
appropriateness and effectiveness of a local government’s systems and procedures in relation to
risk management, internal controls, and legislative compliance.

DETAIL
The WMRC’s 2019/20 Annual Report was approved at the October 2020 Ordinary Council Meeting.
The audited Annual Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2020, is presented in accordance
with the provision of the Local Government Act 1995 and addresses all required contents. The
Annual Report will be distributed to key stakeholders and is available on the WMRC website.
Availability of the Annual Report will be advertised through a public notice in a local newspaper.
WMRC OCM Agenda 3 December 2020
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The Audit Completion report was provided at the Audit and Risk Management Committee meeting
held immediately prior to this OCM. Butler Settineri and the Office of the Auditor General attended
to address the Audit and Risk Management Committee.
The WMRC Integrated Risk Register has been developed internally for review by the Audit and Risk
Management Committee. It covers the multiple risk categories faced by the WMRC. The Register
incorporates the Safety Risk Register, such that there is now have a single register covering all of
WMRC’s risk categories.
Audit Regulation 17 prescribes that the CEO’s review may relate to any or all of the matters referred
to (a), (b) and (c), but each of those matters is to be the subject of a review not less than once in
every three financial years; and requires the CEO to report to the Audit and Risk Management
Committee the results of that review. The Annual Compliance Return now requires that a local
government report in its return whether the CEO’s review has been conducted in accordance with
Regulation 17.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Section 5.53 of the Local Government Act 1995 requires a local government to prepare an Annual
Report for each financial year.
Section 6.4 of the Local Government Act 1995 requires a local government to prepare submit its
Annual Financial Report to its auditor by 30 September each year.
Section 5.54 of the Local Government Act 1995 requires the Annual Report to be accepted by the
Council no later than 31 December after that financial year.
Local Government Act 1995 – Part 7.
Local Government (Audit) Regulations 1996 – Section 14, 15 and 17.

CONSULTATION
The Office of the Auditor General and our external auditors, Butler Settineri.
The CEO is to give local public notice of the availability of the annual report as soon as practicable
after the report has been accepted by the local government.

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil

Financial Implications
Nil

Strategic Implications
This is aligned to strategic actions as follows:
Strategy 1: Achieve a comprehensive, cost effective waste management service across the region.
Strategy 5: Develop a strong and capable organisation
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COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION
10.5.1 The minutes of the 4 August 2020 Audit and Risk Management Committee
meeting by confirmed as a true and correct record of the meeting.
10.5.2 Council receive the Annual Financial Report and Audit Completion Report for
the year ended 30 June 2020.
10.5.3 Council note the WMRC Integrated Risk Register.
10.5.4 Council note the report on the CEO’s review of WMRC systems and
procedures for 2020.
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10.6 COUNCIL POLICY REVIEW
Responsible Officer:

Manager Finance and Governance

Date:

14 September 2020

Attachments

10.6A Existing WMRC policies
10.6B Proposed WMRC policies

SUMMARY
This item presents a major review of Council Policies to Council. The review was conducted as part
of the CEO’s review of the appropriateness and effectiveness of a local government’s systems and
procedures in relation to risk management, internal controls, and legislative compliance, as required
by Regulation 17 of the Local Government (Audit) Regulations 1996.

BACKGROUND
The Manager Finance and Governance recently completed the Policies and Procedure Writing
course provided by WALGA. The information gained from the course warranted a major review of
WMRC policies and procedures.
The newly reviewed and restructured WMRC policies have been independently checked by James
McGovern, Governance Manager of WALGA and Ellinore Buchan, Senior Procurement Advisor at
WALGA.

Requirement for Policies
•
•
•

Policies are decision-making tools and apply to both the organisation and staff.
Policies determine how money is spent and should refer to the Strategic Community and/or
Corporate Business Plans.
Council Policies should contain who, what, where, when, and why. They should be specific,
avoid multiple interpretations and be rescinded by council when no longer useful.

Legislation is considered sufficient unto itself. This means that legislation specifically states when a
policy is required, as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Payments to employees over and above award or contract
Gifts policy
Events attendance policy
Policy for continuing Councillor professional development
Purchasing policy
Regional Price Preference policy (not applicable to WMRC)
Section 2.7 of the Local Government Act requires Council to determine policies. Section 5.41
of the Local Government Act requires the CEO to implement Council decisions, deal with day
to day operations, and direct staff. This means that procedures do not need to be approved
by Council.

Requirements for Plans
A Local Government is required to develop and implement:
•

Strategic Community Plan (Local Government Act – in place)
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•
•
•
•
•
•

Corporate Business Plan (Local Government Act – in place)
Occupational Health and Safety Plan (Occupational Health and Safety Act - in place)
Record Keeping Plan (State Records Act – in place)
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (Disability Services Act – in place)
Equal Employment Opportunity Plan (Equal Opportunity Act – in place)
Responsibility Information Plan (Freedom of Information Act - to be developed)

Current Policy Review
At the April 2019 Ordinary Council Meeting, Council resolved to review policies every 3 years, or as
required, in the event of legislative changes. This is in keeping with the requirement under Regulation
17 of the Local Government (Audit) Regulations 1996 for the CEO to complete a review of systems
and procedures not less than once every three financial years.

DETAIL
A review of our existing large suite of policies makes clear that WMRC has the opportunity to
amalgamate necessary policies and eliminate those which can be adequately covered by
procedures, plans and systems.

Council Policies to be amalgamated
The following Council policies relate to expenditure or directives within the Strategic Community Plan
or Corporate Business Plan. It is proposed to reduce the number of Council Policies by
amalgamating those with a similar overall purpose
Existing Policy
Name

Replacement
Policy Name

Reason for Replacement

Matching Procedure

1: Accounting

Council
Policy:
Finance

One policy to cover:

•
•

2: Journal Entries
3: Investments
13: Donations
20: Corporate
Credit Cards

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

29: Debt Collection

Accounting
Audits
Budget management
Borrowing
Credit cards
Debt collection &
financial hardship
Donations
Employee entitlements
Financial statements
Journal entries
Investments
Receivables
Payables
Asset management

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

5: Members Sitting
Fees

Council
Policy:
Elected
Members

One policy combining
events, training, meeting
venues, and sitting fees
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•
•

Accounts Receivable
Annual Compliance
Return
Asset Management
Audits
Budget Review
Cash, Eftpos & Banking
Corporate Credit Cards
Donations
Financial Hardship
Financial Statements
Fuel Tax Credits
Investments
Journal Entries
Reconciliations
Related Party
Disclosures
Tax Reporting
Members Sitting Fees
Setting Council Meeting
Dates

7: Purchasing
8: Public Tenders
16:
Superannuation
18: Additional
payments to award
or contract

•

Elected Member
Continued Development

One policy to cover
purchasing and tenders

•
•

Purchasing
Tenders

Council
One policy to cover staff
Policy:
payments including
Employee
payments above award
Remuneration

•
•
•
•
•

Payroll & Super
Additional Payments
Staff Development
Onboarding
Administration

Council
Policy: Major
Strategic and
Financial
Decisions

•
•

Fees & Charges
Strategic Documents

Council
Policy:
Purchasing

34: Employee
Renumeration
35: Major Strategic
and Financial
Decisions

Updated to include the
Strategic Objectives as
outlined in the Strategic
Community Plan. No other
changes

Changes to Council Policies
The above is a reorganisation of Council Policies with financial details remaining in the policy and
lengthy details relocated to a procedure. There have been no changes to the content of the policies
except for the below:
•
•
•

•

•

Events Attendance & Gifts: The Events Attendance section is new and satisfies Section
5.90A of the Local Government Act.
Elected Members: The Continuing Professional Development section is new and satisfies
Section 5.126, 5.127 and 5.128 of the Local Government Act.
Employee Payments: The requirement for an employee to have worked for the WMRC for
10 years before qualifying for an additional payment to award or contract has been removed.
Payments continue to be at the sole discretion of the WMRC and/or Council.
Purchasing & Tenders: Purchasing limits now match those suggested by WALGA except for
verbal quotes. The current limit for verbal quotes is $9,999 and WALGA suggests $20,000.
A limit of $5,000 for verbal quotes is considered, by management, to be reasonable. This
also allows multiple sections which require three quotes in the current purchasing policy to
be combined.
Purchasing & Tenders: The requirement for a file note explaining the acceptance of verbal
quotes over $500 has been removed.
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Existing Council Policies to be relegated to HR and Operational Policies
The following policies do not relate to expenditure or directives within the Strategic Community Plan
or Corporate Business Plan and may be relegated from Council Policies to internal HR or operational
policies, much as Council decided in 2018 to relegate HR policies for inclusion in a WMRC HR
Manual.
Existing Council Policy

Replacement internal Policy

12: Code of Conduct

HR Policy: Code of Conduct

15: Injury Management

Operations Policy: Injury
Management

21: Media Relations

Operations Policy: Media
Relations

25: Training and
Development

HR Policy: Training &
Development

26: Contractor Management

Operations Policy: Contractor
Management

28: Light Motor Vehicles

Council Policy: Finance
HR Policy: Safe Driving

32: Execution of Documents

Operations Policy: Execution of
Documents

33: Social Media

HR Policy: Social Media

36: Risk Management

Operational Risk Matrix

Reason for Change

Not related to expenditure,
the SCP or CBP

To be split into asset
management and safe driving

Not related to expenditure,
the SCP or CBP

Council Policies to be rescinded
The following WMRC Council policies are not required by legislation, do not relate to expenditure or
directives within the Strategic Community Plan or Corporate Business Plan; or may be covered by a
statutory plan. This means the following policies may be rescinded by Council.
Existing Policy Name

Comment

4: Council Meetings

Content now covered by the WMRC Local Law –
Standing Orders.

9: Equal Opportunity: Discrimination,
Harassment and Bullying

Legislation requires an Equal Employment
Opportunities plan only. There is also a HR policy
covering these issues.

19: Records Management

Legislation requires a Record Keeping Plan only

23: Disability Access and Inclusion

Legislation requires a Disability Access and Inclusion
Plan only
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Policy Review going forward
With fewer Council policies to administer, this reform affords the opportunity for an annual internal
policy review in conjunction with the annual review of the Corporate Business Plan with the results
and any recommended changes brought to Council. WALGA recommend that policies are reviewed
every year.
•

•
•

•

Policies referring to strategic documents should be reviewed with the strategic documents.
The Strategic Community Plan is required to undergo a review every two years and major
review every four years.
The Corporate Business Plan is required to undergo a review every year.
Policies relating to sections of the strategic documents associated with risk management,
internal controls and legislative compliance fall under review responsibilities as set out under
Regulation 17 of the Local Government (Audit) Regulations 1996. This review is conducted
by the CEO and the outcome reported to the Audit and Risk Management Committee
annually.
Regulation 5 of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996 requires
the CEO to establish and review efficient systems and procedures relating to financial
management. This review is to be conducted by the CEO once every three years and
reported to Council.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
•
•
•
•
•
•

Local Government Act
Occupational Health and Safety Act
State Records Act
Freedom of Information Act
Disability Services Act
Equal Opportunity Act

CONSULTATION
WALGA Policy and Procedures Course
James McGovern, Governance Manager, WALGA
Ellinore Buchan, Senior Procurement Advisor, WALGA

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
This review and restructure of Council policies will simplify administration, improve compliance and
the efficiency of WMRC administration.

Financial Implications
No direct financial implication.

Strategic Implications
The review and reform of Council Policies are aligned with Strategic Community Plan.
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COMMENTS
This policy review affords Council the opportunity to significantly improve the efficiency of the
administration of the WMRC with no reduction in its proper oversight by Council.

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
10.6.1 Council rescind all existing Council Policies.
10.6.2 Council endorse the following replacement Council Policies:
o Council Policy 1: Elected Members
o Council Policy 2: Employee Remuneration
o Council Policy 3: Events Attendance & Gifts
o Council Policy 4: Finance
o Council Policy 5: Purchases & Tenders
o Council Policy 6: Major Strategic and Financial Decisions
10.6.3 The CEO subject the replacement six Council Policies to annual internal
review and report the results to Council
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10.7 COUNCIL DELEGATION REVIEW
Responsible Officer:

Manager Finance & Governance

Date:

24 November 2020

Attachments:

10.7A WMRC Delegations Register - reviewed
10.7B Expenditure Authority Limits - reviewed

SUMMARY
A review of the Delegations Register and expenditure authorities is required.

BACKGROUND
The current Delegations Register was adopted by Council on 6 February 2020. A revised draft
Delegations Register is included as Attachment 10.8A to this report. Expenditure Authority Limits
were last reviewed 7 February 2019. A revised draft Expenditure Authority Limit schedule is included
at Attachment 10.8B to this report.

DETAIL
A review of the Delegations Register has resulted in the following changes for the consideration of
Council:
•
•

Delegation 7 – Accepting Tenders. The tender limit has been updated to $250,000 as per
11A(1) of the Local Government (Functions & General) Regulations 1996
Policy titles updated to match the new suite of WMRC Council Policies

A review of the Expenditure Authority Limits has resulted in the following changes for the
consideration of Council:
•

•

The Chief Executive Officers expenditure limit has been updated to $250,000 to match the
tender limit. This was recommended by Ellinore Buchan, Senior Purchasing Advisor of
WALGA. Ms Buchan advised that it was irregular for the CEOs spending authority to differ
from the tender limit. As purchasing activity is administrative in nature, the authority to incur
liabilities is a procedure that can be set by the CEO. It is procedural for the CEO to include
their own ability to incur liabilities of up to $250k as well as any other authorisations deemed
appropriate under that level by other positions or individuals.
Policy titles updated to match the new suite of WMRC Council Policies

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Section 5.42 of the Local Government Act 1995 provides that a local government may delegate to
the CEO the exercise of any of its powers or the discharge of any of its duties under the Act other
than those referred to in section 5.43 (limits on delegations to the CEO).
Section 5.41 of the Local Government Act 1995 outlines the Functions of the CEO, which require no
further delegation by a local government.
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Section 5.46 (1) of the Local Government Act 1995 requires the CEO to keep a register of
delegations made to the CEO under section 5.41 and employees under section 5.44.
Section 5.46 (2) of the Local Government Act 1995 requires that at least once every financial year,
delegations made under this Division are to be reviewed by the delegator. The Delegations Register
was last reviewed by Council in 2019.

CONSULTATION
Ellinore Buchan, Senior Procurement Advisor, WALGA

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil.

Financial Implications
Nil.

Strategic Implications
The review of the Delegations Register is aligned with the WMRC Key Strategy 5 as set out in the
Strategic Community Plan 2019-20 to 2029-30: “Develop and strong and capable organisation”.

COMMENTS
Delegations are intended to assist with improving the time taken to make decisions within the
constraints imposed by legislation.

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Absolute Majority.

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION
10.7.1

The Chief Executive Officers expenditure limit be increased to $250,000.

10.7.2

The delegations of authority to the Chief Executive Officer and other
employees as detailed in Attachment 10.6A to this report be adopted in
accordance with section 5.42 of the Local Government Act 1995.
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10.8 OFFICE LEASE
Responsible Officer:

Manage Finance & Governance

Date:

24 November 2020

Attachment:

Nil

SUMMARY
A lease extension for the current administration office to facilitate an office refit.

BACKGROUND
The WMRC Administration Office has been headquartered at Churchill Avenue in Subiaco since July
2019. The office lease is due to expire in July 2021.

DETAIL
A re-fit of the WMRC Administration office is planned, to integrate reception within the rest of the
office, which involves relocating the meeting room to the front of the office. This will resolve the
existing safety and security problem of reception being isolated with no avenue of retreat for the
receptionist in case of difficulties. The re-fit also affords the opportunity to bring natural light into the
open plan area.
The current two-year lease for the WMRC Administration office expires in July 2021. It is proposed
that the lease be extended by two years prior to provide the security of tenure needed to undertake
the expense of the office re-fit. It is anticipated that a lease extension can be negotiated with little
impact on the operating budget.
WMRC is consulting with Churchill Strata regarding a possible landlord contribution towards the cost
of the re-fit.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Nil

CONSULTATION
Nil

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
None.

Financial Implications
Nil. Rent and outgoings are not expected to increase.

Strategic Implications
Nil
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COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority.

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
10.8.1 The Chief Executive be authorised to negotiate and execute a two-year
extension of the lease of the WMRC office premises at Unit 2, 317 Churchill Ave,
Subiaco.
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10.9 SUBMISSION ON DWER WARR ACT CONSULTATION
Responsible Officer:

Manager Communications & Education

Date:

25 November 2020

Attachment:

10.9A WALGA submission on the
Review of the WARR Act

SUMMARY
DWER had a discussion paper open for consultation until 25 November which is contemplating
possible changes to the WARR Act. MWAC (WALGA) has created a draft submission on the
paper which WMRC supports with some supplementary comments as included in this report.

BACKGROUND
This is the second five-yearly review of the Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 2007
(WARR Act). No changes were made following the previous review. The Waste Strategy 2030 has
been released since that first review.
The DWER discussion paper is available here and contains a summary of the WARR Act and puts
this current review in the context of other recent reviews (e.g. the OAG Audit of 2016 and follow-up
reports; and legislative reforms such as those presented to the WMRC OCM on 4 June).
MWAC is a standing committee of the WALGA with delegated authority to represent the
Association in all matters relating to solid waste management. As in previous consultations, their
submissions represent the consolidated view of Local Government and Regional Councils.
WALGA’s draft submission on the discussion paper is in Attachment 10-xxxA.
The closing date of the consultation period does not align with WMRC OCM timetables; hence this
matter had been circulated previously to Councillors; this item is to endorse sending the WMRC
submission to DWER.

DETAIL
DWER’s discussion paper is structured around a series of key issues to be addressed. Responses
detailed here are in the form of answers to questions posed in the discussion paper.
1. Please provide feedback on the roles and functions of the Waste Authority and the CEO
and department under the WARR Act? What are the potential areas for improvement?
What benefits or impacts may result from clarifying the department’s role and
responsibilities?
The current model has the Waste Authority essentially acting as an advisory board to DWER; the
Authority’s functions are all subject to the approval of the Minister. References to the CEO in the
WARR Act are to the DWER CEO. DWER provides staff/services to the Authority and there are
complex decision-making arrangements between the Minister, the Department and the Authority.
The Waste Authority acting as a standalone agency with policy and program roles would be
clearer; regulatory roles would remain with DWER. In addition, it would facilitate progress towards
a circular economy model as envisaged in the Waste Strategy 2030. This would require more
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direct access to other government agencies eg DMIRS, DPIRD. WMRC notes that this move is
counter to this government’s reduction in the number of agencies.
The WALGA submission prefers a standalone model with a role in policy and programs with
DWER retaining a regulatory role. WMRC concurs. It is interesting to note that the original
organisation created by the State Government (the independent Office of Waste Management) to
deal with waste management was based on this standalone model.
2. Are there any potential issues arising from the proposed reforms to improve the
administration of the WARR Account?
This is largely an administrative matter. WMRC has no specific comment.
3. Please provide feedback on the proposal to allow the Waste Authority to directly employ its
own staff, or to enable the Minister for Environment or some other person to employ or
appoint persons to work directly for the Waste Authority. Will this support the work of the
Waste Authority and the department?
Past experience with staff employed separately by the Waste Authority led to duplication with the
work of DWER staff. If the structure of the Authority is changed to ensure all staff working on
programs and policy are clearly coordinated with each other, then staff should be directly employed
by the Authority.
4. What are your views about the proposal to enhance the capacity of the WARR Act to
improve waste services? Do you see any potential issues?
The discussion paper is very brief on what is intended here. However, notes do indicate some
possible areas requiring clarification within the Act:
•

•

•

•

The WARR Act section 3 in describing Waste Services makes no mention of education and
communications as being part of the waste services Local Governments should provide. It
is WMRC’s contention that these are a necessary element of waste services and should be
listed alongside collection, processing, disposal, transport etc.
The Act includes mention of “Waste Collection Permits” which allow the DWER CEO to
effectively contract out waste collections from Local Governments under specified but
vague circumstances. Collection is only one part of waste services and does not operate in
isolation. The WMRC’s view is that there is not enough information to support any changes
in the Act in this area.
Waste services provision for Local Governments is necessarily in concert with industry
players; therefore outcomes desired by DWER require industry participation. Local
Governments cannot be penalised unduly for not providing waste services that are not yet
provided in the marketplace. An example of this is the drive towards FOGO services when
there are few current realistic processing options for some councils. The WMRC supports
the WARR Act recognising this.
The Waste Strategy 2030 envisages WA moving towards a circular economy and as noted
above under Q1, this has far wider implications than those properly housed within the
environmental regulation portfolio. The WMRC recommends an expansion of the capacity
of the WARR Act to recognise this.

5. Are there any potential issues that may result from these proposals to improve operational
and administration aspects of the CDS?
There are two specific proposals relating to the operation of the CDS. WMRC supports these
proposals.
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6. Please provide comments on product stewardship plans or extended producer
responsibility schemes, and if the WARR Act requires amendments to support their
introduction.
The WMRC’s view is that creating state-based product stewardship plans or extended producer
responsibility schemes should be facilitated only in the absence of national plans or schemes. The
WMRC supports the strengthening of the WARR Act to enable this.
7. Please provide feedback on these proposed changes to support regulations that implement
the waste management framework. Will increasing penalties under the regulations be
effective in deterring illegal waste activities?
The WMRC is not aware of any evidence of increased penalties decreasing illegal waste activities
in the absence of other activities such as increased funding for compliance activities. However, on
prima facie grounds it would appear beneficial.
8. Are there any other matters which should be considered as part of this review of the WARR
Act?
Facilitating WMRC’s transition to a circular economy as envisaged in the Waste Strategy 2030 (but
not at the time of drafting the WARR Act) should certainly be considered in this review.
The current Regional Councils are diverse and have significantly different memberships, sizes,
purposes, and relationships with their Members. WMRC does not support the consolidation of the
number of Regional Councils but does support revised arrangements to effectively service their
specific regions and populations, enhance the efficient use of existing waste infrastructure and
minimise waste transport impacts.
9. How do you think the WARR Act could better support an innovative and thriving waste
sector, and ensure that waste and recycling services are effective?
In addition to the points in response to previous questions, particularly Qs 1,4, and 8, framing the
WARR Act more in the context of a circular economy rather than the more end-of-pipe waste
hierarchy would help the waste industry to innovate and thrive.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
WMRC Establishment Agreement 1998 6.1 (c)

CONSULTATION
Relevant Member Council officers, WMRC Councillors

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil

Financial Implications
Nil

Strategic Implications
This matter is in service of fulfilling Key Strategy 6 “Contribute to the development of effective
policy and advocate on our Member Councils’ behalf.”
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COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
10.9.1 To endorse the submission to DWER of the contents of this previously
circulated report on behalf of the WMRC and its Member Councils.
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10.10

MEETING DATES 2021

Responsible Officer:

Manager Operations

Date:

14 November 2020

Attachment:

Nil

SUMMARY
Meeting dates for the WMRC’s Ordinary Council Meetings, Audit and Risk Management
Committee and the Chief Executive Officers Advisory Committee (CEOAC) for the 2020 calendar
year are proposed for adoption by Council.

BACKGROUND
The WMRC develops a meeting calendar each year and when selecting suitable dates ensures
that, where possible, there are no clashes with member councils’ meeting dates. The WMRC
Ordinary Council Meetings are usually held at 5:30pm on the first Thursday of every second month
(February, April, June, August, October and December). Meetings of the CEOAC are scheduled in
the month prior to each Council meeting. It is proposed that existing Council and Committee
meeting schedules continue into 2021.

DETAIL
Council historically sets six fixed Council meeting dates a year. Council has established two
committees to assist in its decision-making.
The CEOAC generally meets at 2:00pm on the third Thursday prior to each Ordinary Council
Meeting and the minutes from CEOAC meetings form part of the next Ordinary Council Meeting’s
agenda. The role of the CEOAC is to consider matters within its terms of reference and provide
advice to Council.
The Audit and Risk Management Committee is established in accordance with section 7.1A of the
Local Government Act 1995. The committee consists of at least three Councillors and guides the
WMRC’s audit processes and financial and risk management.
OCM venue and dates in 2021 are proposed as follows:
•

4 Feb - Subiaco

•

5 Aug - Cottesloe

•

1 Apr - Mosman Park

•

7 Oct - Peppermint Grove

•

3 Jun - Claremont

•

2 Dec - Subiaco

CEOAC meetings on the 3rd Thursday of every second month (preceding a Council meeting) will be
teleconferenced. The proposed 2021 CEOAC meeting dates are as follows:
•

21 Jan

•

15 Jul

•

18 Mar

•

16 Sep

•

20 May

•

18 Nov
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Audit and Risk Management Committee meeting dates will be arranged and convened as required;
these are usually held at 5:00pm immediately preceding an Ordinary Council Meeting.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Section 5.25(1)(g) of the Local Government Act 1995 and Regulation 12 of the Local Government
(Administration) Regulations 1996 requires that at least once a year local public notice is to be
given of all Ordinary Council Meetings and Committee meeting dates, times and places that are to
be open to the public and are to be held in the next 12 months.

CONSULTATION
Nil – business as usual.

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil

Financial Implications
Nil

Strategic Implications
This item relates to Key Strategy 5 – develop a strong and capable organisation – of the WMRC
Strategic Community Plan.

COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
10.10.1 The proposed OCM and Committee meeting dates, times and locations for
2021 be adopted.
10.10.2 The OCM host member council be requested to provide and pay for the
WMRC Council dinner on meeting days.
10.10.3 Local public notice of OCM be given in accordance with R.12 of the Local
Government (Administration) Regulations 1996.
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10.11

OPENING HOURS DURING CHRISTMAS

Responsible Officer:

Manager Finance & Governance

Date:

24 November 2020

Attachment:

Nil

SUMMARY
Each year, Council approves the trading hours of the WMRC for the upcoming calendar year or any
changes to previously approved trading hours.

BACKGROUND
The West Metro Recycling Centre is historically closed on Christmas Day and New Year’s Day and
opens between 7.30am and 2.00pm on public holidays. This is included on all promotional material
for the facility.
The WMRC Administration Office will remain open over the Christmas period. Staff are welcome to
use annual leave if they would prefer to take the Christmas period off.

DETAIL
It is proposed that the WMRC Administration Office be closed from 4.00pm Thursday 24 December
2020 and reopen as usual on Tuesday, 29 December 2020. Public holidays will be observed on:
•
•
•

Friday, 25 December 2020 (Christmas Day)
Monday 28 December 2020 (observed Boxing Day)
Friday, 1 January 2021 (New Year’s Day)

It is proposed the West Metro Recycling Centre be opened on the following days and times over the
Christmas and New Year period:
Thursday

24 December 2019

7.30am – 4.00pm

Friday

25 December 2019

CLOSED

Saturday

26 December 2019

7.30am – 2.00pm

Sunday

27 December 2019

8.00am – 4.00pm

Monday

28 December 2019

7.30am – 2.00pm

Tuesday

29 December 2019

7.30am – 4.00pm

Wednesday

30 December 2019

7.30am – 4.00pm

Thursday

31 December 2019

7.30am – 4.00pm

Friday

1 January 2020

CLOSED

Saturday

2 January 2020

8.00am – 4.00pm

Sunday

3 January 2020

8.00am – 4.00pm
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Monday

4 January 2020

7.30am – 4.00pm

Tuesday

5 January 2020

7.30am – 4.00pm

It is also proposed that the West Metro Recycling Centre close at 12.30pm on the day of Friday
4 December 2020 to allow all WMRC staff to attend their Christmas function. The Recycling Centre
would ordinarily close at 4.00pm. Member Councils and commercial operators will need to be
formally advised and an advertisement will need to be placed in the newspaper and on the Council
website.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Local Government Act (Regulations) 1995

CONSULTATION
Nil

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil

Financial Implications
This is already accounted for in the 2020-21 budget

Strategic Implications
This will contribute to the following Key Strategy 5: Develop a strong and capable organisation

COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
10.11.1 The WMRC Administration Office and the West Metro Recycling Centre be
closed from 12:30pm on Friday 4 December 2020.
10.11.2 The WMRC Administration Office be closed on Christmas Day and the
observed Boxing Day public holiday (28 Dec), and New Year’s Day.
10.11.3 The West Metro Recycling Centre be closed on Christmas Day and New Year’s
Day.
10.11.4 Local public notice be given on the WMRC Christmas and New Year closure
times.
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11. INFORMATION BULLETINS
11.1 COMMUNICATIONS AND EDUCATION REPORT
Responsible Officer:

Manager Communication and Education

Date:

20 November 2020

Attachment:

Nil

SUMMARY
An information item detailing Communications and Education team activity for the period

BACKGROUND
The Communications and Education team’s role includes corporate communications and
marketing, community waste education, member council staff support and waste strategy/policy
advisory/advocacy services.

Contents include
1.
2.
3.
4.

Verge Valet introduction to Town of Cambridge
Community Education and Events
Bin tagging
Media Content

DETAIL
1. Verge Valet introduction to Town of Cambridge
Ratings
(out of 5)

MP

Cott

Camb

Booking
System
(out of 5)

4.78

4.91

4.60

Collection
Service
(out of 5)

4.62

4.75

4.41

As a
whole
(out of 5)

4.66

4.85

4.35

Prefer VV
(%)

80%

81%

52%

The first Verge Valet collections in Town of Cambridge
were on 3 and 4 November. Prior to that they were
provided with brochures and online collateral to assist in
communicating the change to their residents. We also ran
two training courses for their staff (rangers, front desk,
comms, waste, infrastructure etc). The website has been
upgraded and updated, the booking process further refined,
FAQs provided for staff and two Project Control Group
meetings held. There have been many resident queries
answered by staff through the Hotline and email. Town of
Cambridge staff have indicated that they are very satisfied
with the rollout, including with the ability for the Town to use
it for illegal dumping incidents.
The introduction of the service has occurred just after the
regular time of the previous scheduled service and is
coinciding with the pre-Christmas period. This has probably
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Indifferent
VV or
scheduled

11%

8%

20%

been a factor in the slightly lower resident customer
satisfaction levels.

2. Community Education and Events
The Community Education team has run or contributed to several events:
Residents at the tour of SMRC
Regional Resource Recovery
Facility. This event was provided
as part of our Recycle Right
membership, run in National
Recycling Week and was sold out.
A second tour is planned for
March.

The Modern Cloth Nappy
workshop was well-attended and
valued by new and prospective
parents and grandparents.

A Community Recycling Drop off
Day was held in conjunction with
the Town of Claremont. Around
130 residents visited and nearly a
complete skip each of e-waste and
cardboard were collected. This is
about the same quantity as is
collected in a week at the West
Metro RC.
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Information stall at the Mosman
Park Craft Market.
A similar stall was also provided at
the Subiaco Farmers’ Market.

3. Bin tagging
The fieldwork component of this project is now complete and data analysis/reporting in underway.
As this project was interrupted by COVID, it was not possible to carry out a full program for any of
the four council areas. Most residents were recycling correctly or only making minor errors.
However, there were a few of the 200 properties surveyed in the Town of Claremont and 400 in the
City of Subiaco where repeatedly contaminated recycling bins were eligible for being taped closed.
Funding from the WARR Account and administered by WALGA contributed to the costs of this
project.
WALGA has received funding for a further three years of bin tagging and WMRC is in contact with
Member Council officers to ascertain whether they prefer WMRC to continue to run these
programs on their behalf.

Examples of contaminated recycling bins
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4. Media Content
4.1 Print Media

Letter Post 10 Oct

Letter Post 17 Oct

Article Post 17 Oct

Letter Post 23 Oct
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Article Post 23 Oct

Article Post 9 Nov

Article WSW 5 Nov

Ad Post 24 Oct
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Ad 31 Oct

Ad 7 Nov

Ad 7 Nov
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Ad – 20 Nov This is the first of a monthly series of half page ads in the Post

6.2 Social Media
We continue to post 1-2 times per day on Facebook and Instagram. Our Facebook page remains
the most active with 2240 likes. The most popular posts on our Facebook feed are shown below.
Posts have an estimated average organic reach of 300 views.
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STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Nil

CONSULTATION
Nil

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
All social media use is in line with relevant WMRC policies

Financial Implications
These activities are anticipated under current budgeting.

Strategic Implications
These activities are aligned to key strategies 1, 2, 3, 6 and make a major contribution to key
strategy 4 of the WMRC Strategic Community Plan 2019-2030.

COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
11.1.1

That the Communications and Education report to 20 November be
noted
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11.2 VERGE VALET
Responsible Officer:

Manager Operations
Manager Comms & Ed

Date:

23 November 2020

Attachment:

Nil

SUMMARY
This report provides updates on the status of the Verge Valet service.

BACKGROUND
The WMRC began offering Verge Valet to Member Council and neighbouring council residents
from February of 2020. Town of Mosman Park were the first council to take up the new service
followed by Town of Cottesloe in July and Town of Cambridge in November.

DETAIL
Verge Valet provides residents of councils which participate with year-round access to verge
waste collections, both bulk and green waste on a date convenient to them.
The Town of Cambridge have become the third council in our catchment area to take on the
increasingly popular Verge Valet bulk waste collection service. Following in the footsteps of
Mosman Park and Cottesloe, Verge Valet collections began in the Town of Cambridge on
November 3. Given the size of the Cambridge council area, Verge Valet collections take place
over two days each week (Tues / Wed) with approximately 120 collections available on each
day. As expected, early take up of the service has been high with over 750 bookings processed
as of Nov 19. Weeks 2 and 3 of the service were fully allocated with week 4 also expected to
reach maximum capacity for collections. These numbers are expected to stabilise as Cambridge
schedule their traditional verge collections for October and therefore their residents were waiting
on the new service to begin.
As the Town is not a Member Council, but a Participating Council, and therefore services
provided by the WMRC do not fall under the Establishment Agreement, the WMRC had a
commercial contract drafted by our lawyers to cover activities provided in the Verge Valet
service. This contract has since been signed by Town of Cambridge. The contract can also be
used if other non-Member Councils request the service. For Member Councils, an MOU is
sufficient to clarify the relationships between parties, owing to the umbrella coverage of the
Establishment Agreement.
WMRC personnel have been working closely with Cambridge staff to ensure the roll out to
Cambridge residents has been as smooth as possible. The transition from traditional bulk
pickups to pre-booked verge style collections requires a great deal of communications with both
council officers, who are learning the service for the first time, and residents. WMRC staff
conducted two training sessions with Town of Cambridge staff to introduce them to the new
service. A total of 30 Town of Cambridge staff members attended those training sessions. The
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Town of Cambridge staff have been active online to promote the system to their residents. The
WMRC’s Recycling Hotline has been extremely busy since the introduction of the Cambridge
Verge Valet service.

Verge Valet Extra
To improve on the current service Verge Valet now includes the option for residents to purchase
extra services if they have used up their council allocated quota. This Verge Valet Extra option is
currently live for Mosman Park residents as their Verge Valet service is the longest running. It is
envisaged that the Verge Valet Extra option will be rolled out to Town of Cottesloe and Town of
Cambridge residents in coming weeks / months.

Verge Valet by numbers
Council

Start Date

Total Bulk Waste
Collected to date (T)

Total Green Waste
Collected to date (T)

Town of Mosman Park

Feb 20

163.15

132.81

Town of Cottesloe

Jul 20

19.35

25.77

Town of Cambridge

Nov 20

48.38

23.24

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
WMRC Establishment Agreement

CONSULTATION
Nil

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Implications under WMRC policies

Financial Implications
Budget and other financial impact

Strategic Implications
This report is aligned with the following Key Strategies:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Achieve a comprehensive, cost-effective waste management service across the region
Increase the number of Councils, businesses and people using our services
Divert waste from landfill by making materials and energy recovery available
Promote and facilitate waste avoidance and responsible waste management in the
community

COMMENTS
Nil
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VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
11.2.1

That the report be noted
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11.3 OPERATIONS REPORT
Responsible Officer:

Manager Operations

Date:

24 November 2020

Attachment:

11.3A Waste Tonnes Charts

SUMMARY
This report provides updates on the status of waste operations. Council is requested to receive
the report.

BACKGROUND
Nil

DETAIL
Business as usual at the West Metro Recycling Centre.

West Metro RC Staffing
During November George Fowler (Site Supervisor) reached a significant milestone having clocked
up 20 years’ service working for the WMRC at the recycling centre.
Recruitment is underway for a casual employee at the recycling centre to cover holidays and gaps
in shift rosters.

Construction and Demolition Waste
This remains a popular service with 246T of C&D Waste received since the service began on Jul
1st. Revenue from this new waste stream has already paid for the precast concrete walls that were
purchased to establish the C&D storage bay AND also the walls purchased to stockpile WMRC’s
“free” mulch for residents. These precast concrete walls will remain a valuable asset for the WMRC
for many years.

New Services
Plastic Plant Pot recycling – Our latest exciting new service at the West Metro Recycling Centre
for members and participating councils and residents started on 5 Oct. Plastic plant pots are now
collected for recycling by Claw Environmental who also recycle our large volumes of bulk
polystyrene. We also have residents asking if they can reuse some of our collected pots which of
course they are very welcome to do.
CDS drop off for Paraquad – Paraquad has provided two wheelie bins for collection of
recyclables through the CDS. Weighbridge staff have also been provided information from
Paraquad with regards to their location and the services they provide. This information is being
passed on to our member council residents upon arrival at the recycling centre, To date, most
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residents choose to go direct to Paraquad and receive the refund or possibly choosing another
charity to donate to once at the Paraquad site.

Procurement
A secondhand forklift has been purchased and delivered to site. The procurement of a forklift
reduces the risk of injury to staff as it gives them a mechanical means of moving heavier objects
around the site. It also improves efficiency and opens the door to new services being provided to
residents. Our new plastic plant pot service is a direct result of having a forklift as Claw
Environmental had no means of loading the pallets of pots onto their truck.
Three separate RFQ’s have been released:
•
•

•

refit of the weighbridge office – the current fittings / décor in the weighbridge are unchanged
since the weighbridge office was first installed in 1992;
replacement silos for the waste transfer station - the existing silo silos are long overdue for
replacement; and represent one of the chief exposures of the WMRC to risk. The RFQ will
enable the WMRC to complete its business case evaluation for either replacing or
refurbishing the current waste transfer system; and
Replacement of silo ‘deflector plates” - a hinged triple plate configuration which funnels /
deflects waste into the silos. The current set of plates has been in place for over 10 years
and needs attention. Again, the results of this RFQ will feed into the business case evaluation
for either replacing or refurbishing our current waste transfer system

Waste to Energy Tender
Tender evaluations for Receipt of Residual Waste for Energy Recovery are reaching the
final stages. Expert legal advice has guided the evaluation at every stage, particularly in the
framing of our draft waste supply agreement.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Nil

CONSULTATION
Nil

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil

Financial Implications
Nil

Strategic Implications
Activities referred to in the Operations Report relate directly to WMRC Key Strategies 1,2,3,4

COMMENTS
Nil
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VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

COMMENTS
Nil

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
11.3.1

The Operations report be noted.
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11.4 CUSTOMER SERVICE CHARTER
Responsible Officer:

Chief Executive

Date:

20 November 2020

Attachment:

11.4A

SUMMARY
The WMRC has prepared a Customer Service Charter which is presented for review and comment
by Council.

BACKGROUND
The WMRC is very much in the customer service business whether serving member councils,
commercial customers or the general public. Recognising the importance of good customer service
to our business and in better fulfilling our customer service responsibilities, we are steadily
improving our customer service standards.
This Customer Service Charter is WMRC’s first.

DETAIL
Improving Customer Service
In the past two years, WMRC has steadily improved its customer service by:
•

Adding new and improved services including:
o

A waste planning service for member councils

o

Rolling out the premium pre-booked bulk waste Verge Valet service

o

Introducing a construction and demolition waste service at considerable savings for
customers over the previous charges

o

Introducing new community recycling services for bulk polystyrene, x-rays, plastic
plant pots, and sporting equipment (reuse).

•

Increasing opening hours by 24% in extending hours of operation from 3 to 8 hours on
Saturdays and Sundays.

•

New and improved signage

•

Lower gate fees for member councils

•

Training staff in customer service

Results
Our focus on customer service has greatly improved patronage and has enabled us to attract new
business from across our west central metropolitan catchment area, most recently in the form of
the Town of Cambridge joining as a Participating Council and taking on Verge Valet.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Local Government Act 1995
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CONSULTATION
Staff

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Implications under WMRC policies

Financial Implications
Budget and other financial impact

Strategic Implications
The Customer Service Charter supports the WMRC in delivering on Key Strategies:
2 – Increase the number of Councils, businesses and people using our services
4 – Promote and facilitate waste avoidance and responsible waste management in the community
5 – Develop a strong and capable organisation

COMMENTS
The Customer Service Charter is posted on the WMRC website.

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
11.4.1

The WMRC’s new Customer Service Charter be noted.
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11.5 PROGRESS ON COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS
Responsible Officer:

Chief Executive Officer

Date:

23 November 2020

Attachment:

11.5A Progress on Council Resolutions

SUMMARY
A schedule showing progress on WMRC resolutions up to and including 23 November 2020 is
presented at Attachment 11.5A. The schedule is extracted from the master schedule which has a
record of all WMRC resolutions from 2007. Only uncompleted resolutions, and those recently
completed, are shown on the schedule.

BACKGROUND
In October 2007 Council decided that an information bulletin item tracking the progress of Council
resolutions be presented at future meetings.

DETAIL
Please refer to Attachment 11.5A. The schedule is colour coded. Red - resolutions not yet
implemented; orange – resolutions in progress; green – resolutions completed.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Local Government Act 1995

CONSULTATION
Nil

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil

Financial Implications
Nil

Strategic Implications
Progress on Council Resolutions is aligned to all six key strategies of the WMRC Strategic
Community Plan 2019-2030.

COMMENTS
A substantial backlog of work required to action Council Resolutions that existed at the beginning
of the 2018-19 financial year was cleared in 2019. The WMRC is maintaining a strong
performance of timely implementation of Council resolutions.
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All Council resolutions are completed.

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
11.5.1

The information be received.
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12 MOTIONS FOR WHICH PREVIOUS NOTICE HAS
BEEN GIVEN
13 QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS OF WHICH DUE
NOTICE HAS BEEN GIVEN
14 MEMBERS’ QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE
15 URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE
PERSON PRESIDING OR BY DECISION
16 MATTERS BEHIND CLOSED DOORS
It is proposed that the following items 16.1 Shenton Precinct, 16.2 DiCom Confidential Progress
Report and 16.3 Waste to Energy Tender be considered in a closed session.

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION:
That in accordance with Sections 5.23(2) (c)(d)(e) of the Local Government Act 1995,
the meeting is closed to members of the public with the following aspect of the Act
being applicable to these matters (Section 5.23(2) (e)):
(c)
a contract entered, or which may be entered, by the local government and
which relates to a matter to be discussed at the meeting; and
(d)
legal advice obtained, or which may be obtained, by the local government and
which relates to a matter to be discussed at the meeting; and
(e)

a matter that if disclosed, would reveal —
(i)

a trade secret; or

(ii)

information that has a commercial value to a person; or

(iii) information about the business, professional, commercial or financial
affairs of a person,
where the trade secret or information is held by, or is about, a person other than the
local government

WMRC OCM Agenda 3 December 2020

53

17 BUSINESS NOT DEALT
A PREVIOUS MEETING
18 GENERAL BUSINESS
19 CLOSURE OF MEETING
Next meeting: To be confirmed
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WITH

FROM

Attachment 9-1A

Minutes
ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING
(OC 05/20)
1 October 2020
Commenced at 5:30 pm
Town of Cottesloe
109 Broome Street
Cottesloe WA 6011

Suite 2/ 317 Churchill Avenue, Subiaco WA 6008
T 08 9384 4003 | E admin@wmrc.wa.gov.au | www.wmrc.wa.gov.au

DECLARATION OF OPENING
The Chairman welcomed the attendees and declared the meeting open at 5.31PM.

RECORD OF ATTENDANCE AND APOLOGIES
Councillors
Cr. Charles Hohnen

Chairman

Shire of Peppermint Grove

Cr. Bruce Haynes

Deputy Chairman

Town of Claremont

Cr. Stephanie Stroud

Member

City of Subiaco

Cr. Paul Shaw

Member

Town of Mosman Park

Cr. Lorraine Young

Member

Town of Cottesloe

Staff
Mr. Stefan Frodsham

Chief Executive Officer

WMRC

Ms. Alexandra Bell

Manager Finance & Governance

WMRC

Mr. Keith Swift

Manager Operations

WMRC

Ms. Libby Eustance

Manager Communications & Education WMRC

Ms. Ellen Mickels

Customer Service & Finance Officer

WMRC

Leave of Absence
Nil
Visitors
Peter Ward

Barrister

Francis Burt Chambers

Mr. Matthew Scott

Chief Executive Officer

Town of Cottesloe

Ms. Sara Franklin

Deputy Councillor

Town of Claremont

Mr. Paul Macfarlane

Deputy Councillor

Town of Cottesloe

Observers

Apologies
Nil
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DISCLOSURES OF INTERESTS
Nil

RESPONSE TO PREVIOUS PUBLIC QUESTIONS
TAKEN ON NOTICE
Nil

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
Nil

APPLICATIONS FOR LEAVE OF ABSENCE
Nil

PETITIONS, APPROVED DEPUTATIONS AND
PUBLIC STATEMENTS
Nil

ANNOUNCEMENTS BY THE PERSON
PRESIDING WITHOUT DISCUSSION
Moved: Cr Haynes
Seconded Cr Stroud
Confidential Item 16.1 and item 10.8 to be heard out of sequence.
CARRIED 5/0
Deputy Cr. Sara Franklin joined the meeting at 5.36PM.
Moved: Cr Haynes

Seconded: Cr Stroud

The meeting proceeded behind closed doors at 5.36PM.
CARRIED 5/0
Peter Ward left the meeting at 5.52pm

Moved: Cr Stroud Seconded: Cr Shaw

The meeting resumed in open session at 5.54PM.
CARRIED 5/0
The Chairman read aloud the resolutions which were made behind closed doors.
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Moved: Cr Stroud Seconded: Cr Shaw

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
16.1.1 This DiCOM Confidential Progress Report of 24 September 2020 be noted.
CARRIED 5/0

CONFIRMATION OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL
MINUTES
CONFIRMATION OF PREVIOUS ORDINARY COUNCIL
MEETING MINUTES
Minutes of the previous Ordinary Council Meeting held on 6 August 2020 have been
circulated previously under separate cover and are at Attachment 9.1A.
Moved: Cr YoungSeconded: Cr Shaw

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
9.1.1

Council accepts the minutes of the previous Ordinary Council
Meeting held on 6 August 2020 as a true and accurate record of
proceedings.
CARRIED 5/0

Deputy Cr. Macfarlane joined the meeting at 6.02PM.
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REPORTS OF COMMITTEES AND OFFICERS
10.1 SAFETY MANAGEMENT PROGRESS REPORT
Responsible Officer:

Manager Operations

Date:

24 September 2020

Attachment:

none

SUMMARY
Risk and safety management issues are discussed below.

BACKGROUND
Nil

DETAIL
Incidents and Accidents
We had two safety incidents at the recycling center since the last council meeting


A contractor took ill whilst unloading green waste at the Recycling Centre. WMRC staff
promptly called an ambulance and made the contractor comfortable until help arrived.



A resident accessing the recycling drop off services trapped her finger in the boot lid of her
car. Our site supervisor George Fowler provided adequate first aid meaning no further
treatment was required. A follow up call by George the following day to check on her
welfare prompted the resident to write a small thankyou message in the paper.

Safety Actions
The following safety actions have occurred:


Toolbox meetings continue to be held fortnightly at the Recycling Centre.



Several training courses were undertaken to improve safety awareness:

(i)First aid training
(ii) Fire extinguisher and spill response training
(iii) Household Hazardous Waste training
(iv) Manual Task Training
(v) Safety PPI’S arising from the OSH Plan have been monitored and reported to
Management meetings


Covid-19 contingency planning remains at the forefront of minds and gets reviewed on a
weekly basis.



OH&S Safety management plan was reviewed and updated for the year ahead



Standard PPE requirements now includes long sleeves and pants.
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Audit Results
No new external audits have taken place since LGIS conducted a 3 Steps to Safety assessment of
the WMRC’s safety management systems on 27th May 2019.
Excellent progress has been made on the recommended actions as set out in the new draft
Occupational Safety and Health Management plan 2020/21 presented at Agenda Item 10.8.
LGIS will be asked to return in May of 2021 to conduct a fresh assessment.
Safety PPIs
Safety PPIs arising from the OSH Plan have been monitored and reported to management
meetings. Results for 2020 and targets for 2021 are shown below. The WMRC has improved on
several fronts were safety is concerned, key areas of improvement are:


Employee perception of WMRC’s commitment to safety.



Up-to-date training.



Improved signage.



General improvement in regard to inducting staff / contractors.



Reviewing procedures.



Timelines on actioning safety agenda items.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND TARGETS
The following positive performance indicators (PPI) will be used to measure relevant OH&S
systems, processes, management, and compliance with OH&S practices at the WMRC.
Positive Performance
Indicator

Oct -20
Target

Oct-20 Actual

Apr 2021
target

Average time to complete incident
investigation

<1
week

<1 week

<1 week

Safety actions outstanding for
more than 1 month
Number of site toolbox meetings
held per annum
Number of office toolbox
meetings held per annum
Emergency response drills held (at
each site) annually
Quarterly hazard inspections
completed
Pre-start checks completed loader, Volvo truck, backhoe
Percentage of required training
overdue at end of period
Staff inductions completed

0%

0%

0%

24

24

24

12

12

12

1

1

1

1

4

4

Daily

Daily

Daily

<5%

<5%

<5%

100%

100%

100%

Contractor induction completed

100%

100%

100%

85%

85%

90%

Employee perception of
organisational commitment to
safety
OH&S Management Plan
reviewed annually

1

Meets target
In progress towards target
Does not meet target

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
WMRC has duties under the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 (OSH Act) to, so far as is
practicable, provide and maintain a safe working environment in which the employees of the
employer are not exposed to hazards.

WMRC OCM Minutes 1 October 2020

7

CONSULTATION
Consultation with staff on safety matters is carried out regularly at toolbox meetings, admin
meetings and staff can also relay safety concerns / opportunities for improvement through their
safety representative which will be discussed at the quarterly Safety Committee meeting.

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil

Financial Implications
Nil

Strategic Implications
This item relates to Key Strategy 5 – Develop a strong and capable organisation – as set out in the
WMRC Strategic Community Plan.

COMMENTS
Nil
VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority
Moved: Cr Stroud

Seconded: Cr Shaw

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
10.1.1 Council note the report.
CARRIED 5/0

Item 10.8 Occupational Health and Safety Management Plan was considered following item
10.1.

WMRC OCM Minutes 1 October 2020

8

10.2 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Responsible Officer:

Finance & Governance Manager

Date:

21 September 2020

Attachment 10.2A:

July Accounts

Attachment 10.2B:

August Accounts

SUMMARY
This report serves as a monthly summary of the Council’s operating financial position. Its primary
purpose is to allow Councillors to be able to track budgeted figures to actual outcomes throughout
the financial year.

BACKGROUND
Reporting requirements are defined by Financial Management Regulations 34 of the Local
Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996.
At its Special Council Meeting of 14 July 2016 meeting Council resolved inter alia to adopt a 10%
value for reporting material variances in the Statements of Financial Activity. Accordingly,
variances of 10% or more between actual and budgeted monthly figures are accompanied with
explanatory notes.

DETAIL
Operating statements are presented for the periods ended 31 July and 31 August 2020:


For July 2020, WMRC had an operating surplus of $725,387 compared to a budgeted
surplus of $657,013 with a positive variance of $68,374.



For August 2020, WMRC had an operating deficit of $304,115 compared to a budgeted
operating deficit of $245,436 with a negative variance of $58,679.



As of 31 August 2020, Council had a provisional operating surplus of $421,272 compared to
a budgeted operating surplus of $411,577 with a positive variance of $9,695.



As of 31 August, revenue for the year-to-date is 4% below budget and expenses are 6%
below budget. This is due to lower than budgeted tonnage receivals at the West Metro
Recycling Centre. Tonnages are slightly above those received at the same point last year.
Budget 2020-21 estimates of throughput were based on higher receivals earlier this calendar
year that related to the early COVID-19 period. The budget impact of variations in throughput
is relatively low owing to the new financial operating model.

Note that the Reserve Fund drawdowns are now recognised in the Statement of Financial Position
as a movement in Equity and not as budgeted as a Non-operating Grant, Subsidy and Contribution.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
In accordance with the Local Government Act 1995 and Local Government (Financial Management)
Regulations 1996, a Statement of Financial Activity is required to be presented to Council as a
minimum requirement. In addition, an explanation of the net current assets of the month to which the
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statement relates is also required.
In accordance with Regulation 34 (5), a report must be compiled on variances greater than the
materiality threshold adopted by Council of 10%. As this report is composed at a summarised level,
variance commentary considers the most significant items that comprise the variance.

CONSULTATION
None

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
The Council’s financial reporting is prepared in accordance with its accounting policies. These are
reviewed periodically to ensure compliance with legislative and statutory obligations.

Financial Implications
The report represents the financial position of the Council.

Strategic Implications
Strategic Action 5 in the Strategic Community Plan is to develop a strong and capable organisation.

COMMENTS
None

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

Moved: Cr Young

Seconded: Cr Haynes

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
10.2.1 Council note the financial statements for the months of July and August 2020.
CARRIED 5/0
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10.3 CREDITOR AND DEBTOR PAYMENTS
Responsible Officer:

Finance and Governance Manager

Author:

Customer Services & Finance Officer

Date:

17 September 2020

Attachments:

10.3A July Payments
10.3B August Payments
10.3C Debtors Payments

SUMMARY
The schedule of accounts is attached for the endorsement of Council. The schedule of debtors as
is attached for receival by Council.

BACKGROUND
Nil

DETAIL
Nil

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Local Government Act 1995
Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996

CONSULTATION
Nil

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil

Financial Implications
Nil
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Strategic Implications
This is aligned to strategic actions as follows:
Key Strategy 1: Achieve a comprehensive, cost effective waste management service across the
region.
Key Strategy 5: Develop a strong and capable organisation – Deliver responsible financial
management.

COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority
Moved: Cr Young

Seconded: Cr Shaw

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION

10.3.1 Council endorse the schedule of accounts paid of $888,870.64 and
$669,804.06 for the months of July and August 2020, respectively.
10.3.2 Council receive the schedule of Debtors outstanding at 23 September 2020.
CARRIED 5/0
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10.4 ANNUAL REPORT
Responsible Officer:

Chief Executive Officer

Date:

24 September 2020

Attachments:

Attachment 10.4A

SUMMARY
This report presents the WMRC Annual Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 for
consideration and adoption by Council.

BACKGROUND
The Annual Report 2019-20 details the activities and performance of the organisation over the past
year supported by the Annual Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report.
The Annual Financial Statements includes a statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, a
statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity and a statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2020 inclusive of accounting policies and other explanatory notes and
statements. The Annual Financial Statements are being audited by the OAG appointed auditors,
Butler Settineri.

DETAIL
The WMRC’s 2019-20 Annual Report, incorporating the draft Annual Financial Statements for the
year ended 30 June 2020, is presented in accordance with the provision of the Local Government Act
1995 and addresses all required matters.
The Annual Report includes information on WMRC’s structure, role, and facilities in its three main
activity areas: Operations, Communications and Education, and Finance and Governance. It details
activity under each of the 6 Key Strategic Objectives from the Strategic Community Plan 2019/20 –
2029/30. Two years ago, the 2017-18 annual report focused on the future directions of the WMRC.
Last year’s and now this year’s annual reports cover many achievements made by the WMRC in
implementing its new Strategic Community Plan and new Corporate Business Plan.
In continuing the practice of the last two years, the Annual Report features a special interest feature –
this year on the history of waste to energy facilities in Australia, topical since two new W2E plants are
under construction in Perth.
The Annual Report will be distributed in physical and electronic format to key stakeholders and made
available on the WMRC website and at the WMRC offices. One hundred copies will be printed.
The availability of the WMRC Annual Report 2019-20 will be advertised through a public notice in the
Post Newspaper.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Section 5.53 of the Local Government Act 1995 requires a local government to prepare an Annual
Report for each financial year.
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Section 5.54 of the Local Government Act 1995 requires the Annual Report to be accepted by the
Council no later than 31 December after that financial year.

CONSULTATION
The CEO is to give local public notice of the availability of the Annual Report as soon as practicable
after the report has been accepted by the local government.

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
None

Financial Implications
No financial implications additional to approved budget.

Strategic Implications
The publishing of the Annual Report relates to the following three WMRC Key Strategies:
Strategy 1:

Achieve a comprehensive, cost effective waste management service

Strategy 2:

Increase the number of Councils, businesses and people using our services

Strategy 4:

Promote and facilitate waste avoidance and responsible waste management

COMMENTS
The Annual Financial Statements show a strong budgetary performance with a financial outcome
$300k better than budget, with revenue 3.8% better and expenses 3.1% lower, than budgeted.
It is a measure of improving productivity at WMRC that the Annual Report this year is ready for
Council approval two months earlier than in previous years.
The Annual Financial Statements are subject to minor variation depending on the outcome of current
discussions between the OAG and the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural
Industries regarding the treatment of valuation of plant and equipment. Any resulting changes will be
brought back to Council prior to publication of the Annual Report.

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Absolute majority
Moved: Cr Haynes

Seconded: Cr Stroud

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
10.4.1 Council adopt the WMRC Annual Report 2019-20.
Given pending advice from the OAG the recommendation was amended.

COUNCIL RESOLUTION
10.4.1 Council adopt the WMRC Annual Report 2019-20 subject to required future
amendment to the financial statements.
CARRIED 5/0
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10.5 MINUTES OF CEOAC MEETINGS
Responsible Officer

Manager Communications and Education

Date:

September 2020

Attachments:

10.5A Confirmed minutes 16 July
10.5B Unconfirmed minutes 17 Sept

SUMMARY
This item presents the confirmed minutes of the 16 July CEOAC meeting and the draft minutes of
the 17 September CEOAC meeting for confirmation and reception, respectively.

BACKGROUND
The unconfirmed minutes of the 16 July CEOAC meeting were presented at the August OCM; and
confirmed at the 17 September CEOAC meeting as a true and proper record of the meeting. They are
presented here for reception (Attachment 10.5A).
The unconfirmed minutes of the 17 September CEOAC meeting are presented here for reception
(Attachment 10.5B).

DETAIL
All CEOAC recommendations at the 17 September meeting were unanimous and none were changed
from the officer recommendation.
No new actions were arising from the meeting.
Council is asked to note that Mr Don Burnett CEO of Peppermint Grove was duly elected as the new
Chair of CEOAC and Ms Liz Ledger CEO of Claremont as Deputy Chair at the September 2020
meeting.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
The CEOAC is constituted as a committee without delegated authority under the Local Government
Act 1995 5(2).

CONSULTATION
Nil

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil
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Financial Implications
Nil

Strategic Implications
This item relates to Key Strategy 5 – Develop a strong and capable organisation - in the WMRC
Strategic Community Plan.

COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

Moved: Cr Stroud

Seconded: Cr Shaw

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
10.5.1 Council receive the confirmed minutes of the 16 July 2020 CEOAC meeting.
10.5.2 Council receive the unconfirmed minutes of the 17 September 2020 CEOAC
meeting.
CARRIED 5/0
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10.6 PREPAID VERGE VALET COLLECTION/DISPOSAL
CHARGES
Responsible Officer:

Manager Operations

Date:

1 October 2020

Attachment:

Nil

SUMMARY
It is proposed that the following changes be made to current Fees and Charges.



Introduce a “Top Up” rate for Verge Valet bulk waste service
Introduce a “Top Up” rate for Verge Valet green waste service

BACKGROUND
The WMRC has been operating the pre-booked Verge Valet service for just over 7 months. First
taken up by Mosman Park, Verge Valet has proven very popular amongst residents with a high
80% approval rating over the traditional bulk pick up service offered by councils. Cottesloe started
using Verge Valet in July; and the Town of Cambridge resolved on 22 September to offer the
service to its residents on a trial basis from 1 November 2020 to 30 June 2022.
The current service is very flexible with residents having the opportunity to swap bulk pickups for
greens should they require. The WMRC recognises that the obvious next step is to allow member
residents the opportunity to purchase extra pickups if they have used up their council allocation.

DETAIL
Top Up Rates
It is proposed the following rates are applied to residents seeking to purchase a “Top Up” verge
valet collection. The rates vary because of varying cover charge and disposal rates.
Verge Valet Service

WMRC Member
Council (Rate incl
GST $)

WMRC Participating

WMRC Non-Member

Council (Rate incl

Council (Rate incl GST

GST $)

$)

Bulk Waste Service

120.00

155.00

165.00

Green Waste Service

65.00

85.00

90.00

Mattress

60.00

60.00

75.00
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STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Section 6.16 of the Local Government Act 1995 permits the imposition of fees and charges when
adopting the annual budget or during the financial year via an Absolute Majority decision of Council.

CONSULTATION
Nil

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil

Financial Implications
Increased revenues for the WMRC

Strategic Implications
Nil

COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Absolute majority
Moved: Cr Young

Seconded: Cr Stroud

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
10.6.1 Council approve the schedule of Verge Valet top-up fees and charges as
provided in this report.
CARRIED 5/0
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10.7 WMRC WASTE PLAN
Responsible Officer:

Manager Communication and Education

Date:

24 September 2020

Attachment:

Attachment 10.7A DWER format waste plan
Attachment 10-7B Self-Assessment Checklist
Attachment 10-7C WMRC Waste Plan

SUMMARY
The WMRC draft Waste Plan is submitted to Council for approval prior to its submission for
finalisation to DWER.

BACKGROUND
All Perth and Peel Local Governments and Regional Councils were served with a notice in November
2019 (updated May 2020) from the CEO of DWER under section 40(4) of the Waste Avoidance and
Resource Recovery (WARR) Act 2007 requiring the inclusion of a Waste Plan within their Plans for
the Future. The Waste Plan must be consistent with the Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery
Strategy (Waste Strategy) 2030. Under section 41(1) the CEO of DWER has the power to request a
Local Government to modify a Waste Plan they consider deficient. Under Section 42 the CEO can
prepare a Waste Plan on behalf of the Local Government at the Local Government’s cost. Under
section 44 the CEO of DWER requires annual reporting on the Waste Plan.
Implementation timelines were revised in May 2020 and are as follows:


30 September 2020 – deadline for submission of drafts to DWER for review



31 March 2021 – deadline for submission of final Waste Plan to CEO DWER



1 October 2022 – deadline for first annual report on Waste Plan for 2021-22

The purpose of Waste Plans is to:





align local government waste management activities with the Waste Strategy.
map current performance and establish a benchmark to achieve Waste Strategy targets.
monitor progress on local government achievement of Waste Strategy targets; and
design programs and activities which will support the implementation of waste plans.

DWER’s Waste Plans (Attachment 10-7A) follow a standard format of Excel Spreadsheets in two
parts which are intended to generate the requirements of a Waste Plan under the WARR Act. Most
of the spreadsheets (Part 1) are intended to gather detail about the existing treatment of waste within
the SCP, CBP, Local Laws, policies, and practices. They also serve to ensure that the waste data
against which the WMRC is measured are, as far as possible, accurate. Part 2 is an implementation
plan which is required to include actions under five headings (‘tools’):




Waste Services,
Waste Infrastructure,
Policies and Procurement,
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Data and
Behaviour Change Programs and Initiatives.

The Waste Plan also includes a self-assessment checklist (Attachment 10-7B) for both Part 1 and 2.

DETAIL
WMRC has consulted with Member Council officers in producing the draft Waste Plans for each
Member Council as well as its own draft Waste Plan. This ensures that our Waste Plans are
congruent and consistent with each other and DWER requirements.
All WMRC and its Member Council draft Waste Plans have been submitted to DWER for review on
one or two occasions until DWER considered them ready for submission to the relevant Councils for
finalisation. DWER staff have advised that the local governments need to sign off on Part 2 of the
waste plan – the Implementation Plan as well as submitting a completed checklist.
The attached draft WMRC Waste Plan (Attachment 10-7C) includes a summary of the Part 1 baseline
information for the WMRC as well as situating the Waste Plan within a strategic context.
A summary of the actions in the Implementation Plan under each of DWER’s prescribed categories
follows:
Waste Services: Verge Valet coordination and preparation for both FOGO and Waste to Energy
receival
Waste Infrastructure: Improving site configuration and equipment
Policies and Procurement: maximise material and energy recovery including in own procurement
Behaviour Change Programs/initiatives: Ensure activities aligned with best practice and remain
targeted to Member Council needs
Data: improve data accessibility
The implementation of the Waste Plan will be reported on annually with the first report due October
2022 for the 2021-22 financial year. The Waste Plan is due to be reviewed after five years.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Section 40(4) of the Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery (WARR) Act 2007

CONSULTATION
DWER Staff

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil

Financial Implications
Some activities require a financial commitment for future years. This will be dealt with through the
Annual Budget process.
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Strategic Implications
The Waste Plan has a direct bearing on the following Key Strategies:
1. Achieve a comprehensive, cost effective waste management service across the region.
2. Increase the number of Councils, businesses and people using our services.
3. Divert waste from landfill making material and energy recovery available.
4. Promote and facilitate waste avoidance and responsible waste management in the community.
6. Contribute to the development of effective policy and advocate on our Member Councils’ behalf.

COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

Moved: Cr Stroud

Seconded: Cr Shaw

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
10.7.1 The WMRC Waste Plan 2020-2025 be adopted.
10.7.2 The CEO be authorised to forward the WMRC Waste Plan 2020-2025 and
completed self-assessment checklist to the CEO DWER.
CARRIED 5/0
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10.8 OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY PLAN
Responsible Officer:

Chief Executive Officer

Date:

23 Sep 2020

Attachment:

Attachment 10.8A

SUMMARY
The WMRC Occupational Health and Safety Management Plan provides for annual review. A revised
OH&S Management Plan is presented for Council review and approval.

BACKGROUND
The Occupational Health and Safety Management Plan is the principal document setting out our
approach to managing health and safety risks in the organisation. An OH&S Management Plan was
approved by Council in June 2012. That Plan was reviewed and completely revised last year and the
new WMRC Occupational and Safety Management Plan 2019-20 was approved by Council in
October 2019. The new plan provided for its annual review.

DETAIL
The draft WMRC Occupational Health and Safety Management Plan 2020-21 retains most of the
features of the current plan. It includes a substantial list of improvements and achievements made in
safety procedures, infrastructure, and training in the preceding 12 months.
The new plan includes a clear set of performance indicators and targets, and lists the levels achieved
against each of the indicators in the past year.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Occupational Health and Safety Act 1984

CONSULTATION
Staff have been closely consulted through regular staff meetings, toolbox meetings, and meetings of
the Health and Safety Committee.

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
The OH&S Management Plan fulfils requirements of the WMRC OH&S Policy.

Financial Implications
No additional implications.
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Strategic Implications
This matter relates to Key Strategy 5 of the WMRC Strategic Community Plan – develop a strong and
capable organisation – provide a safe work environment.

COMMENTS
Any other matters of relevance

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple or absolute majority

Moved: Cr Stroud

Seconded: Cr Shaw

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
10.8.1 Council endorse the WMRC Occupational Health and Safety Management Plan
2020-21.
CARRIED 5/0
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INFORMATION BULLETINS
11.1 COMMUNICATIONS AND EDUCATION REPORT
Responsible Officer:

Manager Communications and Education

Date:

23 September 2020

Attachment:

11-1A Plan for 2020-21

SUMMARY
An information item detailing Communications and Education team activity for the period

BACKGROUND
The Communications and Education team’s role includes corporate communications and marketing,
community waste education, member council staff support and waste strategy/policy
advisory/advocacy services.

Contents include
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Plan for 2020-21 activities
Verge Valet
Town of Cambridge
Community Education and Events
Grant Applications
Media Content

DETAIL
1.
Plan for 2020-21 activities
The plan for the team’s activities in the 2020-21 year, is structured around the same five program
areas as in the 2019-20 year:
1.
Council consultation/ support and joint planning/projects
2.
Waste reduction & recycling advertising
3.
Waste management community education
4.
Infrastructure planning and provision
5.
Representation to and collaboration with relevant bodies
Attachment 11-1A summarises the planned activities under each program area and includes
progress to date. It is anticipated that Program areas 1,2,3 will take at least 80% of the team’s effort.
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2.

Verge Valet
The introduction of Verge Valet in Cottesloe has been
smooth and relatively uneventful. There are a few issues
arising concerning the green and bulk waste services
which were previously advertised in the Town’s waste
calendar for 2020; these are being largely dealt with by
Town of Cottesloe staff.
Verge Valet posters have been installed on Town of
Mosman Park advertising bins.
Resident satisfaction in both areas remains very high and
modelling shows that collection quantities will enable
financial targets to be met or exceeded.
The Town of Cambridge have resolved to move to a
Verge Valet system from 1 November. Lessons learnt
from Mosman Park and Cottesloe introductions will be
incorporated into the much larger Cambridge rollout. It is
expected that Cambridge collections will take place on
Tuesdays and Wednesdays.
We expect to introduce an upgraded web interface and a
paid collection top up scheme to Verge Valet
participating council residents shortly.

3.

Town of Cambridge

With the Town of Cambridge becoming a WMRC Participating Council, the team is continuing to
work with the Town’s staff to optimize working together including co-promoting community activities,
potential Recycle Right membership, coordination of programs and of course Verge Valet.

4.

Community Education and Events

The first in-person Waste Watchers Workshop “Bin Basics and Recycle Right” for the year was held
24 September with15 attendees including some elected members.

Attendees at Waste Watchers Workshop
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City of Subiaco Depot Recycling bin
contents sorted for audit

Presenting at Holonic’s Circular Economy event

Other community events include a talk for Friends of Lake Claremont, a bin audit for City of Subiaco
staff, a talk for St Louis in Claremont and an activity station at Town of Mosman Park’s STOMP
youth event. Our two Monisse staff also presents at the Holonic Circular Economy event.
Bin tagging is due to restart on 2 October to finish off the project curtailed by COVID-19. Taggers
will be inspecting kerbside bins in the same areas as previously with an emphasis on the previously
more highly contaminated areas and those where contamination issues have been reported by
collection contractors since.

5.

Grant Applications

DWER allocated $1.54m to the WasteSorted grant funding round which closed 14 September. This
had two streams: Infrastructure and Community Education. The team made two applications under
the Community Education round:
1.
Recycle Right by being a GREAT Sort. This is an application developed jointly with the
SMRC to develop a new set of community activities equipment under each of the five behaviour
headings of DWER’s ‘Be a GREAT Sort’ campaign. The amount requested was $42,600.
2.
Be a GREAT Sort in the Western Suburbs. This application seeks to develop short video
clips to normalize positive waste behaviours in the western suburbs using the DWER ‘Be a GREAT
Sort’ campaign. This project includes two options requesting $18,800 and $50,000 respectively.
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6.

Media Content

6.1 Print Media

Post Letter 15 August

Post Advertisement 28 August

Post 12 September – Waste Watchers Workshop
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Post 19 September – Friends of Lake
Claremont talk

Post 25 September – Containers for Change

Post 25 September Cambridge
Verge Valet decision

6.2 Social Media
We continue to post 1-2 times per day on Facebook and Instagram. Our Facebook page remains
the most active with 2216 likes and 2514 follows. The most popular posts on our Facebook feed are
shown below. Posts have an estimated average organic reach of 354 views.
1 September 3200
organic reach
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2 September 2470
organic reach

17 September 572
boosted reach

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Nil

CONSULTATION
Nil

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
All social media use is in line with Policy 33 – Social Media.
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Financial Implications
These activities are anticipated under current budgeting.

Strategic Implications
These activities are aligned to key strategies 1, 2, 3, 6 and make a major contribution to key strategy
4 of the WMRC Strategic Community Plan 2019-2030.

COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

Moved: Cr Haynes

Seconded: Cr Shaw

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
11.1.1 The Communications and Education report to 23 September be noted.
CARRIED 5/0
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11.2 OPERATIONS REPORT
Responsible Officer:

Operations Manager

Date:

1 October 2020

Attachment:

11.2A Waste Tonnes Charts
(to follow under separate cover)

SUMMARY
This report provides updates on the status of waste operations. Council is requested to receive the
report.

BACKGROUND
Nil

DETAIL
Business as usual continues at the West Metro Recycling Centre amid uncertain times around
COVID-19.

Licensing
An application was submitted to DWER to have amendments made to the operating license for
increases in throughput at the West Metro Recycling Centre, principally to be ready for FOGO and
increased amounts of C&D waste. DWER has approved the requested amendments.
This is an excellent outcome for the WMRC and our member councils as each of the amendments
will further expand the level of service that we can offer:


Putrescible Waste 10,000 tonnes per year of food organic and garden organic waste (FOGO);



Inert Waste Type 1 (C&D Waste) 10,000 tpa (originally 200tpa);



Special Waste Type 1 (asbestos) 500 tonnes per year (originally 200 tpa);

In addition to the licence amendments, DWER recently carried out a compliance audit at the
recycling centre. We have not yet received the officers’ report from that audit however no nonconformances of any kind were noted on the day. DWER officers were very impressed with all
activities witnessed at the facility.

Site


New signage has been erected including speed / directional signs to provide more clarity to
users of the recycling centre PLUS improved signage for services offered (E Waste /
Cardboard / Steel Bin etc).



Roller shutters have been installed on the windows at the weighbridge. The old-style shutters
were cumbersome to raise and lower and therefore were mostly left in place during working
hours. The weighbridge is now a brighter place to work and most importantly a more
welcoming place for our residents and customers to interact with.
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The wiring inside the weighbridge has been significantly tidied up. New power points provided
in ending the previous over reliance on adaptors, power boards and extension cords.



The $25 entry fee for non-member council residents has proven a welcome source of revenue.
To date over 250 residents have paid the $25 entry fee. Since Cambridge have come onboard
as a participating council these numbers have started to decrease.



Since becoming a participating member of the WMRC, over 165 Cambridge residents have
enjoyed the use of the services at the recycling centre.

West Metro RC Staffing
No personnel changes to report from the last council meeting.
Three probationary members of staff all received letters from the CEO acknowledging the
successful completion of their probation periods. All three new staff members fit in very well with
the rest of the recycling centre team and we wish them well as they continue their journey.

Construction and Demolition Waste
This is already proving a popular service with 150 tonnes received since 1 July. Considering that
most transactions are less than one tonne in weight there are many individuals making use of the
opportunity to divert their C&D Waste from landfill. All works crews at our member councils have
been contacted to inform them of the new service. In addition, other surrounding councils such as
Cambridge, Nedlands and City of Perth have also been made aware of the new service. It is
anticipated that throughput will increase as awareness grows.

New Services


GiveWrite stationery bin – We now accept near and near-new stationery. The stationery is then
delivered to School kids in need of school supplies



CDS drop off for Paraquad – From October 1st the recycling centre will provide an area for
Paraquad to leave wheelie bins and collect recyclables through the CDS scheme. Paraquad
staff will service the bins when full and Paraquad will benefit directly from all bottles / cans
collected through the bins. If residents would prefer to receive the refund themselves instead of
the charity benefiting, they will be directed by staff to Paraquad’s site which is only a few
minutes’ drive from the recycling centre.

Service Procurement


A secondhand forklift has been purchased with delivery expected anytime now. The
procurement will assist the WMRC realise other service opportunities, whilst removing some
manual handling aspects of the role, and improving the efficiency of how staff move materials
onsite.

Waste to Energy Tender
Tender evaluations for Receipt of Residual Waste for Energy Recovery are ongoing with legal
input. This is an important tender to evaluate thoroughly, hence we anticipate that this tender will
now be brought to Council for decision at the December OCM.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Nil
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CONSULTATION
Nil

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil

Financial Implications
Nil

Strategic Implications
Activities referred to in the Operations Report relate directly to WMRC Key Strategies 1,2,3,4,5

COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

COMMENTS
Nil
Moved: Cr Haynes

Seconded: Cr Stroud

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
11.2.1 The Operations report be noted.
CARRIED 5/0
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11.3 PROGRESS ON COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS
Responsible Officer:

Chief Executive Officer

Date:

24 September 2020

Attachment:

11.3A Progress on Council
Resolutions

SUMMARY
A schedule showing progress on WMRC resolutions up to and including 24 September 2020 is
presented in Attachment 11.3A. The schedule is extracted from the master schedule which has a
record of all WMRC resolutions from 2007. Only uncompleted resolutions and those only recently
completed, are shown on the schedule.

BACKGROUND
In October 2007 Council decided that an information bulletin item tracking the progress of Council
resolutions be presented at future meetings.

DETAIL
Please refer to Attachment 11.3A. The schedule is now colour coded. Red - resolutions not yet
implemented; orange – resolutions in progress; green – resolutions completed.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Local Government Act 1995

CONSULTATION
Nil
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REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil

Financial Implications
Nil

Strategic Implications
Progress on Council Resolutions is aligned to all six key strategies of the WMRC Strategic
Community Plan 2019-2030.

COMMENTS
A substantial backlog of Council Resolutions requiring action existed at the beginning of the 201819 financial year was cleared in 2019. The WMRC is maintaining a strong performance of timely
implementation of Council resolutions.
All Council resolutions are completed.

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

Moved: Cr Haynes

Seconded: Cr Young

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
11.3.1 The information be received.
CARRIED 5/0
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12 MOTIONS FOR WHICH PREVIOUS NOTICE
HAS BEEN GIVEN
Nil

13 QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS OF WHICH DUE
NOTICE HAS BEEN GIVEN
Nil

14 MEMBERS’ QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE
Questions regarding the City of Perth were asked by Cr Shaw and Cr Haynes.

15 URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE
PERSON PRESIDING OR BY DECISION
Nil

16 MATTERS BEHIND CLOSED DOORS
16.1 DICOM CONFIDENTIAL PROGRESS REPORT
Responsible Officer:

Chief Executive Officer

Date:

24 September 2020

Attending:

Mr Peter Ward

36 reasons:
It is proposed that this item be considered in a closed session for the following
That in accordance with Sections 5.23(2) (c)(d)(e) of the Local Government Act 1995, the meeting is
closed to members of the public with the following aspect of the Act being applicable to these
matters:
(c) a contract entered into, or which may be entered into, by the local government and
which relates to a matter to be discussed at the meeting; and

(d) legal advice obtained, or which may be obtained, by the local government and which
relates to a matter to be discussed at the meeting; and

(e) a matter that if disclosed, would reveal —
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

a trade secret; or
information that has a commercial value to a person; or
information about the business, professional, commercial, or financial affairs of a
person, where the trade secret or information is held by, or is about, a person other
than the local government

Moved: Cr Stroud Seconded: Cr Shaw

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
16.1.1 The DiCOM Confidential Progress Report of 24 September 2020 be noted.
CARRIED 5/0

17 BUSINESS NOT DEALT WITH FROM A
PREVIOUS MEETING
Nil

18 GENERAL BUSINESS
Nil

19 CLOSURE OF MEETING
The Chairman thanked all attendees and declared the meeting closed at 7.24pm
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1. Financial Performance
1.1 Income Statement (by Nature and Type)

Statement of Comprehensive Income by Nature & Type
1 Sept 2020 to 30 Sept 2020

Actual
Revenue from Ordinary Activities
Fees & Charges
Interest
Operating Grants, Subsidies and Contribution
Other Income
Total Revenue from Ordinary Activities

YEAR TO DATE
MONTH TO DATE
Prior YTD
Budget Var AUD Var % YTD Actual YTD Budget Var AUD Var % Actual

269,972
1,076
31,292
2,297
304,637

280,727
1,917
785
5,833
289,262

765,022
3,264
939,338
20,334
1,727,958

842,204
5,751
909,960
17,499
1,775,414

(77,182)
(2,487)
29,378
2,835
(47,456)

-9%
-43%
3%
16%
-3%

Expenses from Ordinary Activities
Depreciation & Amortisation
Employee Costs
Insurance
Materials & Contracts
Other Expenses
Utilities
Total Expenses from Ordinary Activities

(13,596)
(134,086)
0
(256,430)
(12,160)
(408)
(416,679)

(11,254)
(125,119)
0
(274,169)
(79,068)
(1,126)
(490,736)

(2,342)
(8,967)
0
17,739
66,908
718
74,057

-21%
-7%
6%
85%
64%
15%

(40,788)
(456,031)
(25,912)
(772,726)
(65,469)
(4,041)
(1,364,967)

(33,711)
(402,117)
(31,146)
(839,503)
(217,004)
(3,378)
(1,526,859)

(7,077)
(53,914)
5,234
66,777
151,535
(663)
161,892

-21%
-13%
17%
8%
70%
-20%
11%

Net Operating Position

(112,042)

(201,474)

89,432

44%

362,990

248,555

114,435

46%

0
0
0

666
0
0

(666) -100%
0
0

0
0

1,332
0
0

(1,332) -100%
0
0

0

666

(666) -100%

1,332

(1,332) -100%

(112,042)

(200,808)

Asset Revaluation
Paid Parental Leave
Profit/(Loss) on Sale of Assets
Total Other Income
Change in Net Assets From Operations

(10,755)
-4%
(841) -44%
30,507 3886%
(3,536) -61%
15,375
5%

88,766

44%

0
0
362,990

249,887

113,103

45%

3,050,142
34,214
1,919,456
611,022
5,614,834

VARIANCES FOR THE MONTH
Interest
Under budget due to very low interest rates. Rates are effectively 0% for the bank account and >1%
for all investments.
Operating Grants
Over budget due to receiving the Participating Council Fixed Fee from the Town of Cambridge/

Depreciation
Over budget due to reverting to straight line depreciation.
Other Expenses
Under budget due to lower than expected legal bills.
3

3,368,755
23,000
1,874,637
70,000
5,336,392

(201,324)
(134,974)
(1,650,918) (1,572,042)
(59,326)
(62,292)
(3,021,071) (3,289,979)
(1,027,587)
(868,024)
(10,818)
(13,500)
(5,971,044) (5,940,811)
0
(356,210)
(604,419)
0
0
50,000
0
0
(93,754)
8,000
0
0
0
0
(449,965)
(546,419)

In accordance with the materiality threshold adopted by Council for the reporting of variances in
Operating Revenue and Expenses classified according to nature and type, the following comments
are made to provide an explanation of these variances.

Other Income
Under Budget due to lower than expected recyclables.

Budget
2020/21
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VARIANCES FOR THE YEAR TO DATE
Interest
Under budget due to very low interest rates.
Other Income
Over Budget due to insurance reimbursements.
Depreciation
Over budget due to reverting to straight line depreciation.
Employee Costs
Over budget due to staff termination paying out.
Insurance
Under budget due to lower than expected insurance costs.
Other Expenses
Under budget due to lower than expected legal bills.
Note: The Reserve Fund transfers are no longer included in non-operating Grants and Subsidies as
budgeted above. The movement is now recorded as a change in equity in the Statement of Financial
Position
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1. Financial Performance (continued)
1.2 Statement of Financial Position

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 September 2020
30-Sep-20

31-Aug-20

Form ula

Current Assets
Bank
Reserves
Debtors
Accrued Income
Total Current Assets

150,522.94

310,585.00

(160,062.06)

1,785,114.36

1,784,847.23

267.13

334,621.09

402,620.34

(67,999.25)

3,333.45

1,058.77

2,274.68

2,273,591.84

2,499,111.34

(225,519.50)

1,278,643.53

1,285,986.25

(7,342.72)

922,214.43

927,803.04

(5,588.61)

Non-current Assets
Property, Plant & Equipment
Infrastructure
Right of Use Assets

95,429.62

95,776.20

(346.58)

Total Non-current Assets

2,296,287.58

2,309,565.49

(13,277.91)

Total Assets

4,569,879.42

4,808,676.83

(238,797.41)

Current Liabilities
Lease Liability

45,800.43

45,800.43

0.00

Trade & Other Payables

275,318.81

410,437.80

(135,118.99)

Employee Related Provisions

215,974.96

208,667.26

7,307.70

Total Current Liabilities

537,094.20

664,905.49

(127,811.29)

Non-Current Long Service Leave

25,346.86

24,383.34

963.52

Total Non-Current Liabilities

25,346.86

24,383.34

963.52

562,441.06

689,288.83

(126,847.77)

4,007,438.36

4,119,388.00

(111,949.64)

289,498.36

289,498.36

0.00

Non-Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities
Net Assets

Equity
Asset Revaluation Reserve
Reserves

1,785,114.36

1,784,844.49

269.87

Retained Earnings

1,932,825.64

2,045,045.15

(112,219.51)

Total Equity

4,007,438.36

4,119,388.00

(111,949.64)
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1. Financial Performance (continued)
1.4 Net Current Assets

Net Current Assets
As at 30 September 2020
30-Sep-20

31-Aug-20

Movement

150,523
1,785,114
268,002
3,333
2,206,973

310,585
1,784,847
332,348
1,059
2,428,839

(160,062)
267
(64,345)
2,275
(221,866)

183,970
215,975
24,730
424,675

320,409
208,667
19,756
548,832

(136,439)
7,308
4,974
(124,157)

Net Assets

1,782,298

1,880,006

(97,708)

Less
Reserves - Restricted Cash

1,785,114

1,784,847

267

Net Current Funding Position

(2,816.29)

95,159.05

(97,975)

Current Assets
Cash
Reserves
Debtors
Accrued Income
Total Current Assets
Current Liabilities
Creditors
Provisions for Leave
Accruals
Total Current Liabilities
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1. Financial Performance (continued)
1.5 Cash Flow Statement

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
As at 30 September 2020
ACTUAL
TO DATE
2020/2021

FULL YEAR
ACTUAL
2019/2020

765,022
1,005,069
3,264
20,334
1,793,689

3,050,142
1,757,951
34,214
611,022

(490,852)
(1,353,019)
(4,041)
(25,912)
28,451
(65,469)
(1,910,842)

(1,593,195)
(3,034,658)
(10,818)
(59,325)
10,582

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVIES
Receipts
Fees and charges
Operating grants, subsidies and contributions
Interest earnings
Other revenue
Receipts from operations

Payment
Employee costs
Materials and contracts
Utility charges
Insurance Expenses
GST received/ (paid)
Other expenses
Payments from operations

5,453,329

(1,027,587)
(5,715,001)

Cash Used in Operating Activities

(117,154)

(261,672)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(234,307)

(523,344)

(14,891)
0
0
(14,891)

(68,222)
(196,489)
0
(264,711)

0
0

(44,292)
(44,292)

SUMMARY OF CASH FLOWS
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

(132,044)
1,589,146

(570,675)
2,159,821

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE MONTH

1,457,102

1,589,146

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVIES
Payments for purchase of property, plant and equipment
Payments for purchase of infrastructure
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVIES
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVIES
Payments for principal portion of lease liabilities
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVIES
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1. Financial Performance (continued)
1.6 Reserves (cash backed)

STATEMENT OF RESERVES
As at 30 September 2020

Operations
Reserve

Development
Reserve

Total

1,309,700

475,148

1,784,847

267

0

267

Transfer from Operating Surplus

0

0

0

Transfer to Operating Surplus

0

0

0

1,309,967

475,148

1,785,114

Opening Balance
Interest on investments

Closing Balance

Reserves Summary
As at 30 September 2020
30-Sep-20

31-Aug-20

Movement

475,148
355,905
151,801
251,993
250,267
300,000
1,785,114

475,148
355,905
151,801
251,993
250,000
300,000
1,784,847

0
0
0
0
267
0
267

1,309,967
475,148
1,785,114

1,309,700
475,148
1,784,847

267
0
267

Investments
Investment 2
Investment 14
Investment 19
Investment 20
Investment 21
Investment 22
Total Investments

Reserves
Operations Reserve
Development Reserve
Total Reserves
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1. Financial Performance (continued)
1.7 Key Performance Indicators

FINANCIAL RATIOS
As at 30 September 2020

Current Ratio
Current Assets
LESS: Restricted Current Assets

2,206,973
(1,785,114)

421,859

424,675

424,675

=
Current Liabilities
LESS: Liabilities Associated with restricted assets

0.9934

This is ratio is designed to focus on the liquidity position of a local government that has
arisen from past year’s transactions.
The target for the above ratio should be at or above 1
Operating Surplus Ratio
Operating Revenue
LESS: Operating Expense

1,727,958
(1,364,967)

362,990

1,707,976

1,707,976

=
Own Source Operating Revenue

21%

This ratio is a measure of a local government’s ability to cover its operational costs and have
revenues available for capital funding or other purposes.
The target to achieve a basic standard is between 1% and 15% (0.01 and 0.15)
Own Source Operating Revenue
Own Source Operating Revenue

1,707,976

1,707,976

Operating Expense

1,364,967

1,364,967

=

This ratio is the measurement of a local government’s ability to cover its costs through its
own revenue efforts.
The target to achieve an advanced standard is greater than 90% (0.90)
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2. Debtors and Creditors Analysis
2.1 Top Ten Customers

TOP TEN CUSTOMERS - Sept 2020
Ranking

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

Fixed
Component

Name
City of Subiaco
Town of Claremont
Town of Cambridge
Town of Cottesloe
Town of Mosman Park
Town of Mosman Park - Verge Valet
Shire of Peppermint Grove
Town of Cottesloe - Verge Valet
Project West
City of Nedlands

0
0
0
0
0

Variable
Charges
$70,860.89
$37,881.84
$31,623.63
$27,645.15
$27,024.03
$9,748.88
$8,974.02
$6,577.95
$3,206.92
$3,023.58

Total $ excl
GST
$67,933.94
$35,207.45
$31,899.71
$24,190.25
$11,896.77
$9,488.57
$3,300.41
$3,098.19
$2,310.65
$2,125.86

Period

Previous
Month

Sep-20
Sep-20
Sep-20
Sep-20
Sep-20
Sep-20
Sep-20
Sep-20
Sep-20
Sep-20

1
2
4
3
5
8
10
9

Period

Previous
Month

TOP TEN CUSTOMERS - YEAR TO DATE
Ranking

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

Name
City of Subiaco
Town of Claremont
Town of Mosman Park
Town of Cottesloe
Shire of Peppermint Grove
Town of Cambridge
Town of Mosman Park - Verge Valet
Town of Cottesloe - Verge Valet
LGIS - Insurance broking - WALGA atf LGISWA
City of Nedlands

Fixed
Component
$ 333,660.72
$ 205,507.33
$ 175,553.81
$ 159,456.94
$ 33,426.71

Variable
Charges
$210,222.81
$107,801.45
$76,959.99
$73,146.16
$26,215.18
$32,717.25
$31,581.44
$12,343.30
$11,963.50
$7,720.49
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Total $ excl
GST
$543,883.53
$313,308.78
$252,513.80
$232,603.10
$59,641.89
$32,717.25
$31,581.44
$12,343.30
$11,963.50
$7,720.49

Jul
Jul
Jul
Jul
Jul
Jul
Jul
Jul
Jul
Jul

20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21

1
2
3
4
5
7
6
8
9
10

Western Metropolitan Regional Council
Monthly Management Accounts

September 2020

2. Debtors and Creditors Analysis (continued)
2.2 Debtors Age Analysis

AGED DEBTOR ANALYSIS
As at 30 September 2020
Current ($) <1 Month ($) 1 month ($) 2 month ($) Older ($)
Member Councils
City of Subiaco
City of Subiaco - Recycling
Town of Cottesloe
Town of Claremont
Town of Cottesloe - Verge Valet
Town of Mosman Park
Town of Mosman Park - Verge Valet
Shire of Peppermint Grove
Total

Participating Councils
Town of Cambridge
Total

Non-members
Arbor Centre
Central Psychiatric Service
City of Nedlands
City of Perth
John XXIII College
Landscapes for Life
Martin Cuthbert Landscapes
More Than A Mow
Project West
Riverview Flats Pty Ltd
Sir Charles Gardener Hospital
Suez Recycling & Recovery
T L C Property Maintenance
The Claremont Gardener
Tidy Up
Transpacific Cleanaway T/A Multiskip
UWA Building Services / Campus Manag
West to West Group
Total

Grand Total

Total ($)

77,947
1,655
30,410
39,331
7,236
30,733
10,724
9,871
207,907
100%

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0%

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0%

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0%

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0%

77,947
1,655
30,410
39,331
7,236
30,733
10,724
9,871
207,907
0%

31,657
31,657
15%

0
0
0%

0
0
0%

0
0
0%

0
0
0%

31,657
31,657
0%

132
271
3,326
82
910
919
400
353
3,528
202
1,267
2,105
88
130
1,151
533
1,754
3,165
20,316
71%

0
165
1,341
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
730
0
0
0
0
0
2,339
0
4,575
16%

0
1,019
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
2,528
0
3,547
12%

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0%

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0%

132
1,456
4,667
82
910
919
400
353
3,528
202
1,997
2,105
88
130
1,151
533
6,621
3,165
28,438
29%

259,880
97%

4,575
2%

3,547
1%

0
0%

0
0%

268,002
100%
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2.3 Top Ten Suppliers
TOP TEN SUPPLIERS - Sept 2020
Ranking

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

Name

$ excl GST

City of Rockingham
Perth Bin Hire
Jones Day
West Tip Waste Management
D&M Waste Management
WALGA
All Walls and Ceilings
Key2 Creative (Website)
Mandalay Technologies Pty Ltd
Key2 Creative (Design)

$173,261.95
$52,277.55
$47,775.73
$15,100.00
$11,674.58
$10,938.24
$9,545.45
$6,300.00
$4,858.32
$4,690.00

Period

Previous
Month

Sep-20
Sep-20
Sep-20
Sep-20
Sep-20
Sep-20
Sep-20
Sep-20
Sep-20
Sep-20

1
3
5
9
8
-

Period

Previous
Month

TOP TEN SUPPLIERS - YEAR TO DATE
Ranking

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

Name

$ excl GST

City of Rockingham
Perth Bin Hire
LGIS - Insurance broking - WALGA atf LGISWA
Jones Day
West Tip Waste Management
D&M Waste Management
WALGA
Craneswest (WA) Pty Ltd T/A Western Tree Recycl
Southside Mitsubishi & Volkswagen
Easysafe Liquid Waste Disposal

12

$288,920.81
$93,406.03
$59,715.23
$47,775.73
$31,080.00
$18,592.56
$18,588.24
$18,213.08
$12,724.52
$11,793.60

Jul
Jul
Jul
Jul
Jul
Jul
Jul
Jul
Jul
Jul

20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21
20 - Jun 21

1
3
2
5
9
8
4
6
7
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2. Debtors and Creditors Analysis (continued)
2.4 Creditors Age Analysis

Aged Creditor Analysis
As at 30 September 2020
Contact

Current < 1 Month 1 Month 2 Months

Atom Supply

150
Brajkovich Asbestos
521
Caltex Australia
558
City of Rockingham
68,074
Claw Environmental Pty. Ltd.
352
Cleanaw ay Pty Ltd
263
Commandacom Pty Ltd
111
Community Resources Limited (Soft Landing mattress recy
3,632
Complete Office Supplies Pty Ltd
0
Cranesw est (WA) Pty Ltd T/A Western Tree Recyclers
12,554
Crow n Equipment Pty Ltd
240
Department of Transport #39862744
0
Hecs Fire
0
HR Central
330
Iron Mountain AU Group Pty. Ltd.
168
JH Computer Services
2,910
Jim's Cleaning
0
Jones Day
23,322
Keith Sw ift
3
Key2 Creative (Design)
2,376
Marketforce Express
0
National Storage - Subiaco
232
Perth Bin Hire
56,884
Peter Ward
1,818
Post New spapers
1,588
Synergy
837
Telstra
451
The Organic Collective
40
WALGA
0
West Tip Waste Management
16,753
Westrac - Backhoe
6,155
Total
200,322

13

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
935
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(389)
0
0
0
0
0
546

Older

Total

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0 (113)
0
0
0
0
0 (116)
0
(99)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0 (697)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0 (423)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0 (567)
0
0
0
0
0 (2,015)

150
521
558
68,074
352
263
111
3,632
(113)
12,554
240
(116)
(99)
330
168
2,910
935
23,322
3
2,376
(697)
232
56,884
1,818
1,165
448
451
40
(567)
16,753
6,155
198,853

Western Metropolitan Regional Council
Monthly Management Accounts

September 2020

3. Treasury
3.1 Cash Invested

Investments
As at 30 September 2020
Invest
No.
Investment 2
Investment 14
Investment 19
Investment 20
Investment 21
Investment 22

Date
Invested

Reserve Fund

13/07/2020
18/08/2020
21/07/2020
10/08/2020
29/09/2020
25/08/2020

Maturity
Date

Development Reserve
Operations Reserve
Operations Reserve
Operations Reserve
Operations Reserve
Operations Reserve

Amount
Invested

13/10/2020
18/11/2020
19/10/2020
9/11/2020
29/12/2020
25/11/2020

Current Term Bank
Rate
(days) Lodged

$475,148
$355,905
$151,801
$251,990
$250,000
$300,000

0.83%
0.70%
0.83%
0.75%
0.60%
0.70%

$1,785,114

Total Funds Invested

3.2 Cash Analysis

Cash Analysis
As at 30 September 2020

Reserves
Operations Reserve
Development Reserve
Total Reserves
Unrestricted Cash
Commonwealth Cheque Account
Total Unrestricted Cash
Total Cash

30-Sep-20

31-Aug-20 Movement

1,309,967
475,148
1,785,114

1,309,697
475,148
1,784,844

270
0
270

149,931
149,931

310,101
310,101

(160,170)
(160,170)

1,935,045

2,094,945

(159,901)

14

92
92
90
91
91
92

NAB
NAB
NAB
NAB
NAB
NAB

Maturity
Amount

Gross
Interest

$476,142
$356,533
$152,112
$252,461
$250,374
$300,529

$994
$628
$311
$471
$374
$529
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4. Capital Expenditure

STATEMENT OF INVESTING ACTIVITIES
As at 30 September 2020
Month
Movement

YTD Actual

YTD Budget
Jun 2019

2020/21
Budget

Buildings

HHW Carport Cover

9545

9545

2,500

10,000

Total Buildings

9,545

9,545

2,500

10,000

Furniture & Equipment

Furniture Items New Office

169

169

0

0

Total Office Furniture

169

169

0

0

Vehicles
Concrete Bays
Mandalay Software
Site Works
Forklift
Safety Equipment

0
0
4,858
318
0
0

12,725
0
4,858
3,440
0
0

5,250
3,750
1,250
50,750
3,750
2,000

21,000
15,000
5,000
203,000
15,000
8,000

Total Property, Plant & Equipment

5,176

21,023

66,750

267,000

Plant & Equipment

Infrastructure

HHW Plumbing for Carport Cover

0

0

1,500

6000

Total Infrastructure

0

0

1,500

6,000

14,891

30,737

70,750

283,000

Total Capital Expenditure
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5. Revenue
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6. Actual v Budget Expenditure

Budget v Actuals Summary
WESTERN METROPOLITAN REGIONAL COUNCIL
1 Sept 2020 to 30 Sept 2020
Actual

Budget

Var AUD

Var % YTD Actual YTD Budget Var AUD

Var %

Income
Revenue
Total Income

304,637
304,637

289,928
289,928

14,709
14,709

5%
5%

1,727,961
1,727,961

1,777,412
1,777,412

(49,451)
(49,451)

-3%
-3%

Less Operating Expenses
Administration & Legals
Comms & Ed
Governance
Recycling Center
Total Operating Expenses

57,624
29,776
14,389
314,798
416,587

126,383
30,289
10,866
323,198
490,736

(68,759)
(513)
3,523
(8,400)
(74,149)

-54%
-2%
32%
-3%
-15%

275,835
99,837
14,389
974,815
1,364,875

419,316
97,679
17,398
992,466
1,526,859

(143,481)
2,158
(3,009)
(17,651)
(161,984)

-34%
2%
-17%
-2%
-11%

(111,950)

(200,808)

88,858

44%

363,085

250,553

112,532

45%

Net Profit
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1. Financial Performance
1.1 Income Statement (by Nature and Type)

In accordance with the materiality threshold adopted by Council for the reporting of variances in
Operating Revenue and Expenses classified according to nature and type, the following comments
are made to provide an explanation of these variances.

Statement of Comprehensive Income by Nature & Type
1 Oct 2020 to 31 Oct 2020

Actual
Revenue from Ordinary Activities
Fees & Charges
Interest
Operating Grants, Subsidies and Contributions
Other Income
Total Revenue from Ordinary Activities

MONTH TO DATE
YEAR TO DATE
Budget Var AUD Var % YTD Actual YTD Budget Var AUD

Var %

Prior YTD
Actual

Budget
2020/21

263,923
1,056
55
2,070
267,103

280,727
1,917
785
5,833
289,262

(16,804)
(861)
(730)
(3,763)
(22,159)

-6%
-45%
-93%
-65%
-8%

1,028,945
4,322
939,393
22,403
1,995,064

1,122,931
7,668
910,745
23,332
2,064,676

(93,986)
(3,346)
28,648
(929)
(69,612)

-8%
-44%
3%
-4%
-3%

3,050,142
34,214
1,919,456
611,022
5,614,834

3,368,755
23,000
1,874,637
70,000
5,336,392

Expenses from Ordinary Activities
Depreciation & Amortisation
Employee Costs
Insurance
Materials & Contracts
Other Expenses
Utilities
Total Expenses from Ordinary Activities

(13,596)
(158,536)
(22,597)
(263,599)
(58,443)
(1,000)
(517,772)

(11,254)
(151,882)
(31,146)
(274,169)
(68,968)
(1,126)
(538,545)

(2,342)
(6,654)
8,549
10,570
10,525
126
20,773

-21%
-4%
27%
4%
15%
11%
4%

(54,384)
(615,007)
(48,509)
(1,036,233)
(123,912)
(5,041)
(1,883,088)

(44,965)
(554,042)
(62,292)
(1,113,672)
(285,972)
(4,504)
(2,065,447)

(9,419)
(60,965)
13,783
77,439
162,060
(537)
182,359

-21%
-11%
22%
7%
57%
-12%
9%

(201,324)
(1,650,918)
(59,326)
(3,021,071)
(1,027,587)
(10,818)
(5,971,044)

Net Operating Position

(250,669)

(249,283)

(1,386)

-1%

111,976

(771)

112,747 14624%

(356,210)

0
0
0

(666)
0
0
(666)

-100%

0

666
0
0
666

-100%

0
0
0
0

1,332
0
0
1,332

(250,669)

(248,617)

(2,052)

-1%

111,976

561

(134,974)
(1,572,042)
(62,292)
(3,289,979)
(868,024)
(13,500)
(5,940,811)
0
(604,419)
0
50,000
0
8,000
0
0
(546,419)

Asset Revaluation
Paid Parental Leave
Profit/(Loss) on Sale of Assets
Total Other Income
Change in Net Assets From Operations

(1,332)
0
0
(1,332)

-100%

-100%

111,415 19860%

0
0
(93,754)
0
0
(449,965)

VARIANCES FOR THE MONTH
Interest
Under budget due to very low interest rates. Rates are effectively 0% for the bank account and <1%
for all investments.
Operating Grants
Under budget due to not receiving grants.
Other Income
Under Budget due to lower than expected recyclables and recycling transfer tonnes.
Depreciation
Over budget due to reverting to straight line depreciation.
Insurance
Under budget due to lower than expected insurance premiums as well as spread out invoicing
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Other Expenses
Under budget due to slightly lower than expected legal bills, even when allowing for legal expenses
associated with WMRC’s Waste to Energy tender; and the commercial agreement with the Town of
Cambridge for the provision of our Verge Valet service.

VARIANCES FOR THE YEAR TO DATE
Interest
Under budget due to very low interest rates.
Depreciation
Over budget due to reverting to straight line depreciation.
Employee Costs
Over budget due to staff termination pay out.
Insurance
Under budget due to lower than expected insurance costs.
Other Expenses
Under budget due to lower than expected legal bills.
Note: The Reserve Fund transfers are no longer included in non-operating Grants and Subsidies as
budgeted above. The movement is now recorded as a change in equity in the Statement of Financial
Position
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1. Financial Performance (continued)
1.2 Statement of Financial Position

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 October 2020
31-Oct-20

30-Sep-20

Difference

Current Assets
Bank

165,854

150,523

15,331

1,634,307

1,785,114

(150,807)

262,340

334,621

(72,281)

3,164

3,333

(170)

2,065,664

2,273,592

(207,927)

1,284,691

1,278,644

6,048

916,626

922,214

(5,589)

95,083

95,430

(347)

Total Non-current Assets

2,296,400

2,296,288

112

Total Assets

4,362,064

4,569,879

(207,815)

45,800

45,800

0

Reserves
Debtors
Accrued Income
Total Current Assets

Non-current Assets
Property, Plant & Equipment
Infrastructure
Right of Use Assets

Current Liabilities
Lease Liability
Trade & Other Payables

309,669

275,759

33,910

Employee Related Provisions

223,235

215,975

7,260

Total Current Liabilities

578,705

537,534

41,170

Non-Current Long Service Leave

27,030

25,347

1,683

Total Non-Current Liabilities

27,030

25,347

1,683

Non-Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities
Net Assets

605,735

562,881

42,853

3,756,330

4,006,998

(250,669)

Equity
Asset Revaluation Reserve

289,498

289,498

0

Reserves

1,634,307

1,785,114

(150,807)

Retained Earnings

1,832,524

1,932,385

(99,861)

Total Equity

3,756,330

4,006,998

(250,669)
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1. Financial Performance (continued)
1.4 Net Current Assets

Net Current Assets
As at 31 October 2020
31-Oct-20

30-Sep-20

Movement

165,854
1,634,307
220,635
3,164
2,023,960

150,523
1,785,114
268,002
3,333
2,206,973

15,331
(150,807)
(47,367)
(170)
(183,013)

229,327
223,235
38,638
491,200

183,970
215,975
25,171
425,115

45,358
7,260
13,467
66,085

Net Assets

1,532,760

1,781,858

(249,098)

Less
Reserves - Restricted Cash

1,634,307

1,785,114

(150,807)

(101,546.89)

(3,256.58)

(98,290)

Current Assets
Cash
Reserves
Debtors
Accrued Income
Total Current Assets
Current Liabilities
Creditors
Provisions for Leave
Accruals
Total Current Liabilities

Net Current Funding Position
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1. Financial Performance (continued)
1.5 Cash Flow Statement

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
As at 31 October 2020
ACTUAL
TO DATE
2020/2021

FULL YEAR
ACTUAL
2019/2020

1,028,945
1,077,405
4,322
22,403
2,133,076

3,050,142
1,757,951
34,214
611,022

(640,885)
(1,650,877)
(5,041)
(48,509)
28,451
(123,912)
(2,440,774)

(1,593,195)
(3,034,658)
(10,818)
(59,325)
10,582

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVIES
Receipts
Fees and charges
Operating grants, subsidies and contributions
Interest earnings
Other revenue
Receipts from operations

Payment
Employee costs
Materials and contracts
Utility charges
Insurance Expenses
GST received/ (paid)
Other expenses
Payments from operations

5,453,329

(1,027,587)
(5,715,001)

Cash Used in Operating Activities

(307,698)

(261,672)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(615,395)

(523,344)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVIES
Payments for purchase of property, plant and equipment
Payments for purchase of infrastructure
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVIES

(13,708)
0
0
(13,708)

(68,222)
(196,489)
0
(264,711)

0
0

(44,292)
(44,292)

(321,406)
1,589,146

(570,675)
2,159,821

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE MONTH 1,267,740

1,589,146

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVIES
Payments for principal portion of lease liabilities
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVIES
SUMMARY OF CASH FLOWS
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
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1. Financial Performance (continued)
1.6 Reserves (cash backed)

STATEMENT OF RESERVES
As at 31 October 2020

Opening Balance

Operations
Reserve

Development
Reserve

Total

1,309,967

475,148

1,785,114

405

994

1,399

(152,207)

0

(152,207)

0

0

0

1,158,165

476,142

1,634,307

Interest on investments
Transfer from Surplus
Transfer to Surplus
Closing Balance

Reserves Summary
As at 31 October 2020
31-Oct-20

30-Sep-20

Movement

476,142
355,905
0
251,993
250,267
300,000
1,634,307

475,148
355,905
151,801
251,993
250,267
300,000
1,785,114

994
0
(151,801)
0
0
0
(150,807)

1,158,165
476,142
1,634,307

1,309,967
475,148
1,785,114

(151,801)
994
(150,807)

Investments
Investment 2
Investment 14
Investment 19
Investment 20
Investment 21
Investment 22
Total Investments

Reserves
Operations Reserve
Development Reserve
Total Reserves
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1. Financial Performance (continued)
1.7 Key Performance Indicators

FINANCIAL RATIOS
As at 31 October 2020

Current Ratio
Current Assets
LESS: Restricted Current Assets

2,023,960
(1,634,307)

389,653

491,200

491,200

=
Current Liabilities
LESS: Liabilities Associated with restricted assets

0.7933

This is ratio is designed to focus on the liquidity position of a local government that has
arisen from past year’s transactions.
The target for the above ratio should be at or above 1
Operating Surplus Ratio
Operating Revenue
LESS: Operating Expense

1,995,064
(1,883,088)

111,976

1,976,069

1,976,069

6%

=
Own Source Operating Revenue

This ratio is a measure of a local government’s ability to cover its operational costs and have
revenues available for capital funding or other purposes.
The target to achieve a basic standard is between 1% and 15% (0.01 and 0.15)
Own Source Operating Revenue
Own Source Operating Revenue

1,976,069

1,976,069

Operating Expense

1,883,088

1,883,088

=

This ratio is the measurement of a local government’s ability to cover its costs through its
own revenue efforts.
The target to achieve an advanced standard is greater than 90% (0.90)
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2. Debtors and Creditors Analysis
2.1 Top Ten Customers

TOP TEN CUSTOMERS - Oct 2020
Ranking

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

Fixed
Component

Name
City of Subiaco
Town of Claremont
Town of Mosman Park
Town of Cottesloe
Town of Mosman Park - Verge Valet
Shire of Peppermint Grove
Town of Cottesloe - Verge Valet
Project West
Suez Recycling & Recovery
Tidy Up

0
0
0
0
0

Variable
Charges
$66,269.25
$35,085.90
$27,246.43
$26,944.91
$12,573.42
$7,293.77
$5,775.65
$3,200.94
$3,018.19
$2,195.12

Total $ excl
GST
$66,269.25
$35,085.90
$27,246.43
$26,944.91
$12,573.42
$7,293.77
$5,775.65
$3,200.94
$3,018.19
$2,195.12

Period

Previous
Month

Oct-20
Oct-20
Oct-20
Oct-20
Oct-20
Oct-20
Oct-20
Oct-20
Oct-20
Oct-20

1
2
5
4
6
7
8
9
-

Period

Previous
Month

TOP TEN CUSTOMERS - YEAR TO DATE
Ranking

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

Name
City of Subiaco
Town of Claremont
Town of Mosman Park
Town of Cottesloe
Shire of Peppermint Grove
Town of Mosman Park - Verge Valet
Town of Cambridge
Town of Cottesloe - Verge Valet
LGIS - Insurance broking - WALGA atf LGISWA
City of Nedlands

Fixed
Component
$ 333,660.72
$ 205,507.33
$ 175,553.81
$ 159,456.94
$
33,426.71
$

31,291.80

10

Variable
Charges
$276,492.06
$142,887.35
$104,206.42
$100,091.07
$33,508.95
$44,154.86
$1,752.73
$18,118.95
$11,963.50
$9,774.24

Total $ excl
GST
$610,152.78
$348,394.68
$279,760.23
$259,548.01
$66,935.66
$44,154.86
$33,044.53
$18,118.95
$11,963.50
$9,774.24

Jul 20 Jul 20 Jul 20 Jul 20 Jul 20 Jul 20 Jul 20 Jul 20 Jul 20 Jul 20 -

Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21

1
2
3
4
5
7
6
8
9
10
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2. Debtors and Creditors Analysis (continued)
2.2 Debtors Age Analysis

AGED DEBTOR ANALYSIS
As at 31 October 2020

Member Councils
City of Subiaco
City of Subiaco - Recycling
Town of Cottesloe
Town of Claremont
Town of Cottesloe - Verge Valet
Town of Mosman Park
Town of Mosman Park - Verge Valet
Shire of Peppermint Grove
Total

Participating Councils
Town of Cambridge
Total

Non-members
City of Nedlands
City of Perth
Davidson Projects Pty
Landscapes for Life
Mark Wells Designs
Martin Cuthbert Landscapes
Methodist Ladies College
More Than A Mow
Project West
Riverview Flats Pty Ltd
Sir Charles Gardener Hospital
Suez Recycling & Recovery 4600000277
T L C Property Maintenance
The Claremont Gardener
Tidy Up
Transpacific Cleanaway T/A Multiskip
UWA Building Services / Campus Managem
West to West Group
Total

Grand Total

Current ($) <1 Month ($) 1 month ($) 2 month ($) Older ($)

Total ($)

33,830
1,540
29,640
38,595
6,353
29,971
13,831
8,023
161,783
81%

80
0
1,540
23,613
7,236
1,520
0
4,586
38,574
19%

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0%

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0%

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0%

33,910
1,540
31,180
62,208
13,589
31,491
13,831
12,609
200,357
19%

360
360
0%

0
0
0%

0
0
0%

0
0
0%

0
0
0%

360
360
0%

2,149
77
80
402
428
322
155
336
3,521
0
1,720
1,361
299
132
2,415
638
1,417
1,722
17,174
86%

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
202
0
0
0
0
536
0
0
0
738
4%

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
947
1,059
0
0
0
0
0
0
2,006
10%

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0%

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0%

2,149
77
80
402
428
322
155
336
3,521
202
2,667
2,420
299
132
2,950
638
1,417
1,722
19,918
14%

179,317
81%

39,313
18%

2,006
1%

0
0%

0
0%

220,635
100%
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2.3 Top Ten Suppliers

TOP TEN SUPPLIERS - Oct 2020
Ranking

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

Name

$ excl GST

City of Rockingham
Jones Day
Perth Bin Hire
LGIS - Insurance broking - WALGA atf LGISWA
Truck Centre (WA) Pty Ltd
West Tip Waste Management
Crown Equipment Pty Ltd
D&M Waste Management
Craneswest (WA) Pty Ltd T/A Western Tree Recyclers
Southern Metropolitan Regional Council

$119,610.23
$55,673.44
$55,224.42
$38,883.97
$15,244.20
$15,230.00
$13,708.40
$13,503.26
$11,412.48
$5,221.00

Period

Previous
Month

Oct-20
Oct-20
Oct-20
Oct-20
Oct-20
Oct-20
Oct-20
Oct-20
Oct-20
Oct-20

1
3
2
4
5
-

Period

Previous
Month

TOP TEN SUPPLIERS - YEAR TO DATE
Ranking

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

Name

$ excl GST

City of Rockingham
Perth Bin Hire
Jones Day
LGIS - Insurance broking - WALGA atf LGISWA
West Tip Waste Management
Craneswest (WA) Pty Ltd T/A Western Tree Recyclers
D&M Waste Management
WALGA
Truck Centre (WA) Pty Ltd
Churchill Strata Pty Ltd (Rent)

12

$529,242.95
$198,599.06
$103,449.17
$99,060.30
$61,540.00
$51,437.64
$43,276.33
$18,588.24
$16,153.35
$15,648.35

Jul 20 Jul 20 Jul 20 Jul 20 Jul 20 Jul 20 Jul 20 Jul 20 Jul 20 Jul 20 -

Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21

1
2
4
3
5
8
6
7
-
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2. Debtors and Creditors Analysis (continued)
2.4 Creditors Age Analysis

Aged Creditor Analysis
As at 31 October 2020
Contact

Current < 1 Month 1 Month 2 Months Older
150
0
0
0
0
Brajkovich Asbestos
521
0
0
0
0
Caltex Australia
558
0
0
0
0
City of Rockingham
68,074
0
0
0
0
Claw Environmental Pty. Ltd.
352
0
0
0
0
Cleanaway Pty Ltd
263
0
0
0
0
Commandacom Pty Ltd
111
0
0
0
0
Community Resources Limited (Soft Landing mattress recycling
3,632
0
0
0
0
Complete Office Supplies Pty Ltd
0
0
0
0
(113)
Craneswest (WA) Pty Ltd T/A Western Tree Recyclers
12,554
0
0
0
0
Crown Equipment Pty Ltd
240
0
0
0
0
D&M Waste Management
14,854
0
0
0
0
Department of Transport #39862744
0
0
0
0
(116)
Hecs Fire
0
0
0
0
(99)
HR Central
330
0
0
0
0
Iron Mountain AU Group Pty. Ltd.
168
0
0
0
0
JH Computer Services
270
0
0
0
0
Jim's Cleaning
0
0
935
0
0
Jones Day
23,322
0
0
0
0
Keith Swift
3
0
0
0
0
Key2 Creative (Design)
2,376
0
0
0
0
Marketforce Express
0
0
0
0
(697)
National Storage - Subiaco
232
0
0
0
0
People Sense
396
0
0
0
0
Perth Bin Hire
56,884
0
0
0
0
Peter Ward
1,818
0
0
0
0
Post Newspapers
1,588
0
0
0
(423)
Synergy
837
0
(389)
0
0
Telstra
451
0
0
0
0
The Organic Collective
40
0
0
0
0
WALGA
0
0
0
0
(567)
West Tip Waste Management
16,753
0
0
0
0
Westrac - Backhoe
6,155
0
0
0
0
Total Aged Payables
212,932
0
546
0 (2,015)
Atom Supply
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Total
150
521
558
68,074
352
263
111
3,632
(113)
12,554
240
14,854
(116)
(99)
330
168
270
935
23,322
3
2,376
(697)
232
396
56,884
1,818
1,165
448
451
40
(567)
16,753
6,155
211,463
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3. Treasury
3.1 Cash Invested

Investments
As at 31 October 2020
Invest
No.

Date
Invested

Reserve Fund

Maturity
Date

Investment 2
Investment 14
Investment 20
Investment 21
Investment 22

13/10/2020
18/08/2020
10/08/2020
29/09/2020
25/08/2020

Development Reserve
Operations Reserve
Operations Reserve
Operations Reserve
Operations Reserve

13/10/2021
18/11/2020
9/11/2020
29/12/2020
25/11/2020

Amount
Invested

Curren Term Bank
Maturity
Rate
(days) Lodged Amount

$476,142
$355,905
$251,993
$250,267
$300,000

0.55%
0.70%
0.75%
0.60%
0.70%

92
92
91
91
92

NAB
NAB
NAB
NAB
NAB

$1,634,307

Total Funds Investe

3.2 Cash Analysis

Cash Analysis
As at 31 October 2020
31-Oct-20
Reserves
Operations Reserve
Development Reserve
Total Reserves
Unrestricted Cash
Commonwealth Cheque Account
Total Unrestricted Cash
Total Cash

30-Sep-20 Movement

1,158,165
476,142
1,634,307

1,309,967
475,148
1,785,114

(151,801)
994
(150,807)

165,257
165,257

150,032
150,032

15,225
15,225

1,799,564

1,935,146

(135,582)
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$476,802
$356,533
$252,464
$250,642
$300,529

Gross
Interest
$660
$628
$471
$374
$529
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4. Capital Expenditure

STATEMENT OF INVESTING ACTIVITIES
As at 31 October 2020
Month
Movement

YTD Actual

YTD Budget
Jun 2019

2020/21
Budget

Buildings
HHW Carport Cover
Total Buildings

0
0

9545
9,545

2,500
2,500

10,000
10,000

Furniture & Equipment
Furniture Items New Office
Total Office Furniture

0
0

169
169

0
0

0
0

0
0
0
0
13,708
0
13,708

12,725
0
4,858
3,440
13,708
0
34,731

5,250
3,750
1,250
50,750
3,750
2,000
66,750

21,000
15,000
5,000
203,000
15,000
8,000
267,000

0
0

0
0

1,500
1,500

6000
6,000

13,708

44,445

70,750

283,000

Plant & Equipment
Vehicles
Concrete Bays
Mandalay Software
Site Works
Forklift
Safety Equipment
Total Property, Plant & Equipment
Infrastructure
HHW Plumbing for Carport Cover
Total Infrastructure
Total Capital Expenditure
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5. Revenue
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6. Actual v Budget Expenditure

Budget v Actuals Summary
WESTERN METROPOLITAN REGIONAL COUNCIL
1 Oct 2020 to 31 Oct 2020
Actual

Budget

Var AUD

Var % YTD Actual YTD Budget Var AUD

Var %

Income
Revenue
Total Income

267,103
267,103

289,928
289,928

(22,825)
(22,825)

-8%
-8%

1,995,064
1,995,064

2,067,340
2,067,340

(72,276)
(72,276)

-3%
-3%

Less Operating Expenses
Administration & Legals
Comms & Ed
Governance
Recycling Center
Total Operating Expenses

126,046
45,602
0
346,124
517,772

154,605
37,101
766
346,073
538,545

(28,559) -18%
23%
8,501
(766) -100%
0%
51
-4%
(20,773)

401,350
146,016
14,389
1,321,333
1,883,088

573,958
134,780
18,164
1,338,545
2,065,447

(172,608)
11,236
(3,775)
(17,212)
(182,359)

-30%
8%
-21%
-1%
-9%

(250,669)

(248,617)

-1%

111,976

1,893

Net Profit

(2,052)

Millions

YTD Actual v Budget Expenditure
1.4
1.3
1.2
1.1
1
0.9
0.8
0.7
0.6
0.5
0.4
0.3
0.2
0.1
0

Administration &
Legals

Comms & Ed

YTD Actuals

Governance
YTD Budget

Recycling Center
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110,083 5815%

Attachment 10-3A

Account Transactions
WESTERN METROPOLITAN REGIONAL COUNCIL
For the period 1 September 2020 to 30 September 2020
Cash Basis
Date

Description

Reference

SuperChoice
Payment: Jones Day
Payment: Churchill Strata Pty Ltd (Rent)
Payment: Heatley Sales Pty Ltd
CBA
Payment: People Sense
Payment: The Organic Collective
Payment: JH Computer Services
Payment: Nabilla Antipas
Payment: Perth Bin Hire
Payment: Claw Environmental Pty. Ltd.
Payment: Department of Transport #39862744
Payment: Pentanet Pty Ltd
Payment: JH Computer Services
Payment: Post Newspapers
Payment: Synergy
Payment: West Tip Waste Management
Payment: West Tip Waste Management
Payment: Total Supplies
Payment: Arc-I Welding Industries
Payment: WesTrac - Loader
Payment: Iron Mountain AU Group Pty. Ltd.
Payment: Perth Bin Hire
Payment: Perth Bin Hire
Payment: Pentanet Pty Ltd
Payment: Docu-Shred
Payment: Perth Bin Hire
Payment: AIM - Australian Institute of Management WA HRD Ltd
Payment: Key2 Creative (Design)
Payment: WALGA
Payment: LGIS - Insurance broking - WALGA atf LGISWA
Payment: Iron Mountain AU Group Pty. Ltd.
Payment: Cleanaway Pty Ltd
Payment: HR Central
Payment: Caltex Australia
Payment: Synergy
Payment: Jones Day
Payment: Jim's Cleaning
Payment: Forget Your Books Pty Ltd
Payment: Key2 Creative (Website)
Payment: Laura Monisse
Payment: Eustance, Elisabeth
Payment: City of Rockingham
Payment: Key2 Creative (Design)
Payment: National Storage - Subiaco
Payment: Southside enterprises
Churchill Strata Pty Ltd (Rent)
SuperChoice
Wages
Payment: The Organic Collective
Payment: Scott Printers
Payment: Truck Centre (WA) Pty Ltd
Payment: Key2 Creative (Design)
Payment: JH Computer Services
Payment: Media Form
Payment: Community Resources Limited (Soft Landing mattress recycling)
Payment: Workpower Inc.
Payment: Heatley Sales Pty Ltd
Payment: Mini-Tankers Australia Pty Ltd (Refueling Solutions)
Payment: Easysafe Liquid Waste Disposal
Payment: Heatley Sales Pty Ltd
TRANS FEES-0223033 (T) COMMBIZ FEES
Commonwealth Bank
Payment: Roller Smart Shutters
Payment: Churchill Strata Pty Ltd (Rent)
Australian Taxation Office
Payment: Perth Bin Hire
Payment: City of Rockingham
Payment: City of Rockingham
Payment: Commandacom Pty Ltd
Payment: Electrical Nett
Payment: Kinsella Electrical Services
Payment: Perth Bin Hire
Payment: Telstra
Payment: Local Government Professionals
Payment: Heatley Sales Pty Ltd
Payment: D&M Waste Management
Payment: Perth Bin Hire
Payment: City of Subiaco
Payment: Work Health Professionals Pty Ltd

Super
Legal Feed
Office keys
Safety equipment
Merchant Fees
Employee Benefits program
Fruit Office
IT
Staff reimbursement
Haulage
Polystyrene
Registration fees
Internet
IT
Advertisement
Electricity
Haulage
Haulage
Misc
Welding consumables
Loader costs
Storage
Haulage
Haulage
Internet
Docu shredding
Haulage
Training - RC
Advertisement
legal
Insurance
Archive Storage
Haulage
IT subscription
Fuel
Electricity
Legal
Cleaning
Xero IT
Advertisement/website update
Staff reimbursement
Staff reimbursement
Haulage
Advertisement
Storage
Maintenance backhoe
Rent
Super
Salaries
Fruit Office
Advertisement
Truck maintenance
Advertisement
IT
Office Supplies
Mattress recycling
Haulage
Safety equipment
Fuel
Waste disposal
PO-0255 / 254983
Merchant fees
Bank fees
Plant & Equipment Additions
rent
PAYG Sept 20
Haulage
Haulage
Haulage
Phones
Building maintenance
WB wiring tidy
Haulage
Phone charges
Membership
Safety equipment
Verge Valet
Haulage
Rates Council
Safety Staff other

Credit

Commonwealth Cheque Account
01 Sep 2020
02 Sep 2020
02 Sep 2020
02 Sep 2020
02 Sep 2020
02 Sep 2020
02 Sep 2020
02 Sep 2020
02 Sep 2020
02 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
07 Sep 2020
07 Sep 2020
08 Sep 2020
11 Sep 2020
11 Sep 2020
11 Sep 2020
11 Sep 2020
11 Sep 2020
11 Sep 2020
11 Sep 2020
11 Sep 2020
12 Sep 2020
14 Sep 2020
14 Sep 2020
14 Sep 2020
14 Sep 2020
15 Sep 2020
15 Sep 2020
15 Sep 2020
15 Sep 2020
15 Sep 2020
15 Sep 2020
15 Sep 2020
15 Sep 2020
15 Sep 2020
15 Sep 2020
15 Sep 2020
15 Sep 2020
15 Sep 2020
15 Sep 2020
15 Sep 2020
17 Sep 2020
21 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020

9,099.40
17,163.75
110.00
49.20
336.67
198.00
46.45
2,521.19
108.24
6,534.00
244.20
386.10
124.95
2,640.19
482.62
352.94
15,262.50
1,347.50
122.19
342.10
2,792.08
152.40
8,530.50
1,689.03
134.00
41.80
627.00
1,850.00
77.00
12,032.06
507.21
15.24
262.80
330.00
533.24
703.52
2,588.52
495.00
132.00
6,930.00
10.10
112.32
66,375.88
308.00
225.40
1,331.00
3,300.00
8,469.23
37,603.59
39.95
614.90
1,000.07
297.00
4,325.04
225.35
1,662.70
346.50
148.24
1,328.55
6,573.60
248.36
4.97
1.70
350.00
1,651.00
35,674.00
3,487.97
55,879.32
66,751.41
93.19
749.43
1,980.00
845.85
441.29
531.00
596.93
7,609.79
44,640.99
4,004.54
308.00

22 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020
22 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
25 Sep 2020
28 Sep 2020
Total Commonwealth Cheque Account

Payment: Jones Day
Payment: Total Supplies
Payment: Peter Ward
Payment: Jones Day
Payment: Key2 Creative (Design)
Payment: Melan Welhenage
Payment: Commandacom Pty Ltd
Payment: St John Ambulance Australia (Western Australia)
Payment: Anne Lake Consultantancy
Payment: South Side Enterprises
Payment: Taylor Tyres Pty Ltd
Payment: St John Ambulance Australia (Western Australia)
Payment: Media Form
Payment: Hazel Hodgkins
Payment: Scott Printers
Payment: WA BOS Semi Trailer Equipment Pty Ltd
Payment: WA Plumbing Solutions
Wages
Super Choice

Legal fees
Misc
Legal fees
Legal fees
Advertisement
Office cleaning
Phones
Staff training
HR
Maintenance backhoe
Tyre repair
Staff training
Office supplies
Staff reimbursement
Advertisement
Trailer parts
Ground maintenance
Salaries
Super

Deputy Software
Chez Jean-Claude Pattisserie
Roses Only
event & conference Co Pty Ltd
Canva
Brew-ha the Ritual Subiaco
My healthy Place Floreat
Bunnings Wembley
Golden Choice
The clean food store
The Source Bulk Foods
North Street Store - Do A Dinner Pty.Ltd.

IT Software
Office catering
Bereavement flowers
Comms&Eds event
IT subscription
Office catering
Comms&Eds event
Comms&Eds event
Comms&Eds event
Comms&Eds event
Comms&Eds event
Comms&Eds event

EG FuelCo Floreat
Bunnings Wembley
Toolmart
actrol 6054
nationwide training
EG FuelCo Floreat
EG FuelCo Floreat
Post Floreat Post
Tanera Pty Ltd
Radlink Communications
EG FuelCo Floreat
St Andrews Medical

Fuel
Misc
Misc
Misc
Staff training
Fuel
Fuel
Post
Maintenance backhoe
Maintenance building
Fuel
Staff cost

Farmer Jacks - Subiaco
bp connect carlisle
Farmer Jacks - Subiaco
Brew-ha the Ritual Subiaco
Farmer Jacks - Subiaco
Brew-ha the Ritual Subiaco
Deliso Pty Ltd
Farmer Jacks - Subiaco

Office catering
Office catering
Office catering
Office catering
Office catering
Office catering
Office catering
Office catering

2,885.41
301.22
2,821.50
29,915.62
506.00
245.00
132.00
640.00
4,750.00
1,331.00
1,155.00
320.00
450.70
33.00
616.00
866.64
1,056.00
38,521.71
8,347.92
552,937.47

Commonwealth Credit Card SF
04 Sep 2020
04 Sep 2020
07 Sep 2020
09 Sep 2020
21 Sep 2020
23 Sep 2020
23 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
28 Sep 2020
28 Sep 2020
Total Commonwealth Credit Card SF

0.22
27.00
77.90
201.98
17.99
15.00
15.95
60.88
18.94
18.85
10.30
346.50
811.51

Commonweath Credit Card GF
01 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
03 Sep 2020
04 Sep 2020
08 Sep 2020
09 Sep 2020
16 Sep 2020
17 Sep 2020
17 Sep 2020
18 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
25 Sep 2020
Total Commonweath Credit Card GF

5.00
19.07
324.00
65.19
648.00
5.00
6.40
18.95
462.00
677.60
5.00
230.00
2,466.21

Petty Cash
02 Sep 2020
04 Sep 2020
17 Sep 2020
17 Sep 2020
17 Sep 2020
21 Sep 2020
24 Sep 2020
29 Sep 2020
Total Petty Cash
Total

25.00
5.50
4.00
34.75
3.00
15.00
49.00
3.00
139.25
556,354.44
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Account Transactions
WESTERN METROPOLITAN REGIONAL COUNCIL
For the period 1 October 2020 to 31 October 2020
Cash Basis
Date

Description

Reference

Payment: Wren Oil
Payment: Key2 Creative (Website)
Payment: Nabilla Antipas
Payment: Department of Environment Regulation
Payment: Perth Bin Hire
Payment: Highway Motor Trimmers
Payment: Specialized Cleaning Group PTY LTD
Payment: St John Ambulance Australia (Western Australia)
Payment: Radlink Communications
Payment: The Organic Collective
CBA
Payment: Synergy
Payment: Cleanaway Pty Ltd
Payment: Commandacom Pty Ltd
Payment: Peter Ward
Payment: South Side Enterprises
Payment: LGIS - Insurance broking - WALGA atf LGISWA
Payment: LGIS - Insurance broking - WALGA atf LGISWA
Payment: LGIS - Insurance broking - WALGA atf LGISWA
Payment: D&M Waste Management
Payment: Threadmark IT
Payment: Iron Mountain AU Group Pty. Ltd.
Payment: Pentanet Pty Ltd
Payment: Jones Day
Payment: Cr Stephanie Stroud
Payment: Claw Environmental Pty. Ltd.
Payment: Jones Day
Payment: Cr. Lorraine Young
Payment: Cr Charles Hohnen
Payment: Perth Bin Hire
Payment: Pentanet Pty Ltd
Payment: Key2 Creative (Design)
Payment: Community Resources Limited (Soft Landing mattress recycling)
Payment: Cr Paul Shaw
Payment: Keith Swift
Payment: Hecs Fire
Payment: Perth Bin Hire
Payment: Perth Bin Hire
Payment: Perth Bin Hire
Payment: Perth Bin Hire
Payment: Jones Day
Payment: Cr Bruce Haynes
Payment: HR Central
Payment: Caltex Australia
Wages
National Storage - Subiaco
Pentanet Pty Ltd
Payment: Water Corporation
SALARIES AND WAGES Western Metropol
Payment: Crown Equipment Pty Ltd
Churchill Strata Pty Ltd (Rent)
Super Choice
TRANS FEES-0223033 (T) COMMBIZ FEES
Payment: Deputy Software
Commonwealth Bank
Payment: Department of Transport #39862744
Payment: Telstra
Payment: Perth Bin Hire
Payment: D&M Waste Management
Payment: RT Drafting
Payment: West Tip Waste Management
Payment: West Tip Waste Management
Payment: City of Rockingham
Payment: D&M Waste Management
Payment: Pack and Send West Perth
Payment: McGregor Surveys
Payment: Mini-Tankers Australia Pty Ltd (Refueling Solutions)
Payment: Elgas
Payment: More Than A Mow
Payment: McGregor Surveys
Payment: Scott Printers
Payment: Melan Welhenage
Payment: Perth Bin Hire
Payment: Southern Metropolitan Regional Council
Payment: The Organic Collective
Payment: Forget Your Books Pty Ltd
Payment: Perth Bin Hire
Payment: Clarity Comm
Payment: Totally Workwear
Super Choice
SALARIES AND WAGES Western Metropol

Oil disposal
Design
Staff reimbursement
Green waste Lease
Haulage
Repair backhoe seat
Street Sweeping
Safety equipment
Maintenance work
Fruit
Merchandise
Electricity
Haulage
Phones
Legal
Maintenance backhoe
Insurance
Insurance
Insurance
Verge Valet (August)
IT management
Storage
Internet
Legal
Sitting Fee July - Sept 2020
Polystyrene
Legal
Sitting Fee July - Sept 2020
Sitting Fee July - Sept 2020
Haulage
Internet
Design
Mattress recycling
Sitting Fee July - Sept 2020
Staff Reimbursement
Fire equipment servicing
Haulage
Haulage
Haulage
Haulage
Legal
Sitting Fee July - Sept 2020
HR IT program
Fuel
Wages
Storage
Internet
Water bill RC
Wages
Forklift Purchase
Rent
Super
Merchandise
IT software
Merchandise
Registration fee
Phones
Haulage
Verge Valet Sep
Audit
Haulage
Haulage
Haulage
Verge Valet Sep
Comms and Ed
Field survey
Fuel
gas bottles forklift
Mowing
Field Survey
Advertisement
Office cleaning
Haulage
Recycle right membership
Fruit
IT software
Haulage
Workshop
Safety equipment
Super
Wages

Credit

Commonwealth Cheque Account
01 Oct 2020
01 Oct 2020
01 Oct 2020
01 Oct 2020
01 Oct 2020
01 Oct 2020
01 Oct 2020
01 Oct 2020
01 Oct 2020
01 Oct 2020
02 Oct 2020
02 Oct 2020
05 Oct 2020
05 Oct 2020
05 Oct 2020
05 Oct 2020
05 Oct 2020
05 Oct 2020
05 Oct 2020
05 Oct 2020
05 Oct 2020
05 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
06 Oct 2020
07 Oct 2020
07 Oct 2020
12 Oct 2020
12 Oct 2020
13 Oct 2020
13 Oct 2020
13 Oct 2020
13 Oct 2020
14 Oct 2020
14 Oct 2020
15 Oct 2020
15 Oct 2020
15 Oct 2020
19 Oct 2020
20 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
22 Oct 2020
26 Oct 2020
26 Oct 2020

71.50
198.00
63.78
1,622.75
418.00
484.00
526.98
59.45
2,404.60
39.95
506.85
304.33
328.50
134.67
1,818.30
1,089.00
16,070.45
11,075.33
15,626.59
12,842.04
321.50
167.64
124.95
16,069.24
1,625.00
427.90
11,184.23
1,625.00
3,425.00
3,862.90
134.00
231.00
1,227.84
1,625.00
30.00
363.00
1,182.38
7,441.40
1,380.27
1,064.58
10,665.82
1,700.00
330.00
522.53
40,339.47
225.40
134.00
946.41
362.35
14,839.00
3,300.00
8,233.32
5.46
0.22
2.30
89.70
196.80
1,064.58
5,144.04
440.00
15,675.00
1,078.00
66,031.69
7,154.52
34.90
1,000.00
1,294.00
60.16
880.00
1,045.00
677.60
250.00
418.00
5,743.10
39.95
132.00
41,162.81
1,386.00
1,078.03
8,273.34
40,581.00

27 Oct 2020
27 Oct 2020
27 Oct 2020
27 Oct 2020
27 Oct 2020
27 Oct 2020
27 Oct 2020
29 Oct 2020
29 Oct 2020
29 Oct 2020
29 Oct 2020
29 Oct 2020
29 Oct 2020
29 Oct 2020
29 Oct 2020
29 Oct 2020
29 Oct 2020
Total Commonwealth Cheque Account

SuperChoice
SuperChoice
Payment: Ecocycle Pty Ltd
Payment: JH Computer Services
Payment: Commandacom Pty Ltd
Payment: Churchill Strata Pty Ltd (Rent)
Payment: City of Rockingham
Payment: Heatley Sales Pty Ltd
Payment: Sheridans Pty Ltd
Payment: Craneswest (WA) Pty Ltd T/A Western Tree Recyclers
Payment: Craneswest (WA) Pty Ltd T/A Western Tree Recyclers
Payment: Heatley Sales Pty Ltd
Payment: Elan Energy Matrix Pty.Ltd.
Payment: Truck Centre (WA) Pty Ltd
Payment: Heatley Sales Pty Ltd
Payment: Docu-Shred
Payment: Keith Swift

Super
Super
x-ray recycling
IT
Phones
Water bill
Haulage
Safety equipment
Name badge
Haulage
Haulage
Safety equipment
Cleaning
Volvo repairs
Supplies RC
Docu shredding
Staff Reimbursement

36.64
115.74
147.61
2,640.19
201.07
321.53
63,497.15
168.51
70.29
7,821.57
16,171.72
167.40
363.37
16,768.62
34.42
41.80
55.33
510,357.36

Liquorland - Subiaco
Complete Office Supplies Pty Ltd
Harmony Newsagency
Deputy Software
BP Westgate 6220
Who gives a crap
Canva
Nappies & More
Volunteering WA
North Street Store - Do A Dinner Pty.Ltd.
Top Florist
Bloomex

Staff
Office supplies
Staff
IT Software
Fuel
Office supplies
IT subscription
Comms and Ed event
Comms and Ed event
Comms and Ed event
Staff
Staff

120.00
57.87
8.99
36.80
56.93
48.00
17.99
38.45
90.00
257.00
105.90
194.90
1,032.83

Farmer Jacks - Subiaco

Milk office

Commonwealth Credit Card SF
01 Oct 2020
01 Oct 2020
02 Oct 2020
07 Oct 2020
07 Oct 2020
16 Oct 2020
20 Oct 2020
23 Oct 2020
23 Oct 2020
26 Oct 2020
27 Oct 2020
27 Oct 2020
Total Commonwealth Credit Card SF

Petty Cash
20 Oct 2020
Total Petty Cash
Total

3.00
3.00
511,393.19

Attachment 10-3C

Debtors Ourstanding
WESTERN METROPOLITAN REGIONAL COUNCIL
As at 24 November 2020
Contact
Total

1 Month
0.00

2 Months
0.00

3 Months
0.00

Older
0.00
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1. DECLARATION OF OPENING & ELECTION OF
NEW CHAIR AND DEPUTY
Welcome and opening of meeting by Stefan Frodsham, CEO of the WMRC at 2:05pm
The CEOAC Terms of Reference provide for the annual election of a Chairperson and Deputy as
follows:
4.2 A Chairperson and Deputy shall be elected for one year by a majority of members of the
Committee. Further elections for these positions are to be held on an annual basis. In the event
of either of these office holders no longer being available to exercise the role a supplementary
election will be held.
Mr Don Burnett was the sole nominee for the role of Chairperson of the CEOAC to replace the
outgoing Chairperson, Ms Rochelle Lavery. Ms Liz Ledger was the sole nominee for the role of
Deputy. Buth were duly elected for a period of 12 months as per item 4.2 of the Terms of
Reference of the Committee.

2. RECORD OF ATTENDANCE AND APOLOGIES
Member

Position

Council

Mr D Burnett (Chairperson)

Chief Executive Officer

Shire of Peppermint Grove

Ms C Bywater

Chief Executive Officer

Town of Mosman Park

Ms L Ledger (Deputy)

Chief Executive Officer

Town of Claremont

Mr M Scott

Chief Executive Officer

Town of Cottesloe

Mr C Frewing

Acting Chief Executive Officer

City of Subiaco

Visitors

Position

Council / Organisation

Mr S Frodsham

Chief Executive Officer

WMRC

Ms L Eustance

Manager Communications &
Education

WMRC

Mr K Swift

Manager Operations

WMRC

Ms A Bell

Manager Finance & Governance

WMRC

Leave of Absence
Nil
Apologies

3. CONFIRMATION OF PREVIOUS MINUTES
Draft minutes from the CEOAC meeting held on 16 July 2020 are at Attachment 1.
OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
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3.1 The minutes of the CEOAC meeting held on 16 July 2020 be accepted as a true and
proper record of that meeting.
Moved: Liz Ledger Seconded: Don Burnett CARRIED 5:0

4. MATTERS FOR CONSIDERATION
4.1

Confidential Report – DiCOM Facility

The WMRC Chief Executive Officer will speak to the immediately previous confidential reports,
emails and minutes which have been circulated to CEOAC members. The protocol followed is
that all confidential and other information provided to WMRC Councillors is copied to CEOAC
members.
The confidential reports, emails and minutes referred to above are not reproduced as an
attachment to this agenda, but members are reminded they are:
• DiCOM Confidential Progress Report of 28 July 2020 dealt with at the WMRC Ordinary
Meeting of 6 Aug 2020.
Members will be updated verbally on any new developments.
Answers to questions from members will be provided where possible.
OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
4.1.1 The verbal report of the WMRC CEO be noted.
Moved: Cliff Frewing Seconded: Matthew Scott CARRIED 5:0
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5. INFORMATION ITEMS
5.1

WMRC Council Meeting Outcomes

WMRC held its most recent OCM on 6 August 2020. The Council at the meeting:
•
•
•
•
•

endorsed the Audit Plan for 2020;
approved discount rates for Participating Councils of 10% for bulk waste; and 15% for
construction and demolition waste, and greenwaste.
approved an ex-gratia payment to the estate of employee, the late John Cummins
approved a 1.75% increase in wages and salaries applicable from 9 November 2020;
and
extended the CEO’s contract to August 2023.

OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
5.1.1 The report be noted.
Moved: Carissa Bywater Seconded: Liz Ledger CARRIED 5:0

5.2

Town of Cambridge joins WMRC as a Participating Council

Gaudete! The neighbouring Town of Cambridge has accepted an offer to join the WMRC as a
Participating Council, for an initial period of 12 months during which time Cambridge will
undertake a review to determine whether it will extend the arrangement into the longer term.
A Memorandum of Understanding, concluded between the WMRC and the Town of Cambridge
on 2 September 2020, provides that Cambridge residents enjoy free entry to the West Metro
Recycling Centre, and access to the free recycling services and mulch provided at the site. The
arrangement resolves an issue of more than 25 years’ standing which saw WMRC member
councils funding the provision of waste management services to over 28,000 Cambridge
residents without recompense; and is the culmination of two years’ effort by WMRC.
We expect the arrangements will lead to further cooperation between WMRC and Cambridge as
we are well placed to handle all of their greenwaste and bulk waste; and there may be
opportunity to receive their residual (red-lid bin) waste for efficient transfer and haulage for
disposal at Tamala Park. Cambridge is otherwise expressing a high degree of interest in taking
on Verge Valet, for which we are having our lawyers draft a commercial service contract.
Our Communications and Education team and Town of Cambridge officers are already off and
running in working in close collaboration. The approach to waste education and communications
by Cambridge is of a high standard and very much in common with our own.
A copy of the MoU is provided at Attachment 2.
OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
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5.2.1 The report be noted.
Moved: Carissa Bywater Seconded: Cliff Frewing CARRIED 5:0

5.3

Verge Valet

The introduction of the Verge Valet service in Cottesloe has gone very well. The lessons learned
and carefully documented by WMRC from the initial Mosman Park roll out were put to good effect
in the deployment of Verge Valet at Cottesloe.
Feedback from Cottesloe residents has been complimentary. As we approach the traditional
green and bulk waste seasons, we are working with the Town of Cottesloe staff to make sure that
the promotion of the new service is as wide as possible. Town of Mosman Park collections
continue to progress smoothly.
We are launching an updated web interface in the coming weeks which will include a ‘top-up’
option for those who have exhausted their collection allowances. This value-add service from
WMRC will allow residents to book and pay for additional bulk waste pick-up services at a cost
considerably less than having to hire a skip bin.
OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
5.3.1 The report be noted.
Moved: Carissa Bywater Seconded: Cliff Frewing CARRIED 5:0

5.4

Waste Plans Progress

The WMRC has been progressing waste plan production with all five Member Councils. The
current status is as shown below:
Council

Waste plan status as at early September 2020

Town of Claremont

First draft received back from DWER with very minor
comments which are being dealt with.

Town of Cottesloe

In preparation for submission to Council for acceptance

Town of Mosman Park

In preparation for submission to Council for acceptance

Shire of Peppermint
Grove

In preparation for submission to Council for acceptance

City of Subiaco

Draft waste plan presented at Council Briefing Forum
15/9/20

Western Metropolitan
Regional Council

In preparation for submission to Council for acceptance
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Part 1 of the plan provides the context/baseline against which Part 2; the Implementation Plan is
developed. Councils to sign off on Part 2 of the Plan as this sets out how the local governments
will deliver their services going forward (See Section 43(2) of the WARR Act 2007). Based on the
Waste Plan being produced for the City of Subiaco the WMRC has provided sample text and data
to include in Waste Plans for presentation to Councils. This can also be opened to community
consultation if required. The WMRC has also provided a series of dot point describing the Waste
Plan process and purpose for Member Council officers to consider including reports to their
Council. Once a waste plan is accepted by Council, CEOs send the plan alongside a signed selfassessment checklist to DWER for approval.
OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
5.4.1 The report be noted.
Moved: Liz Ledger Seconded: Matthew Scott CARRIED 5:0

5.5

Waste to Energy Tender

WMRC Council at its 4 June OCM approved the release of a Request for Tender for a waste to
energy service as an alternative to landfill for residual wastes. The RFT was advertised in the
West Australian newspaper the following week on 11 June. The tender documents included a
draft supply agreement drawn up by the WMRC’s lawyers. The contract will be strictly on a
residual waste arising basis (i.e. no tonnage commitment) and no undertakings will be given
about waste composition or calorific value. The WMRC intends to make its WtE service available
to all municipalities across its central west metropolitan catchment area.
The tender closed on Monday 13 July. Tender evaluation is well advanced.
OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
5.5.1 The report be noted.
Moved: Cliff Frewing Seconded: Carissa Bywater CARRIED 5:0

5.6

Auditor General’s Report: Local Government Waste
Management - Service Delivery

This investigation by the Auditor General published on 20 August 2020 assessed whether:
•

LG entities plan and deliver effective waste services to their communities; and

•

the State Government provided adequate support to LG entities for local waste planning
and service delivery.

The Auditor General last audited the State Government’s role in waste management in 2016.
Findings
MINUTES CEOAC Meeting 17 September 2020
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The Auditor General’s principal findings in the August 2020 report were:
1.

While DWER and the Waste Authority have substantially improved their support to LG
entities in the last 5 years, the proportion of waste that is recycled in WA has not changed,
and the State’s performance remains below the national average.
Note: Approximately 25% (~ $20m) of waste levy revenue is allocated to waste-related
activity by DWER and the Waste Authority. The level of direct support for LG from DWER
and the Waste Authority remains low and is largely confined to the Better Bins Program,
waste education and promotion, and the availability of some grant funding,

2.

High rates of contamination in recycling bins; inconsistent and irregular waste education;
and limited local recycling infrastructure and markets for recycled commodities are issues
that prevent wider adoption of better practice waste management. As a result, few LG
entities are on track to meet the 2020 targets of 65% recovery of MSW in Perth and Peel
regions; and 50% in major regional centres.
Note: WMRC member councils with a third GO Bin are approaching 50% MSW recovery.
WMRC itself doubled its recycling rate from 23% to 46% in 2019-20 – an excellent result,
given that WMRC does not receive recyclables from kerbside collections. Evidence shows
that LGs are unlikely to approach the 65% target without a FOGO service. The average
MSW recovery across Perth and Peel based on 2017-18 data was 41%.
WMRC is regarded as a leader in consistent communications and best practice waste
education. Bin tagging across WMRC member councils demonstrate that recycling and GO
bin contamination in the western suburbs is relatively low.

3.

There are many examples of LG better practice, but few are consistently using them. For
example, organic material accounts for half of household waste, our single biggest recycling
opportunity. Using green waste collected from households to produce mulch for community
parks and gardens, or composting food and garden organics to develop fertilisers, can
significantly increase waste recovery.
Note: All greenwaste received and collected by WMRC is processed into mulch and soil
amendment products.

4.

Separating and recycling bulk rubbish is another simple way for LG entities to recover more
waste and contribute to meeting the State’s waste targets.
Note: All bulk waste received or collected by WMRC has been consigned for recycling
since August 2019.

5.

Local, regional and statewide waste planning is inadequate. Few LG entities had waste
plans.
Note: WMRC member councils are well advanced in completing their waste plans.

6.

The Waste Authority flagged State waste infrastructure planning as essential back in 2012,
but little progress has been made since. It remains a key initiative that government, industry,
and the community need to progress to ensure waste truly becomes a valued resource.
Note: The lack of infrastructure planning is a contributing factor towards relatively poor use
of transfer stations by LG, including by several LGs in WMRC’s catchment area.

7.

Given recent international export bans on recyclable materials, the planning and
development of local recycling facilities within the state is urgent needed to provide certainty
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to stakeholders, create opportunities for local recycling industries, and protect our local
environments.
Conclusion
WMRC and its member councils bear up well in comparison with the principal findings of the
Auditor General’s report, with member councils’ and WMRC waste plans well advanced; a high
standard of waste communications and education; and steadily improving recycling rates
including from the introduction of GO bins, WMRC consigning all bulk waste for recycling, and
growing patronage of the community recycling facilities at the West Metro Recycling Centre.
OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
5.6.1 The report be noted.
Moved: Matthew Scott Seconded: Cliff Frewing CARRIED 5:0

5.7

Operations Report

Business as usual continues at the West Metro Recycling Centre amid uncertain times around
COVID-19.
Licensing
WMRC applied to DEWR for increases in its licensed throughput at the West Metro Recycling
Centre, principally to be ready to handle FOGO and increased amounts of C&D waste. DWER
has approved the requested amendments.
This is an excellent outcome for the WMRC and our member councils as each of the
amendments will further expand the level of service that we can offer:
•

Putrescible Waste – 10,000 tonnes per year of food organic and garden organic waste
(FOGO);

•

Inert Waste Type 1 (C&D Waste) 10,000 tpa (originally 200 tpa);

•

Special Waste Type 1 (Asbestos) 500 tonnes per year (originally 200 tpa);

In addition to the licence amendments, DWER officers recently carried out a compliance audit at
the recycling center. We have not yet received the report from that audit however no nonconformances of any kind were noted on the day. DWER officers were very impressed with all
activities witnessed at the facility.
Site
•

New signage has been erected including speed / directional signs plus improved signage
for services offered (E Waste / Cardboard / steel etc).

•

Roller shutters have been placed on the windows at the weighbridge. The old-style grid
shutters were cumbersome to raise and lower and therefore were left in place during
working hours. The weighbridge is now a brighter place to work and most importantly a
more welcoming place to visit.
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•

The wiring inside the weighbridge has been significantly tidied up. New power points
provided for removing the over reliance on adaptors.

•

A $25 entry fee for non-member council residents was introduced July 1st and has proven
a welcome source of revenue. To date over 250 residents have paid the $25 entry fee.
Now Cambridge have come onboard as a participating member these numbers will fall.

Construction and Demolition Waste
•

This is already proving a popular service with 139 tonnes received since 1 July. All works
crews at our member councils have been contacted to inform them of the new service. In
addition, other surrounding councils such as Cambridge, Nedlands and City of Perth have
also been made aware of the new service. It is expected that throughput will increase as
awareness grows.

New Services
•

GiveWrite stationery wheelie bin - We now accept new and near-new stationery. The
stationery is then delivered to school kids who in are need of school supplies.

•
CDS drop off for Paraquad – From October the recycling centre will provide an area for
Paraquad to leave wheelie bins and collect recyclables through the CDS. Paraquad will benefit
directly from all bottles / cans dropped off by residents. If residents would prefer to receive a
refund, they will be directed to go to Paraquad’s site.
Service Procurement
Second-hard forklift purchased. Expected delivery 2 – 3 weeks. The procurement will assist the
WMRC realise other service opportunities, whilst removing some manual handling aspects of the
role, and improving the efficiency of how staff move materials onsite.
OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
5.7.1 The information be received.
Moved: Liz Ledger Seconded: Cliff Frewing CARRIED 5:0

5.8

Communications and Education Report

The plan of activities including progress since 1 July is attached at Attachment 3. We will report
on this again at mid-year.
The introduction of Verge Valet in Cottesloe has been an active area of work through this time.
In person activities are returning:
•
•
•

Waste Watchers Workshop 24 September
Community Dropoff Day 14 November, and
various talks at community facilities, offices and for community groups

Bintagging is set to resume early October to complete the project started in March. Bin taping is
highly unlikely to occur because of the hiatus in the program.
The team has been corresponding with ParaQuad, who will be our local Containers for Change
Refund point, to promote the scheme.
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In addition, the team has applied for two grants as part of DWERs WasteSorted funding round,
both are based on DWERs behaviour change campaign “Be a GREAT Sort” where each letter of
GREAT refers to a specific waste behaviour (Give-Recycle-Earthcycle-Avoid-Take):
•
•

Recycle Right by being a GREAT Sort – jointly with SMRC, materials for community
activities and for use in schools.
Be a GREAT Sort in the Western Suburbs – short videos set in the Western Suburbs.

OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
5.8.1 The information be received.
Moved: Liz Ledger Seconded: Carissa Bywater CARRIED 5:0

5.9

Financial Report

The WMRC has begun the 20/21 financial year well:
•

For July 2020, WMRC had an operating surplus of $725,869 compared to a budgeted
surplus of $657,013 with a positive variance of $68,856. See Attachment 4a for a Statement
of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position as of 31 July 2020.

•

For August 2020, WMRC had a provisional operating deficit of $303,764 compared to a
budgeted operating deficit of $245,436 with a negative variance of $58,328. See
Attachment 4b for a Statement of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial
Position as of 31 August 2020.

•

As at August, Council had a provisional operating surplus of $422,105 compared to a
budgeted operating surplus of $411,577 with a positive variance of $10,528.

•

As at 31 August, revenue for the year-to-date was provisionally 4% below budget and
expenses are 6.5% below budget.

•

For the same period last financial year, Council had a provisional operating surplus of
$346,903 compared to a budgeted operating surplus of $396,457 with a negative variance
of $49,553. Revenue was 1% below budget and expenses were 4% above budget.

Note: these figures are subject to minor changes.
The 2019-20 Annual Financial Statements are currently being audited by Butler Settineri before
being passed on to the Office of the Auditor General. The WMRC finished the 2019/20 financial
year with a deficit of $449,982 compared to a budgeted deficit of $750,339 with a positive variance
of $300,416. The positive variance was achieved through revenue being 3.8% better than
budgeted; and expenses being 3.1% lower than budgeted.
OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
5.9.1 The information be received.
Moved: Cliff Frewing Seconded: Matthew Scott CARRIED 5:0
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5.10 Progress on CEOAC Recommendations
An updated table highlighting the status of all CEOAC recommendations through to 16
September 2020 is provided at Attachment 5. All recommendations have been actioned apart
from one on hold pending the resolution of the legal dispute with DiCOM.
The table is presented at each CEOAC meeting with completed items being presented once.
OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION
5.10.1 The report be noted.
Moved: Liz Ledger Seconded: Carissa Bywater CARRIED 5:0

6. GENERAL BUSINESS
Don Burnett noted that he would likely be an apology for the next meeting.

7. CLOSURE OF MEETING
The meeting closed at 3:20

Next Meeting
Thursday 19 November 2020, 14:00 hrs, at the City of Subiaco or electronically.
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1. DECLARATION OF OPENING
Welcome and opening of meeting at 2:03 by Deputy Chair Liz Ledger, CEO of the Town of
Claremont in the absence of Don Burnett, Chair.

2. RECORD OF ATTENDANCE AND APOLOGIES
Member

Position

Council

Mr D Norgard

Director Technical Services

Shire of Peppermint Grove

Ms C Bywater

Chief Executive Officer

Town of Mosman Park

Ms L Ledger (Deputy Chair)

Chief Executive Officer

Town of Claremont

Mr M Scott

Chief Executive Officer

Town of Cottesloe

Mr Cliff Frewing

Chief Executive Officer (Acting)

City of Subiaco

Visitors

Position

Council / Organisation

Mr S Frodsham

Chief Executive Officer

WMRC

Ms L Eustance

Manager Communications &
Education

WMRC

Mr K Swift

Manager Operations

WMRC

Ms A Bell

Manager Finance & Governance

WMRC

Leave of Absence
Nil
Apologies
Don Burnett, CEO of the Shire of Peppermint Grove.

3. CONFIRMATION OF PREVIOUS MINUTES
Draft minutes from the CEOAC meeting held on 17 September 2020 are at Attachment 1.
OFFICER’S and CEOAC RECOMMENDATION
3.1 The minutes of the CEOAC meeting held on 17 September 2020 be accepted as a true
and proper record of that meeting.
Moved: Carissa Bywater Seconded: Cliff Frewing CARRIED: 5/0
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4. MATTERS FOR CONSIDERATION
4.1

Confidential Report – DiCOM Facility

The WMRC Chief Executive Officer will speak to the immediately previous confidential reports,
emails and minutes which have been circulated to CEOAC members. The protocol followed is
that all confidential and other information provided to WMRC Councillors is copied to CEOAC
members.
The confidential reports, emails and minutes referred to above are not reproduced as an
attachment to this agenda, but members are reminded they are:
• DiCOM Confidential Progress Report of 24 September 2020 dealt with at the WMRC
Ordinary Meeting of 1 October 2020.
Members will be updated verbally on any new developments.
Answers to questions from members will be provided where possible.
OFFICER’S and CEOAC RECOMMENDATION
4.1.1 The verbal report of the WMRC CEO be noted.
Moved: Cliff Frewing Seconded: Carissa Bywater CARRIED: 5/0

4.2

Confidential Report – Waste to Energy Tender

The Manager Operations will speak about the assessment of the responses to the WMRC Waste
to Energy tender which has been under consideration since mid-July.
OFFICER’S and CEOAC RECOMMENDATION
4.2.1 The verbal report of the WMRC Manager Operations be noted.
Moved: Cliff Frewing Seconded: Matt Scott CARRIED: 5/0
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5. INFORMATION ITEMS
5.1

WMRC Council Meeting Outcomes

WMRC held its most recent OCM on 1 October 2020. The Council at the meeting:
•
•
•
•

Adopted the WMRC Annual Report subject to amendments to the financials required by
the OAG;
approved the rates for prepaid Verge Valet Extra collections;
accepted the WMRC Waste Plan;
endorsed the 2020-21 Occupational Health and Safety Management Plan.

OFFICER’S and CEOAC RECOMMENDATION
5.1.1 The report be noted.
Moved: Cliff Frewing Seconded: Carissa Bywater CARRIED: 5/0

5.2

Town of Cambridge starts Verge Valet collections

The Town of Cambridge have become the third council in our catchment area to take on the
increasingly popular Verge Valet bulk waste collection service. Following in the footsteps of
Mosman Park and Cottesloe, Verge Valet pickups began in the Town of Cambridge on
November 3rd. Given the size of the Cambridge council area, Verge Valet pickups take place over
two days (Tues / Wed) with approximately 120 collections available on each day. As expected
early take up of the service has been high with over 650 bookings so far. Weeks 2 and 3 of the
service are fully allocated with week 4 also expected to reach maximum capacity for collections.
As the Town is not a Member Council, but a Participating Council, and therefore services
provided by the WMRC do not fall under the Establishment Agreement, the WMRC had a
commercial contract drafted by our lawyers to cover activities provided for in the Verge Valet
service. This contract has since been signed by Town of Cambridge. The contract can also be
used if other “Participating Councils” request the service. For Member Councils, an MOU is
sufficient to clarify the relationships between parties, owing to the umbrella coverage of the
Establishment Agreement.
WMRC personnel have been working closely with Cambridge staff to ensure the roll out to
Cambridge residents has been as smooth as possible. The transition from traditional bulk pickups
to “on demand” verge style collections requires a great deal of communications with both council
officers, who are learning the service for the first time, and residents. WMRC staff conducted two
training sessions with Town of Cambridge staff to introduce them to the new service. A total of 30
Town of Cambridge staff members attended those training sessions. The Town of Cambridge
staff have been active online to promote the system to their residents. The WMRC’s Recycling
Hotline has been extremely busy since the introduction of the Cambridge Verge Valet service.
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OFFICER’S and CEOAC RECOMMENDATION
5.2.1 The report be noted.
Moved: Donovan Norgard Seconded: Carissa Bywater CARRIED: 5/0

5.3

Waste Plans Progress

The WMRC has been progressing waste plan production with all five Member Councils. The
current status is as shown below:
Council

Feedback status from
DWER

Waste plan status as at early
September 2020

Town of Claremont

V1 feedback 1 Sept

To be presented to Council Feb 2021

Town of Cottesloe

V2 feedback on 3 July

To be presented to Council Nov 2020

Town of Mosman
Park

V2 feedback on 14 July

To be presented to Council Feb 2021

Shire of Peppermint
Grove

Final submitted for
endorsement 29 October

Accepted by Council, with DWER for
finalisation

City of Subiaco

V2 feedback 25 March

Accepted by Council subject to
assessment of community feedback (68
replies, all but 6 positive). To be represented to Council Dec 2020.

Western
Metropolitan
Regional Council

Final submitted for
endorsement 7 Oct

Accepted by Council, with DWER for
finalisation

Part 1 of the plan provides the context/baseline against which Part 2; the Implementation Plan is
developed. Councils to sign off on Part 2 of the Plan as this sets out how the local governments
will deliver their services going forward (See Section 43(2) of the WARR Act 2007). Once a waste
plan is accepted by Council, CEOs send the plan alongside a signed self-assessment checklist to
DWER for approval.
On assessing the two Waste Plans currently submitted to DWER for finalising, there have been
indications of concern by DWER that there will be a period, albeit limited, when WMRC Member
Councils will be sending residual waste from a GO three bin system to Waste to Energy prior to
the introduction of FOGO (see 5.4). There may be a need to slightly amend Waste Plans to take
that concern into account.
OFFICER’S and CEOAC RECOMMENDATION
5.3.1 The report be noted.
Moved: Cliff Frewing Seconded: Donovan Norgard CARRIED: 5/0
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5.4

Timing of FOGO transition

One feature common to all Member Council waste plans is the plan to transition to FOGO by the
DWER target date of 2025. WMRC’s waste plan includes a commitment to support that
transition; and the West Metro RC is already licensed to receive FOGO waste. However,
enquiries with potential processors have so far not resulted in any particularly attractive options.
Modelling of the cost impost includes the following:
Changeover costs
•
•

including caddies and liners, some new bins, education and promotion.
DWER Better Bins go FOGO funding is available, but falls well short of the anticipated full
cost

Ongoing operational costs
•
•
•

Processing costs are higher than our currently very low GO processing costs
Haulage costs are high for distant facilities,
This is offset by a reduction in the treatment costs for the residual bins caused by food
organics being diverted from these bins. The quantum of this reduction is dependent on
the waste levy rate; anticipated to rise significantly from 1 July 2021.

The modeling assumes that FOGO waste is delivered to the West Metro RC for consolidation
and efficient transport; an estimated minimum of 10T of FOGO material is required per day for
this to be realistic; haulage costs rise in alternate scenarios. In effect we require around 7000
households moving to FOGO at once; an increase in that number has the potential to decrease
per tonne haulage costs.
Experience elsewhere in WA indicates that the logistical, education and promotional effort to
prepare for a successful FOGO transition is high. The potential for confusion between residents
with GO bins and those with FOGO bins in adjacent suburbs is also high; particularly when
ostensibly the same truck services both. This suggests that a degree of coordination between
Member Councils in the transition is appropriate. This can also serve to reduce the changeover
costs through economies of scale.
WMRC remains poised to assist Member Councils, particularly as a degree of consistency and
coordination is indicated.
OFFICER’S and CEOAC RECOMMENDATION
5.4.1 The report be noted.
Moved: Matt Scott Seconded: Cliff Frewing CARRIED: 5/0

5.5

Operations Report

Business as usual continues at the West Metro Recycling Centre
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Site
•

New signage has been ordered for the front entrance to the site

•

As anticipated with Town of Cambridge becoming a participating council, revenue from the
entry fee has dropped from $5,975.00 (239 entries) for Jul / Aug to just $1,975.00 (79
entries) for Sept / Oct.

Construction and Demolition Waste
This remains a popular service with 235T of C&D Waste received since the service began on Jul
1st. Revenue from this new waste stream has already paid for the Pre-cast concrete walls that
were purchased to establish the C&D storage bay AND also the walls purchased to establish the
“free” mulch provided. These precast concrete walls will remain a valuable asset for the WMRC
for many years.
New Services
Plant Pot recycling – Our latest exciting new service at the West Metro Recycling Centre for
members and participating councils and residents started Oct 5th. Plants Pots are now collected
and recycled by Claw Environmental who also recycle our large volumes of bulk polystyrene.
CDS drop off for Paraquad
Paraquad has provided two wheelie bins for collection of recyclables through the CDS.
Weighbridge staff have also been provided information from Paraquad with regards to their
location and the services they provide. This information is being passed on to our member
council residents upon arrival at the recycling centre, To date most residents are choosing to go
direct to Paraquad and receive the refund or possibly choosing another charity to donate to once
at the Paraquad site.
Procurement
•

Second-hard forklift purchased to assist staff with moving larger objects / IBC’s around the
site

•

Three separate RFQ’s have been drafted. These include
-

Fit out of the weighbridge office. The current facilities / décor in the weighbridge have
not changed since the weighbridge office was first installed in 1992

-

Replacement silos for the Transfer station. The existing silo silos are long overdue an
upgrade. This RFQ will provide some vital direction with regards to how the WMRC
upgrades the existing transfer station infrastructure

-

Replacement of Silo ‘Top Flap”. A critical piece of infrastructure that deflects waste into
the silos. Current setup has been in place for over 10 years and needs attention.

OFFICER’S and CEOAC RECOMMENDATION
5.5.1 The information be received.
Moved: Carissa Bywater Seconded: Cliff Frewing CARRIED: 5/0
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5.6

Communications and Education Report

The introduction of Verge Valet in Cambridge has been an active area of work through this time.
In person activities have been held:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Waste Watchers Workshop
Modern Cloth Nappies Workshop
Subiaco Farmers’ Market stall
Mosman Park Craft Fair stall
Community Tour of the RRRC (SMRC facility)
Community Dropoff Day 14 November, and
various talks at community facilities, offices and for community groups

Plastic Free July has published its 2020 impact report. This indicates that around 15% of all
WMRC Member Council residents took part and that between them their actions resulted in a
projected annual 104T waste reduction in landfill waste and a 67T reduction in recycling waste
generated across all Member Councils. This amounts to a 24.3kg/household/year waste
reduction.
The second part of the bintagging project has been completed with a few bins that were highly
contaminated on multiple occasions being taped closed and not collected until decontaminated.
The team was not successful on either of the two grants applied for as part of DWERs
WasteSorted funding round. There were over 150 applications (total value $14million) submitted
for a total of $1.54million.
OFFICER’S and CEOAC RECOMMENDATION
5.6.1 The information be received.
Moved: Carissa Bywater Seconded: Matt Scott CARRIED: 5/0

5.7

Financial Report

The WMRC continues to perform well:
•

For September 2020, WMRC had an operating deficit of $112,390 compared to a budgeted
deficit of $200,809 with a positive variance of $88,419. See Attachment 2a for a Statement
of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position as of 30 September 2020.

•

For October 2020, WMRC had an operating deficit of $247,927 compared to a budgeted
operating deficit of $248,617 with a negative variance of $689. See Attachment 2b for a
Statement of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position as of 31 October
2020.

•

As at October, Council had a provisional operating surplus of $114,717 compared to a
budgeted operating surplus of $1893 with a positive variance of $112,824.
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•

As at 31 October, revenue for the year-to-date was provisionally 3.4% below budget and
expenses 8.9% below budget.

•

For the same period last financial year, owing to the receipt of court awarded legal costs of
$507k, Council had a provisional operating surplus of $319,761 compared to a budgeted
operating surplus of $341,285 with a negative variance of $21,523. Year to date revenue
was 1% below budget and expenses were 2% above budget.

Note: these figures are subject to minor changes.
OFFICER’S and CEOAC RECOMMENDATION
5.7.1 The information be received.
Moved: Cliff Frewing Seconded: Carissa Bywater CARRIED: 5/0

5.8

Progress on CEOAC Recommendations

An updated table highlighting the status of all CEOAC recommendations through to 19 November
2020 is provided at Attachment 3. All recommendations have been actioned apart from one on
hold pending the resolution of the legal dispute with DiCOM.
The table is presented at each CEOAC meeting with completed items being presented once.
OFFICER’S and CEOAC RECOMMENDATION
5.8.1 The report be noted.
Moved: Carissa Bywater Seconded: Cliff Frewing CARRIED: 5/0
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6. GENERAL BUSINESS
6.1

CEOAC Meeting Dates 2021

It is proposed that CEOAC meetings will generally be held electronically in 2021 on the same
timetable as in previous years. The meetings will be on the third Thursday of the odd months of
the year at 2pm. The proposed dates are as follows:
21
18
20
15
16
18

January
March
May
July
September
November

OFFICER’S and CEOAC RECOMMENDATION
6.1.1 That the 2021 CEOAC meeting dates, format and location/s be recommended to
Council
Moved: Matt Scott Seconded: Carissa Bywater CARRIED: 5/0
Note: these meetings will be of 1hr duration

6.2

Town of Cambridge Invitation

The CEO verbally suggested inviting a relevant senior member of the Town of Cambridge
Administration staff to attend CEOAC meetings as an observer. The suggestion was received
positively

6.3

Safeguarding the Low GO Price

The CEO briefed the Members on the need to reduce contamination on GO bins in order to keep
the processing price, currently below market rates, as low as possible.

7. CLOSURE OF MEETING
Next Meeting
Thursday 21 January 2021, 14:00 hrs, electronically.
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1. DECLARATION OF OPENING
The Chairman Cr. Haynes declared the meeting open at 5.00PM

2. RECORD OF ATTENDANCE AND APOLOGIES
Committee Member
Cr. B Haynes

Chairman

Town of Claremont

Cr. C Hohnen

Member

Shire of Peppermint Grove

Cr. L Young

Member

Town of Cottesloe

Cr. S Stroud

Member

City of Subiaco

Cr. P Shaw

Member

Town of Mosman Park

Mr. S Frodsham

Chief Executive Officer

WMRC

Ms. A Bell

Manager Finance & Governance

WMRC

Ms. L Eustance

Manager Communications & Education

WMRC

Ms. E Mickels

Customer Services & Finance Officer

WMRC

Staff

Apologies

Nil
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3. CONFIRMATION OF PREVIOUS MINUTES
Minutes of the Audit Committee meeting which was held on 2 April 2020 were circulated previously
under a separate cover and are included at Attachment 3.1A.

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
Moved: Cr.Hohnen

Seconded: Cr. Young

3.1 Audit and Risk Management Committee confirm the minutes of the WMRC Audit and Risk
Committee meeting held on 2 April 2020 as a true and correct record.
CARRIED 5/0

4. REPORTS OF COMMITTEES AND OFFICERS
4.1

INTERIM AUDIT REVIEW

Responsible Officer:

Finance and Governance Manager

Date:

22 July 2020

Attachment:

4.1A Interim Audit Letter for 2019-20

SUMMARY
To present to the Audit Committee the Interim Audit Management report prepared by the external
auditors including management comments for the year ended 30 June 2020.

BACKGROUND
In accordance with the Local Government Act 1995, an Interim Audit for the year ended 30 June
2020 has been completed. The Office of the Auditor General appointed Butler Settineri as WMRC’s
auditors. The Office of the Auditor General reviews work carried out by Butler Settineri before issuing
the Interim Audit Review Report.
The attachment to this report summarises the findings and observations of the interim audit
examination and includes recommendations from the auditors that are considered appropriate for
Council to improve its financial systems and procedures, together with the management response
to the recommendations made.

DETAIL
The interim audit process is a review of the accounting and internal control procedures in operation.
This review involves documenting the organisation's control procedures and tests, on a sample
basis, transactions in a range of areas to ensure that the described procedures are being adhered
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to. As a result of this review Butler Settineri have raised a total of 2 matters for Council's
consideration. A brief outline of the actions being undertaken to remedy these matters is reflected
below with outstanding matters underlined. A more detailed response is provided in the management
comments in the attached report.
Matter

Action Taken

The Council’s purchasing policy states
that where the value of a purchase
exceeds $4,000, the invoice is to be
accompanied by a Purchasing Form and
hard copy Purchase Order to ensure that
correct procurement procedures are
followed.

In the past year we have considerably improved our
procurement procedures and trained our staff to comply with
our new system.

During our procurement testing, we
identified one out of 63 transactions
without a purchase order, and another
transaction where the purchase order
was raised after receipt of the supplier’s
tax invoice.

Under our new procedures, Adobe Sign is used for the
completion of purchase order requests, contract establishment
and invoice authorisations. The accounts department no
longer will create a purchase order or set up
a contract unless the correct form is completed - both forms
include a section for procurement. The accounts department
will not pay an invoice unless it is fully authorised, with the
authorisation forms including a section for the PO or contract
number to again test that procurement was compliant.
The WMRC has recently completed an internal audit of
existing contracts; and gaps in documentation have been
addressed. The contracts register is now managed exclusively
by the Manger Finance & Governance with a new contract not
established until compliant. With these measures now in place
and staff having been trained accordingly, the level of
procurement compliance within the WMRC has improved and
will improve further once staff are completely familiar with the
requirements of policy and the new procedures.

The Council’s purchasing policy states
that where the value of a purchase is
between $4,000 and $9,999, a minimum
of three quotations (verbal or written)
shall be obtained, where possible, from
alternate suppliers.

Further to the comment for the preceding issue, our new
purchase order request and contract establishment forms
include a section to ensure procurement process employed is
compliant. The section specifies the number of quotes
required, and the expenditure limits for a formal quotation or
tender process.

During our procurement testing, we
identified 2 purchases in this range, out of
63, where there was insufficient
documentation to indicate that the
requisite number of quotes had been
obtained.

Contracts will automatically end after a period of 3 years or
when the expenditure limit is reached at which point the market
will be tested. Forms are checked by the accounts department
before any actions are completed.
The WALGA Procurement Manager advises that if we have an
instance where the invoice value is greater than the purchase
order value, or if insufficient quotes were obtained, that we
should make a file note explaining the error and what action
has been taken to avoid a reoccurrence.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
In accordance with the Local Government Act 1995, the accounts and annual financial report of a
local government for each financial year are required to be audited by an auditor appointed by the
Office of the Auditor General.
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CONSULTATION
The Office of the Auditor General and our external auditors, Butler Settineri.

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil
Financial Implications
Nil
Strategic Implications
The WMRC was previously required under the Local Government Act 1995 to appoint an auditor to
audit the accounts and annual financial report for each financial year. The appointment is now the
responsibility of the Office of the Auditor General.

COMMENTS
It is the opinion of management that the matters identified in the interim audit by the WMRC’s
Auditors, Butler Settineri, are not of a material nature and have been or are able to be adequately
addressed via the actions proposed.
It is pleasing to note that the Interim Audit has only found two matters requiring attention by
management and Council. In the past, ten or more matters needing attention were identified by audit.
This reflects well on the improvements to financial administration and other compliance matters
made by the WMRC in the past two years.

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority.
Moved: Cr. Young

Seconded: Cr. Shaw

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
4.1.1 Audit and Risk Management Committee recommends that Council receive the Interim
Audit Management Report including management comments for the year ended 30 June
2020; and note action taken by management to deal with issues raised by the auditors.
CARRIED 5/0
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4.2

AUDIT PLAN 2020

Responsible Officer

Finance and Governance Manager

Date:

22 July 2020

Attachments:

4.2A Audit Plan 2020

SUMMARY
To present to the Audit Committee the Audit Schedule for 2020.

BACKGROUND
Regulation 16 of the Local Government (Audit) Regulations 1996 states that the role of an audit
committee:
(a) is to provide guidance and assistance to the local government (i) as to the carrying out of its functions in relation to audits carried out under Part 7
of the Act; and
(ii) as to the development of a process to be used to select and appoint a person to
be an auditor; and
(b) may provide guidance and assistance to the local government as to (i) matters to be audited; and
(ii) the scope of audits; and
(iii) its functions under Part 6 of the Act; and
(iv) the carrying out of its functions relating to other audits and other matters related
to financial management; and
(c) is to review a report given to it by the CEO under regulation 17(3) (the CEO’s report) and
is to (i) report to the council the results of that review; and
(ii) give a copy of the CEO’s report to the council.

DETAIL
The purpose of the Audit Plan is to summarise the external audit approach in relation to the statutory
audit of the Western Metropolitan Regional Council (WMRC) for the financial year ending 30 June
2020.
The Audit Plan has been prepared to inform the officers and the WMRC Audit Committee about the
responsibilities of external auditors and how Butler Settineri plan to discharge them.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
In accordance with Regulation 16 of the Local Government (Audit) Regulations 1996, the audit
committee:
“may provide guidance and assistance to the local government as to (i) matters to be audited; and
(ii) the scope of audits;”
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CONSULTATION
The Office of the Auditor General and our external auditors Butler Settineri.

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil
Financial Implications
Nil
Strategic Implications
Nil

COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority.

Moved: Cr. Shaw

Seconded: Cr. Hohnen

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
4.2.1 Audit and Risk Management Committee recommends that Council endorse the Audit
Plan for 2020.
CARRIED 5/0
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4.3

FRAUD AND ERROR ASSESSMENT 2020

Responsible Officer

Finance and Governance Manager

Date:

22 July 2020

Attachments:

4.3A Fraud and Error Assessment Questionnaire 2020

SUMMARY
To present to the Audit Committee the Fraud and Error Assessment Management questionnaire
2020 to be signed by the CEO and the Audit Committee Chairman.

BACKGROUND
Under Australian Auditing Standards, auditors have specific responsibilities to communicate with the
Audit Committee.
Australian Auditing Standards ASA 240 The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Fraud in an Audit
of a Financial Report and ASA 260 Communication with Those Charged with Governance now make
it mandatory for auditors to make enquiries of management and those charged with governance
(audit committees) regarding matters that are indicated in the template form. The enquiries with
those charged with governance (audit committees) are made in part to corroborate the responses to
the enquiries of management.

DETAIL
The primary responsibility to prevent and detect fraud rests with both the Audit Committee and
management. Management, with the oversight of the Audit Committee, needs to ensure a strong
emphasis on fraud prevention and deterrence and encourage a culture of honest and ethical
behaviour. As part of its oversight, the Audit Committee should consider the potential for override of
controls and inappropriate influence over the financial reporting process.

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Completion of this Audit and Error Assessment questionnaire is necessary to satisfy the
requirements of the Australian Auditing Standards ASA 240 The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating
to Fraud in an Audit of a Financial Report and ASA 260 Communication with Those Charged with
Governance.

CONSULTATION
The Office of the Auditor General and our external auditors Butler Settineri.

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
Nil
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Financial Implications
Nil
Strategic Implications
Nil

COMMENTS
VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority.

Moved: Cr. Young

Seconded: Cr. Hohnen

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
4.3.1 Audit and Risk Management Committee endorses the Fraud and Error Assessment
Questionnaire for 2020.
CARRIED 5/0
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4.4 WMRC INFORMATION SYSTEMS SECURITY
Responsible Officer:

Chief Executive

Date:

23 July 2020

Attachment:

4-4A WMRC Information Security Plan

SUMMARY
The Office of the Auditor General published on 25 June 2020 its Information Systems Audit Report
2020 – Local Government Entities.
The publication of the OAG report prompted us to review our own information systems security and
to commission a revision of our IT Security Plan to ensure that it meets the applicable standard
identified by the OAG – that being International Security Standard 27002 (AS ISO/IEC 27002:2015).

BACKGROUND
The Office of the Auditor General published on 25 June 2020 its Information Systems Audit Report
2020 – Local Government Entities.
The report finds significant shortcomings in this its first local government information systems audit
which covered one regional and nine metropolitan local governments. All ten local government
entities were found to have significant shortcomings in their information security practices.
According to the OAG, only four local governments demonstrated that they were effective or
partially effective in at least half of the 14 areas of International Security Standard 27002 (AS
ISO/IEC 27002:2015). The OAG reports that the level of maturity for entities’ general computer
controls was low, with no entity meeting the minimum capability benchmark across all control
categories. Across the ten local governments, the audit identified 150 general computer control
weaknesses with thirteen rated as significant, 113 moderate and the remainder as minor.
The OAG advises that all local government entities should carefully consider the standards and the
recommendations in its report to improve information security practices and protect the
confidentiality, integrity and availability of information and systems.

DETAIL
WMRC IT Security Plan
The WMRC prepared an IT Security Policy in early 2018. An internal review of that Policy following
the publication of the OAG Information Systems Audit report suggests that it does not meet the
minimum standards required; and was in need of an update in any case as a result of the major
upgrade of our IT system made in mid-2019.
A revised IT Security Plan has been developed and is provided at Attachment 4-4A.
WMRC IT Security Status
The IT system upgrade made by the WMRC last year improved the level of the organisation’s IT
Security in every respect. Most notably, in migrating our system off an old WMRC office-housed
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server to the cloud, WMRC considerably reduced the risk of loss of its data through the multiple
enterprise level redundancies enabled by a cloud-based system.
Through a complex network of international data centers, and physical redundancy at the disk level
within servers of each center, cloud providers can ensure almost a continual uptime for data and
application performance. Because so many organisations now rely on these cloud providers for
redundancy and business continuity, uptime is virtually guaranteed by the service providers.
With the WMRC’s applications and data now stored and processed in the cloud, the WMRC has
the security of automatic data backups. This compared with our old system which was dependent
on a weekly backup which ran over the course of two and a half days at the end of each week.
We can now readily access a timeline of revisions to go back to previous versions of documents. If
a workstation or laptop happens to crash or lose power while being worked on, the data that was
entered into the cloud application is auto-saved up until the moment of the disruption. Once the
device is restarted staff can resume from right where they were prior to the crash.
Our cloud applications allow staff to access work applications, email, and data securely on almost
any device that has an active internet connection. As access to our applications is so flexible when
in the cloud, it allows for business continuity should a disruption occur in the office or externally.
If a workstation fails, our staff can easily use a spare laptop, iPad or a mobile phone until the
workstation is repaired or replaced. Or if internet or electric service to the office is disrupted,
employees can continue to access email.
The migration to the new system made working from home for WMRC employees a very easy step
for us to take in responding to the COVID-19 crisis.
Recommendations of the OAG Information Systems Audit Report
The report assessed 10 Local Governments for existence and standard of controls across six
categories: information security, business continuity, IT risk management, IT operations, change
control and physical Security. The most significant failings were in the information security
category although recommendations were made across all six categories. There were three key
recommendations which are tabled below alongside the application to the WMRC situation noted.
OAG recommendation

Application to the WMRC

Local government entities should understand and
assess the risks unique to their business activities and
environment to inform their strategy for information
security management

The attached WMRC Information Security Plan
analyses and addresses specific risks arising
from WMRC’s circumstances.

Local government entities should assess their controls
against good practice standards to identify gaps and
develop plans to improve information security.

The WMRC Information Security Plan has
been developed with input from IT
professionals.

Local government entities should implement processes
to continuously monitor and improve information
security controls to ensure they meet entity needs

Assessment of control effectiveness is dealt
with in the WMRC Information Security Plan.
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Forthcoming Improvements
Although the move to the cloud has dealt with many of the risks encountered in a server-based
architecture, our review finds that we have some residual risks to information security. Forthcoming
improvements referred to in this IS security plan include:
•
•
•
•
•

Increasing the password change frequency
Training staff on information security matters
Implementation of IS security procedures
Further testing of possible vulnerabilities
Developing a policy on staff use of non-WMRC infrastructure particularly when working
away from office (eg at home)

STATUTORY ENVIRONMENT
Not applicable

CONSULTATION
Nil

REPORT IMPLICATIONS
Policy Implications
This may entail changes to the following HR policies:
•
•
•

Working from Home,
Internet, Email and Mobile Phone Use
Privacy

Financial Implications
Nil
Strategic Implications
This matter supports WMRC Key Strategy 5 - Develop a strong and capable organisation

COMMENTS
Nil

VOTING REQUIREMENT
Simple majority

Moved: Cr. Hohnen

Seconded: Cr. Shaw

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION AND COUNCIL RESOLUTION
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4.4.1

Audit and Risk Management Committee note the report and the new
WMRC Information Systems Security Plan.
CARRIED 5/0

5. CONFIDENTIAL REPORTS
Nil

6. GENERAL BUSINESS
Nil

7. CLOSURE OF MEETING
The Chairman Cr. Haynes declared the meeting closed at 5.27pm

8. NEXT MEETING
TBA
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COMMUNITY VISION

The Western Metropolitan Regional Council (WMRC) will assist the community in effectively and efficiently
reducing waste; recovering resources; and minimising the impact of waste on the environment.

Principal place of business:
Suite 2 / 317 Churchill Avenue, Subiaco WA 6008
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1.1 STATEMENT BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1995

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT) REGULATIONS 1996

STATEMENT BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The attached financial report of the Western Metropolitan Regional Council for the financial year ended 30
June 2020 is based on proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial position of the Western
Metropolitan Regional Council at 30 June 2020 and the results of the operations for the financial year then
ended in accordance with the Local Government Act 1995 and, to the extent that they are not inconsistent
with the Act, the Australian Accounting Standards.

Signed as authorisation of issue on the

day of

2020

Chief Executive Officer

Stefan John Frodsham
Name of Chief Executive Officer
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1.2

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BY NATURE AND TYPE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

2020
Actual
$

2020
Budget
$

2019
Actual
$

1,919,456
3,050,142
34,214
611,022
5,614,834

1,924,663
2,842,083
37,349
603,132
5,407,227

1,116,576
3,932,331
57,942
89,561
5,196,410

(1,650,918)
(3,021,072)
(10,818)
(201,324)
(59,325)
(1,027,587)
(5,971,044)
(356,210)

(1,569,635)
(3,217,546)
(16,120)
(140,848)
(59,326)
(1,158,884)
(6,162,359)
(755,132)

(1,477,413)
(3,299,192)
(12,719)
(204,012)
(57,840)
(883,153)
(5,934,329)
(737,919)

(93,755)
(93,755)

4,733
4,733

(59,049)
(59,049)

(449,965)

(750,399)

(796,968)

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or
loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus
11

0

0

225,454

Total other comprehensive income for the
period

0

0

225,454

(449,965)

(750,399)

(571,514)

NOTE
Revenue
Operating grants, subsidies, and contributions
Fees and charges
Interest earnings
Other revenue

2(a)
2(a)
2(a)
2(a)

Expenses
Employee costs
Materials and contracts
Utility charges
Depreciation
Insurance expenses
Other expenditure

2(b)

(Loss) on asset disposals

8(a)

8(c)

Net result for the period
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the period

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1.3

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BY PROGRAM
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

2020
Actual
$

2020
Budget
$

2019
Actual
$

33,512
5,581,322
5,614,834

36,290
5,370,937
5,407,227

54,785
5,141,625
5,196,410

(1,914,500)
0
(4,056,544)
(5,971,044)

(241,849)
0
(5,920,510)
(6,162,359)

(1,847,400)
(5,740)
(4,081,189)
(5,934,329)

(356,210)

(755,132)

(737,919)

(93,755)
(93,755)

4,733
4,733

(59,049)
(59,049)

(449,965)

(750,399)

(796,968)

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus
11

0

0

225,454

Total other comprehensive income for the period

0

0

225,454

(449,965)

(750,399)

(571,514)

NOTE
Revenue
Governance
General purpose funding

Expenses
Governance
General purpose funding
Community amenities

Finance Costs

(Loss) on disposal of assets

8(a)

Net result for the period
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the period

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1.4

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019
NOTE

2020
$

2019
$

3
5

1,589,148
404,235
1,993,383

2,159,821
253,295
2,413,116

6
7
9
10(a)

1,270,890
938,980
0
96,470
2,306,340

1,406,763
782,905
56,948
0
2,246,616

4,299,723

4,659,732

12
13(a)
15

333,427
45,800
241,103
620,330

337,129
0
145,220
482,349

15

35,040
35,040

83,065
83,065

655,370

565,414

3,644,353

4,094,318

1,840,416
1,514,439
289,498
3,644,353

1,537,343
1,859,446
697,529
4,094,318

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant, and equipment
Infrastructure
Intangible assets
Right of use assets
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Employee related provisions
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Employee related provisions
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Retained surplus
Reserves - cash backed
Revaluation surplus
TOTAL EQUITY

4
11

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Western Metropolitan Regional Council
Financial Report 2019-2020

Page | 6

1.5

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

RETAINED
SURPLUS
$

RESERVES
CASH
BACKED
$

REVALUATION
SURPLUS
$

TOTAL
EQUITY
$

Balance as at 1 July 2018

1,460,470

2,733,287

472,075

4,665,832

Comprehensive income
Net result for the period

(796,968)

0

0

(796,968)

NOTE

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

11

0
(796,968)

0
0

225,454
225,454

225,454
(571,514)

Transfers from reserves
Transfers to reserves

4
4

2,162,889
(1,289,048)

(2,162,889)
1,289,048

0
0

0
0

1,537,343

1,859,446

697,529

4,094,318

Balance as at 30 June 2019
Transfer from revaluation
reserve due to regulatory
changes

11

408,031

(408,031)

Restated total equity at 1 July
2019

1,945,374

1,859,446

289,498

4,094,318

Comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

(449,965)
(449,965)

0
0

0
0

(449,965)
(449,965)

2,083,970
(1,738,963)

(2,083,970)
1,738,963

0
0

0
0

1,840,416

1,514,439

289,498

3,644,353

Transfers from reserves
Transfers to reserves
Balance as at 30 June 2020

4
4

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1.6

STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
2020
Actual
$

2020
Budget
$

2019
Actual
$

1,757,934
3,050,142
34,214
611,022
5,453,312

1,839,084
2,842,083
37,349
603,132
5,321,648

1,116,576
4,438,887
96,160
89,561
5,741,184

(1,609,424)
(2,843,409)
(10,818)
(59,325)
10,582
(1,027,587)
(5,539,981)

(1,525,155)
(3,157,448)
(20,120)
(59,326)
(9,772)
(1,158,885)
(5,930,706)

(1,458,679)
(4,081,647)
(12,719)
(57,840)
(98,382)
(883,153)
(6,592,420)

16

(86,669)

(609,058)

(851,236)

6(a)

(68,222)

7(a)
8(a)

(196,489)
0

(153,197)
0
10,000

(264,711)

(143,197)

(43,494)

(44,292)

0

0

(44,292)

0

0

(395,672)
2,159,821

(752,255)
2,159,821

(894,730)
3,054,551

1,764,149

1,407,566

2,159,821

NOTE
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts
Operating grants, subsidies and contributions
Fees and charges
Interest received
Other revenue
Payments
Employee costs
Materials and contracts
Utility charges
Insurance paid
Goods and services tax paid
Other expenditure
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for purchase of property, plant &
equipment
Payments for construction of infrastructure
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment
Net cash provided by (used in)
investment activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments for principal portion of lease liabilities

13(b)

Net cash provided by (used In)
financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash held
Cash at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year

16

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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(50,494)
0
7,000
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1.7

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL
REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Basis of Preparation
The financial report comprises general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (as they apply to local governments and not-for-profit
entities) and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, and the Local Government Act
1995 and accompanying regulations.
The Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996 take precedence over Australian
Accounting Standards. Prior to 1 July 2019, Regulation (Reg) 16 arbitrarily prohibited a local government
from recognising as assets Crown land that is a public thoroughfare, i.e. land under roads, and land not
owned by but under the control or management of the local government, unless it is a golf course,
showground, racecourse or recreational facility of State or regional significance. Consequently, some
assets pertaining to vested land, including land under roads acquired on or after 1 July 2008, were not
recognised in previous financial reports of the WMRC. This was not in accordance with the requirements
of AASB 1051 Land Under Roads paragraph 15 and AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment paragraph
7.
From 1 July 2019, the WMRC has applied AASB 16 Leases which requires leases to be included by
lessees in the statement of financial position. Also, the FM regs have been amended to specify that vested
land is a right of use (ROU) asset to be measured at cost. All ROU assets (other than vested
improvements) under zero cost concessionary leases are measured at zero cost (i.e. not included in the
statement of financial position) rather than at fair value. The exception is vested improvements on
concessionary land leases such as roads, buildings or other infrastructure which continue to be reported
at fair value, as opposed to the vested land which is measured at zero cost. The measurement of vested
improvements at fair value is a departure from AASB 16 which would have required the WMRC to measure
any vested improvements at zero cost.
The WMRC had no vested land under zero cost concessionary leases and thus the amendment had no
effect.
New accounting standards for application in future years
On 1 July 2020, the following new accounting standards are to be adopted:
- AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors
- AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Materiality

AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors is not expected to impact the financial report.
Specific impacts of AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Materiality, have not
been identified.
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Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of a financial report in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that effect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income, and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances; the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
The Local Government Reporting Entity
All Funds through which the WMRC controls resources to carry on its functions have been included in the
financial statements forming part of this financial report. In the process of reporting on the local government
as a single unit, all transactions, and balances between those Funds (for example, loans and transfers
between Funds) have been eliminated.
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2. Revenue and Expenses
REVENUE RECOGNITION POLICY
Recognition of revenue is dependent on the source of revenue and the associated terms and conditions associated with each source
of revenue and recognised as follows:

Revenue Category

Nature of goods and
services

When
obligations
typically
satisfied

Payment
terms

Returns/
Refunds/
Warranties

Determination of
transaction price

Measuring
obligations
for returns

Timing of revenue
recognition

Operating grants,
subsidies, and
contributions
Operating grants,
subsidies, and
contributions
Operating grants,
subsidies, and
contributions

Member Council
Contributions

During FY

14 days

None

Budget Council approved

None

Upon invoicing

Comms & Ed Course
Payments

Event

on booking
prior to
event

None

Reimbursement of outlay

None

Upon invoicing

Grants

During FY

None

Allocated by outside
factors

None

Upon receipt of funds

Fees and charges

Fees and charges

On Site

None

Budget Council approved

None

Upon invoicing or
cash banking

Interest earnings

Interest

Investment

None

Set by bank

None

Upon receipt of funds

Other revenue
Other revenue

Insurance Reimbursements
Legal Recoveries

Reimbursement
Reimbursement

None
None

Reimbursement of outlay
Reimbursement of outlay

None
None

Upon receipt of funds
Upon receipt of funds

Other revenue

Fuel Tax Credits

Reimbursement

None

Reimbursement of outlay

None

Upon receipt of funds

Other revenue

Long Service Leave
Recoveries

Reimbursement

None

Reimbursement of outlay

None

Upon receipt of funds

Other revenue

Asset Sales

Upon Sale

14 days

None

Negotiation

None

Upon invoicing

Other revenue

Recycling transfer service

Prior to
Invoicing

14 days

None

Budget - approved by
Council

None

Upon invoicing
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14 days

2. Revenue and Expenses
(a) Grant Revenue
Grants, subsidies, and contributions are included as both operating and non-operating revenues in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income:

2020
Actual

2020
Budget

2019
Actual

$

$

$

Operating grants, subsidies, and contributions
Community amenities

1,919,456

Total grants, subsidies, and contributions

1,919,456

1,924,663
1,924,663

1,116,576
1,116,576

Fees and charges
Community amenities

3,050,142

2,842,083
2,842,083

3,932,331
3,932,331

3,050,142

Grants, subsidies, and contributions
Operating grants, subsidies and contributions are grants, subsidies or contributions that are not non-operating
in nature.
Non-operating grants, subsidies and contributions are amounts received for the acquisition or construction of
recognisable non-financial assets to be controlled by the local government.
Fees and Charges
Revenue (other than service charges) from the use of facilities and charges made for local government
services, sewerage rates, rentals, hire charges, fee for service, photocopying charges, licences, sale of goods
or information, fines, penalties and administration fees.

2. Revenue and Expenses
(a) Revenue (continued)
2020
Actual
$

2020
Budget
$

2019
Actual
$

Contracts with customers and transfers
for recognisable non-financial assets
Information about receivables, contract assets and
contract liabilities from contracts with customers
along with financial assets and associated liabilities
arising from transfers to enable the acquisition or
construction of recognisable non-financial assets is:
Trade and other receivables from contracts with
customers
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Financial Report 2019-2020

Page | 13

362,207

194,589

2. Revenue and Expenses
(a) Revenue (continued)
Revenue (Continued)
Other revenue
Recovery of Legal Costs*
Reimbursements and recoveries
Other income

Interest earnings
Interest on reserve funds
Other interest earnings

2020
Actual
$

2020
Budget
$

2019
Actual
$

507,000
67,333
36,689
611,022

507,000
54,996
41,134
603,130

0
67,380
22,181
89,561

33,512
702
34,214

36,290
1,059
37,349

54,784
3,158
57,942

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Interest Earnings
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become credit impaired. For credit impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).
Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes.
Recovery of Legal Costs
In August 2018, the WMRC was awarded costs upon the completion of a legal dispute. The dispute
pertained to a contract between the WMRC and the sublessor of the lease holder. The Court ruled that the
sublessor cannot enforce contractual obligations while being incapable of performing their own
obligations. In August 2019, an appeal lodged by the sublessor was dismissed on all counts. Costs were
awarded to the WMRC. The recovered legal costs were recognised in the 2019-20 financial year. See Note
18 for further details.

2. REVENUE AND EXPENSES (Continued)
(b)

Expenses

Note

Auditors remuneration
- Audit of the Annual Financial Report

Other expenditure
Accrued Income
Sundry expenses

Western Metropolitan Regional Council
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Actual
$

Budget
$

Actual
$

24,100
24,100

24,100
24,100

22,200
22,200

1,158,884
1,158,884

(1,320)
884,473
883,153

(3,884)
1,031,471
1,027,587
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3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
NOTE

Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Reserves
Total cash and cash equivalents

2020
$

2019
$

74,115
594
1,514,439
1,589,148

300,135
240
1,859,446
2,159,821

1,514,438
1,514,438

1,859,446
1,859,446

1,514,438
1,514,438

1,859,446
1,859,446

Restrictions
The following classes of assets have restrictions
imposed by regulations or other externally imposed
requirements which limit or direct the purpose for
which the resources may be used:
- Cash and cash equivalents

The restricted assets are a result of the following specific
purposes to which the assets may be used:
Reserves - cash backed
Total restricted assets

4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash at bank, deposits available on demand with banks and
other short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are reported as short-term borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of
financial position.
Restricted assets
Restricted asset balances are not available for general use by the local government due to externally imposed
restrictions. Externally imposed restrictions are specified in an agreement, contract, or legislation. This applies
to reserves, unspent grants, subsidies and contributions and unspent loans that have not been fully expended
in the manner specified by the contributor, legislation, or loan agreement.
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4. RESERVES – CASH BACKED

Reserve Title
(a) Development
(b) Operating
(c) Sustainability
(d) Interim Service
Charge

2020
Actual
Opening
Balance

2020
Actual
Transfer
to

2020
Actual
Transfer
(from)

2020
Actual
Closing
Balance

2020
Budget
Opening
Balance

2020
Budget
Transfer
to

2020
Budget
Transfer
(from)

2020
Budget
Closing
Balance

2019
Actual
Opening
Balance

2019
Actual
Transfer
to

2019
Actual
Transfer
(from)

2019
Actual
Closing
Balance

$
570,398
1,289,048
0
0
1,859,446

$
7,925
1,731,038

$
(104,495)
(1,979,475)

$
473,828
1,040,611
0
0
1,514,438

$
1,289,048
570,398

$
1,428,389
147,569

$
(1,850,282)
(104,495)

$
867,155
613,472
0
0
1,480,627

$
2,271,711
0
250,482
211,094
2,733,287

$

$
(1,701,313)

$
570,398
1,289,048
0
0
1,859,446

1,738,963

(2,083,970)

1,859,446

1,575,958

(1,954,777)

1,289,048

1,289,048

(250,482)
(211,094)
(2,162,889)

All reserves are supported by cash and cash equivalents and are restricted within equity as Reserves - cash backed.
In accordance with Council resolutions or adopted budget in relation to each reserve account, the purpose for which the reserves are set aside, and their anticipated date
of use are as follows:

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

Name of Reserve

Anticipated date of use

Purpose of the reserve

Development Reserve
Operating Reserve
Sustainability Reserve
Interim Service Charge Reserve

On going
On going
Closed
Closed

To fund capital expenditure and other costs as required
To fund legal fees and operating expenses as required
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5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current
Sundry Debtors
GST receivable
FBT Instalments
Accrued Income
LSL receivable from EMRC

2020
$

2019
$

362,207
38,144
0
3,884
0
404,235

194,589
48,726
4,610
1,320
4,050
253,295

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Trade and Other Receivables
Trade and other receivables include amounts due from ratepayers for unpaid rates and service charges and
other amounts due from third parties for goods sold and services performed in the ordinary course of business.
Trade receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances for uncollectible amounts
(i.e. impairment). The carrying amount of net trade receivables is equivalent to fair value as it is due for
settlement within 30 days.
Impairment and Risk Exposure
Information about the impairment of trade receivables and their exposure to credit risk and interest rate risk
can be found in Note 22
Classification and Subsequent Measurement
Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are classified as
current assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current assets.
Trade receivables are held with the objective to collect the contractual cashflows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Due to the short-term nature of current receivables, their carrying amount is considered to be the same as
their fair value. Non-current receivables are indexed to inflation, any difference between the face value and
fair value is considered immaterial.
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(a)

Movements in Carrying Amounts
Movement in the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning
and the end of the current financial year.

Balance at 1 July 2018

Total land
and
buildings
$
907,711

Additions
(Disposals)

0
0

Furniture
and
equipment
$
19,092

Plant and
equipment
$
574,365

Total
property,
plant and
equipment
$
1,501,169

(8,831)

50,494
(43,673)

50,494
(52,504)

Revaluation (loss) / reversals transferred to
profit or loss
Depreciation (expense)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2019

(37,130)
914,600

(6,661)
3,600

(92,624)
488,563

(136,415)
1,406,763

Comprises:
Gross carrying amount at 30 June 2019
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2019
Carrying amount at 30 June 2019

1,707,500
(792,900)
914,600

99,893
(96,293)
3,600

1,660,985
(1,172,422)
488,563

3,468,378
(2,061,615)
1,406,763

9800
(1,000)
(39,465)
883,935

23,355
(3,599)
(3,786)
19,570

35,067
(89,156)
(67,089)
367,385

68,222
(93,755)
(110,340)
1,270,890

1,706,300
(822,365)
883,935

23,355
(3,785)
19,570

1,084,534
(717,149)
367,385

2,814,189
(1,543,299)
1,270,890

Additions
(Disposals)
Depreciation (expense)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2020
Comprises:
Gross carrying amount at 30 June 2020
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2020
Carrying amount at 30 June 2020
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44,019

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
(b)

Fair Value Measurements
Fair
Value
Hierarchy

Valuation Technique

Buildings - specialised

Level 3

Cost

Independent
Valuation

June 2019

Market supplied evidence (level 2); estimates
of residual value, useful life, and asset
condition (level 3).

Furniture and equipment

Level 3

Cost

Independent
Valuation

June 2016

Market supplied evidence (level 2); estimates
of residual value, useful life, and asset
condition (level 3).

Level 3

Cost

Independent
Valuation

June 2016

Replacement costs less consumed or expired
service potential of the asset

Asset Class

Basis of
Valuation

Date of
Last
Valuation

Inputs Used

Land and buildings

Plant and equipment

Independent valuation 2016

Level 3 inputs are based on assumptions with regards to future values and patterns of consumption utilising current information. If the basis of these assumptions were
varied, they have the potential to result in a significantly higher or lower fair value measurement. During the period there were no changes in the valuation techniques
used to determine the fair value of property, plant and equipment using either level 2 or level 3 inputs.
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7. INFRASTRUCTURE
(a)

Movements in Carrying Amounts
Movement in the carrying amounts of each class of infrastructure between the beginning and the end
of the current financial year.

Balance at 1 July 2018
(Disposals)
Revaluation increments / (decrements) transferred to
revaluation surplus
Depreciation (expense)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2019
Comprises:
Gross carrying amount at 30 June 2019
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2019
Carrying amount at 30 June 2019
Additions
Depreciation (expense)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2020
Comprises:
Gross carrying amount at 30 June 2020
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2020
Carrying amount at 30 June 2020
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Infrastructure
$
678,309
(13,545)

Total
Infrastructure
$
678,309
(13,545)

181,435
(63,294)
782,905

181,435
(63,294)
782,905

2,258,757
(1,475,852)
782,905

2,258,757
(1,475,852)
782,905

196,489
(40,414)
938,980

196,489
(40,414)
938,980

2,517,302
(1,578,322)
938,980

2,517,302
(1,578,322)
938,980

7. INFRASTRUCTURE (Continued)
b

Fair Value Measurements

Asset Class

Infrastructure

Fair Value
Hierarchy

Valuation
Technique

Level 3

Cost

Basis of Valuation

Independent
Valuation

Date of
Last
Valuation

June
2019

Inputs Used
Market supplied evidence (level 2);
estimates of residual value, useful life,
and asset condition (level 3).

Level 3 inputs are based on assumptions with regards to future values and patterns of consumption utilising current information. If the basis of these assumptions
were varied, they have the potential to result in a significantly higher or lower fair value measurement.
During the period there were no changes in the valuation techniques used to determine the fair value of infrastructure using level 3 inputs.
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8. FIXED ASSET
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Fixed assets
Each class of fixed assets within either plant and equipment or infrastructure, is carried at cost or fair value as
indicated less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Recognition and Measurement
Assets for which the fair value as at the date of acquisition is under $5,000 are not recognised as an asset in
accordance with Financial Management Regulation 17A (5). These assets are expensed immediately.
Where multiple individual low value assets are purchased together as part of a larger asset or collectively
forming a larger asset exceeding the threshold, the individual assets are recognised as one asset and
capitalised.
In relation to this initial measurement, cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given as consideration
plus costs incidental to the acquisition. For assets acquired at zero cost or otherwise significantly less than fair
value, cost is determined as fair value at the date of acquisition. The cost of non-current assets constructed
by the WMRC includes the cost of all materials used in construction, direct labour on the project and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads.
Items of plant and equipment are subsequently measured using the cost model. Individual assets, that are
land, buildings, and infrastructure acquired between initial recognition and the next revaluation of the asset
class in accordance with the mandatory measurement framework, are recognised at cost and disclosed as
being at fair value as management believe improvement cost approximates fair value. They are subject to
subsequent revaluation at the next anniversary date in accordance with the mandatory measurement
framework.
Revaluation
The fair value of land, buildings, and infrastructure is determined at least every five years in accordance with
the regulatory framework. This includes buildings and infrastructure items which were pre-existing
improvements (i.e. vested improvements) on vested land acquired by the WMRC. At the end of each period
the valuation is reviewed and where appropriate the fair value is updated to reflect current market conditions.
This process is considered to be in accordance with Local Government (Financial Management) Regulation
17A (2) which requires land, buildings, infrastructure and vested improvements to be shown at fair value.
Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of assets are credited to a revaluation surplus in equity.
Decreases that offset previous increases of the same class of asset are recognised against revaluation surplus
directly in equity. All other decreases are recognised in profit or loss.
AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS - INCONSISTENCY
Land under control prior to 1 July 2019
In accordance with the then Local Government (Financial Management) Regulation 16(a)(ii), the WMRC was
previously required to include as an asset (by 30 June 2013), vested Crown Land operated by the local
government as a golf course, showground, racecourse or other sporting or recreational facility of State or
Regional significance.
Upon initial recognition, these assets were recorded at cost in accordance with AASB 116. They were then
classified as Land and revalued along with other land in accordance with the other policies detailed in this
Note.
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Land under roads prior to 1 July 2019
In Western Australia, most land under roads is Crown Land, the responsibility for managing which, is vested
in the local government.
Effective as at 1 July 2008, Council elected not to recognise any value for land under roads acquired on or
before 30 June 2008. This accords with the treatment available in Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1051
Land Under Roads and the then Local Government (Financial Management) Regulation 16(a)(i) which
arbitrarily prohibited local governments from recognising such land as an asset. This regulation has now been
deleted.
In respect of land under roads acquired on or after 1 July 2008, as detailed above, the then Local Government
(Financial Management) Regulation 16(a)(i) prohibited local governments from recognising such land as an
asset.
Whilst such treatment is inconsistent with the requirements of AASB 1051, Local Government (Financial
Management) Regulation 4(2) provides, in the event of such an inconsistency,
the Local Government
(Financial Management) Regulations prevail.
Consequently, any land under roads acquired on or after 1 July 2008 is not included as an asset of the WMRC.
Land under roads from 1 July 2019
As a result of amendments to the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996, effective from
1 July 2019, vested land, including land under roads, are treated as ROU assets measured at zero cost.
Therefore, the previous inconsistency with AASB 1051 in respect on non-recognition of land under roads
acquired on or after 1 July 2008 has been removed, even though measurement at zero cost means that land
under roads is still not included in the statement of financial position.
The WMRC has no vested land which it has not accounted for as a ROU asset at cost.
Vested improvements from 1 July 2019
The measurement of vested improvements at fair value in accordance with Local Government (Financial
Management) Regulation 17A(2)(iv) is a departure from AASB 16 which would have required the WMRC to
measure the vested improvements as part of the related ROU assets at zero cost.
Refer to Note 10 that details the significant accounting policies applying to leases (including ROU assets).
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8. FIXED ASSETS
(a)

Disposals of Assets

Buildings - specialised
Furniture and equipment
Plant and equipment
Infrastructure

2020
Actual
Net
Book
Value
$
1,000
3,599
89,156
93,755

2020
Actual

2020

2020

Sale
Proceeds
$
0
0
0

Actual
Profit
$

0

Actual
Loss
$
(1,000)
(3,599)
(89,156)

0

0

(93,755)

2020
Actual

2020

2020

0
0

Actual
Profit
0
0
0

Actual
Loss
(4,138)
(9,093)
(76,005)

0

0

(89,156)

The following assets were disposed of during
the year.

Plant and Equipment
Vehicle
Silo Bins
Compactor
Photocopier

2020
Actual
Net
Book
Value
4,138
9,093
76,005
(80)
89,156

Sale
Proceeds

49,533
Western Metropolitan Regional Council
Financial Report 2019-2020

Page | 24

2020
Budget
Net
Book
Value
$

2020
Budget

2020

2020

Sale
Proceeds
$

Budget
Profit
$

Budget
Loss
$

5,267

10,000

5,267

10,000

4,733
0

4,733

2019
Actual
Net
Book
Value
$
8,831
43,673
13,545
66,049

2019
Actual

2019

2019

Sale
Proceeds
$

Actual
Profit
$

Actual
Loss
$

0

(8,831)
(36,673)
(13,545)
(59,049)

7,000
7,000

(b) Fully Depreciated Assets in Use
The gross carrying value of assets held by the WMRC which are currently in use yet fully depreciated
are shown in the table below.

Furniture and equipment
Plant and equipment
Infrastructure

(c) Depreciation

Buildings - specialised
Furniture and equipment
Plant and equipment
Infrastructure
Right of use assets - Land
Right of use assets - Office Lease

2020
$
15,452
20,293
9,659
45,404

2019
$
15,270
31,209
16,176
62,655

2020
Actual
$
39,465
3,786
67,089
40,414
4,159
46,411
201,324

2020
Budget
$
35,854
6,259
67,520
27,055
4,159
140,848

2019
Actual
$
37,130
6,661
92,624
63,294
4,302
0
204,011

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including buildings but excluding freehold land and vested land, are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the individual asset’s useful life from the time the asset is held ready
for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease
or the estimated useful life of the improvements.
The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.
An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains
and losses are included in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.
Depreciation rates
Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for the current and prior years are included in the
table below:

Asset Class
Buildings
Furniture and equipment
Plant and equipment
Infrastructure
Right of use (buildings)
Right of use (plant and equipment)
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10 - 20 years
Based on the remaining lease
Based on the remaining lease
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Depreciation on revaluation
When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of the
revaluation is treated in one of the following ways:
(a) The gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the carrying
amount of the asset. For example, the gross carrying amount may be restated by reference to observable
market data or it may be restated proportionately to the change in the carrying amount. The accumulated
depreciation at the date of the revaluation is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the carrying amount of the asset after taking into account accumulated impairment losses; or
(b) Eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued
amount of the asset.
Amortisation
All intangible assets with a finite useful life, are amortised on a straight-line basis over the individual asset’s
useful life from the time the asset is held for use.
The residual value of intangible assets is considered to be zero and the useful life and amortisation method
are reviewed at the end of each financial year.
Amortisation is included within Depreciation on non-current assets in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income and in the note above.

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intanglibles at:
Right of Use Land - Cost
Less: Accumulated
Depreciation

2020
Actual
$
0

2019
Actual
$
175,000

0
0

(118,052)
56,948

The intanglible asset was transferred to the Right of Use asset on 1 July 2019 under the initial application of
AASB 16. Refer to Note 10.

Western Metropolitan Regional Council
Financial Report 2019-2020

Page | 26

10.

RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

(a)

Right of Use Assets

Movement in the carrying amounts of each class of right of use asset between the beginning and the end of
the current financial year.

Carrying amount at 30 June 2019
Recognised on initial application of AASB 16
(Note 9)
Restated total equity at the beginning of the
financial year on 1 July 2019
Additions
Depreciation (expense)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2020

Right of
use assets
- Land
$
0

Right of use
assets - Office
Lease
$
0

Right of use
assets
Total
$
0

56,948

0

56,948

56,948
0
(4,159)
52,789

0
90,092
(46,411)
43,681

56,948
90,092
(50,570)
96,470

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Leases
At inception of a contract, the WMRC assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.
At the commencement date, a right of use asset is recognised at cost and lease liability at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the WMRC
uses its incremental borrowing rate.
Right of use assets are measured at cost. This means that all right of use assets (other than vested
improvements) under zero cost concessionary leases are measured at zero cost and not included in the
statement of financial position. The exception is vested improvements on concessionary land leases such as
roads, buildings or other infrastructure which are reported at fair value.
Right of use assets are depreciated over the lease term or useful life of the underlying asset, whichever is the
shortest. Where a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset, or the cost of the right of use asset reflects
that the WMRC anticipates exercising a purchase option, the specific asset is amortised over the useful life of
the underlying asset.
All contracts that are classified as short-term leases (i.e. a lease with a remaining term of 12 months or less)
and leases of low value assets are recognised as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease.
Leases for right of use assets are secured over the asset being leased.

Western Metropolitan Regional Council
Financial Report 2019-2020

Page | 27

11.

REVALUATION SURPLUS
2020
Opening
Balance
$

2020
Reval
Increment
$

2020
Reval
(Decrement)
$

Revaluation surplus
- Buildings specialised

108,063

0

0

Revaluation surplus
- Furniture and
equipment

16,342

0

0

Revaluation surplus
- Plant and
equipment

391,689

0

181,435
697,529

0
0

Revaluation surplus
- Infrastructure

2020
Transfer to
Retained Earnings

Total
Movement
on Reval
$

2020
Closing
Balance
$

2019
Opening
Balance
$

2019
Reval
Increment
$

2019
Reval
(Decrement)
$

Total
Movement
on Reval
$

2019
Closing
Balance
$

0

108,063

64,044

44,019

0

44,019

108,063

(16,342)

(16,342)

0

16,342

0

0

0

16,342

0

(391,689)

(391,689)

0

391,689

0

0

0

391,689

0
0

(408,031)

0
(408,031)

181,435
289,498

0
472,075

181,435
225,454

0
0

181,435
225,454

181,435
697,529

Movements on revaluation of property, plant and equipment (including infrastructure) are not able to be reliably attributed to a program as the assets were revalued
by class as provided for by AASB 116 Aus 40.1.
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12.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current
Sundry creditors
Accrued salaries and wages
Bonds and deposits held
Accrued Expenses

2020
$

2019
$

228,201
20,502
15,978
68,746
333,427

217,462
26,866
0
92,800
337,128

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the WMRC prior to the end
of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the WMRC becomes obliged to make future payments in
respect of the purchase of these goods and services.
The amounts are unsecured, are recognised as a current liability and are normally paid within 30 days of
recognition
Prepaid rates
Prepaid rates are, until the taxable event has occurred (start of the next financial year), refundable at the
request of the ratepayer. Rates received in advance are initially recognised as a financial liability. When the
taxable event occurs, the financial liability is extinguished and the WMRC recognises revenue for the prepaid
rates that have not been refunded.
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13.

(a)

LEASE LIABILITIES

Lease Liabilities

Current

(b)

2020
$
45,800
45,800

2019
$
0
0

Movements in Carrying Amounts

Purpose

Institution

Lease
Interest

Lease

Rate

Term

2.99%

24 months

Actual
Lease Principal
1 July
2019
$

30 June 2020
Actual
New

30 June 2020
Actual
Lease Principal

30 June 2020
Actual
Lease Principal

30 June 2020
Actual
Lease Interest

Leases
$

Repayments
$

Outstanding
$

Repayments
$

Governance
Office Lease

Churchill
Strata
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0
0

90,092
90,092

44,292
44,292

45,800
45,800

2,884
2,884

14.

INFORMATION ON BORROWINGS

Undrawn Borrowing Facilities
Credit Standby Arrangements
Loan facilities
Lease liabilities - current
Total facilities in use at balance date

2020
$

2019
$

45,800
45,800

0
0

Unused loan facilities at balance date
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised at fair value when the WMRC becomes a party to the contractual provisions
to the instrument.
Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss.
Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are discharged, cancelled, or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party
and the fair value of the consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred except where they are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction, or production of a qualifying asset. Where this is the case, they are capitalised
as part of the cost of the particular asset until such time as the asset is substantially ready for its intended use
or sale.
Risk
Information regarding exposure to risk can be found at Note 22
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15.
(a)

EMPLOYEE RELATED PROVISIONS
Employee Related Provisions

Opening balance at 1 July 2019
Current provisions
Non-current provisions

Additional provision
Amounts used
Balance at 30 June 2020
Comprises
Current
Non-current

Amounts are expected to be settled on the following
basis:
Less than 12 months after the reporting date
More than 12 months from reporting date

Provision for
Annual
Leave
$

Provision for
Long Service
Leave
$

Total
$

67,340
23,229
90,569

77,880
59,836
137,716

145,220
83,065
228,285

100,785
(49,475)
141,879

51,029
(54,481)
134,264

151,814
(103,956)
276,143

141,879
0
141,879

99,224
35,040
134,264

241,103
35,040
276,143

2020

2019

$
241,103
35,040
276,143

$
145,220
83,065
228,285

Timing of the payment of current leave liabilities is difficult to determine as it is dependent on future decisions
of employees. Expected settlement timings are based on information obtained from employees and historical
leave trends and assumes no events will occur to impact on these historical trends.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Provision is made for the WMRC’s obligations for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee benefits
are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the
end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service, including wages, salaries
and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be
paid when the obligation is settled.
The WMRC’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are
recognised as a part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position.
Other long-term employee benefits
The WMRC’s obligations for employees’ annual leave and long service leave entitlements are recognised as
provisions in the statement of financial position.
Long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the expected future payments to be made
to employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of
service and employee departures and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the
end of the reporting period on government bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the terms of the
obligations. Any remeasurements for changes in assumptions of obligations for other long-term employee
benefits are recognised in profit or loss in the periods in which the changes occur.
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The WMRC’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current provisions in its
statement of financial position, except where the WMRC does not have an unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period, in which case the obligations are
presented as current provisions.
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the WMRC has a present legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result, and that outflow can be reliably
measured.
Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the end of
the reporting period.

16.

NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of Cash
For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash and cash equivalents, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts. Cash at the end of the reporting period is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of
Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents

2020
Actual
$

2020
Budget
$

2019
Actual
$

1,589,148

1,407,566

2,159,821

(449,965)

(750,399)

(796,968)

0
0
201,324
93,755

0
0
140,848
(4,733)

0
0
204,011
59,049

(150,940)
(3,701)
222,858
0
(86,669)

(85,579)
27,183
63,622
0
(609,058)

106,452
(447,134)
23,354
0
(851,236)

Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided By
Operating Activities to Net Result
Net result
Non-cash flows in Net result:
Adjustments to fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit and loss
Adjustments to fair value of investment property
Depreciation & Amortisation on non-current assets
(Profit)/loss on sale of asset
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
Increase/(decrease) in payables
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Non-operating grants, subsidies, and contributions
Net cash from operating activities
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17.

TOTAL ASSETS CLASSIFIED BY FUNCTION AND ACTIVITY

Governance
General purpose funding
Unallocated

18.

2020
$

2019
$

9,943
2,306,340
1,983,440
4,299,723

43,351
2,203,266
2,413,115
4,659,732

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

A contingent liability exists relating to:
a) possible site remediation if the sublessor or lease holder become insolvent; and
b) a second and on-going legal dispute with the sublessor and lease holder relates to the status of the
original lease post the Court of Appeal ruling of 16 August 2019 (See note 2 for further details).
Damages may be payable if the sublessor or lease holder are successful in this dispute.

19.

COMMITMENTS

a) Capital Expenditure Commitments
The WMRC did not have any future capital expenditure commitments at the reporting date.

20.

JOINT VENTURE ARRANGMENTS

The WMRC is not involved in any joint venture arrangement.
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21.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Elected Members Remuneration
The following fees, expenses and allowances were
paid to council members
Meeting fees
Chairman’s allowance
Deputy Chairman’s allowance
Telecommunications allowance

2020

2020

2019

Actual

Budget

Actual

$

$

$

38,178

37,400

36,350

1,200

1,200

1,200

300

300

300

2,500

2,500

2,500

42,178

41,400

40,350

Key Management Personnel (KMP) Compensation Disclosure
2020
The total of remuneration paid to KMP of the
Actual
WMRC during the year are as follows:
$
Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits

2019
Actual
$

530,121
67,950
11,901
609,972

472,715
65,548
11,705
549,968

Short-term employee benefits
These amounts include all salary, fringe benefits and cash bonuses awarded to KMP except for details
in respect to fees and benefits paid to elected members which may be found above.
Post-employment benefits
These amounts are the current-year's estimated cost of providing for the WMRC's superannuation
contributions made during the year.
Other long-term benefits
These amounts represent long service benefits accruing during the year.
Transactions with related parties
Transactions between related parties and the WMRC are on normal commercial terms and conditions,
no more favourable than those available to other parties, unless otherwise stated.
The following transactions occurred with related parties:

Sale of goods and services
Amounts outstanding from related parties:
Trade and other receivables
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2020
Actual
$
4,005,672

2019
Actual
$
4,031,962

295,537

160,251

Related Parties
The WMRC's main related parties are as follows:
i. Key management personnel
Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of
the entity, directly or indirectly, including any elected member, are considered key management
personnel.
ii. Other Related Parties
The associate person of KMP was employed by the WMRC under normal employment terms and
conditions
iii. Entities subject to significant influence by the WMRC
An entity that has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity, but
does not have control over those policies, is an entity which holds significant influence. Significant
influence may be gained by share ownership, statute, or agreement.
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22.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

This note explains the WMRC’s exposure to financial risks and how these risks could affect the WMRC’s future financial performance.

Risk

Exposure arising from

Measurement

Management

Credit risk

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and
financial assets

Aging analysis
Credit analysis

Diversification of bank deposits,
credit limits. Investment policy

Liquidity risk

Creditor liabilities

Rolling cash flow forecasts

Availability of committed credit lines

The WMRC held the following financial instruments at the balance date:
Carrying Value

Financial Assets

Fair Value

2020

2019

2020

2019

$

$

$

$

Cash and cash
equivalents

$

1,589,148

$

2,159,821

$

1,589,148

$

2,159,821

Receivables

$

366,091

$

199,959

$

366,091

$

199,959

1,955,239

2,359,780

1,955,239

2,359,780

Financial Liabilities
Lease Liabilities

$

45,800

$

0

$

45,800

$

0

Payables

$

333,427

$

337,128

$

333,427

$

337,128

379,227
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337,128

379,227

337,128

(a) Interest rate risk
Cash and cash equivalents
Excess cash and cash equivalents are invested in fixed interest rate term deposits which do not expose the WMRC to cash flow interest rate risk. Cash and cash equivalents
required for working capital are held in variable interest rate accounts and non-interest-bearing accounts. Carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents at the 30 June
and the weighted average interest rate across all cash and cash equivalents and term deposits held disclosed as financial assets at amortised cost are reflected in the
table below.
Weighted
Average
Carrying
Fixed
Variable
Non-Interest
Interest Rate
Amounts
Interest Rate
Interest Rate
Bearing
%
$
$
$
$
2020
Cash and cash equivalents
1.,02%
1,589,148
1,514,439
74,115
594
2019
Cash and cash equivalents
2.54%
2,159,821
1,859,446
300,135
240
Sensitivity
Profit or loss is sensitive to higher/lower interest income from cash and cash equivalents as a result of changes in interest rates.

Impact of a 1% movement in interest rates on profit and loss and equity*
* Holding all other variables constant
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2020
$
741

2019
$
3,001

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b)

Credit risk
More than 30

More than 60

More than 90

Current

days past due

days past due

days past due

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0%

318,878

43,329

0

0

362,207

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0%

189,848

3,969

374

398

194,589

Total

30 June 2020
Trade and other receivables
Expected credit loss
Gross carrying amount
30 June 2019
Trade and other receivables
Expected credit loss
Gross carrying amount
(c)

Liquidity risk
Payables
The contractual undiscounted cash flows of the WMRC’s Payables are set out in the liquidity table below. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying
balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.
Due

Due

Due

Total

within

between

after

contractual

Carrying

1 year

1 & 5 years

5 years

cash flows

values

$

$

$

$

$

333,427

333,427

333,427

45,800

45,800

45,800

379,227

379,227

337,128

337,128

337,128

337,128

2020
Payables
Lease liabilities

379,227

0

0

2019
Payables

337,128
337,128
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0

0

23. INITIAL APPLICATION OF AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS
During the current year, the WMRC adopted all of the new and revised Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations which were compiled, became mandatory and which were applicable to its operations.
(a)

AASB 16: Leases

The WMRC adopted AASB 16 retrospectively from 1 July 2019 which resulted in changes in accounting
policies. In accordance with the transition provisions of AASB 16, the WMRC has applied this Standard to its
leases retrospectively, with the cumulative effect of initially applying AASB16 recognised on 1 July 2019. In
applying AASB 16, under the specific transition provisions chosen, the WMRC will not restate comparatives
for prior reporting periods.

Note

2020
$

Operating Lease Commitments
At 30 June 2019 applying AASB 117

0

Lease liability recognised at 1 July 2019 discounted
using WMRC’s incremental borrowing rate

10(a)

Lease Liability current

56,948
56,948
56,948

Right-of-use assets recognised at 1 July 2019

10(a)

56,948

In applying AASB 16 for the first time, the WMRC will use the following practical expedient permitted by the
standard.
- The exclusion of initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application.

(b)

Impact of New Accounting Standards on Retained Surplus

The impact on the WMRC's retained surplus due to the adoption of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 as at 1 July
2019 was as follows:

Note

As reported under
AASB 15 and AASB
1058 at 1 July 2019
$

Retained surplus

1,537,343

Adjustments due to
application of AASB
15 and AASB 1058
$
0

Compared to AASB
118 and AASB 1004
at 30 June 2019
$
1,537,343

Refer to Note 2 for new revenue recognition accounting policies as a result of the application of AASB 15
and AASB 1058.
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24. RATING INFORMATION
The WMRC is not a rate setting council.

25. OTHER SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with receivables or payables in the statement of financial
position.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows.
b) Current and non-current classification
The asset or liability is classified as current if it is expected to be settled within the next 12 months, being the
WMRC’s operational cycle. In the case of liabilities where the WMRC does not have the unconditional right to
defer settlement beyond 12 months, such as vested long service leave, the liability is classified as current even
if not expected to be settled within the next 12 months. Inventories held for trading are classified as current or
non-current based on the WMRC's intentions to release for sale.
c) Rounding off figures
All figures shown in this annual financial report, other than a rate in the dollar, are rounded to the nearest
dollar. Amounts are presented in Australian Dollars.
d) Comparative figures
Where required, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation for the
current financial year.
When the WMRC applies an accounting policy retrospectively, makes a retrospective restatement or
reclassifies items in its financial statements that has a material effect on the statement of financial position, an
additional (third) statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period in addition to the
minimum comparative financial statements is presented.
e) Budget comparative figures
Unless otherwise stated, the budget comparative figures shown in this annual financial report relate to the
original budget estimate for the relevant item of disclosure.
f) Superannuation
The WMRC contributes to a number of Superannuation Funds on behalf of employees. All funds to which the
WMRC contributes are defined contribution plans.
g) Fair value of assets and liabilities
Fair value is the price that the WMRC would receive to sell the asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability,
in an orderly (i.e. unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market participants
at the measurement date.
As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information is used
to determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the characteristics of the
specific asset or liability. The fair values of assets that are not traded in an active market are determined using
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one or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of
observable market data.
To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the asset or liability
(i.e. the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability) or, in the absence of such
a market, the most advantageous market available to the entity at the end of the reporting period (i.e. the
market that maximises the receipts from the sale of the asset after taking into account transaction costs and
transport costs).
For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant’s ability to
use the asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.
h) Fair value hierarchy
AASB 13 requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair value hierarchy, which categorises
fair value measurement into one of three possible levels based on the lowest level that an input that is
significant to the measurement can be categorised into as follows:
Level 1
Measurements based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date.
Level 2
Measurements based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3
Measurements based on unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or
more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable
market data. If all significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset or liability is
included in Level 2. If one or more significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the asset or
liability is included in Level 3.
Valuation techniques
The WMRC selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data
is available to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data primarily depends on the
specific characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The valuation techniques selected by the
WMRC are consistent with one or more of the following valuation approaches:
Market approach
Valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions for
identical or similar assets or liabilities.
Income approach
Valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or income and expenses into a single discounted
present value.
Cost approach
Valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of the service capacity of an asset.
Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would use when
pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a valuation technique, the
WMRC gives priority to those techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs and minimise the use of
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unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed using market data (such as publicly available information on
actual transactions) and reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would generally use when pricing the
asset or liability are considered observable, whereas inputs for which market data is not available and therefore
are developed using the best information available about such assumptions are considered unobservable.
i) Impairment of assets
In accordance with Australian Accounting Standards the WMRC's cash generating non-specialised assets,
other than inventories, are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication they
may be impaired.
Where such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable
amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use, to the asset's
carrying amount.
Any excess of the asset's carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount in accordance with another Standard (e.g. AASB 116)
whereby any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease in accordance with that
other Standard.
For non-cash generating specialised assets that are measured under the revaluation model, such as roads,
drains, public buildings and the like, no annual assessment of impairment is required. Rather AASB 116.31
applies and revaluations need only be made with sufficient regulatory to ensure the carrying value does not
differ materially from that which would be determined using fair value at the ends of the reporting period.
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26. FINANCIAL RATIOS

Current ratio
Asset consumption ratio
Asset renewal funding ratio
Asset sustainability ratio
Debt service cover ratio*
Operating surplus ratio
Own source revenue coverage ratio

2020
Actual

2019
Actual

2018
Actual

1.26
0.41
1.35
1.32
N/A
(0.09)
0.84

1.01
0.55
N/A
0.25
N/A
(0.20)
0.68

0.70
0.61
N/A
0.00
N/A
(0.23)
0.82

* Due to the WMRC having nil debt, the Debt Service Cover Ratio is not applicable
The above ratios are calculated as follows:
Current ratio

Asset consumption ratio

Asset renewal funding ratio

current assets minus restricted assets
current liabilities minus liabilities associated with restricted assets
depreciated replacement costs of depreciable assets
current replacement cost of depreciable assets
NPV of planned capital renewal over 10 years
NPV of required capital expenditure over 10 years

Asset sustainability ratio

capital renewal and replacement expenditure
depreciation

Debt service cover ratio

annual operating surplus before interest and depreciation
principal and interest

Operating surplus ratio

operating revenue minus operating expenses
own source operating revenue

Own source revenue coverage ratio
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Attachment 10-5D
REPUTATIONAL
Give each risk a code.
This makes it easy to
refer to it with
others (eg in a
meeting).

Identify your risks.

Risk code

Risk

Analyse your risks by scoring the
likelihood of them happening and the
potential impact.

Think about your appetite for these
risks. Give each one a target risk
score that reflects the level of risk
you’d be happy to accept.

List the controls that you currently have in
place to reduce and control each risk.

Rescore the likelihood and potential
impact of each risk with the controls in
place.

Likelihood
(1–5)

Impact
(1–5)

Initial risk
score

Target risk score

Current controls

Likelihood
after
controls
(1–5)

Impact
after
controls
(1–5)

Residual risk
score

If residual risk score is higher than target risk
score, list the additional actions needed to
reduce the risk further.

For ongoing assurance that risks are being
controlled effectively, record who is responsible
for each risk and when/how they should review
it.

Actions required

Risk owner

Review (timeframe
and process)

R1

Poor quality service leading to adverse
publicity

3

4

12

4

Products and services aligned to customer
needs and the objectives set out in the
Strategic Community Plan. Emphasis on
developing a WMRC customer service
culture. Customer service training for
staff. Customer service charter and
customer feedback processes in place

1

3

3

CEO

2 years

R2

Poor decision-making leading to adverse
publicity

3

3

9

4

Sound briefings, reports and
recommendations made to Council; good
planning and consultation with
stakeholders; and sound budget
management and cost control. External
advice sought where appropriate.

2

2

4

CEO

2 years

4

2

8

4

Regular communications on several levels
including fortnightly bulletin, CEOAC and
OCM minutes circulations, presentations,
meetings, joint projects

1

2

2

CEO

1 year

2

2

4

MCE

1 year

1

4

4

CEO

2 years

R3

R4
R5

Public criticism by stakeholders (eg
Member Council staff/elected members)

Public disquiet/ misunderstanding about
operations (eg Waste to Energy, Verge
Valet, treatment of various waste streams)
Public mis-speaking (saying something out
of step with public opinion) by senior
figures

3

3

9

4

2

4

8

4

Alignment with State Government
strategy, public information available in
multiple forms (eg website, presentations,
written material) monitoring of public
feedback.
All public communications through CEO
and Chair with professional advice where
appropriate.

GOVERNANCE RISK
Give each risk a code.
This makes it easy to
refer to it with others
(eg in a meeting).

Identify your risks.

Risk code

Risk

Analyse your risks by scoring the likelihood
of them happening and the potential
impact.

Likelihood
(1–5)

Impact
(1–5)

Initial risk
score

Think about your appetite for these
risks. Give each one a target risk score
that reflects the level of risk you’d be
happy to accept.

List the controls that you currently have in
place to reduce and control each risk.

Target risk score

Current controls

Likelihood
after
controls
(1–5)

Impact
after
controls
(1–5)

Residual risk
score

1

2

2

Chair

Annually in conjunction
with Corporate Business
Plan review.

Rescore the likelihood and potential impact
of each risk with the controls in place.

If residual risk score is higher than target risk
score, list the additional actions needed to
reduce the risk further.

For ongoing assurance that risks are being
controlled effectively, record who is responsible for
each risk and when/how they should review it.

Actions required

Risk owner

Review (timeframe
and process)

G1

Council priorities and programs do not
reflect the needs of member councils and
stakeholders

3

3

9

3

Strategic Community Plan developed in
consultation with stakeholders and
reviewed annually. Corporate Business Plan
developed and reviewed annually directed
at delivering on the SCP objectives and
priorities. Annual budget setting, approval
and mid-year review process

G2

Unmanaged conflicts of interest

2

4

8

7

Conflict of interests required to be declared

1

3

3

Chair

Annually in conjunction
with Corporate Business
Plan review.

G3

Council meetings do not conform with
regulations and standards

3

3

9

4

A Local Law - Standing Orders has been
established. An experienced Governance
Manager is on staff.

2

2

4

Chair

Annually in conjunction
with Corporate Business
Plan review.

G4

Council priorities and programs do not
reflect the needs of member councils and
stakeholders

1

2

2

Chair

Annually in conjunction
with Corporate Business
Plan review.

Chair

Annually in conjunction
with Corporate Business
Plan review.

CEO

Annually in conjunction
with Reg 17 review and
report to A&RM
Committee

G5

G6

WMRC service delivery falls short of
efficiency and quality expectations

Compliance risk, leading to reputational risk

3

3

9

3

Strategic Community Plan developed in
consultation with stakeholders and
reviewed annually. Corporate Business Plan
developed and reviewed annually directed
at delivering on the SCP objectives and
priorities.

3

3

9

4

Regular reports to Council made in respect
of financial and operational performance.
CEOAC provides direct feedback to Council.

2

2

4

4

3

12

6

Compliance register maintained; reviews of
operational systems and organisational
efficiency and effectiveness; reports to
Audit and Risk Committee.

2

2

4

Customer satisfaction surveys to be considered

STRATEGIC RISK

Give each risk a code. This
makes it easy to refer to it with
others (eg in a meeting).

Identify your risks.

Risk code

Risk

S1

Poor strategy leads to loss of
business, adverse financial impact
and threatens the survivability of
the WMRC

S2

Allocation of resources, and service
delivery poorly aligned with
strategy

S3

Strategy misaligned with member
council strategies or state / federal
government requirements or
legislation

Likelihoo Impact
(1–5)
d (1–5)

4

5

For ongoing assurance that risks
are being controlled effectively,
record who is responsible for each
risk and when/how they should
review it.

Think about your appetite for these risks.
Give each one a target risk score that
reflects the level of risk you’d be happy
to accept.

List the controls that you currently have in
place to reduce and control each risk.

Rescore the likelihood and
potential impact of each risk with
the controls in place.

If residual risk score is higher
than target risk score, list the
additional actions needed to
reduce the risk further.

Initial risk
score

Target risk score

Current controls

Likelihoo Impact
Residual
d after
after
risk
controls controls
score
(1–5)
(1–5)

Actions required

20

6

Preparation and periodic review of Strategic
Community Plan, including consultation
with Member Councils, stakeholders and
general public.

1

3

3

CEO

Annually, in
conjunction with
review of Corporate
Business Plan

1

3

3

CEO

Annually, in
conjunction with
review of Corporate
Business Plan

1

4

4

ceo

Annually, in
conjunction with
review of Corporate
Business Plan

Analyse your risks by scoring the
likelihood of them happening and
the potential impact.

4

4

16

4

Preparation and annual review of Corporate
Business Plan that aligns planned business
activity and service delivery with the six key
objectives identified in the Strategic
Community Plan. Annual budget
formulation and mid-year review aligned
with Corporate Business Plan and Strategic
Community Plan.

3

4

12

6

Ongoing interaction with and advocacy to
State Government bodies and with Member
Councils through CEOAC. Close relationship
with WALGA. Strategic Community Plan
submitted to relevant authorities.

Risk
owner

Review
(timeframe and
process)

COMMERCIAL AND LEGAL RISK
Give each risk a code.
This makes it easy to
refer to it with others
(eg in a meeting).

Identify your risks.

Risk code

Risk

Analyse your risks by scoring the likelihood
of them happening and the potential
impact.

Think about your appetite for these
risks. Give each one a target risk score
that reflects the level of risk you’d be
happy to accept.

List the controls that you currently have in
place to reduce and control each risk.

Rescore the likelihood and potential impact
of each risk with the controls in place.

Likelihood
(1–5)

Impact
(1–5)

Initial risk
score

Target risk score

Current controls

Likelihood
after
controls
(1–5)

Impact
after
controls
(1–5)

Residual risk
score

If residual risk score is higher than target risk
score, list the additional actions needed to
reduce the risk further.

For ongoing assurance that risks are being
controlled effectively, record who is responsible for
each risk and when/how they should review it.

Actions required

Risk owner

Review (timeframe
and process)

C1

Economic conditions increase costs or
reduce revenue

3

3

9

8

Regular review of costs and opportunities to
improve efficiency and attract additional
revenue through busienss development

2

2

4

CEO

Annually in conjunction
with Corporate Business
Plan review.

C2

Competition erodes our business

4

4

16

8

Comparative review of fees an charges and
scope of services provided by competing
facilities. Business development activities.

1

2

2

CEO

Annually in conjunction
with Corporate Business
Plan review.

C3

Legal risk - WMRC incur expenses and losses
owing to legal dispute

4

5

20

4

Ensure sound legal advice is obtained and
acted upon in relation to all substantial
commercial dealings

2

2

4

CEO

Annually in conjunction
with Corporate Business
Plan review.

C4

Intellectual property risk

2

3

6

4

Our IP risk is centred on Verge Valet; we
have applied for a trade mark of the name.

1

2

2

CEO

Annually in conjunction
with Corporate Business
Plan review.

HEALTH AND SAFETY RISK
Give each risk a code.
This makes it easy to
refer to it with others
(eg in a meeting).

Identify your risks.

Risk code

Risk

Analyse your risks by scoring the likelihood
of them happening and the potential
impact.

Likelihoo
d (1–5)

Impact
(1–5)

Initial risk
score

Think about your appetite for these
risks. Give each one a target risk score
that reflects the level of risk you’d be
happy to accept.

List the controls that you currently have in place to reduce and control each risk.

Target risk score

Current controls

Rescore the likelihood and potential impact
of each risk with the controls in place.

Likelihoo
d after
controls
(1–5)

Impact
after
controls
(1–5)

Residual
risk score

If residual risk score is higher than target risk
score, list the additional actions needed to
reduce the risk further.

For ongoing assurance that risks are being
controlled effectively, record who is responsible for
each risk and when/how they should review it.

Actions required

Risk owner

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

HS1

Failure to maintain a safe workplace

3

5

15

5

Occupational Health and Safety Management Plan. Safety training for staff.
Regular reporting to Council. Toolbox talks and pre-start meetings. Internal and
external safety inspections and audits. Note: Safety risks in detail are covered in a
separate Safety Risk Register.

1

5

5

HS2

HHW incident

3

4

12

6

Staff are trained by WALGA personnel in safe handling and storage of HHW. A
HHW shed has been procured and erected to reduce exposure to the elementsfor
both staff and products. Appropiate PPE is issued to all staff and an emergency
shower installed. Staff also have access to CHEMWATCH online to ensure the have
the most up-to-date MSDS's available. Staff have also been trained in how to
naviagte the CHEMWATCH online function.

2

3

6

Review (timeframe
and process)

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Annually with
the review of the OH&S
Management Plan.

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

HS3

Silos Tipping over - Loading at site and tipping at landfill

3

5

15

4

Staff are trained in the safe loading of silos and will wait for Site Supervisor assistance if
they encounter any problems while loading. Only trained operators are permitted to
supervise silo loading and movements. Truck drivers must ahve the relevent licence to
operate the prime mover.Silos and trailers are to be regualrly maintaine to ensure the are
in good working order. Persons are to keep out of downhill area of silos during loading.
Other mobile plant is to be kept out of this area. SP7-2 Adopted. Silos are transported for
disposal at landfill on trucks operated by contractors. Contracted drivers must be
inducted to site. Tipping is to take place on FIRM and LEVEL ground with the cab and the
trailer positioned in a straight line. The landfill site provides for a large open area where
drivers have a choice of tipping locations. Drivers should not tip in close proximity to
other vehicles and should be aware of dangers when tipping in windy conditions. Drivers
should report any unsafe conditions tip site management.

2

4

8

HS4

Equipment Failure
- Doors of silos come loose en route to landfill, waste spills on to road

3

5

15

5

Regular inspection of door latches; chain shut door if a problem is suspected once
loaded; if a problem is known once loaded, unload into another silo for transport.
Clamps have been installed on the top and bottom doors of each silo. Should the door
locks fail, the clamps will prevent the doors from falling wide open. Latches checked three
times with every trip.

1

5

5

HS4

Plant and Pedestrian Interaction Customer injured by WMRC plant
- Customer
truck interface while skip bins are being loaded / unloaded
Truck tipping whilsts reversing
down to silo loading area Staff hit by falling debris while attaching cables to
silo
Staff injured when silo cable snaps
Customers inadvertaently using the wrong entrance
Staff injured when
silo cables snap

5

Controls in place as per SP7-5 Traffic Management Procedure and SP7-6 Transfer Station
Building Traffic Control Procedure
Exit gates have No Entry signs
strategically placed outside the gate Plant movements prohibited when customers are in
the bulk waste receivals area
During
loading of bulk waste bin Gate C is remotely closed to prevent inadvertent access,
barriers are set up to block customers accessing the area, a spotter is posted with two
way radio comms to ensure no access to customers
Review the need to reverse down a slip road - If reversing is permitted the driver must
ensure the silo is not elevated

3

5

20

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

1

5

5

Controls as per SP1-1, SP2-2, SP2-5, SP7-1, SP7-3, SP7-4
Using Hand and Power Tools

3

4

12

4

1

4

4

HS6

Traffic accident caused by litter blowing into public road

2

4

8

4

Keep site as free from litter as feasible. Regular sweeping, street sweeping, litter
pickings and partial barrier fencing in place. Staff make efforts to keep lighter
waste with litter potential under heavier waste or loaded quickly into square bins

1

4

4

HS7

Unauthorised behaviours
storage areas

Scavenging from waste

3

4

12

4

Staff to ensure no scavenging takes place during business hours - Where possible ask
customers to set safetly aside items that may be of interest to other customers
(Reducing the ocurrence of scavengening in a dangerous manner. Lock Gates at night.
Maintain security system and perimeter fencing
Report occurrences of tresspass and follow up with appropiate measures to stop
reoffending

1

3

3

HS8

Workplace violence and aggression
Bullying
(Isolated Staff)

Harrassment and
Aggressive Customers / Members of public

3

4

12

4

Controls as per SP2-4, SP2-6, SP2-8, SP3-6, SP3-7, SP3-8, SP3-9, Policy 9, Policy
10, Policy 12. All customer facing TS staff to attend a dealing with difficult
customers training course. Head office to be redesigned to remove isolation risk for
front desk staff.

1

4

4

HS9

Contractor Practices
- Contractors not following appropriate OH&S procedures

4

Controls as per SP8-3. Contractors inducted to site. Contractors not adhering to
OH&S procedures should be spoken to. If the contractor continues to ignore WMRC
OH&S procedures he/she will be asked to leave the site.

4

Controls as per SP4-1, SP6-2, SP6-3, SP6-6,SP6-7. For smashed CFLs, evacuate persons
from area and ventilate area and ONLY return after mercury has diffused. CFLS collections
carried out by experienced person, who takes extreme care (“soft hands”) when
performing collections. If HHW is not in original packaging, treat it as an unknown. All
staff working in the HHW receivals area must have completed HHW awareness training.
First Aid traing provided to recycling centre staff

3

4

12

HS11

HS12

Chemical exposure
- Spill/Inhalation/Explosion risk from HHW/gas bottles/flares/fuel/CFLs
- Chemical dropped by customer on ground out of car in acceptance area
- Spill of particularly dangerous material e.g. mercury

3

Chemical Identification
- MSDSs not easily accessed in case of incident.
- Incorrect identification of Dangerous Goods Classes may cause energy hazards
- Particularly volatile materials: Some materials require extra segregation which staff will not
be aware of unless the MSDS is referred to

Risk from sharps of any kind
-Staff
-Event Bin Auditing participants are at risk of cuts from sharp objects
wearing appropiate footwear and steps on a sharp object

-Customer not

3

3

4

5

4

12

15

6

4

Available on weighbridge computer and in document box with site (ex HHW) MSDS in
place at the gate.
Refer SP6-3, SP6-4, SP6-5, SP6-6 always look up the MSDS
for correct handling and storage requirements. For example some 5.1s require
segregation from other 5.1s and some corrosives (such as acids and alkalis) are to be
kept apart. Personnel working at the HHW receival area must complete HHW awareness
training, understand were to accesss the MSDS sheets, understand how to read them.
Access to CHEMWATCH must also be made available to staff.

6

Controls as per Risk Assessment 160501
• Provide appropiate PPE (Boots / Gloves / Long sleeves & Pants to staff)
• Collections carried out by experienced person (MP), who takes extreme care
(“soft hands”) when performing collections.
• Any broken glass is cleared as part of the collection.
• Provide a sharps container for safe disposal of needles/hooks Sites to be kept
tidy

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

CEO

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

2

2

4

Hazardous substances

HS10

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

HS5

Tresspass

Review the need to reverse down a slip road - If
reversing is permitted the driver must ensure
the silo is not elevated - Trucks currently not
required to do this as Brockwaste facility is not
in operation and one way (FORWARD) access is
possible

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

1

4

4

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

1

4

4

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

2

4

8

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

HS13

Biological hazards
- viruses (e.g. HIV AIDS, Ross River)
- bacteria (e.g. Hepatitis A, B & C);
- Animal bites and stings

3

5

15

5

Controls as per SP4-1, SP6-2, SP6-3, SP6-6,SP6-7. For smashed CFLs, evacuate persons
from area, ventilate area, return after mercury has diffused. CFLS collections carried out
by experienced person (MP), who takes extreme care (“soft hands”) when performing
collections. Handle containers with left hand (in big gloves); leave right hand free in latex
gloves to fill out forms; Consider further segregation of DG classes by transporting in
small batches of compatible classes; If HHW is not in original packaging, treat it as an
unknown. HHW Training for staff receiving products. Appropiate PPE including but not
limited to Long sleeves and pants / boots/ gloves / face masks / aprons. Access to
Chemwatch for updated MSDS. Maintain and update MSDS folder

1

5

5

HS14

Asbestos exposure

2

4

8

4

Provision of dedicated area for Asbestos receival. Controls as per SP6-1 and SP6-2.
Also refer Asbestos Management Plan. Training for staff in Asbestos awareness.
Provision of appropiate PPE

1

4

4

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

Energy Hazards

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

HS15

Fire Hazards
- Fire in silo
- Fire in Transfer Station Building
- Greenwaste Area
- Welding sparks

4

5

20

5

Controls as per SP4-1, SP4-2, SP4,3, SP4-4, SP3-2, SP7-1

1

5

5

HS16

Electrical hazards
- Injury via electrical arc from high voltage powerlines

3

5

15

4

Controls as per SP7-4
Isolation: staff and contractors keep an appropriate distance from powerlines. Silos
moved so they are required 6m from powerlines. Silos not to be stored vertically
directly adjacent to the western fence.

1

5

5

HS17

Explosion of oxy acetelene welding tank

2

5

10

4

Controls as per SP7-1

1

5

5

- Fire in bin truck

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

HS18

Manual Task handling and Ergonomics
- Any action involving a manaual task
- RSI from repetitive actions
- Ergonomincs

4

4

16

4

Controls as per SP2-7. Training provided to staff. Volunteers are provided with specific
instructions as required. For waste audits: Briefing on safe lifting of bins (at least 2
people, lever on table, check table clear, abandon lift if unexpectedly heavy, check firm
footing before lift). Audit areas isolated from public
For HHW handling, limit tray capacity to 10L/10kg; use a separate tray for >10L single
containers; At storage area, unload HHW into cabinets item by item. Use forklift provided
to assist with heavier lifts.
Staff provided with ergonomic equipment as appropriate. Rotation of duties.
Adjustments made when sitting in chair if required.

1

4

4

3

4

12

4

Staff keep an eye on stability of items stacked in recycling area and keep piles low.
Load heavy items on the bottom of shelving and lighter items on the top

1

4

4

3

3

9

4

1

3

3

3

5

15

5

1

5

5

Falls from Height

HS19

Collapse
recycling areas toppling onto staff or customer

HS20

Slips and Trips
transfer Station floor

HS21

Fall

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes
Poorly stacked items in

on wet or dry

Good housekeeping. Routine cleaning done throughout the
day

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

Controls in place as per SP5-1 and SP5-2.

HS22

Fall
sumps when open for maintenance

into silo

into stormwater

1

4

4

4

Areas barricaded off when being worked on. Sump covers
replaced with aluminium so are protected from corrosion.

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

1

4

4

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

HS23

Lifts utilising
Front End Loader - person injured or property damage

Forklift / Back-hoe /

3

5

15

5

Controls in place as per Risk Assessment 190326

4

Dust masks available when required. Staff distance themselves from dusty loads.
Most dusty loads tip in bulk waste area which is well ventilated. Windsock provides
staff with indication of wind direction and therefore can stand downwind of dusty
loads. Stockpiles are kept small to reduce occurences of airborne dust. 8 kph speed
limit in place to keep speed of vehicle movements low and hep reduce ocurrences
of airborne dust.

Environmental Hazards

HS24

Airborne Particles
Dusty environment, particularly in transfer station building when trucks tip, causing health risk
to staff due to continued exposure

3

4

12

HS25

Confined spaces work
Weighbridge maintenance

HS26

Environmental Heat/ Sun
- Working in hot environments
- Thermal discomfort and dehydration
- Skin cancer risk

3

4

12

4

HS27

Water
- Injury from flooding in silo loading area

1

4

4

4

Silo / Skip bin repair

3

5

15

5

Specialist contractor performs the works on the weighbridge. JSA completed before
any work takes place. Confirmed space permit completed. Training records of
contractors reviewed. Silo / Skip bin repairs carried out by experience contrcators
and / or staff. Permit to work completed prior to work beginning.

Controls as per SP2-1, SP2-2, SP8-4.
Skin cancer risk currently managed for staff by wearing sunblock and a hat. Long
sleeve pants and shorts. PPE provided for staff. Volunteers are directed to do the
same. A spare hat and water are usually provided. Skin checks offered to all staff
every two years. Crib room / weighbridge / HHW hut has aircon. Drinking water
provided in the crib room.

1

5

5

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

1

4

4

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

1

5

5

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

1

4

4

1

4

4

Extremely unlikely that silo loading area would flood. Drainage in place to prevent
such an occurrence

Public Event Hazards

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

Controls as per Risk Assessment 160501

HS31

Comms and Ed beeswax wraps workshops
- burn from iron used to make wrap
- injury/damage caused by iron being dropped on someone/something
- injury/damage caused by tripping over iron cord (including pulling iron off table)
- burn from dripping wax
-fire risk caused by iron contacting flamable object

HS32

Earth carer water stations
- injury/damage caused by water stations toppling onto someone/something
- dangerous water quality caused by ponded water

2

3

6

4

HS33

Festivals - Washing up Stations
Passing on of pathogens from insufficiently cleaned dishes. Not considered an increased risk to
washing up persons.
Festivals - Cuts from broken mugs etc.
Festivals - Slip risk from pouring out soapy water
Festivals - washing up stations: Hot water scald.

2

4

8

4

HS34

Waste audits - slip risk from wet surfaces

2

4

8

3

2

3

6

4

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

1

3

3

Controls as per Risk Assessment 160501

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

1

3

3

1

4

4

1

3

3

Controls as per Risk Assessment 160629

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

Controls as per Risk Assessment 170323

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

Controls as per Risk Assessment 160907

HS35

Transfer Station Tours

2

5

10

5

Further controls not considered reasonable or
practicable: review if situation changes

1

5

5

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

Weekly at management
meetings. Fortnightly at
Toolbox Meetings.
Quarterly at Safety
Committee meetings

FINANCIAL RISK
Give each risk a code.
This makes it easy to
refer to it with others
(eg in a meeting).

Identify your risks.

Risk code

Risk

Analyse your risks by scoring the likelihood
of them happening and the potential
impact.

Likelihood
(1–5)

Impact
(1–5)

Initial risk
score

Think about your appetite for these
risks. Give each one a target risk score
that reflects the level of risk you’d be
happy to accept.

List the controls that you currently have in
place to reduce and control each risk.

Target risk score

Current controls

Likelihood
after
controls
(1–5)

Impact
after
controls
(1–5)

Residual risk
score

2

2

4

CEO

Bi-annually at Budget
setting; and Mid Year
Budget Review.

Rescore the likelihood and potential impact
of each risk with the controls in place.

If residual risk score is higher than target risk
score, list the additional actions needed to
reduce the risk further.

For ongoing assurance that risks are being
controlled effectively, record who is responsible for
each risk and when/how they should review it.

Actions required

Risk owner

Review (timeframe
and process)

F1

Financial Sustainability

3

4

12

4

New financial model which shares the
majority of fixed costs among our five
member councils. Strategic Community Plan
is built on servicing a wider catchment area
as a means of attracting more business,
achieving economies of scale and improving
financial sustainability.

F2

Credit risk - debtors fail to pay

3

2

6

4

Most revenue is derived from low risk
member councils and other local
governements. Services to most other
customers is on cash basis. Credit only
extended to relatively few account
customers after a risk assessment.

1

1

1

F&G Manager

Bi-annually at Budget
setting; and Mid Year
Budget Review.

2

2

4

CEO

Bi-annually at Budget
setting; and Mid Year
Budget Review.

F3

Operating loss

4

4

16

6

Careful and conservative budgeting. New
financial model which shares the majority of
fixed costs among our five member
councils. Close and continuous monitoring
of costs and business performance. Annual
review of Corporate Business Plan.

F4

Capital loss

3

4

12

6

Insurance; regular inspection and
maintenance of assets as provided for in the
Asset Management Plan.

2

2

4

CEO

3

4

12

4

Investments restricted to interest bearing
term deposits with major banks.

1

2

2

CEO

3

Two approvals are required for all
transactions. All procurement must follow
WMRC Procurement and Purchasing Policy.
Strict guidelines apply to the use of just two
credit cards in use. Regular reviews and
audits.

1

3

3

F5

Investment loss

2

F6
Fraud

5

10

Could consider establishing an internal audit perhaps by arrangement with another local
government

CEO

Bi-annually at Budget
setting; and Mid Year
Budget Review.
Bi-annually at Budget
setting; and Mid Year
Budget Review.

Bi-annually at Budget
setting; and Mid Year
Budget Review.

OPERATIONAL RISK
Give each risk a code.
This makes it easy to
refer to it with others
(eg in a meeting).

Identify your risks.

Risk code

Risk

Analyse your risks by scoring the likelihood
of them happening and the potential
impact.

Think about your appetite for these
risks. Give each one a target risk score
that reflects the level of risk you’d be
happy to accept.

List the controls that you currently have in
place to reduce and control each risk.

Current controls

Likelihood
(1–5)

Impact
(1–5)

Initial risk
score

Target risk score

Rescore the likelihood and potential impact
of each risk with the controls in place.

Likelihood
after
controls
(1–5)

Impact
after
controls
(1–5)

Residual risk
score

If residual risk score is higher than target risk
score, list the additional actions needed to
reduce the risk further.

For ongoing assurance that risks are being
controlled effectively, record who is responsible for
each risk and when/how they should review it.

Actions required

Risk owner

Review (timeframe
and process)

O1

Fail to comply with licence conditions

2

4

8

4

Regular site inspections; monitoring of
waste throughput; compliance inspections
by DWER.

1

3

3

CEO

Annually

O2

Catastrophic failure of silos onsite

4

4

16

6

Regular (weekly) inspection and
preventative maintenance; renewal or
replacement business case initiated.

2

3

6

CEO

Weekly

O3

Project risk

3

4

12

4

Major projects are subject to review,
approval of and monitoring by Council.
Prepare project plan, including schedule,
and establish a project control group for
each major project.

2

2

4

CEO

Annually

O4

Electricity outage - leading to loss of
services

2

3

6

4

Maintain a emergency generator on site.

2

2

4

Operations Manager

Annually

2

2

4

CEO

2 years

Operations Manager

Annually

MFG

Annually

O5

Information Systems risk - electronic
information not securely stored or not
accessible - data or identity theft

3

4

12

6

Risks assessed and Information Systems
Security Plan developed. Information
secured in a Microsoft (Azure/Office 365)
cloud ecosystem. Staff training in IS
security initiated. Regular monitoring and
testing of ISS risk areas. New weighbridge
operating system installed.

O6

Unavailability of waste disposal or
processing service

2

4

8

6

Alternative waste disposal and processing
sites are available to the WMRC

1

3

3

O7

Poor recordkeeping (paper and/or
electronic) result in lost information

4

3

12

4

Recordkeeping Plan and procedures (2015).
Secure offsite document storage

4

3

12

Update recordkeeping plan and procedures

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
Give each risk a code.
This makes it easy to
refer to it with
others (eg in a
meeting).

Identify your risks.

Risk code

Risk

Analyse your risks by scoring the
likelihood of them happening and the
potential impact.

Think about your appetite for these
risks. Give each one a target risk
score that reflects the level of risk
you’d be happy to accept.

List the controls that you currently have in
place to reduce and control each risk.

Current controls

Likelihood
(1–5)

Impact
(1–5)

Initial risk
score

Target risk score

H1

Staff are underpaid or overpaid

3

3

9

4

H2

Failure to attract and retain good staff

3

3

9

4

H3

Poor staff culture leads to claims of
bullying harrassment etc

2

3

6

4

A staff wages and salaries schedule has
been developed. Payroll is managed by
trained staff; and subject to independent
check and sign off.
Market based review of wages and
salaries. Adherance to recruitment and
selection procedures. Use of expert HR
advice.
HR policies include code of conduct, EEO,
workplace expectations and all staff have
to indicate that they have been read. All
staff have access to EAP.

Rescore the likelihood and potential
impact of each risk with the controls in
place.

If residual risk score is higher than target risk
score, list the additional actions needed to
reduce the risk further.

For ongoing assurance that risks are being
controlled effectively, record who is responsible
for each risk and when/how they should review
it.

Likelihood
after
controls
(1–5)

Impact
after
controls
(1–5)

Residual risk
score

2

2

4

CEO

Annually at Budget
Setting

2

2

4

CEO

Continuously

2

2

4

Actions required

Risk owner

Review (timeframe
and process)

Attachment 10-6A

COUNCIL POLICY
Policy 1: Accounting
Purpose
To provide a framework for the financial management of the WMRC’s accounts.

Objective
To develop accounting procedures that are clear, transparent, meet statutory obligations and provide a
reporting structure.

Relevant legislation
Local Government Act 1995
Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996
Australian Accounting Standards

•
•
•

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS FOR APPLICATION IN FUTURE PERIODS

The AASB has issued a number of new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods, some of which are relevant to the Council.
Management’s assessment of the new and amended pronouncements that are relevant to the Council,
applicable to future reporting periods and which have not yet been adopted are set out as follows:
Title
Issued /
Applicable (1)
Impact
Compiled
(i)
AASB 9 Financial
December 2014
1 January 2018 Nil – The objective of this
Instruments
Standard is to improve and
(incorporating AASB
simplify the approach for
2014-7 and AASB
classification and
2014-8)
measurement of financial
assets compared with the
requirements of AASB 139.
Given the nature of the
financial assets of the Council,
its not anticipated the Standard
will have any material effect.
(ii)

AASB 15 Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

December 2014

1 January 2019

This Standard establishes
principles for entities to apply
to report useful information to
users of financial statements
about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of
revenue and cash flows arising
from a contract with a
customer.

(iii)

AASB 16 Leases

February 2016

1 January 2019

Under AABB 16 there is no
longer a distinction between
finance and operating leases.
Lessees will now bring to
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account a right-to-use asset
and lease liability into the
statement of financial position
for all leases. Effectively this
means the vast majority of
operating leases as defined by
the current AASB 117 Leases
which currently do not impact
the statement of financial
position will be required to be
capitalised on the statement of
financial position when AASB
16 is adopted.

Notes:
(1)

Applicable to reporting periods commencing on or after the given date.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS FOR APPLICATION IN
FUTURE PERIODS (Continued)
Title

Issued /
Compiled

Applicable (1)

Impact
Currently, operating lease
payments are expensed as
incurred. This will cease and
will be replaced by both
depreciation and interest
charges. Based on the current
number of operating leases
held by the Council, the impact
is not expected to be
significant.

(iv)

AASB 1058 Income of
Not-for-Profit Entitles
(incorporating AASB
2016-7 and AASB
2016-8)

December 2016

1 January 2019

These standards are likely to
have a significant impact on
the income recognition for
NFP’s. Key areas for
consideration are:
• Assets received below
fair value;
• Transfers received to
acquire or construct
non-financial assets;
• Grants received;
• Prepaid rates;
• Leases entered into at
below market rates;
and
• Volunteer services.
Whilst it is not possible to
quantify the financial impact (or
if it is material) of these key
areas until the details of future
transactions are known, they
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will all have application to the
Council’s operations.

Notes:
(1) Applicable to reporting periods commencing on or after the given date.

Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards
During the current year, the Council adopted all of the new and revised Australian
Accounting Standards and Interpretations which were compiled, became mandatory and
which were applicable to its operations.
(i)

AASB 2016-4
Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards –
Recoverable Amount of
Non-Cash-Generating
Specialised Assets of
Not-for-Profit Entities

1 January 2017

(ii)

AASB 2016-7
Amendments to
Accounting Standards
– Deferral of AASB 15
for Non-for-Profit
Entities.

1 January 2017

Policy
Basis of Preparation
The financial report comprises general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (as they apply to local governments and not-for-profit
entities), Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board, the Local Government Act 1995 and accompanying regulations. Material
accounting policies which have been adopted in the preparation of the financial report are presented below
and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.
Except for cash flow and rate setting information, the report has been prepared on the accrual basis and is
based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected noncurrent assets, financial assets and liabilities.
Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of a financial report in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances; the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Policy 1: Accounting
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The local government reporting entity
All Funds through which the WMRC controls resources to carry on its functions are included in the financial
statements forming part of the financial report.
In the process of reporting on the local government as a single unit, all transactions and balances between
those Funds (for example, loans and transfers between Funds) are eliminated.
All monies held in the Trust Fund are excluded from the financial statements. A separate statement of those
monies appears in the Notes to the financial statements.
Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with receivables or payables in the statement of financial
position.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash at bank, deposits available on demand with banks and
other short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and bank overdrafts.
Bank overdrafts are reported as short term borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial
position.
Trade and Other Receivables
Trade and other receivables include amounts due from member Councils and non-members for unpaid fees
and charges and other amounts due from third parties for goods sold and services performed in the ordinary
course of business.
Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are classified as
current assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current assets.
Collectability of trade and other receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts that are known to be
uncollectible are written off when identified. An allowance for doubtful debts is raised when there is
objective evidence that they will not be collectible.
Inventories
General
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
Land held for sale
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Land held for development and sale is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the
cost of acquisition, development, borrowing costs and holding costs until completion of development.
Finance costs and holding charges incurred after development is completed are expensed.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss at the time of signing an unconditional contract of sale if
significant risks and rewards, and effective control over the land, are passed on to the buyer at this point.
Land held for sale is classified as current except where it is held as non-current based on the Council’s
intentions to release for sale.
Fixed Assets
Each class of fixed assets within either property, plant and equipment or infrastructure, is carried at cost or
fair value as indicated less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Mandatory requirement to revalue non-current assets
Effective from 1 July 2012, the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations were amended and
the measurement of non-current assets at Fair Value became mandatory.
The amendments allow for a phasing in of fair value in relation to fixed assets over three years as follows:
(a)
for the financial year ending on 30 June 2013, the fair value of all of the assets of the local
government that are plant and equipment; and
(b)
for the financial year ending on 30 June 2014, the fair value of all of the assets of the local
government (i) that are plant and equipment; and
(ii) that are (I) land and buildings; or(II) Infrastructure;
and
(c)
for a financial year ending on or after 30 June 2015, the fair value of all of the assets of the
local government.
Thereafter, in accordance with the regulations, each asset class must be revalued at least every 3 years.
Relevant disclosures, in accordance with the requirements of Australian Accounting Standards, are made in
the financial report as necessary.
Land under control
In accordance with Local Government (Financial Management) Regulation 16(a), the WMRC is required to
include as an asset, Crown Land operated by the local government as a golf course, showground, racecourse
or other sporting or recreational facility of State or Regional significance.
Initial recognition and measurement between mandatory revaluation dates
All assets are initially recognised at cost and subsequently revalued in accordance with the mandatory
measurement framework detailed above.
In relation to this initial measurement, cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given as consideration
plus costs incidental to the acquisition. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, cost is
determined as fair value at the date of acquisition. The cost of non-current assets constructed by the WMRC
includes the cost of all materials used in construction, direct labour on the project and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed overheads.
Individual assets acquired between initial recognition and the next revaluation of the asset class in
accordance with the mandatory measurement framework detailed above, are carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation as management believes this approximates fair value. They are subject to
Policy 1: Accounting
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subsequent revaluation at the next anniversary date in accordance with the mandatory measurement
framework detailed above.
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Revaluation
Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of assets are credited to a revaluation surplus in
equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are recognised against revaluation surplus
directly in equity. All other decreases are recognised in profit or loss.
Land under roads
In Western Australia, all land under roads is Crown Land, the responsibility for managing which, is vested in
the local government.
Effective as at 1 July 2008, Council elected not to recognise any value for land under roads acquired on or
before 30 June 2008. This accords with the treatment available in Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1051
Land Under Roads and the fact Local Government (Financial Management) Regulation 16(a)(i) prohibits local
governments from recognising such land as an asset.
In respect of land under roads acquired on or after 1 July 2008, as detailed above, Local Government
(Financial Management) Regulation 16(a)(i) prohibits local governments from recognising such land as an
asset.
Whilst such treatment is inconsistent with the requirements of AASB 1051, Local Government (Financial
Management) Regulation 4(2) provides, in the event of such an inconsistency, the Local Government
(Financial Management) Regulations prevail.
Consequently, any land under roads acquired on or after 1 July 2008 is not included as an asset of the WMRC.
Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including buildings but excluding freehold land, is depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the individual asset’s useful life from the time the asset is held ready for use.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the
estimated useful life of the improvements.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of the
revaluation is treated in one of the following ways:
a)
Restated proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that
the carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals its revalued amount; or
b)
Eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to
the revalued amount of the asset.
Major depreciation periods used for each class of depreciable asset are:
Asset Class
Useful Life
Land
N/A
Buildings
50 years
Office Furniture (incl. computer equipment)
3.33-5 years
Plant & Equipment
6.66 - 20 years
Infrastructure
10 - 20 years

Depreciation Rate
N/A
2%
20% - 30%
5% - 15%
5% - 10%

Upon revaluation of non-current assets, assets will be allocated a remaining useful life that considers factors
such as expected use of the asset; wear and tear and obsolescence. The assigned remaining useful life will
be utilised to accurately reflect the consumption of economic benefits from the time of revaluation.
The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.
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An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains
and losses are included in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.
Capitalisation threshold
Expenditure on items of equipment under $1,000 is not capitalised. Rather, it is recorded on an asset
inventory listing.
Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities
When performing a revaluation, the WMRC will use a mix of both independent and management valuations
using the following as a guide:
Fair Value is the price that the WMRC would receive to sell the asset or would have to pay to transfer a
liability, in an orderly (i.e. unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market
participants at the measurement date.
As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information is to
determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the characteristics of the
specific asset or liability. The fair values of assets that are not traded in an active market are determined
using one or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the
use of observable market data.
To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the asset or
liability (i.e. the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability) or, in the
absence of such a market, the most advantageous market available to the entity at the end of the reporting
period (i.e. the market that maximises the receipts from the sale of the asset after taking into account
transaction costs and transport costs).
For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant’s ability to
use the asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.
Fair value hierarchy
AASB 13 requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair value hierarchy, which categorises
fair value measurement into one of three possible levels based on the lowest level that an input that is
significant to the measurement can be categorised into as follows:
Level 1
Measurements based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement date.
Level 2
Measurements based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3
Measurements based on unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or
more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of
observable market data. If all significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset or
liability is included in Level 2. If one or more significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the
asset or liability is included in Level 3.
Valuation techniques
The WMRC will select a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data is available to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data primarily depends on
the specific characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The valuation techniques selected by the
WMRC are consistent with one or more of the following valuation approaches:
Market approach
Valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions for
identical or similar assets or liabilities.
Income approach
Valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or income and expenses into a single
discounted present value.
Cost approach
Valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of an asset at its current service capacity.
Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would use when
pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a valuation technique, the
WMRC will give priority to those techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs and minimise the
use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed using market data (such as publicly available
information on actual transactions) and reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would generally use
when pricing the asset or liability are considered observable, whereas inputs for which market data is not
available and therefore are developed using the best information available about such assumptions are
considered unobservable.
As detailed above, the mandatory measurement framework imposed by the Local Government (Financial
Management) Regulations requires, as a minimum, all assets carried at a revalued amount to be revalued at
least every 3 years.
Intangible Assets
Regulation 16 of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996 requires easements to be
recognised as assets. In 1992, WMRC contributed $175,000 for 40-year right to use the land to operate the
transfer station.
Amortisation
The amount of the right to use land is amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of 40 years from the
time this intangible asset was purchased.
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Financial Instruments
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the WMRC becomes a party to the contractual
provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the WMRC commits itself
to either the purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted).
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where the instrument
is classified 'at fair value through profit or loss', in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss
immediately.
Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial instruments are subsequently measured at fair value, amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method, or at cost.
Amortised cost is calculated as:
(a)
the amount in which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition;
(b)
(c)

less principal repayments and any reduction for impairment; and
plus or minus the cumulative amortisation of the difference, if any, between the amount
initially recognised and the maturity amount calculated using the effective interest rate
method.

The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant period
and is equivalent to the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including fees,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably
predicted, the contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset
or financial liability. Revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying
value with a consequential recognition of an income or expense in profit or loss.
(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets are classified as “fair value through profit or loss” when they are held for trading for the
purpose of short-term profit taking. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in
carrying amount being included in profit or loss. Assets in this category are classified as current assets.
(ii) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised
in profit or loss.
Loans and receivables are included in current assets where they are expected to mature within 12 months
after the end of the reporting period
(iii) Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed maturities and fixed or
determinable payments that the WMRC has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. They are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss.
Held-to-maturity investments are included in non-current assets, where they are expected to mature within
12 months after the end of the reporting period. All other investments are classified as non-current.
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(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either not suitable to be
classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature, or they are designated as such by
management. They comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is neither a fixed
maturity nor fixed or determinable payments. They are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in
such fair value (i.e. gains or losses) recognised in other comprehensive income (except for impairment losses).
When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss pertaining to that asset previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified into profit or loss.
Available-for-sale financial assets are included in current assets, where they are expected to be sold within
12 months after the end of the reporting period. All other available-for-sale financial assets are classified as
non-current.
(v) Financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment
A financial asset is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events (a “loss event”) having occurred, which will have an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset(s).
In the case of available-for-sale financial assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the market value of the
instrument is considered a loss event. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss immediately. Also,
any cumulative decline in fair value previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss at this point.
In the case of financial assets carried at amortised cost, loss events may include: indications that the debtors
or a group of debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments; indications that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and changes
in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost (including loans and receivables), a separate allowance account
is used to reduce the carrying amount of financial assets impaired by credit losses. After having taken all
possible measures of recovery, if management establishes that the carrying amount cannot be recovered by
any means, at that point the written-off amounts are charged to the allowance account or the carrying
amount of impaired financial assets is reduced directly if no impairment amount was previously recognised
in the allowance account.
Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expire or the asset is
transferred to another party whereby the WMRC no longer has any significant continual "involvement in the
risks and benefits associated with the asset.
Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party
and the fair value of the consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed,
is recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment of Assets
In accordance with Australian Accounting Standards the WMRC's assets, other than inventories, are assessed
at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication they may be impaired.
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Where such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable
amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use, to the asset's
carrying amount.
Any excess of the asset's carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount in accordance with another Standard (e.g. AASB 116)
whereby any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease in accordance with that
other Standard.
For non-cash generating assets such as roads, drains, public buildings and the like, value in use is represented
by the depreciated replacement cost of the asset.
(k) Trade and Other Payables
Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the WMRC prior to the end
of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the WMRC becomes obliged to make future payments
in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. The amounts are unsecured, are recognised as a
current liability and are normally paid within 30 days of recognition.
(l) Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Provision is made for the WMRC’s obligations for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee
benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12
months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service,
including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the (undiscounted)
amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled.
The WMRC’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are
recognised as a part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position. The WMRC’s
obligations for employees’ annual leave and long service leave entitlements are recognised as provisions in
the statement of financial position.
Other long-term employee benefits
Provision is made for employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the
related service. Other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the expected future
payments to be made to employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future wage and
salary levels, durations of service and employee departures and are discounted at rates determined by
reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds that have maturity dates
that approximate the terms of the obligations. Any remeasurements for changes in assumptions of
obligations for other long-term employee benefits are recognised in profit or loss in the periods in which the
changes occur.
The WMRC’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current provisions in its
statement of financial position, except where the WMRC does not have an unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period, in which case the obligations are
presented as current provisions.
Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred except where they are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Where this is the case, they are capitalised
as part of the cost of the particular asset until such time as the asset is substantially ready for its intended
use or sale.
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Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the WMRC has a present legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be
reliably measured.
Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the end
of the reporting period.
Leases
Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset,
but not legal ownership, are transferred to the WMRC, are classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised recording an asset and a liability at the lower amounts equal to the fair value
of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed
residual values. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease
interest expense for the period.
Leased assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the
lease term.
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor,
are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.
Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight line basis
over the life of the lease term.
Interests in Joint Arrangements
Joint arrangements represent the contractual sharing of control between parties in a business venture where
unanimous decisions about relevant activities are required.
Separate joint venture entities providing joint venturers with an interest to net assets are classified as a joint
venture and accounted for using the equity method. Refer to note 1(o) for a description of the equity method
of accounting.
Joint venture operations represent arrangements whereby joint operators maintain direct interests in each
asset and exposure to each liability of the arrangement. The WMRC’s interests in the assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses of joint operations are included in the respective line items of the financial statements.
Rates, Grants, Donations and Other Contributions
The WMRC does not levy rates. Grants, donations and other contributions are recognised as revenues when
the local government obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions.
Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were obtained on the condition
that they be expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period, and those conditions were
undischarged as at the reporting date, the nature of and amounts pertaining to those undischarged
conditions are disclosed in Note 2(c) . That note also discloses the amount of contributions recognised as
revenues in a previous reporting period which were obtained in respect of the local government's operations
for the current reporting period.
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Superannuation
The WMRC contributes to the WA Local Government Superannuation Plan (LGSP) and other choice funds for
qualifying employees as per statutory requirements. It also contributes to the LGSP and other choice funds
for full scheme members. Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense as they
become payable.
Current and Non-Current Classification
In the determination of whether an asset or liability is current or non-current, consideration is given to the
time when each asset or liability is expected to be settled. The asset or liability is classified as current if it is
expected to be settled within the next 12 months, being the WMRC’s operational cycle. In the case of
liabilities where the WMRC does not have the unconditional right to defer settlement beyond 12 months,
such as vested long service leave, the liability is classified as current even if not expected to be settled within
the next 12 months. Inventories held for trading are classified as current even if not expected to be realised
in the next 12 months except for land held for sale where it is held as non-current based on the WMRC’s
intentions to release for sale.
Rounding Off Figures
All figures shown in the annual financial report, other than a rate in the dollar, are rounded to the nearest
dollar.
Comparative Figures
Where required, comparative figures are adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current
financial year.
When the WMRC applies an accounting policy retrospectively, makes a retrospective restatement or
reclassifies items in its financial statement, an additional (third) statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the preceding period in addition to the minimum comparative financial statements is presented.
Budget Comparative Figures
Unless otherwise stated, the budget comparative figures shown in the annual financial report relate to the
revised budget adopted pertaining to the relevant item.

Adopted / Modified
This accounting policy will be reviewed at least once every two years or as required in the event of legislative
change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
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Meeting Date
01/12/1994
08/02/1996
03/02/2005
03/02/2011
07/02/2013
09/04/2015
07/04/2016
06/10/2016
04/10/2018

Resolution #
Item 404.1
Item 404.4
Item 9.8
Item 9.7
Item 9.6
Item 9.7
Item 10.4
Item 10.5
Item 9.5.1
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COUNCIL POLICY
Policy 2: Journal Entries
Purpose
To provide guidance for all journal entries that are manually prepared for the financial management of the
WMRC’s accounts.

Objective
To ensure that all manual journal entries that impact the entity’s financial statements are properly prepared,
supported by adequate documentation, appropriately reviewed and approved and are recorded in the general
ledger (GL) in a timely manner.

Relevant legislation
•
•
•

Local Government Act 1995
Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996
Australian Accounting Standards

Policy
Scope
This policy applies to all journal entries that are manually prepared that are necessary to properly record business
events and/or to adjust the reporting results to properly reflect the relevant legislation. This policy does not
apply to system generated journals that are automatically posted to the GL by the sub-ledger, supporting system
or module and/or system interface.
Definitions
Recurring journal entries: Journal entries that are known and are expected to be manually posted to the GL on a
recurring basis.
Scheduled journal entries: Journal entries (recurring documents) that are known and that have been scheduled
to be automatically posted to the GL in future periods based on a pre-established recurring schedule that
terminate within the current fiscal year.
Non-recurring journal entries: Journal entries that are posted on an ad-hoc basis as required to properly record
business events and/or to adjust the reporting results to properly reflect the relevant legislation.
Hand Postings: Journal entries that adjust the final reporting results to record business events and/or to properly
reflect the relevant legislation but that will not be posted to the GL or will be posted at a later date and not in
the current reporting period (known as “material adjustments”).
Policy 2: Journal Entries
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Detail
• Journal entries can only be approved/posted by the CEO, Finance and Governance Manager or Support
Services Officer.
• To ensure proper segregation of duties (SOD), journal entries should not be prepared and approved by the
same individual.
• Procedures will be in place to ensure that all required journal entries have been posted to the GL in a timely
manner and in the appropriate reporting period.
• Procedures will be in place to ensure that all journal entries are approved by the CEO or Finance and
Governance Manager.
• Monitoring activities will be in place to identify potential control weaknesses and/or identify opportunities
to increase efficiencies.
• All journal entries will have appropriate supporting documentation that fully explains the nature of the
transaction, the amounts being recorded and that supports the reason/rationale for the journal entry. This
documentation will be maintained and readily available for review in accordance with record keeping
policies.

Adopted / Modified
This Journal Entries policy will be reviewed at least once every two years or as required in the event of legislative
change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
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Meeting Date
02/10/2014
06/10/2016
04/10/2018

Resolution #
Item 9.9
Item 10.5
Item 9.5.2
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COUNCIL POLICY
Policy 3: Investments
Purpose
To provide direction for the investment of the WMRC’s surplus funds whilst:
• Complying with legislation.
• Assessing credit risk and diversification limits in order to maximise earnings and ensure the security
of Council funds.
• Requiring authorised officers to exercise the care and skill that a prudent person would exercise in
investing Council funds.

Objective
Preservation of Capital: The primary objective of this investment policy is to ensure investments are
performed in a manner that seeks to ensure the security and safeguarding of the WMRC’s investment
portfolio. This includes managing the credit risk of borrowers and interest rate on offer within identified
thresholds and parameters.
Liquidity of Funds: The investment portfolio will ensure there is sufficient liquidity to meet all reasonable
anticipated cash flow requirements as they fall due, without incurring additional costs to the WMRC.
Return on Investment: Investments should achieve a predetermined market average of return that takes into
account the market condition and risk profile of the borrowers.

Relevant legislation
All investments are to comply with:
• Local Government Act 1995 Section 6.14
• Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996 – Regulation 19, 28 and 49
• The Trustees Act 1962 – Part III Investment
• Australian Accounting Standards

Forms
•

Form 21 – Term Deposit Quotations

Policy

Approved Investments
All investments must be denominated in Australian Dollars. Without approval from Council, investments are
limited to:
• Interest bearing deposits with Australian-owned banks listed as authorised deposit-taking
institutions by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority, with a local branch in the region.
Policy 3: Investment
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•
•
•

Financial institutions with a Standard and Poor’s credit rating of “AA-“or better. Where funds are
invested with a financial institution whose credit rating falls below the prescribed level, the funds
are to be liquidated in the most effective and expedient manner.
State/Commonwealth Government bonds.
Bank accepted/endorsed commercial bills.

New Investments
Prior to a new investment being made, an assessment of the cash flow will be undertaken to ensure that
adequate funds are available to meet the cash flow requirements of the Regional Council.
Investment Amount
Where funds are placed for a tenure of not more than 90 days, they may be invested with one financial
institution. Where the funds are placed for a tenure exceeding 90 days, no more than 50% of the total funds
shall be held by any one institution. Where practical, investments shall be distributed across three or more
individual financial institutions.
Investment Period
Investment periods should not be less than 30 days, and must not exceed one year.
Prohibited Investments
This investment policy prohibits any investment carried out for speculative purposes including:
• Derivative based instruments (e.g. mortgage and asset backed securities).
• Principal only investments or securities that provide nil or negative cash flow (e.g. guarantees of any
type).
• Stand-alone securities that have underlying risks, futures, options, forward contracts and swaps of
any kind (e.g. Collateral Debt Obligations and equity based Floating Rate Notes).
• Cryptocurrencies of any description.
Reporting
A report must be provided to Council at each ordinary meeting detailing the investment portfolio in terms
of:
• Performance of each investment;
• Percentage exposure of total portfolio;
• Maturity date of each investment; and
• Income earned against budget year to date.
For audit purposes, certificates of all investments must be obtained from financial institutions and fund
managers confirming the amount of investment held on Council’s behalf at 30 June each year.

Adopted / Modified
This policy will be reviewed at least once every two years or as required in the event of legislative change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
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Meeting Date
03/08/2000
03/02/2005
03/02/2011
02/02/2012
09/04/2015
06/08/2015
06/10/2016
04/10/2018

Resolution #
Item 6
Item 9.8
Item 9.7
Item 9.4
Item 9.7
Item 13.1
Item 10.5
Item 9.5.3
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COUNCIL POLICY
Policy 4: Council Meetings
Purpose

To provide guidance for when and where meetings of Council are to be held.

Objectives
To establish the meeting dates, times and locations for meetings of Council.

Relevant delegations
Nil

Relevant legislation
Regulation 12 of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996.

Policy
Meeting dates and times
WMRC Ordinary Council meetings are to be held in the months of February, April, June, August, October
and December. Meetings are to be scheduled for the first Thursday of the month.
Special meetings may be called whenever applicable however, wherever possible should be scheduled for
the first Thursday of the months of March, May, July, September and November. Special meetings will be
called where business is of an urgent nature and needs to be dealt with before the next Ordinary Council
meeting. Meetings are to commence at 5:30pm.
Meeting venues
Council meetings are to be held at member Council venues on a schedule to be resolved by Council at its
December meeting.

Adopted / Modified
This policy will be reviewed at least once every two years or as required in the event of legislative change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/modified
Reviewed/modified

Meeting Date
07/07/1994
03/02/2005
07/04/2011
04/04/2013
09/04/2015
09/08/2018

Policy 4: Council Meetings – 9 August 2018

Resolution #
RC1001.1
Item 9.8
Item 9.15
Item 9.10
Item 9.7
Resolution 9.8.1
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COUNCIL POLICY
COUNCIL POLICY
Policy 5: Members’ Sitting Fees
Purpose

Describe the circumstances under which elected members’ sitting fees are paid, and the amounts paid.

Objective
To provide clarity on eligibility, the amount paid and timing of payment of elected members’ sitting fees.

Relevant delegations
Nil

Relevant legislation
•
•
•

Division 8 of the Local Government Act 1995
Regulation 30 of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996
Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

Section 7B(2) of the Salaries and Allowances Act requires the Salaries and Tribunal, at intervals of not more
than 12 months, to inquire into and determine the amount of:
• fees, or the minimum and maximum amounts of fees, to be paid under the Local Government Act
1995 ('the LG Act') to elected council members for attendance at meetings;
• expenses, or the minimum and maximum amounts of expenses, to be reimbursed under the LG Act
to elected council members; and
• allowances, or the minimum and maximum amounts of allowances, to be paid under the LG Act to
elected council members.

Policy
The WMRC will pay elected members’ sitting fees and allowances in accordance with the rates annually
determined and published by the Salaries and Allowances Tribunal.
WMRC members’ sitting fees are paid on the basis of an annual fee.

Policy 5: Members’ Sitting Fees – 9 August 2018
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Adopted / Modified
This policy will be reviewed at least once every two years or as required in the event of legislative change.

Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Meeting Date
06/06/1996
12/12/1996
03/08/2000
01/08/2002
03/02/2005
02/08/2007
07/04/2011
04/04/2013
01/08/2013
09/04/2015
06/08/2015
09/08/2018
04/06/2020

Policy 5: Members’ Sitting Fees – 9 August 2018

Resolution #
RC502.1
RC605.1
5(a) & (b)
9.3.3
Item 9.8
Item 9.9
Item 9.15
Item 9.10
Item 9.7
Item 9.7
Item 9.4
Resolution 9.8.2
Item 15.1
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COUNCIL POLICY
Policy 7: Purchasing
Purpose
To maintain compliance with the Local Government Act 1995 and the Local Government (Functions and
General) Regulations 1996 in regards to the purchasing of goods and services.

Objective
To ensure a best place practice approach and procedure to internal purchasing for the WMRC.

Relevant legislation
•
•
•

Local Government Act 1995 Section 3.57
Local Government Act 1995 Section 6.8
Local Government (Functions and General) Regulations 1996 Part 4.

Forms
•
•

Form 7: Assessment of New Purchases
Purchasing Form

Policy
Ethics and Integrity
All officers and employees shall observe the highest standards of ethics and integrity in undertaking
purchasing activity and act in an honest and professional manner that supports the standing of the Regional
Council.
The following principles, standards and behaviours must be observed and enforced through all stages of the
purchasing process to ensure the fair and equitable treatment of all parties.
• Full accountability shall be taken for all purchasing decisions and the efficient, effective and proper
expenditure of public monies based on achieving value for money;
• All purchasing practices shall comply with relevant legislation, regulations and requirements
consistent with the Regional Council policies and code of conduct;
• Purchasing is to be undertaken on a competitive basis in which all potential suppliers are treated
impartially, honestly and consistently;
• All processes, evaluations and decisions shall be transparent, free from bias and fully documented in
accordance with applicable policies and audit requirements;
• Any actual or perceived conflicts of interest are to be identified, disclosed and appropriately
managed; and
• Any information provided to the Regional Council by a supplier shall be treated as commercial-inconfidence and should not be released unless authorised by the supplier or relevant legislation.

Policy 7: Purchasing
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Value for money
Value for money is an overarching principle governing purchasing that allows the best possible outcome to
be achieved for the Local Government. It is important to note that compliance with the specification is more
important than obtaining the lowest price, particularly taking into account user requirements, quality,
standards, sustainability, life-cycle costing and service benchmarks.
An assessment of the best value for money outcome for any purchasing should consider:
• All relevant whole-of-life costs and benefits, whole of life cycle costs (for goods), and whole of
contract life costs (for services) including transaction costs associated with acquisition, delivery,
distribution, as well as other costs such as but not limited to holding costs, consumables,
development, maintenance and disposal.
• The technical merits of the goods or service being offered in terms of compliance with specification,
contractual terms and conditions and any relevant methods of assuring quality.
• Financial viability and capacity to supply without risk of default. (Competency of the prospective
suppliers in terms of managerial and technical capabilities and compliance history).
• A strong element of competition in the allocation of orders or the awarding of contracts. This is
achieved by obtaining a sufficient number of competitive quotations wherever practicable.
• Where a higher priced conforming offer is recommended, there should be clear and demonstrable
benefits over and above the lowest total priced, conforming offer.
Purchasing thresholds
Where the value of procurement (excluding GST) for the value of the contract over the full contract period
(including options to extend) is, or is expected to be, within the ranges tabulated below, the procurement
method indicated shall be followed.
Value of Procurement
(ex GST)

Procurement method

1.

Up to $3,999

One verbal or written quotation to be obtained and
alternative suppliers are encouraged to be used.

2.

$4,000 - $9,999

A minimum of three quotations (verbal or written) shall
be obtained, where possible, from alternative suppliers.

3.

$10,000 - $69,999

A minimum of three written quotations except for
consultancies, which are to go through a formal
quotation process.

4.

$70,000 - $149,999

A formal quotation process.

5.

$150,000 and above

A public tender process.

Where it is considered beneficial, public tenders may be called for any purchase value.
Up to $3,999 (ex GST)
A verbal or written quote is to be obtained. It is recommended that a single supplier is not continuously used
to ensure that the WMRC is receiving best value for money. Acceptance of a quotation should be confirmed
by forwarding a purchase order to the supplier with full details of unit price and total purchase value. The
reasons for accepting verbal quotes and full details of the purchase are to be recorded in a note to the
relevant file for all amounts above $500.
$4,000 to $9,999 (ex GST)
A minimum of three quotations (verbal or written) are to be sought. Where purchases within this price range
are repeated for similar supplies, it is recommended to seek more quotations to ensure that the WMRC
Policy 7: Purchasing
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continues to receive best value for money. Acceptance of a quotation should be confirmed by forwarding a
purchase order to the supplier with full details of unit price and total purchase value. The reasons for
accepting verbal quotes and full details of the purchase are to be recorded in a note to the relevant file.

$10,000 to $69,999 (ex GST)
A minimum of three written quotations are required. Where this is not practical due to limited suppliers, the
lack of suppliers this is to be recorded in a note to the relevant file.
The engagement of Consultancy Services within this value range, with the exception of continuing services,
are required to be conducted through a formal quotation process requiring three written quotations unless
the Chief Executive Officer determines that the proposed service represents a low risk to the WMRC. The
formal quotation process enables a clear understanding of project scope, fees and terms of conditions.
The engagement of Consultancy Services for continuing services will not generally require additional
quotations, however care must be taken to ensure that the overall value of the work does not exceed
$150,000. Where the overall value of the work is anticipated to exceed $150,000 then public tenders must
be called.
Acceptance of a quotation should be confirmed by forwarding a purchase order to the supplier with full
details of unit price and total purchase value.
Where the formal process is not followed a report item is to be presented to the WMRC for information
$70,000 to $149,999 (ex GST)
A formal quotation process is to be undertaken.
The supply of vehicles, plant or equipment (including office equipment) that is manufactured to industry or
Australian Standards does not require a formal quotation process. Instead, a minimum of three written
quotations are required.
The formal request for quotation should include the following:• General Conditions of Quotation;
• General Conditions of Contract;
• A clear Contract period;
• Written Specification. The specification should contain an appropriate level of detail to communicate
the requirement(s) in a clear, concise and logical manner;
• Selection Criteria to be applied;
• Form of Quotation/Price Schedule; and
• Conditions of responding.
Invitations to quote should be issued simultaneously to ensure that all parties receive an equal opportunity
to respond. All prospective suppliers should be advised simultaneously of any new information that is likely
to change the requirements, including changes to the deadline.
Responses should be assessed in accordance with corporate procedures for compliance, then against the
selection criteria, and then value for money and all evaluations documented. Once the final determination is
made and approved, respondents should be advised in writing as soon as possible. Acceptance of a quotation
should be confirmed by forwarding a purchase order to the supplier with full details of unit price, total
purchase value and WMRC quotation number.
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$150,000 and above (ex GST)
A public tender process is to be undertaken. Public tenders must be in accordance with the requirements of
the Local Government (Functions and General) Regulations 1996 and Policy 8 – Public Tenders.
A public tender process may also be undertaken for the supply of any goods or services below the tender
threshold value where there is likely to be benefit in testing the market publically, suppliers for the services
are not readily identified or there is a likelihood of extensions to the service such that the overall cost exceeds
the tender threshold.
Where a lump-sum tendered price is provided, acceptance of a tender should be confirmed by forwarding a
purchase order to the supplier with full details of unit price, total purchase value and WMRC tender number.
Exemptions from raising purchase orders
A purchase order is not required when accepting tenders for ongoing work. This includes, but is not limited
to:
• Haulage of waste to landfill
• Landfill disposal fees
• Grinding of greenwaste
Purchase orders are also not required for:
• Items purchased by petty cash
• Items purchased by credit card
• Payment of rates and taxes
• Payment of utilities
• Where a contract involves progress payments, provided that the sum of all progress payments is not
expected to exceed the approved contract value. This includes, but is not limited to cleaning services,
photocopier charges, postage charges, fuel, leasing of office accommodation and construction
anticipated to be invoiced in two or more progress claims.
Exemptions from purchasing thresholds
Purchases under the following circumstances do not require quotations or tenders:
• An emergency situation as defined by Local Government Act 1995;
• The purchase is under a contract of WALGA (Preferred Supplier Arrangements), Department of
Treasury and Finance (permitted Common Use Arrangements), Regional Council, or another Local
Government. This exemption is subject to the clarification below;
• The purchase is under auction which has been authorised by Council; or
• Any of the other exclusions under Regulation 11 of the Functions and General Regulations.
WA Local Government Association and State Government Preferred Suppliers
Where a purchase is to be made for an item that is covered by a WALGA or State Government preferred
supplier agreement, and the preferred supplier agreement contains only one supplier that meets the
requirements, then the preferred supplier shall be used irrespective of the value of the purchase.
Where several suppliers under the preferred supplier agreement meet the requirements, then the
purchasing thresholds detailed above shall be adhered to.

Policy 7: Purchasing
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Exemptions from requirement for multiple quotations
The procurement of goods and/or services available from only one private sector source of supply, (i.e.
manufacturer, supplier or agency) may be undertaken without the need to seek competitive quotations
provided that there is genuinely only one source of supply. Every endeavour to find alternative sources must
be made. Full details of this are to be recorded in a note to the relevant file for later audit.
Authorisation of expenditure
All expenditure must be authorised in accordance with both the annual budget and the applicable delegated
authority. Section 6.8 of the Local Government Act 1995 outlines the following circumstances in which
expenditure not included in the annual budget is able to be made:
A local government is not to incur expenditure from its municipal fund for an additional purpose
except where the expenditure:
(a)
is incurred in a financial year before the adoption of the annual budget by the local
government; or
(b)
is authorised in advance by resolution (absolute majority required); or
(c)
is authorised in advance by the mayor or president in an emergency.
Record keeping
All purchases of goods or services other than those goods or services deemed an emergency or those outside
of normal working business hours are to be accompanied with a purchase order. Where the procurement
value exceeds $4,000, the invoice is to be accompanied by a purchasing form and a hard copy of the purchase
order in order to allow for verification that the correct procedures have been followed.
Record keeping requirements for all procurement must be maintained in accordance with record keeping
policies. Records must be produced on request by Council to support any procurement decision.
Health and Safety
Prior to purchasing an item for the first time, Form 7: Assessment of New Purchases shall be considered to
reduce the risk of unnecessary hazards being introduced to the workplace.
_______________________________________________________________________________________

Adopted / Modified
This policy will be reviewed at least once every two years or as required in the event of legislative change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
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03/12/2015
06/10/2016
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Resolution #
9.8 06/2009
Item 9.15
Item 9.2
Item 9.8
Item 9.7
Item 9.9
Item 10.5
Item 11.5
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COUNCIL POLICY

Policy 8: Public Tenders
Purpose
To maintain compliance with the Local Government Act 1995 and the Local Government (Functions and
General) Regulations 1996 for the purchase of goods and services.

Objectives
To ensure the delivery of best value for money, quality goods and services by a commitment to a
tendering process of high ethical standards.

Relevant delegations
•
•
•

Delegation 6: Inviting Tenders and Determining Tender Evaluation Criteria
Delegation 7: Accepting Tenders
Delegation 8: Inviting Expressions of Interest and Determining Evaluation Criteria

Relevant legislation
• Local Government Act 1995 Section 3.57
• Local Government (Functions and General) Regulations 1996 Part 4
Section 11 of the Local Government (Functions and General) Regulations 1996

Policy
Application
The policy sets out the principles that will be addresses when inviting or considering public tenders for
major purchases (over $150,000) and expressions of interest, and provides guidance to those involved,
including those occasions when an in house tender will be submitted.
Other standards, codes and guidelines may be applicable to particular projects for example the Western
Australian Building and Construction Industry Code of Practice. The tender documents will note the
requirement for the recognition of those other standards, codes and guidelines
Council will observe the “Obligations of the Principal” as described in the Australian Standard Code of
Tendering (AS 4120-1994).

Policy 24: Occupational Safety and Health
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Principles
To achieve its objective, Council will ensure the tender process is fair and consistent to all concerned
and will use its best endeavours to demonstrate its transparency to tenderers and potential tenderers.
More specifically, it will:
• ensure compliance with all legislative and ethical obligations including those imposed by the
Local Government Act 1995 (“the Act”) and all Regulations made under the Act (“the
Regulations”);
• call for tenders only after having arranged what it believes to be adequate funding for the project
and making a commitment in principle to proceed;
• have regard to the cost of tendering, both to the Council and to the tenderers and seek to
constrain the cost;
• produce tender documents that clearly specify the requirements and expected outcomes, to
allow tenderers to accurately bid for and price the work;
• include, whenever appropriate, the tender evaluation criteria;
• package work put to tender in a manner that satisfies the requirements of the Regulations
(antiavoidance) and which encourages competition and the best outcome for ratepayers and
residents;
• maintain an open and accountable tender process, yet ensure an appropriate level of
confidentiality;
• give clear notice whenever an in‐house bid is to be submitted as part of the tender process;
• clearly separate its role as a “purchaser” from that as a “provider” of services where appropriate;
and
• apply the same conditions of tendering for each tenderer –whether external or in‐house.

Tendering Process
Project Definition/Specification
The object of the tender process is to obtain quality goods and services that are judged by the Council
to deliver the best value‐for‐money or be the most advantageous.
The specification will identify any Council assets, facilities or services to be made available to tenderers,
whether in‐house or external and may set costs, terms and conditions for the use of the assets, facilities
and/or services as is appropriate.
No potential tenderer, in‐house or external, will have access to the final tender documents including
specifications before they are formally approved and released by Council.
Tender Documents
The tender documents:
• will provide the conditions of contract and tendering including the conditions under which
alternative offers may be submitted (if they may be submitted at all);
• will be written in English;
• will clearly specify the required outcomes and deliverables to allow tenderers to bid for and price
work accurately;
• may require tender proposals to indicate how performance standards will be met and how the
satisfaction levels of service users will be measured;
• will include detail of the key tender evaluation criteria, where applicable
• will advise whether an “in‐house” bid will be submitted; and
• will nominate at least one officer of the Council or representative of the Council who may be
contacted for additional information.
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Amendments to Tender Documents
Where it is necessary to issue amendments by way of an addendum or corrigendum, all tenderers will
be advised of the amendments in sufficient time to allow the review and revision of their tenders before
the closing time. If necessary, the tender period may be extended for that purpose.
Tendering Methods – Open/Expressions of Interest
Generally, tendering will be by “open tender” without restriction on the number of tenders sought
although the Council may require tenderers to prove they have the necessary competence, skills,
experience and capacity to carry out the work.
Council may use an “expression of interest” process if it believes there is good reason to make a
preliminary selection from amongst prospective tenderers due to the nature of the goods and services
required or the cost of preparing plans or other documents to adequately describe the requirements. If
so, notice will be given which will include, amongst other things a brief description of the goods or
services required.
The aim of the expressions of interest stage is to assess the capacity of the respondents to undertake
the work or project. Only those respondents that meet the criteria will be permitted to tender.
Following consideration of the expressions of interest all respondents will be promptly advised of the
outcome of their submissions.
Invitation/Call for Tenders/Advertisement
State wide public notice will be given of all public tenders.
Council will allow as much time for submissions as is reasonable and consistent with the intention of
this Code, however, tenders will be given no less than 14 days from the date the notice is first published,
(open tenders) or given (expressions of interest).
As far as possible, the procedure for the closing time of tenders will be:
• Not on a Monday or day following a public holiday
• At least one clear day after a weekend, building or industry holiday
• At least one week after a recognised industry Christmas close down.
Late or tenders submitted by fax will not be accepted.
Council will make available the same tender documents to all who respond to an invitation to tender and
a copy of this Code will be available to each tenderer on request.
If a charge is to be imposed the amount of the charge will be advertised when tenders are invited.
Enquiries/Meetings
At least one officer of Council representative will be nominated to respond to all enquiries from tenderers.
A written record will be kept of all substantive enquiries and issues discussed.
If advice is given, written or verbal, to a tenderer, clarifying the meaning of the tender documentation
then it is appropriate the same information will be provided, in writing, to all other tenders.
Where Council intends to conduct a pre‐tender briefing it will give reasonable prior notice of the briefing.
Any mandatory briefing attendance will be clearly indicated in tender documentation.
Receipt of Tenders
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The invitation to tender will clearly state the place for submission of tenders and the closing time for
receipt of tenders.
All tenders submitted will be kept in safe custody and the appropriate levels of confidentiality will be
maintained.
Tenders will be opened, as soon as practicable after the time nominated in the invitation to tender, in
the presence of no less than two representatives of the Council, at least one of whom will be a Council
employee. The names of the Council representatives present at the opening of tenders will be recorded
in the Drawn Documents Register. The details of each tender will be recorded in the Drawn Documents
Register and Tenders Register.
Members of the public are entitled to be present when tenders are opened. Members of the public
present for tender openings may only be provided with the names of those who have submitted a tender.
Tender considerations will not be made public.
Evaluation of Tenders
The evaluation of tenders will be carried out according to any evaluation criteria established for the
tender and a recommendation will be submitted to Council unless responsibility for awarding the contract
has been delegated to a committee or the Chief Executive Officer.
The evaluation of tenders should include, but is not limited to, consideration of:
• value for money
• price compared with estimated cost
• conformity with the tender documents
• previous contractor performance reports
• safety records and other organisational factors’
• technical, management, physical and financial resources.
The Council will respect confidentiality of information that has commercial or intellectual property value
and which may be disclosed by a respondent including an in‐house bid.
Where an in‐house tender has been submitted the Council will establish a tender evaluation panel of
two or more persons for that tendering process. At least one member of the panel will be a person who
is independent of Council and who has expertise relevant to the tender. A person, other than the Chief
Executive Officer of the Council, shall not be appointed to an evaluation panel, if the person has been
involved in preparing the in‐house bid, or has an interest in any external tender received. The report of
the evaluation panel shall disclose the names of the panel members.
Negotiation
Council may negotiate with the chosen tenderer, before entering into a contract, if it wishes to make a
minor variation in the goods and services required. If Council and the chosen tenderer cannot reach
agreement on the variation required by the Council, the Council may, without inviting tenders again,
choose the tenderer considered next most advantageous to the Council.
Council will not trade the price of one tenderer against that of another tenderer.
Variations of contracts
A contract that has been entered into may only be varied if:
• the variation is necessary for the supply of goods and services and the variation does not
fffffffffffffffchange the scope of the contract; or
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• it is a renewal or a term extension of a contract required for an emergency under 6.8(1)(c) of
fffffffffffffffthe Local Government Act 1995.’
Award of Contract
The decision to award a contract will be made by the Council, unless responsibility for the award of the
contract has been delegated to a committee or the Chief Executive Officer.
The Council will award the contract on the basis of what it considers to be the most advantageous for
the local government having regard to the tender evaluation report and any other relevant factors.
If there is an in‐house tender, a report on the awarding of the contract will be presented at the earliest
practicable meeting of the Council.
Advice of Outcome of Process.
Council will promptly notify all tenderers of:
• the award of the contract; or
• that it is not accepting any tenders, or
• that it has decided to recall tenders.
Complaints Process
Council will promptly deal with any complaint about the tender process. A written record will be made of
each complaint and the complainant will be given an opportunity to discuss his/her concerns with the
Chief Executive Officer or with a senior officer to whom responsibility for dealing with such complaints
has been delegated.
In House Tenders
Council is aware that competition must be fair and must be seen to be fair, by all parties where in‐house
providers are competing against external providers.
If there is a factoring to be included when considering an in‐house tender with respect to external
tenderers, then the reasoning and value of this factoring will be identified and clearly spelt out in the
tender documents.
Council will treat any in‐house tender on the same terms as an external tenderer and will, where
possible, ensure there is clear separation between the in‐house tenderers and those who have
responsibility for evaluating the tenders.
In‐house tenders will be prepared on the basis that all direct and indirect or overhead costs attributable
to the tender, are included.
Canvassing of Councillors or Staff
The canvassing of councillors or staff that promote a tenderer or potential tenderer is not appropriate.
Enquiries as to the explanation of documentation and processes that are to be followed are to be made
to the nominated officer or Council representative(s).
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Adopted / Modified
This investment policy will be reviewed annually or as required in the event of legislative change.
Meeting Date

Resolution #

Council Adoption

07/06/2012

Item 9.8

Reviewed/Modified

03/02/2005

Item 9.8

Reviewed/Modified

07/04/2011

Item 9.15

Reviewed/Modified

04/04/2013

Item 9.10

Reviewed/Modified

09/04/2014

Item 9.7

Reviewed/Modified

03/12/2015

Item 9.9

Reviewed/Modified

03/08/2017

Item 11.5

Reviewed/Modified

03/10/2019

Resolution 10.9.2
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Policy 9; Equal Opportunity: Discrimination,
Harassment and Bullying

1. PURPOSE
The Western Metropolitan Regional Council (WMRC) recognises its legal obligations under the Equal
Opportunity Act, 1984 and Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 (the Act) in relation to the
associated discrimination, harassment and bullying behaviours.
This procedure is aimed at ensuring that employees are not subjected to any form of unwanted
workplace discrimination, harassment or bullying. These behaviours in the workplace decrease
productivity, increase absenteeism, are unlawful and will not be tolerated at the WMRC.
2. SCOPE
This procedure applies to all WMRC employees, volunteers and contractors.
3. OVERVIEW
The WMRC is committed to minimising and eliminating all forms of unlawful discrimination,
harassment and bullying in the workplace.
What will the WMRC do?
The WMRC has a legal responsibility to take reasonable steps to prevent discrimination, harassment
or bullying from happening in the workplace. This involves educating employees about
discrimination, harassment and bullying, putting in place this procedure, implementing grievance
procedures and ensuring compliance by all in the workplace.
If an employee makes a complaint of workplace discrimination, harassment or bullying it will be
taken very seriously and treated with sensitivity by the WMRC.
The complaint will be investigated and, if found to be proved, appropriate warnings or other
disciplinary action will be taken against the harasser. In serious cases the harasser may be
dismissed.
An employee will not be victimised or treated unfairly for making a complaint.
If an employee is not satisfied with the way in which the WMRC has dealt with a complaint, the
employee can seek further advice from an outside agency such as the Commissioner for Equal
Opportunity or other relevant government agency.
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Supervisors role
Supervisors must ensure that their staff understand the Equal Opportunity: Discrimination,
Harassment and Bullying procedure. When Supervisors observe discrimination or harassment or
bullying, they must take steps to stop it and warn the person of the consequences if the behaviour
continues.
If a person approaches a supervisor with a complaint about discrimination, harassment or bullying,
the supervisors should take appropriate steps to resolve it. If this is not possible or is inappropriate,
then the Manager should be informed immediately.
Employee’s role
Each employee must ensure that they do not engage in discriminatory, harassing or bullying
behaviour towards other employees, Supervisors, clients or customers.
What is discrimination?
Direct discrimination: less favourable treatment than another person, in the same or similar
circumstances, on one of the grounds, in any of the areas covered by the Act.
Indirect discrimination: an unreasonable rule or a practice which on the face of it appears neutral,
but with a high proportion of persons of a particular race, sex or other group covered by the Act
could not comply.
Grounds:
•
gender
•
marital status
•
pregnancy
•
sexual harassment in employment
•
gender history
•
family responsibility or family status (breastfeeding)
•
sexual orientation
•
race
•
religious or political convictions
•
impairment
•
age
•
spent conviction
What is workplace harassment?
The most common form of workplace harassment is sexual harassment. Sexual harassment is
behaviour of a sexual nature that is unwelcome and has the effect of offending, intimidating or
humiliating the person being harassed. Sexual harassment most often happens against women,
though men can also be subjected to sexual harassment.
Workplace harassment can also be based on other grounds including race, disability, age,
pregnancy, marital status, homosexuality, transgender, or HIV/AIDS status.
For the purpose of this policy ‘harassment’ includes bullying.
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Workplace harassment usually consists of a pattern of unwelcome behaviour, however, it can
consist of just one act where this is of a serious nature. Also there is no requirement that the
harasser intends to offend or harm in order for it to be unlawful. All that is required under the law
is that a reasonable person would consider that the person being harassed would be offended,
humiliated or intimidated by the behaviour in question.
The key element of sexual harassment is that it is unwelcome behaviour. It has nothing to do with
mutual attraction, or private, consenting friendships, whether sexual or not. The final test is that of
a reasonable person. That is could a reasonable person knowing the facts could have foreseen that
this action or comment would have been seen as unwelcome offending behaviour.
Examples of harassment:
•
suggestive comments about a person’s body or appearance
•
leering or staring at a person or parts of their body
•
gender based insults or taunting
•
sexist or racist jokes
•
pornographic or nude posters in the workplace
•
homophobic material or abuse
•
verbal or written abuse (including email or social media)
•
touching a person in a sexual way
•
sexual assault (criminal offence)
•
‘flashing’ (criminal offence)
•
obscene telephone calls (criminal offence)
•
asking questions about a person’s sex life
•
asking inappropriate personal questions
•
requests for sex where these are unwelcome
•
making jokes at the expense of a person with a disability
•
verbal abuse or derogatory comments based on race
•
abuse based on a person’s age
•
bullying
In some instances, the harassment might take place outside the workplace: at the office Christmas
party for example, or when an employee makes unwelcome phone calls to another employee at
their home or follows them from work and the law requires that organisations intervene in these
circumstances.
The WMRC recognises that workplace harassment may involve comments and behaviours that
offend some people and not others. The WMRC accepts that individuals may react differently to
comments and behaviour. That is why a minimum standard of behaviour is required of employees.
This standard is, as far as is possible, respectful of all employees.
What is bullying?
Bullying is defined as “Repeated inappropriate behaviour, direct or indirect, whether verbal,
physical or otherwise, conducted by one or more persons against another or others, at the place of
work/or in the course of employment, which could reasonably be regarded as undermining the right
to dignity at work. A workplace situation can be identified as bullying if it harms, intimidates,
threatens, victimises, undermines, offends, degrades or humiliates an employee.”
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Bullying includes physical abuse and psychological abuse. Violent behaviour is a highly
objectionable form of bullying. Note, however, that it can be manifested in more subtle ways, both
overt and covert, that impact on the health and well-being of the victims of bullying.
Examples include (but not limited to):
•
•
•
•
•
•

abusive, insulting or offensive language
behaviour that frightens, humiliates, belittles or degrades
inappropriate comments about a person
teasing and regularly making someone the brunt of all practical jokes or pranks
spreading gossip or false malicious rumours about a person from workplace activities
physical assaults or threats (potential police matter)

The impact of inappropriate behaviour includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

psychological injury
physical injury dysfunctional work environment – low morale
adverse publicity
increased turnover
high absenteeism
high cost stress claims through workers’ compensation
suicide

Bullying in the workplace is harmful to the victims and the workplace culture. The WMRC’s clear
procedure is to totally oppose bullying at any level of the organisation.
Employees should be aware that they can be held legally responsible for their unlawful acts.
Employees who aid, abet or encourage other persons to harass or bully can also be held legally
liable.
Cyber Bullying
Cyber-bullying is defined as "when the internet, mobile phones or other electronic devices are used
to send or post text or images intended to hurt or embarrass another person".
Cyber-bullying can also extend to more serious matters including threats, sexual remarks, ganging
up on victims by making them the subject of ridicule in forums, and posting false statements as fact
aimed at humiliation.
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Other examples of cyber-bullying include:
•
prank phone calls, which may or may not be annoying, but can turn to stalking if it persists
•
electronic communications that feature offensive content such as explicit images or
jokes/comments about ethnicity, religion or sexual preference
•
fake email accounts which are used to anonymously send offensive or threatening emails
•
fake profiles on social networking sites that are used for similar purposes
•
sharing embarrassing, offensive or manipulated images or videos of a person
•
screen savers or desktop backgrounds featuring offensive content
•
abusive or threatening text messages or forms of instant messaging
If you need more information
If you need any more information about workplace harassment or bullying the following people can
help you:
•

your Manager/Director

The Equal Employment Opportunity Coordinator is the CEO.

Adopted / Modified
This policy will be reviewed at least once every two years or as required in the event of legislative
change.
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Meeting Date
09/04/2015
09/08/2018

Resolution #
Item 9.7
Resolution 9.8.4
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COUNCIL POLICY
Policy 12: Code of Conduct
Purpose
To establish the requirements of conduct of Councillors and employees of the WMRC.

Objectives
To ensure the expected standard of conduct of Councillors and employees is understood and complied with.

Relevant delegations
Nil

Relevant legislation



Local Government Act 1995, Section 5.103
Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996, Regulations 34B and 34C

Introduction
The Western Metropolitan Regional Council is a regional local government constituted under the Local
Government Act 1995. It was formed in recognition of the fact that some services and facilities can be
provided in a more efficient and responsive way through joint venture arrangements.
The regional council has Councillors who are appointed by each of the participant local governments. They
make decisions within the framework of the constitution for the benefit of the region.
Every local government in Western Australia by law is required to have a Code of Conduct. What this code
says is largely voluntary and reflects the ideals of those in office. In a similar way the regional local
government is required to have a Code of Conduct.
In adopting this code we are giving an undertaking that our conduct will reflect the high standards expected
of public officials by the regional community. As representatives of the region, we wish to maintain a strong
reputation for integrity.
This Code of Conduct applies to Councillors and employees that are seconded from each of the local
governments to serve in a regional capacity.
The Code provides a guide and a basis of expectations for Councillors and employees. It encourages a
commitment to ethical and professional behaviour as individuals and collectively.
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Potential Conflicts of Interest
Addressing Conflict of Interest
Councillors and employees will disclose any interests that could give rise to an appearance that they are not
impartial in carrying out their duties. Disclosure will be made during meetings of the regional council and on
another occasion when dealing with a matter that involves a third party. In the case of employees, disclosure
will be made in written reports and be given verbally prior to any advice being offered to Councillors, other
employees or a member of the public.
Employees will not engage in private work with or for any person or body with an interest in a proposed or
current contract with the regional local government, without first making disclosure to the Chairman, Deputy
Chairman or another elected member acting in that capacity. Employees will make this disclosure even if
they have not obtained an actual advantage so that there is no appearance that private dealings could conflict
with the performance of their duties.
Employees exercising a regulatory, inspectorial, recruitment or other discretionary function will disclose this
in writing where relatives or close associates are involved. Whenever possible, they will disqualify
themselves from dealing with those persons.
Employees preparing advice or reports directly for the regional council, where they, their family or close
associates have an interest, will disclose this in writing before its consideration by Council.
Financial Interest
Councillors and employees will adopt the principles of disclosure of financial interest as contained within the
Local Government Act 1995.
Interest Affecting Impartiality
(i)
An interest affecting impartiality means an interest that would give rise to a reasonable belief
that the impartiality of the person having the interest would be adversely but does not include a
financial interest referred to in the Local Government Act.
(ii)
Councillors and employees (as defined by section 5.70 of the Act) will disclose any interest
affecting impartiality that he or she has in any matter which is to be discussed at a Regional
Council Meeting at which the Member or employee will be in attendance.
(iii)
Councillors and employees will disclose any interest affecting impartiality that he or she has in a
matter which is to be discussed at a Regional Council meeting in respect of which the Member
or employee has given or will give advice.
(iv)
The disclosure of an interest described in paragraphs (ii) or (iii) above is to be made at the
meeting immediately before the matter is discussed or at the time the advice is given, and shall
be recorded in the minutes of the relevant meeting.

Personal Benefit
Use of Confidential Information
Councillors and employees will not use confidential information to gain improper advantage for themselves
or for any other person or body, in ways which are inconsistent with their obligation to act impartially, or to
improperly cause harm or detriment to any person or organisation.
Intellectual Property
The title to intellectual property in all duties relating to contracts of employment will be assigned to the
regional local government upon its creation unless otherwise agreed by separate contract.
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Improper or Undue Influence
Councillors and employees will not take advantage of their position to improperly influence other members
or employees in the performance of their duties or functions, in order to gain undue or improper advantage
or gain for themselves or for any other person or body. This applies to both direct or indirect advantage and
gain.
Gifts, Entertainment and Contributions to Travel
Councillors and employees must be mindful of the legislative requirements to disclose gifts and contributions
to travel. This includes completing the relevant forms prepared by the WMRC.
In particular, Councillors and employees should not accept a gift, entertainment or contribution to travel of
value of $300 or more; and must notify the Chief Executive Officer of gifts accepted with a value of between
$50 and $299 in circumstances where the gift is received from a person who:
 is undertaking or seeking to undertake an activity involving a local government discretion; or
 is reasonable to believe is intending to undertake an activity involving a local government discretion.
Where a donor is not undertaking or seeking to undertake an activity involving a local government discretion,
Councillors and Employees are to disclose gifts or contributions to travel greater than $50.
The timelines for notification and the content of the notification are to be in accord with the provisions of
Rule 12 of the Local Government (Rules of Conduct) Regulations 2007 for Councillors and Regulation 34B of
the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996 for employees.
The Chief Executive Officer will maintain an online public register for gifts, entertainment and travel
contributions in accordance with the Act's requirements.
In addition, Councillors and employees should:
 Refuse all offers of money, gift vouchers or items easily converted to money such as shares which
are made as a result of their position with the WMRC; and
 Refuse bribes and report bribery attempts to the Chief Executive Officer and to the West Australian
Police and/or the Corruption and Crime Commission.
A person covered by this Code if unsure about how to respond to an offer of a gift, benefit or hospitality,
should seek advice from their Manager or the Chief Executive Officer.

Conduct of Members and Employees
Personal Behaviour
Councillors and employees will:
(i)
act, and be seen to act, properly and in accordance with the requirements of the law and the
terms of this Code.
(ii)
perform their duties impartially and in the best interest of the regional local government
uninfluenced by fear or favour.
(iii)
act in good faith (i.e. honestly, for the proper purpose, and without exceeding their powers) in
the interest of the regional local government and the regional community.
(iv)
make no allegations which are improper or derogatory (unless true and in public interest) and
refrain from any form of conduct, in the performance of their official or professional duties,
which may cause any reasonable person unwarranted offence or embarrassment, and
(v)
always act in accordance with their obligation of fidelity to the regional local government.
Councillors will represent and promote the interest of the regional local government, while recognising their
special duty to their own local governments and to the communities they represent.
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Honesty and Integrity
Councillors and employees will:
(i)
observe the highest standards of honesty and integrity, and avoid conduct which might suggest
any departure from these standards.
(ii)
bring to the notice of the Chairman, Deputy Chairman or any Councillors acting in this capacity
any dishonesty on the part of any other elected member or employees member, and
(iii)
be frank and honest in their official dealing with each other.
Performance of Duties
While working on behalf of the regional local government, employees will give their whole time and attention
to the regional local government’s affairs. They will ensure that their work is carried out efficiently,
economically and effectively, and that their standard of work reflects favourably both on them and on the
regional local government.
Councillors will be responsive to the view of their own government and those of the regional community.
They will accurately and adequately communicate the adopted policies, procedures and decisions of the
regional local government and in doing so will demonstrate their respect for the council’s majority decision
making processes.
Compliance with Lawful Policies
Employees will give effect to the lawful policies of the regional local government and provide advice to the
council of the implications of those policies.
Administrative and Management Practices
Councillors and employees will ensure compliance with proper and reasonable administrative practices and
conduct, and professional and responsible management practices.
All aspects of communication involving the regional local government/s activities should reflect the status
and objectives of the council. Communications should be accurate, polite and professional.
Dealing with the Regional Local Government’s Property
Councillors and employees will:
be scrupulously honest in their use of the regional local government’s resources and shall not
misuse them or permit their misuse (or the appearance of misuse) by any other person or body.
(ii)
use regional local government resources entrusted to them effectively and economically in the
course of their duties, and
(iii)
not use regional local government’s resources for private purposes (other than when supplied as
part of a contract of employment), unless properly authorised to do so, and appropriate
payments are made.
Note: “Resources” means funds, facilities, employees and equipment.
(i)

Travelling and Sustenance Expenses
Councillors and employees will only claim or accept travelling sustenance expenses arising out of travel
related matters which have a direct bearing on the services, policies or business of the regional local
government, in accordance with policy and the provisions of the Local Government Act.
Access to Information
Councillors and employees will ensure that all members are given access to all information necessary for
them to properly perform their functions and comply with their responsibilities as members.
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Accountability
Councillors and employees will all work with a positive attitude towards achieving the goals of the regional
local government and be accountable for those outcomes over which we have control. We will honestly and
fully report the results of our actions and ensure responsible and scrupulous public administration. We will
be responsible for taking steps to ensure compliance with this Code.

Procedure
Councillors and employees are required to read and sign a declaration of commitment to this Code of
Conduct as part of their induction to the organisation.

Adopted / Modified
This policy will be reviewed at least once every three years or as required in the event of legislative change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Meeting Date
02/12/1999
01/04/2004
03/02/2005
07/04/2011
04/04/2013
09/04/2015
09/08/2018
01/08/2019

Resolution #
9.8
10
Item 9.8
Item 9.15
Item 9.10
Item 9.7
Resolution 9.8.5
Resolution 10.7.1

Declaration
I acknowledge I have read this Code of Conduct and declare my commitment to fulfilling its requirements.

Signed ………………………………………………………………
Name ……………………………………………………………….
Date ………………………………………………………………
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Policy 13: Donations
Purpose

Describe the framework under which requests for donations are considered.

Objectives
To provide support to community groups, schools and WMRC employees.

Relevant legislation
Nil

Policy
Background
Donations are potentially a significant and cost effective mechanism for the WMRC to engage with the
community and local schools and increase awareness and knowledge of WMRC projects and services.
Requests for donation
Requests for financial donations are to be made in writing, addressed to the Chief Executive Officer, and
include:
• Who is requesting the donation
• The amount of the donation being requested
• How the donation will be used; and
• The benefits of the donation to the WMRC and the region.
Eligibility
1. A not-for-profit community group (incorporated) or school within the Region that is performing an
activity or activities that assists the WMRC in achieving its objectives may be provided with a
donation of up to $500 or a discount on WMRC goods and services up to a value of $500 and/or
free tipping of up to 2.5 tonnes of waste in any financial year.
2. An employee who is selected by a:
a) sporting governing body to represent the State/Commonwealth in a recognised sporting
event; or
b) recognised educational institution to represent the State/Commonwealth for academic or
educational achievement.
may be provided with a donation of $200 if the representation is at a State level or $500 if the
representation is at a Commonwealth level.
Consideration of requests for donation
The Chief Executive Officer is authorised to accept or decline any application. Requests for donation will be
evaluated on the basis of their potential to deliver on the Strategic Objectives of the WMRC Strategic Plan.
A value for money approach will be taken in this evaluation. Retrospective applications will not be
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Value of donations
Decisions on donations to a maximum value of $500 or 2.5 tonnes may be made by the Chief Executive
Officer. All other requests for donations may be referred to Council for determination.
Record keeping
A register will be kept of all donations made, including all information contained in the request for donation
as well as detailing how the donation meets the Strategic Objectives of the WMRC Strategic Plan.
Donations made under delegated authority will be reported to Council via the Members’ Information
Bulletin annually.

Adopted / Modified

This policy will be reviewed at least once every two years or as required in the event of legislative change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
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COUNCIL POLICY

Policy 15: Injury Management
Purpose
To describe a framework for injury management.

Objectives
Adopt the LGIS Workcare Injury Management Policy and Procedure Manual.

Relevant delegations
Nil.

Relevant legislation
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981

Policy
The management of injuries at the Western Metropolitan Regional Council will be conducted in
accordance with the LGIS Workcare Injury Management Policy and Procedure Manual (see attached).

Adopted / Modified
This investment policy will be reviewed at least once every two years or as required in the event of
legislative change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Meeting Date
06/08/1998
03/02/2005
07/04/2011
04/04/2013
01/12/2016
07/02/2019

Policy 15: Injury Management

Resolution #
RC702.1
Item 9.8
Item 9.15
Item 9.10
Item 10.5
Item 10.7.2
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COUNCIL POLICY
Policy 16: Superannuation
Purpose

To describe the framework for contributions to superannuation.

Objectives
To encourage voluntary contributions to superannuation.

Relevant delegations
Nil

Relevant legislation
•

Under the Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992 the WMRC is required to contribute
a proportion of each employee’s ordinary time earnings to an eligible superannuation fund of the
employee’s choice. Employees may make voluntary contributions to a superannuation fund through
salary sacrifice, and the WMRC may match employee voluntary contributions.

Policy
Superannuation Guarantee contributions
The required superannuation guarantee contributions (as a percentage of ordinary time earnings) are
scheduled to increase over time. The schedule is tabulated below.
Financial year
Up to end 2012/2013
2013/2014
2014/2015
2015/2016
2016/2017
2017/2018
2018/2019
2019/2020
2020/2021
2021/2022
2022/2023
2023/2024
2024/2025
2025/2026 onwards

Policy 16: Superannuation

Contribution
9.0%
9.25%
9.5%
9.5%
9.5%
9.5%
9.5%
9.5%
9.5%
10.0%
10.5%
11.0%
11.5%
12.0%
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Matching contributions
The WMRC will match voluntary contributions to a superannuation fund dollar for dollar to a maximum of
6% of ordinary time earnings. Voluntary contributions of 5% and above will be supported by a WMRC
contribution of 6%.
Examples of the matching contributions are:
• An employee makes no voluntary contribution, and the WMRC pays the superannuation guarantee
amount of 9.50%.
• An employee makes a voluntary contribution of 2%, and the WMRC pays an additional 2% over the
superannuation guarantee for a total WMRC contribution of 11.50%
• An employee makes a voluntary contribution of 5%, and the WMRC pays an additional 6% over the
superannuation guarantee for a total WMRC contribution of 15.50%
• An employee makes a voluntary contribution of 10%, and the WMRC pays an additional 6% over the
superannuation guarantee for a total WMRC contribution of 15.50%

Adopted / Modified
This policy will be reviewed at least once every two years or as required in the event of legislative change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Policy 16: Superannuation

Meeting Date
03/08/2000
03/02/2005
07/04/2011
04/04/2013
09/04/2015
04/10/2018

Resolution #
3
Item 9.8
Item 9.15
Item 9.10
Item 9.7
Item 9.5.5
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COUNCIL POLICY
Policy 18: Additional Payments to Award or Contract
Purpose

To provide guidelines for the payment in addition to contract or award to employees finishing their
employment with the Council.

Objectives
To maintain a high level of probity and compliance with the Local Government Act 1995.

Relevant delegations
Nil

Relevant legislation
•
•

Local Government Act 1995 Section 5.50
Local Government (Administration) Regulations Regulation 19A.

Policy
Circumstances for Additional Payment
An additional payment may be paid to an employee at the sole discretion of the Council upon the employee’s
resignation, completion of contract or retirement due to ill health, or to the employee’s beneficiaries
following the employee’s death.
This additional payment may be paid only after a minimum of 10 years’ service.
Severance or Redundancy
No severance or redundancy payments shall be less than payments and benefits provided for in accordance
with:
(i)
Any federal or state award or industrial agreement applicable to the employee.
(ii)
Any applicable provisions within the employee’s contract of employment.
(iii)
Any applicable award or order made by a federal or state industrial tribunal arising from the
circumstances of that employee being specifically brought before that tribunal, subject to any
right of appeal.
(iv)
Where the Council so agrees, any recommendation made by Fair Work Australia or the Western
Australian Industrial Relations Commission arising from the circumstances of that employee
being specifically brought before that tribunal.

Policy 18: Additional Payments to Award or Contract
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Amount of Additional Payment
If the employee accepts voluntary severance by resigning as an employee, the additional payment will be the
amount agreed as the voluntary severance amount. In all other cases, the maximum payment will be $5,000.
Where Council determines to make a payment higher than the amounts described above, the Council must
give local public notice in relation to the payment.
Gifts
The Council may present a gift to an employee whose service with the Council is finishing, and the value of
the gift shall not exceed $300.
Where Council determines to present a gift with a higher value than $300, the Council must give local public
notice in relation to the gift.

Adopted / Modified
This policy will be reviewed at least once every two years or as required in the event of legislative change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Meeting Date
04/06/2009
07/04/2011
04/04/2013
09/04/2015
04/10/2018

Resolution #
9.8 06/2009
Item 9.15
Item 9.10
Item 9.7
Item 9.5.6

Policy 18: Additional Payments to Award or Contract
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COUNCIL POLICY

Policy 19: Records Management
Purpose
To control and manage local government records within a records management and record keeping
framework that complies with legislative, accountability, best practice requirements and standards to
ensure that records are properly created, managed and maintained in the interest of corporate
accountability.

Objectives
To ensure:
•

compliance with S28 of the State Records Act 2000;

•

recorded information can be retrieved quickly, accurately and cost effectively; and

•

protection and preservation of WMRC’s records.

Relevant delegations
Delegation to: n/a

Delegation #:

Delegation
date:

Delegation:

Relevant legislation
•

Local Government Act 1995

•

State Records Act 2000

•

Freedom of Information Act 1995

Policy
Introduction
The WMRC is committed to creating and maintaining full and accurate records of its business
transactions and official activities. In accordance with legislative requirements, the WMRC is obliged to
maintain a records management system that completely, accurately and reliably creates and maintains
evidential records.
Policy 19: Records Management
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Records created and received by WMRC personnel and contractors are to be managed in accordance
with the WMRC Approved Recordkeeping Plan, the WMRC Recordkeeping Procedure Manual and this
policy.
This policy applies to all external and internal records, which are handled, received or generated by the
WMRC, regardless of their physical format or media type.
1. All staff are responsible to ensure that business, operational and administrative activities are
appropriately documented; and that records are created and maintained in accordance with legislative
requirements.
2. All records are to be managed according to whether they are significant or ephemeral records, vital
or non-vital records and in accordance with their security classification.
3. Registers are to be maintained of all record series and special categories, including but not limited to,
registers of policies, databases, Freedom of Information applications, assets, tenders and quotations,
forms, vital records, files and contracts.
4. All significant records, irrespective of format, are to be registered, classified and captured into the
official record keeping system. All hard copy correspondence should be attached to a corporate file.
5. WMRC is responsible for the security and protection of all records created or captured as part of day
to day operations. All WMRC staff and contractors have a responsibility to apply appropriate security
and protection measures to all records created or received when carrying out the WMRC’s business.
6. Access to the WMRC’s records by individual staff and contractors will be in accordance with
designated access and security classifications. Access to the WMRC’s records by the general public
will be in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 1992. Access to the WMRC’s records by
Elected Members will be through the Chief Executive Officer.
7. Records will only be destroyed or otherwise disposed of in accordance with the General Disposal
Authority (GDA) for Local Government Records issued by the State Records Office, and following
authorisation from the Finance and Governance Manager and the Chief Executive Officer. Records
identified as a State Archive should be transferred to the State Records Office in accordance with the
requirements of the GDA.
8. Records are not to be removed from the WMRC’s sites unless in accordance with the approved
retention and disposal schedule, or in the custody of an officer performing official WMRC business.
Roles and Responsibilities
1.

Elected Members

Elected Members’ records must be created and kept which properly and adequately record the
performance of member functions arising from their participation in decision making processes of all
meetings where they represent Council on Committees or external bodies. This requirement should be
met through the creation and retention of records of meetings of local government and other
communications and transactions of Elected Members which constitute evidence affecting the
accountability of Council and the discharge of its business. Political and personal records of Elected
Members are exempt. Any correspondence received as part of their duties should be periodically
returned to the WMRC for registering into the appropriate record keeping system.

Policy 3: Records Management
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2.

Chief Executive Officer

In accordance with section 5.41(h) of the Local Government Act 1995, the Chief Executive Officer is to
‘ensure that records and documents of the local government are properly kept for the purpose of this
act and any other written law’.
3.

Managers

Managers are to ensure that appropriate document management systems are established to adequately
manage all records under their control. It is also their responsibility to ensure all new staff are inducted
as to record keeping responsibilities and procedures.
4.

Staff

All staff, including contractors, are to create, manage and retain records relating to business activities
they perform.
5.

Finance and Governance Staff

Finance and Governance staff are responsible for providing a records management service which
complies with this Policy, associated procedures and any State Records Office requirements. The
WMRC will ensure that appropriate practices are established to facilitate the ease of capture and
management of all corporate records.

Adopted / Modified
This policy will be reviewed at least once every three years or as required in the event of legislative
change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Meeting Date
01/04/2004
03/02/2005
02/12/2010
06/12/2012
04/12/2014
04/04/2019

Policy 3: Records Management

Resolution #
Item 9.7.1
Item 9.8
Item 9.18
Item 9.7
Item 9.12
Item 10.5.1
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COUNCIL POLICY
Policy 20: Corporate Credit Cards
Purpose
To provide clear direction for the use, allocation and safe custody of corporate credit cards.

Objective
To provide the WMRC with a convenient method of purchasing goods and services that reduces
administrative costs and provides an effective audit trail whilst minimising the risks associated with credit
card use.

Relevant legislation
•
•
•

Local Government Act 1995 Section 2.7 (2).
Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996 Section 11 (1) (a).
Local Government Act 1995 Section 6.5(a).

Forms
•
•

Payment request form
Register of Corporate Credit Cards

Policy
Authority for Issue of Corporate Credit Cards
The Council must approve the issue of a corporate credit card to the Chief Executive Officer and Site
Supervisor and any change to the credit card limit.
The Local Government Act 1995 does not allow for the issue of credit cards to elected members of local
government. Councillors are entitled to allowances or the reimbursement of expenses incurred on Council
business.
Approved Bankers
The WMRC’s corporate credit cards are to be issued by its transactional banker.
Credit Card Use
Obligations of Credit Card Holder
The corporate credit card:
• Is only to be used for the purchase of goods and services on behalf of the WMRC where there is
budget provision. This includes, but not limited to, accommodation, meals, travel expenses,
conference/seminar fees, subscriptions to professional memberships and journals.
• Shall not be used for cash advances.
Policy 20: Issue & Use of Credit Cards
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•
•
•

Shall not be used for expenditure on personal items or services.
Shall not be tied to any type of reward system that provides cardholders with any personal benefit
or reward.
If lost, stolen and/or damaged, shall be reported immediately to the financial institution.

It is the responsibility of the cardholder to:
• Ensure the care and safe keeping of the corporate credit card.
• Retain purchase/expenditure documentation, tax invoices and reconcile with credit card statements
at the end of each month.
Where a payment is for entertainment, it is important to note on the invoice the number of persons
entertained and the names of any WMRC employees in that number. This is required to ensure the WMRC
pays the correct amount of Fringe Benefit Tax.
In the event that a cardholder ceases employment with the WMRC, the credit card is to be returned to the
Business Manager, along with all associated documentation, for cancellation prior to the release of the final
payment of entitlements.
In the event that a cardholder takes an extended period of leave, or the nature of the employee’s position
changes, the card is to be returned to the Business Manager and an assessment of the appropriate action
will be undertaken at the discretion of the CEO/ Chairman. In some circumstances, this may necessitate
direction being sought from Council.
Approved Methods of Processing Transactions
The following are the approved methods of processing transactions, subject to the cardholder on each
occasion maintaining a documented record of such transactions:
• Across the counter (the cardholder signs a purchase slip at the time of purchase).
• By telephone (quoting corporate credit card details to the supplier).
• By mail (quoting corporate credit card details on orders to the supplier).
• By facsimile (quoting corporate credit card details on orders to the supplier).
• By internet (the transaction is completed by quoting credit card details to the supplier).
Accounts and Settlement
All credit card expenditure is to be certified by the cardholder and the expenditure reviewed by an
appropriate officer before being authorised by the Chief Executive Officer/ Chairman where applicable.
Misuse of Corporate Credit Cards
Cards which show unreasonable, excessive or unauthorised expenditure will be subject to audit and may
result in the withdrawal of the card from the cardholder. Unauthorised expenditure will be recovered by
deductions from the Officer’s salary. Can and should also carry the possibility of instant dismissal. Refer to
the DLGC guidelines.

Adopted / Modified
This credit card policy will be reviewed at least once every two years or as required in the event of legislative
change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Meeting Date
03/02/2011
07/02/2013
09/04/2015
06/10/2016
03/08/2017

Policy 20: Corporate Credit Cards

Resolution #
Item 9.7
Item 9.6
Item 9.7
TBA
Item 11.5
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COUNCIL POLICY

Policy 21: Media Relations
Purpose
To establish a consistent and coordinated approach for communication with the media in line with the
requirements of the Local Government Act 1995.
This policy is to be read in conjunction with Policy 33: Social Media

Objectives
To:
•
•
•
•

Set out clear protocols for all contact with print and TV media
Provide guidance to the Chairman, Councillors, Chief Executive Officer and staff for handling
media enquiries, identifying spokespersons, preparing media releases and making comment to
the media.
Ensure Council’s decisions and activities are accurately and fully advised to the media.
Ensure communication with the media is consistent and in line with the organisation’s strategic
direction.

Relevant delegations
None

Relevant legislation
•
•

Local Government Act 1995, Sections 2.85.23, 5.41
Freedom of Information Act 1992

Policy
Position
The WMRC encourages open communication with the media, with an emphasis on promoting a positive,
progressive and professional image of Council and staff. Communications should be accurate, polite
and professional. A coordinated approach is therefore essential in dealing with the media.
Media releases should be used to:
• Promote specific projects and initiatives
• Relay accurate and up-to-date information
• Congratulate/commend individuals and organisations
Policy 21 Media Relations

Page 1 of 3

•

Defend WMRC from unwarranted criticism

Details of matters discussed as part of the decision making process of a confidential Council item under
Section 5.23 of the Local Government Act 1995 are not to be disclosed to the media; the final decisions
of such matters are public knowledge.

Roles
Chairman
The Chairman is the principal Council contact for the Media. The Chairman is authorised to make media
comment on local, state and national topics that directly affect or relate to the WMRC. The Chairman’s
comments must accurately reflect the Council’s position on the topic as guided by the Strategic
Community Plan, Council policies and Council meeting minutes.

Councillors
Each WMRC Councillor may make personal statements to the media on matters of Council business
provided that they:
• Are clearly identified as personal statements,
• do not disclose confidential information,
• accurately reflect the conduct of Council business,
• are not intended to bring the WMRC into disrepute

Chief Executive Officer
The Chief Executive Officer is the principal media spokesperson for the WMRC as an organisation. The
Chief Executive Officer may also respond to media enquiries on behalf of the WMRC if requested by
the Council or Chairman to do so for a particular topic. The Chief Executive Officer may authorise a staff
member to provide media comment on a particular request or topic where appropriate.

WMRC Staff
All media requests received directly by staff shall be referred to the Chief Executive Officer. Media
comment can only be made with prior authorisation from the Chief Executive Officer.

Media Releases
The principal method for the WMRC to notify media of decisions, initiatives, events and activities is
through a written media release. The Manager Communications and Education in consultation with the
Chief Executive Officer will identify the requirement for a media release and coordinate its development
and distribution.
Media releases relating to Council decisions, initiatives or issues of a controversial nature are to be
approved by the Chairman prior to distribution.
A copy of the media release will be placed on the WMRC website as soon as practical after its release.

Media Enquiries
All media enquiries are to be directed to the Chief Executive Officer.
The Chairman is to respond to media enquiries related to Council decisions, initiatives or issues of a
controversial nature. The Chief Executive Officer, or approved nominee, may respond to media
enquiries that request factual information or information on public record.

Policy 21 Media Relations
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Adopted / Modified
This policy will be reviewed at least once every three years or as required in the event of legislative
change.

Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Policy 21 Media Relations

Meeting Date
07/04/2011
04/04/2013
09/04/2014
04/04/2019

Resolution #
Item 9.15
Item 9.10
Item 9.7
Item 10.5.2
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COUNCIL POLICY

Policy 23: Disability Access & Inclusion
Purpose

To ensure the WMRC’s facilities and services are accessible and inclusive for people with disability, their
families and carers.

Objectives
To ensure compliance with the Disability Services Act 1993 and the Disability Services Amendment
Regulations 2013 and to state Council’s commitment to developing accessible facilities and services.

Relevant delegations
Nil.

Relevant legislation
•
•

Disability Services Act 1993
Disability Services Amendment Regulations 2013

It is a requirement of the Disability Services Act 1993 that all local governments develop and implement a
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan that outlines the ways in which they will ensure that people with a
disability have equal access to its facilities and services.

Policy
The WMRC is committed to ensuring that its facilities and services are accessible and inclusive for people
with disability, their families and carers. The WMRC interprets an accessible and inclusive community as one
in which people with disability can access and are welcomed to participate in all Local Government functions,
facilities and services in the same manner and with the same rights and responsibilities as other members of
the community.
The WMRC is committed to achieving the following eight desired outcomes:
1.
2.
3.

People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to access the services of, and
any events organised by, the WMRC.
People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to access the buildings and
other facilities of the WMRC.
People with disability receive information WMRC in a format that will enable them to access the
information as readily as other people are able to access it.

Policy 23: Disability Access and Inclusion
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4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

People with disability receive the same level and quality of service from the staff of WMRC as
other people receive from staff at WMRC.
People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to make complaints to the
WMRC.
People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to participate in any public
consultation by WMRC.
People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to obtain and maintain
employment with the WMRC.
WMRC Council ensures that a Disability Access and Inclusion Policy and Implementation Plan are
developed, implemented and regularly reviewed.

The WMRC maintains and implements a Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP). The WMRC will report
on the implementation of its DAIP through its Annual Report and the prescribed progress report template to
the Department of Communities by 4 July each year, outlining:
•
•
•

progress towards the eight desired outcomes of its DAIP;
progress of its agents and contractors towards meeting these outcomes; and
the strategies used to inform its agents and contractors of its DAIP.

Adopted / Modified
This investment policy will be reviewed at least once every two years or as required in the event of legislative
change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Meeting Date
05/04/2012
03/04/2014
07/02/2018

Policy 23: Disability Access and Inclusion

Resolution #
Item 9.10
Item 9.6
Item 10.7.3

Page 2 of 2

COUNCIL POLICY

Policy 25: Training and Development
Purpose

To maintain a highly competent workforce.

Objectives
To provide structure to the appropriate training and development of WMRC staff.

Relevant delegations
Nil.

Relevant legislation
Nil.

Policy
The WMRC’s approach to training and development is founded on the following commitments:
•
•
•
•

all staff have a role in determining their own specific training and development needs;
training will be planned and co-ordinated to ensure training is consistent with WMRC needs;
a performance review system will ensure staff training and development needs are discussed
annually; training plans implemented; training records maintained;
to encourage staff to become professionally qualified, there is appropriate financial assistance and
study leave (see section on Educational Expenses).

The WMRC regards the development and implementation of best practice Occupational Safety and Health
systems as a common objective for the CEO, employees, contractors and volunteers. The WMRC therefore places
special emphasis on training and development related to occupational health and safety, including ensuring that
refresher training is completed in a timely manner.
Induction
All new employees will be taken through an induction program in accordance with WMRC Induction Procedures.

Policy 25: Training and Development 181228
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New employees at the West Metro Recycling Centre will also be taken through the Site Induction Manual. At
the completion of the transfer station induction, the Record of Site Induction in the Site Induction Manual will
be signed and kept on the employee’s personnel record.
Training Plan
A Training Plan will be prepared for all employees at the end of any probationary period, and then annually with
each performance review. Form 7: Staffing Training Plan will be used for this process.
The purpose of the Training Plan is to identify areas of training necessary to either build on strengths or to
develop competency in areas of weakness. The training plan will be put in writing and will form the basis of
training for the period until the next review.
All training conducted in accordance with the Training Plan will be evaluated using Form 8: Training Course
Evaluation.
Professional/Vocational Qualifications
The WMRC recognises that there are many professional skills required to ensure that the organisation performs
to a high standard. Subject to prior agreement with the CEO, the fees for relevant professional education will be
met or subsidised by the WMRC. In agreeing to meet or subsidise professional education fees, the WMRC may
seek an undertaking that the employee remains with the WMRC for at least one year after completion of the
course.
Study Leave
The WMRC encourages employees to undertake external courses of study relevant to their vocation. Subject to
prior agreement with the CEO, the WMRC will provide leave to attend to attend classes or examinations for
approved professional education. This includes providing time in lieu for classes or examinations attended
outside ordinary work hours.
Professional and Representative Bodies
The WMRC will reimburse employee subscription fees for the membership of appropriate professional and
representative bodies.

Adopted / Modified
This investment policy will be reviewed at least once every two years or as required in the event of legislative
change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Meeting Date
07/06/2012
09/04/2015
07/02/2019

Policy 25: Training and Development 181228

Resolution #
Item 9.8
Item 9.7
Item 10.7.4
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Policy 26

Contractor Management

Purpose
To ensure the WMRC provides a safe and efficient workplace.
Objective
To ensure compliance with Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984, Occupational Safety
and Health Regulations 1996, relevant Australian Standards, Codes of Practice and Guidance
Notes.
Relevant delegations
Nil
Relevant legislation
• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
Forms
• Form 18: Contractor Obligations

Policy
The WMRC acknowledges that it has the same Occupational Safety and Health obligations to
contractors, and sub-contractors, as it does to its own employees.
As the Principal, the WMRC understands its duty of care to contractors/sub-contractors and
will select and manage contractors to ensure that safety standards within the WMRC are
recognised and obeyed by any contractors/sub-contractors working on WMRC worksites.
Assessing Contractor Safety
When selecting a contractor the WMRC will ensure that the safety performance of the
contractor meets the WMRC’s standards.
The WMRC will review the safety records and, where applicable, environmental records of all
contractors. Particular attention will be paid to the following:
• obtaining documented evidence of current Worker’s Compensation, as appropriate
• current Public Liability Insurance
• current Motor Vehicle/Machinery insurance as applicable

WMRC Member Councils: Town of Claremont, Town of Cottesloe, Town of Mosman Park, Shire of Peppermint Grove and City of Subiaco
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Policy 26: Contractor Management

•
•

ensuring, where applicable, contractors forward a list of all Subcontractors for written
approval prior to commencement of work
ensuring that contractors possess:
o occupational safety and health standards and policies
o recognition of environmental protection, where appropriate
o personnel safety processes and procedures
o personnel with the quality and experience to meet the required standards
o knowledge of environmental matters, safe work practices and statutory
requirements, including Certificates of Currency and Competency.
o suitable and well maintained plant and equipment (including all required
personal protective equipment)
o test tags on electrical equipment

Insurances
All tender and contract documentation will use General Conditions from WALGA or the
Australian Standards AS 4000 suite of general conditions. This documentation contains clear
provisions for risk, indemnity, termination and other matters relating to contractor
management.
Tender and contract documentation will include the following provisions for insurance as
appropriate:
• Public liability insurance for an amount of not less than $20 million for any one accident
or occurrence.
• Third party property damage insurance of not less than $30 million in respect of any
registered motor vehicles, plant or equipment used in the performance of the
contracted services.
• Workers Compensation or Personal Accident insurance cover as required by law
(whichever may apply)
• Any other insurance which is required by the laws of the Commonwealth of Australia
and State of Western Australia and as amended.
Where the contractor is engaged to provide advice to the WMRC, Professional Indemnity
insurance cover will be sought in an amount appropriate to the advice provided.
The implementation and maintaining of all insurances as required under these guidelines
shall in no way limit the obligations or responsibilities of the contractor under these guidelines.
Certificates of currency for all insurances must be provided by the contractor to the WMRC
prior to the commencement date. Certificates of currency should provide evidence of validity
and currency of the insurance policies. Cover notes will not be accepted.
Induction at Brockway Waste Transfer Station
Contractors/sub-contractor personnel working at the Brockway Waste Transfer Station will be
inducted using the Site Induction Manual. At the completion of the induction, the Record of
Site Induction in the Site Induction Manual will be signed and kept on file at the WMRC.
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Contractor Management
The WMRC will adopt a fully coordinated approach to managing contractors which involves:
• safeguarding the safety and health of all contractors and sub-contractors while they are
on WMRC premises or performing work for the WMRC.
• nominating one or more persons to co-ordinate contractor management on behalf of
the WMRC to ensure compliance with OSH and other requirements.
• ensuring that contractors observe and comply with all relevant OSH legislation.
• developing and disseminating of standardised workplace safety rules, including those
relating to contractors and sub-contractors.
• developing risk assessment and hazard management guidelines.
• ensuring that all information relating to hazards associated with specific works is
known by the contractor.
• advising contractors of any relevant hazard analysis performed by the WMRC.
• encouraging contractors to carry out their own hazard analysis on the safety, health
and environmental implications of the work to be performed.
• ensuring that where contractor’s personnel may be exposed to particular hazards, only
those persons who have received adequate instruction and training are used to
undertake this work.
• determining how contractors will be involved in workplace safety consultation.
• implementing hazard and accident/incident reporting systems to be used by all people
at the workplace.
• implementing accident/incident investigation procedures involving input from all the
stakeholders at the workplace, including contractors.
• implementing systems for contract inspection, monitoring and performance evaluation.
Contractor Documentation
Prior to commencing any work the contractor must complete and sign the following form:
• Form 18: Contractor Obligations
This is to ensure that WMRC requirements have been fully understood and that all items have
been adequately addressed.

Adopted / Modified
This policy will be reviewed at least once every three years or as required in the event of legislative
change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Meeting Date
07/06/2012
09/04/2015
04/04/2019

Resolution #
Item 9.8
Item 9.7
Item 10.5.3
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COUNCIL POLICY
Policy 28: Light Motor Vehicles
Purpose
The WMRC will purchase and use light vehicles to enable staff to conduct its business. Selection, use and
management of the light vehicles will maximise WMRC’s productivity, cost efficiency, safety and
sustainability.
This policy is to provide a framework for the purchase and operation of Council-owned light motor vehicles.
This policy does not deal with trucks or plant.

Objective
To provide a transparent and consistent framework for the selection, purchase, allocation, disposal and
operation of Council-owned light motor vehicles.

Policy
Purchase
Vehicles will be purchased according to operational requirements. The purchase of all WMRC light motor
vehicles must be in accordance with the WMRC Purchasing Policy. Vehicles will be procured by the method
which presents the best value for money and may include buy or lease arrangements.
Disposal
Vehicle disposal should occur where the cost of ownership to the WMRC of the vehicle is optimised. As
guidance, all light motor vehicles should be replaced at the earlier of 5 years or 80,000 kilometres. Vehicles
may be traded-in against a replacement vehicle or disposed of by public auction, whichever is judged to
provide the best value for the WMRC.
Operation and Maintenance
All vehicle servicing is to be conducted by a logbook accredited service provider and in accordance with the
WMRC purchasing policy.
The operation of all WMRC vehicles is to be in accordance with the Road Traffic Act 1974. Failure to do so
may result in disciplinary action.
All incidents involving Council vehicles are to be reported using an accident/ incident report form as well as
a police report where applicable, with a copy provided to the CEO for submission to Council Insurers in a
timely manner.
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Adopted / Modified
This policy will be reviewed every two years.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Meeting Date
07/06/2013
09/04/2015
01/12/2016
04/10/2018

Policy 28: Light Motor Vehicles

Resolution #
Item 9.6
Item 9.7
Item 10.5
Item 9.5.7
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COUNCIL POLICY
Policy 29: Debt Collection
Purpose

To provide a framework for the collection of sundry debts owed to the WMRC.

Objectives
To provide guidance to the WMRC in determining efficient, effective and economical procedures for debt
collection.

Relevant legislation
•

Local Government Act 1995

Policy
Recovery of Customer Accounts
The WMRC’s credit terms are as outlined in the Account Establishment Form (Form 24) and are also stated
on the issued tax invoice. The recovery of outstanding customer accounts will be collected in a fair and timely
manner as follows:
• Invoices are issued electronically or via post every Tuesday for the previous periods account usage
• Payment is due 14 days from the invoice date
• Accounts with outstanding amounts are sent a statement electronically every Friday
• Accounts with amounts 30 days overdue (44 days from invoice date) will receive a call requesting
payment as well as an electronic notice requesting full payment within 7 days. Account holders will
be reminded that credit can be suspended, and interest will be applicable from 35 days overdue (see
below).
• Where the customer fails to pay the outstanding balance within the 5 days of receiving the call and
notice, a Letter of Demand will be issued. This letter will give the customer a further 5 days to pay
the outstanding balance in full (40 days overdue, 54 days from invoice date)
• Where the customer fails to pay in full by 40 days overdue credit may be suspended and services
limited. Statements will continue to be sent each Friday.
• When accounts are 60 days overdue legal action may be commenced.
• Account holders can contact us via phone or email to discuss entering into a special arrangement to
settle their accounts. In such circumstances credit will not be suspended and interest will not be
applied.
Interest
Where payment is not received within 35 days from the date of the initial invoice, interest may be applied
on outstanding balances. Interest is calculated on the number of days from 35 days overdue until the day the
payment is received by the WMRC. Interest charged on sundry debtors is the percentage as adopted at the
annual budget meeting in accordance with section 6.13(1) of the Local Government Act 1995 and detailed on
the annual fees and charges.
Policy 29: Debt Collection
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Bad Debts
Where a sundry debtor has accounts unpaid for a period exceeding four months (120 days) and
i) The debtor has provided documentary evidence of having filed for Bankruptcy/ Insolvency; or
ii) All reasonable attempts to contact the debtor have been unsuccessful;
The case will be referred to a debt collection agency and the debtor will be pursued for the amounts owing
unless costs are likely to exceed the amount owed (see section 76(1) of the Local Government Act 1995).
WMRC Managers shall prepare a report to Council listing the name of the debtor, the description of the debt,
the amount outstanding, the period overdue and a reason for proposed write off. In accordance with section
76(2) a General Manager must certify that all reasonable attempts have been made to recover the debt and,
if necessary, that the costs of recovery are likely to equal or exceed the amount to be recovered. Bad debts
will be recognised when the debt is seen to be no longer commercially collectable.

Adopted / Modified
This policy will be reviewed every three years.
Council Adoption
Council Adoption

Policy 29: Debt Collection

Meeting Date
01/12/2016
13/06/2019

Resolution #
Item 10.5
Item 10.5.1
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COUNCIL POLICY

Policy 32: Execution of documents and use of
common seal
Purpose
To establish procedures for:
a)

affixing the common seal of the WMRC; and

b)

determining whether a document is executed by way of common seal or signed by an authorised
employee.

Objectives
To provide guidance on the appropriate method of execution of documents and use of the common seal.

Relevant delegations
Delegation to:

Chief Executive Officer

Delegation #:

9

Delegation date:

7 Feb 2019

Relevant legislation
Local Government Act 1995 - Sections 9.49A and 9.49B

Policy
In accordance with section 9.49A of the Local Government Act 1995 (WA), a document is duly executed by a
local government if the common seal is affixed to it or it is signed by an officer authorised to do so.
The execution requirements, including the making, varying or discharge of documents pursuant to section
9.49B of the Local Government Act, shall be as outlined in Attachment 1 of this Policy.
Procedure for Affixing the Common Seal
The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are authorised to affix and sign all documents to be executed under
the common seal; however, in the absence of the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer, as the case may
be, the Deputy Chairman and the Acting Chief Executive Officer are authorised to affix the common seal.

Policy 32: Execution of Documents and Use of Common Seal
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Procedure for Execution by Authorised Officers
Employees authorised under section 9.49A of the Local Government Act 1995 (WA) may sign the documents
identified for that purpose as set out in Attachment 1 of this Policy.
Managers may only execute documents relevant to matters within the scope of activity of their Branch.
Documents relevant to the activities of multiple Branches may only be executed by the Chief Executive Officer.
Register of documents executed under Common Seal
Details of all transactions where the common seal has been affixed shall be recorded in a register, with such
register to record each date on which the common seal was affixed to a document, the nature of the said
document, and the parties to any agreement to which the common seal was affixed. The register is to record
each transaction with a reference number that may be retrieved in the WMRC’s document management
system.
Limitation on Specific Authorities
The specific authorities established in Attachment 1 are limited by the following conditions:
1.

2.

Chief Executive Officer
a)

Unlimited $value; and/or

b)

Commitment period is specifically resolved by Council or in any other case, no greater than a 5year period; and/or

c)

Moderate or lesser financial risk, legal complexity or political sensitivity, unless specifically
resolved by Council.

Manager
a)

<$100,000p/a; and/or

b)

Commitment is no greater than a 3-year period; and/or

c)

Minor or lesser level of financial risk, legal complexity or political sensitivity.

Deputising or Signing on Behalf of Another Person
In accordance with section 9.49A(4) of the Local Government Act 1995 (WA), which requires authority for
execution of documents to be resolved by Council, a document may only be executed by a person who holds a
position authorised by Council’s adoption of this Policy.
Therefore, in the absence of a person authorised by this policy another person may deputise where they have
been appointed in writing to act in the authorised person

Policy 32: Execution of Documents and Use of Common Seal
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Adopted / Modified
This policy will be reviewed at least once every two years or as required in the event of legislative change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified

Meeting Date
7 February 2019

Resolution #
10.7.5

Attachment
1.

Specific Authorities
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Attachment 1 – Specific Authorities
Document type

Common Seal

Chairman

Note: Common seal only to be applied where
specified in a document applied by an external
party

Execution by Signature
Only
CEO

Manager

Local Laws – made and amended









Land transaction documents









Mortgages, loans and debentures

























Grants and Funding Agreements with private
agencies (incoming and outgoing)









Memorandum of Understanding









Contracts and legal instruments, including contract
variations









Documents that fulfil a statutory local government
duty or power, for which there is no power of
delegation or authorisation and is a matter which
constitutes a potential risk to the Council.

























Communications on behalf of the Council, relevant
to the day to day operations of the Council and
which are subject of a level of political sensitivity
or potential risk to the Council.









Deeds of Settlement – Employee matters









Enterprise Bargaining Agreements









Power of attorney to act for the Council
Note; Requires both Chairman and CEO to sign
State or Commonwealth Government Funding
Agreements
Note: Subject to relevant delegated authority, any
of the identified authorised officers can execute

Communications on
behalf of the Council
with Commonwealth or
State Government
Ministers
CEOs of
•
•

Commonwealth
or State
Departments
Industry
representative
bodies

Note:
Officers are authorised
to sign routine day to
day operational
communications where
the recipient is of a
similar organisational
level as the officer
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COUNCIL POLICY

Policy 33: Social Media
Purpose
To provide guidelines on the appropriate use of Social Media as a means of communicating with
residents and the wider community.
This Policy is to be read in conjunction with Policy 21: Media Relations.

Objectives
To ensure social media platforms used by the WMRC are:
• Providing timely, accurate, engaging and relevant information to our online community.
• Facilitating feedback and open channels of communication amongst community members.
• Promoting responsible waste practices as part of WMRC’s key community education role to its
Member Councils and the broader online community.
• Maintaining a professional and contemporary image of the WMRC.
• Enabling a clear, consistent approach to dealing with complaints / comments / enquiries so that
the online community has access to relevant information in a timely and efficient manner.
• Ensuring complex issues or matters relating to a person’s or organisation’s private affairs are
not dealt with in this forum, but appropriately diverted to more suitable forums.
• Ensures that confidential Council items or other confidential materials are not disclosed or
discussed in these forums.

Relevant delegations
None

Relevant legislation
•
•
•

Local Government Act 1995 sec 5.41, 5.44
Defamation Act 2005
Western Australian Equal Opportunity Act 1984 (WA)

Policy 33: Social Media Policy
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Policy
Position
The WMRC aims to provide timely and accurate information to the community through the use of the
media and to be open and transparent in its operations. A necessary adjunct to conventional media
strategies, social media provides:
• an opportunity for timely responses to current issues;
• broader information dissemination;
• targeted reach of education materials;
• a forum for enquiry and respectful communication.

Social media contributors
•
•

Contribution to social media accounts will be by the Communications and Education team as
directed by Manager, Communications & Education.
Where social media experience is limited, contributors will receive relevant social media training.

Interacting with the public
All interaction with the public will be professional, positive, respectful and in accordance with copyright,
privacy, defamation, discrimination, harassment and other applicable laws
•
•
•
•
•

All social media accounts will be monitored/ moderated by members of the Communications and
Education team, as determined by the Manager Communications & Education.
The WMRC will aim to respond to general public enquiries / comments within 24 hours of
receiving them.
Contentious, defamatory or disrespectful communication will be dealt with as outlined below in
the section entitled: Moderation of Managed site.
Any material created for display on a WMRC social network site will be prepared to a consistently
high standard, using approved templates and branding and approved by Manager
Communications & Education, or approved proxy, before going live / being posted.
When online under the name of the WMRC, contributors should refrain from liking, sharing or
reacting to posts created by third parties unless the material aligns with the aims of the WMRC,
as these reactions are seen as endorsements of the material posted.

Social Media Accounts
The WMRC may maintain a combination of social media accounts, including but not limited to:
•
•
•
•

Social Networks – Facebook, LinkedIn, Instagram
Media Sharing Networks –YouTube, Podcasts
Blogging Networks - WordPress
Micro-blogging Networks – Twitter

Moderation of managed sites
While healthy and respectful interaction with WMRC sites is encouraged:
• The WMRC will moderate its social media accounts to address, and where necessary, delete
content deemed offensive, abusive, defamatory, objectionable, inaccurate, false, misleading or
of nuisance value at its complete discretion.

Policy 33: Social Media
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•
•

Where misinformation or factually incorrect information is posted in response to a WMRC post,
comments should encourage the original poster to make contact with the WMRC
Communications and Education team for clarification.
Where a third party contributor to a WMRC social media account is identified as posting content
which is deleted in accordance with the above, the WMRC may, at its discretion, block the
contributor for a specific time period or permanently.

Adopted / Modified
This policy will be reviewed at least once every three years or as required in the event of legislative
change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Policy 33: Social Media

Meeting Date
04/04/2019

Resolution #
10.5.4
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COUNCIL POLICY

Policy 34: Employee Remuneration
Purpose

The Employee Remuneration Policy purpose is to establish clear and guiding principles for employee
remuneration that ensure fair, competitive and levels of pay and entitlements appropriate to the industry and
environment in which the WMRC operates.
WMRC’s goal is to ensure that the mix and balance of employee remuneration is appropriate to attract, motivate,
retain and fairly compensate employees.

Objectives
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Enable the WMRC to attract and retain the quantity and quality of employees consistent with its
values and fulfilling its mission.
Motivate employees for good and improving performance.
Maintain equity and fairness in compensation.
Provide for transparency in annual wage and salary adjustments.
Provide a framework for regular review of employee remuneration and entitlements.
Ensure that employee remuneration remains financially sustainable for the WMRC and its member
Councils.

Relevant delegations
Delegation to:
Delegation:

Delegation #:

Delegation date:

Relevant legislation
•

Local Government Industry Award 2010

•

Fair Work Act 2009 (Commonwealth)

•

Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 2009 (Commonwealth)

Policy 34: Employee Remuneration
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POLICY
General
•

The WMRC remunerates staff in accordance with legislative requirements and WMRC policy.

•

Remuneration includes salary, superannuation and other benefits.

•

The terms and conditions of employment are agreed in writing between the WMRC and the employee
prior to the employee’s commencement in a position.

Wages and Salary Rates
•

WMRC wages and salary rates are based on the rates established in the Local Government Industry
Award 2010 as varied by the Fair Work Commission in its annual wage review.

•

WMRC Wage and salary rates by Local Government Industry Award job classification level provide for
rate increments to allow for progression within a level as an employee’s level of skill and experience
develops over time.

Wages and Salary Review
•

•

The WMRC will review salary and wages annually to ensure compliance with minimum Local
Government Industry Award rates, also taking into account:
o

annual inflation, on the basis of the March quarter change in the CPI for Perth as published by the
Australian Bureau of Statistics;

o

comparison to similar jobs in the labour market; and

o

the ability of the WMRC to pay.

Annual wage and salary adjustments are subject to the approval of Council.

Annual Performance and Development Review
•

Incremental salary progression within a WMRC job classification scale depends upon satisfactory
performance as measured by annual performance and development review.

Superannuation
•

Refer to WMRC Policy 16 – Superannuation.

Leave Loading
•

Leave loading will be paid in accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Industry Award.

Overpayments
•

Where an overpayment has been made to an employee, there is a shared responsibility on the part of
the employee and the WMRC to effectively resolve the issue and recoup the overpayment.
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Allowances and reimbursements
•

The WMRC may pay a range of allowances to eligible employees and work-related expenses incurred
by staff.

•

The WMRC may reimburse a range of expenses incurred by staff for work purposes.

Adopted / Modified
This Employee Remuneration Policy will be reviewed at least once every three years or as required in the event
of legislative change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Meeting Date
1 Aug 2019

Policy 34: Employee Remuneration

Resolution #
Resolution 16.3.3
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COUNCIL POLICY

Policy 35: Major strategic and financial
decisions
Purpose
The purpose of this policy is to establish the circumstances under which decisions by the WMRC Council
will require unanimous support.

Objectives
The objectives of this policy are to:
1. ensure that decisions by the WMRC that have major strategic or financial implications for
member Councils are made with the unanimous support of WMRC Councillors; and
2. engender confidence amongst member Councils that the WMRC will not take decisions which
might adversely impact a minority of member Councils.

Relevant legislation
•

Local Government Act 1995

Policy
Relevant Council Resolutions
Council resolved at its meeting of 13 June 2019 as follows:
10.13.1 All decisions with major strategic and financial implications for member Councils are to require
unanimous WMRC support.
10.13.2 A major strategic and financial decisions policy is to be developed for the approval of Council.

Policy 35: Major strategic and financial decisions
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Major Strategic and Financial Decisions
The following constitute major strategic or financial decisions, each triggering a requirement for
unanimity in decision making:
a) Approval of WMRC annual budget.
b) Approval of WMRC mid-term budget review.
c) Approval of WMRC Strategic Community Plan, including reviews.
d) Approval of WMRC Corporate Business Plan, including reviews.
e) Contractual commitments of five or more years, including all possible contract extensions,
where the value of the contract is $100,000 per annum or more.
f)

Contractual commitments of $500,000 per annum or more.

g) Capital commitments of $500,000 or more.
h) Submissions or proposals to State or Federal Government with potential for significant impact
on member Council resources or operations.
i)

Proposals with the potential to significantly shift costs between member Councils.

j)

Any other proposal that a simple majority of Council deems to represent a major strategic or
financial decision.

Unanimous Support Required
All major strategic and financial decisions require the unanimous support of Council.
Votes on major strategic and financial decisions are not to be conducted unless all member Councils
are represented by a Member or Deputy Member at the Council meeting.
Amendments to this policy
This policy may be amended by a simple majority of Council.

Adopted / Modified
This policy will be reviewed at least once every three years or as required in the event of legislative
change.

Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Meeting Date
3 October 2019

Policy 35: Major strategic and financial decisions

Resolution #
Resolution 10.10.1
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COUNCIL POLICY

Policy 36: Risk Management
Purpose
The purpose of this policy is to provide guidelines and procedures to ensure a consistent
approach within WMRC to the proper identification, assessment and treatment of risk.

Objectives
The objective of the WMRC’s Risk Management Policy is to ensure the implementation of an
effective risk management framework that is consistent with the WMRC achieving its policy
and operating objectives. In doing so, it follows accepted standards and guidelines for
managing risk, particularly those used by public agencies.
The principle underpinning the WMRC's approach is that risk management is an integral part
of the management function in the organisation and, as such, is the clear responsibility of
management.
Line managers have the responsibility to evaluate their risk environment, to put in place
appropriate controls and to monitor the effectiveness of these controls. This process is
supplemented by a review of key organisational risks by the WMRC’s Executive Team.
The WMRC is committed to ensuring that effective risk management remains central to all its
activities and is a core management competency. The aim is to ensure that risk management
is embedded in the organisation’s processes and culture, thus contributing to the achievement
of its core objectives.

Relevant legislation
•

Local Government Audit Regulation 17

Policy
1. INTRODUCTION: RISK MANAGEMENT

1.1 Background
The Local Government (Audit) Regulations 1996 Regulation 17 requires that the
CEO review the appropriateness and effectiveness of a local government’s systems and
procedures in relation to risk management, internal controls and legislative compliance.
All such systems and procedures are to be the subject of review and reported to the
WMRC's Audit Committee over a cycle of not more than three years.
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The WMRC seeks to implement an effective risk management system that:
•

identifies risks relating to its strategic and operational plans;

• mitigates risk through internal controls; and
• ensures that its legislative compliance requirements are continually met.

This will be achieved by adopting a Risk Management Framework that will dually serve
as a crucial informing strategy for its wider Integrated Planning Framework and meet
requirements as specified within the regulations. It is anticipated that the Risk
Management Framework will add value to the WMRC’s decision-making processes by
guiding prioritisation and allocation of resources, improving ability to achieve the
objectives of the organisation, and by promoting forward planning.
1.2 Risk Management
The international Risk Management Standard AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 defines risk as
the “the effect of uncertainty on objective: measured in terms of likelihood and
consequence”.
Risk management is the process of applying a logical and systematic method of
identifying, evaluating, treating, monitoring and communicating risks associated with any
activity, function or process.
2. CATEGORIES OF RISK FACED BY THE WMRC

In the context of the WMRC’s responsibilities and objectives, risk can be categorised into
four broad types as follows:
2.1 Strategic Risks
Strategic risks emerge from the external environment and may affect the achievement of
the WMRC’s key objectives as set out in the Strategic Community Plan. Such risks may
include external targets and objectives laid down by the State Waste Avoidance and
Resource Recovery Strategy; or the availability of resource recovery and processing
facilities commensurate with their achievement.
2.2 Compliance Risks
Compliance risks relate to the risks of failing to comply with all relevant laws and
regulations; and the risk associated with the emergence of new laws and regulations.
2.3 Operational Risks
Operational risks are those uncertainties and hazards the WMRC faces in its day-to-day
business activities. Risk can result from failures in internal procedures, people and
systems, including safety procedures. Operational risk and legal risk also arises from
project management; commercial dealings; and the adoption of new technology. Because
it reflects man-made procedures and thinking processes, operational risk can be
summarised as a human risk; it is the risk of business operations failing due to human
error.
2.4 Financial risks
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Financial risks relate to the risks of to the WMRC of financial loss owing to shortfalls in
revenue and or unforeseen expense or financial liabilities.
3. WMRC RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

In adopting this Integrated Risk Management Framework, the WMRC aims to:
•

Ensure that the WMRC achieves its strategic objectives as set out in its Strategic
Community Plan, by integrating risk management into strategic and business
planning.

•

Identify, avoid and ameliorate risk in its operations, especially in relation to workplace
safety, project management and commercial dealings.

•

Establish a reliable basis for decision making and ensure that risk is included as a
fundamental component in the planning process and is applied to contractual
arrangements and projects.

•

Ensure the effective allocation of resources.

•

Determine how risk should be reported to Council, Audit Committee, and external
auditors.

•

Foster an organisational culture in which identification and treatment of risk are
routinely considered and practised.

•

Identify and prepare for emerging risks, future events and change.

•

Address uncertainty and improve stakeholder confidence and trust, especially amongst
member Councils.

4. WMRC RISK STATEMENT

To provide clear guidance on the WMRC’s approach the following Risk Statement
articulates the attitudes to and boundaries of risk that the Council expects senior
management to adopt. Without this, risk management will be carried out with unclear
boundaries and expectations, resulting in an organisational culture where risk may be
poorly assessed and treated.
The WMRCs ‘Risk Statement’, comprising the response to the following key risk categories,
is:
4.1 Organisational Health and Safety – low risk tolerance
The WMRC places a high priority on providing a safe workplace for staff, volunteers and
contractors. This includes fostering a work place that focuses on a healthy work/life balance
and promotes a positive working environment. As the WMRC has a low risk approach to its
management of OHS and well-being within the workplace, the WMRC is not willing to accept
•
risks in most circumstances that may result in detriment in either areas.
4.2 Ethical Leadership – low risk tolerance
Without a strong emphasis on ethics, the WMRC cannot be successful in achieving the
objectives of its Strategic Community Plan and fulfil its responsibilities to the community.
Ethics, integrity and critical thinking will be expected of all Council Members and
employees.
The WMRC is risk averse in issues of ethical leadership and will not intentionally accept
risks in any situation that compromises the WMRC’s position of showing leadership in
ethical decision-making and integrity to the community.
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4.3 Strategic Direction – moderate risk tolerance
The WMRC cannot be successful in achieving the objectives of its Strategic Community
Plan without clear goal setting, and forward planning. While understanding that the
unexpected may arise from time to time, the WMRC will make every effort to achieve, or
significantly progress, its key deliverables.
Taking a balanced risk approach, the WMRC is only willing to accept a balanced risk of
potential disruption in its capacity to progress in its strategic direction. For example, the
WMRC will only tolerate risks in this category as long as it does not result in the following:
•

a significant change in a strategic objective;

•

a delay in project delivery of over 12 months;

•

adverse impact on the WMRC’s financial performance; or

•

adverse financial impact on member Councils.

4.4 Reputation – low risk tolerance
Council members and employees are expected to uphold values within the WMRC’s Code
of Conduct at all times, whilst ensuring to employ ethical decision-making, and a customercentric approach when dealing with stakeholders and providing services to member
Councils and residents.
As the WMRC has a low risk approach to reputation, the WMRC is not willing to accept
risks in most circumstances that may result in reputational damage or loss of public
confidence in the WMRC’s Elected Members, Committee Members and employees.
4.5 Governance – low risk tolerance
The WMRC will put in place a strong governance framework with a focus on principles of
good governance, informed and consistent decision-making, and compliance with all
legislative, regulatory and reporting requirements whilst promoting continuous
improvement.
As the WMRC is risk averse in its approach to governance, the WMRC is not willing to
intentionally accept risks in most circumstances that may result in non-compliance with its
governance processes.
4.6 Community and Stakeholder Management – moderate risk tolerance
Every effort will be made to ensure that the WMRC develops strong and positive
relationships with
the community and with other key stakeholders. The WMRC will
ensure that all community and individual considerations are taken into account in its
decision-making.
Taking a balanced risk approach, the WMRC is only willing to accept a balanced risk of
potential disruption to how WMRC manages its relationship with key stakeholders, whilst
continuing to make decisions for the greater good of its member Councils and the
community.
4.7 Financial Management – low risk tolerance
The WMRC will carefully manage expenses, plans and financial commitments to remain
within its approved annual and long-term budgets. In order to ensure that the WMRC is
well equipped for financial uncertainty, the WMRC considers its budget with a long-term
outlook through effective long-term financial planning, and a long term asset management
plan.
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As the WMRC has a low risk approach to its financial resources, the WMRC is not willing
to accept risks in most circumstances that may result in the disruption of its long-term
financial plan and its financial position. For example, the WMRC will only tolerate risks in
this category as long as it does not result in the following:
•

individual projects don’t exceed 15% over budget;

•

annual budget doesn’t go into deficit;

•

initiatives are within the capacity of the long-term financial plan; or

•

adverse financial impact on member Councils.

4.8 Environmental Management – low risk tolerance
The WMRC will act responsibly in adopting environmentally sustainable practices within
the resources it has available for this purpose. To provide amenity for the community, the
WMRC is committed to preserving its natural environment and minimising the impact of
waste on the environment.
4.9 Business Continuity – low risk tolerance
The WMRC is committed to being a resilient organisation that operates efficiently, with
minimal disruption to customer service. As such, the WMRC places importance on
programs that enable that WMRC to better anticipate disruption, adapt to events, and
respond and recover from potential business disruptions.
As the WMRC is risk averse in its approach to business continuity, the WMRC is not willing
to intentionally accept risks in most circumstances that may result in disruption to the
operation of the business. The WMRC will ensure that its capacity to delivery services to
member Councils and the community is not disrupted.
5. OUR RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

5.1

Purpose

The purpose of this Risk Management Framework is to set out WMRC’s risk management
processes and procedures and the rationale behind them. It follows the recommendations
set out in AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 which include how the WMRC:
•

assigns roles and responsibilities for managing risk;

•

identifies, assesses and rates risks (including effectiveness of controls);

•

monitors, review and report risks; and

•

measures its risk management performance.

It should be noted that the above processes and procedures will not eliminate WMRC’s
risk but will help to manage it in a way that is transparent and in accordance with best
practice and good governance principles.
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Figure 1. Risk Management Process

5.2 Risk Identification Process
The WMRC’s risk management process is about understanding its risk appetite in the
context of identifying potential risk in delivering its key objectives, and in implementing
internal controls to bring its residual risk as close as possible to its accepted risk appetite
for that identified risk. This process involved consultation of key stakeholders, monitoring,
evaluating, and reporting on its progress.
The WMRC’s risks can be identified through several means, including but not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Safety inspections, procedures including job safety analyses, incidents and near
misses
Security incidents, including break-ins at the West Metro Recycling Centre
Strategic planning
Internal and external audits
Insurance claims
Complaints and community feedback
Project planning, monitoring and reporting
Performance reporting
External review and reports by external agencies

In establishing this Risk Management Framework, the WMRC has identified its
key strategic and operational risks through assessment of its strategic documents,
and through consultation with key stakeholders.
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5.3

Risk Management Process

The risk management process is a series of steps that enable risks to be identified,
analysed and treated in the context of the environment in which the WMRC
operates. The main elements of the risk management process are as follows:
Communication
and consultation

Effective communication and consultation should take place
throughout the risk management process to ensure that those
accountable for implementing risk management and
stakeholders understand the basis on which decisions are made.

Establish the
context

This identifies the WMRC’s objectives and defines the internal
and external environment in which it operates. Understanding the
external context is important in order to ensure that the
objectives and concerns of external stakeholders are considered.
Understanding the internal context will enable risk management
to be aligned with the WMRC’s culture, structure, strategies and
processes.

Risk
identification

Sources of risk, areas of impact, their causes and potential
consequences should be identified. This will generate a
comprehensive list of risks based on events that might create,
enhance, prevent, degrade, accelerate or delay the achievement
of objectives. Comprehensive identification is crucial as a risk not
identified will not be included in any analysis.

Risk analysis

This involves the consideration of the causes and sources of risk,
their consequences and the likelihood that those consequences
can occur. Existing controls and their effectiveness should be
taken into account. Risk analysis provides an input to risk
evaluation and decisions on the most appropriate risk treatment
strategies.

Risk evaluation

Risk evaluation assists in making decisions, based on the
outcomes of the risk analysis, about risk treatment and priorities.
Risk evaluation involves comparing the level of risk found during
the analysis process with pre-established risk criteria. The risk
criteria and the WMRC’s risk appetite will help influence the
decisions on risk treatment.

Risk treatment

Selecting the most appropriate risk treatment option involves
balancing the cost and efforts of implementation against the
benefits derived. Several treatment options may be considered
and can be applied individually or in combination. Risk treatment
plans should be prepared which document how the chosen
treatment options will be implemented.

Monitor and
review

The Risk Management process should be continually monitored
and reviewed to ensure that controls are effective, new
information is gathered, latest changes and trends are identified,
successes and failures are recorded, lessons are learned,
changes in internal and external context are detected and
emerging risks are captured.
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5.3 Risk Assessment Process
Once risks have been identified, the WMRC will conduct a periodic risk assessment of all
new and existing risks. Risk assessment criteria have been established for analysing and
evaluating risks. The criteria are based on the likelihood of the risk occurring (Risk
Likelihood Matrix) and its consequences (Risk Consequence Matrix) – a combination of
which establishes the overall level of risk (as per the Risk Level Matrix).
5.3.1

Risk Likelihood

First, the risk is assessed quantitatively by the likelihood of its occurrence/ frequency using
the table below:
Risk Score

Risk Rating

Frequency

Probability of Occurrence

5

Almost certain

Once per annum

95% chance

4

Likely to occur

Once every 3 yrs.

71%-94% chance

3

Possibly will occur

Once every 5 yrs.

31% – 70% chance

2

Unlikely to occur

Once every 10 yrs.

6%-30% chance

1

Occurrence is rare

< Once every 10 yrs. < 5% chance

Policy 36: Risk Management
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5.3.2 Risk Consequence
Next, the risk is measured qualitatively against the severity of consequences should it occur as per the table below:
Risk
Score

Risk Rating

Revenue, Cost or
Liability

Liability cost or business
loss to Council > $1M
• WMRC officer or
Councillor jailed
•

5

Catastrophic

People

•
•

Environment

Loss of life
• Serious damage of
District-wide epidemic
state-wide
significance
• Prosecution (cost as
per revenue impact)
• Impact not fully
reversible

Corporate Image

•
•
•
•
•

Liability cost or business
loss to WMRC of
between $250K to $1M
• WMRC officer and/or
Councillor with
significant fine
•

4

Major

•

Serious health
impact on
multiple
members of
public or staff

Serious damage of
state-wide
significance
• Prosecution likely
(cost as per revenue
impact)
• Impact reversible
within 10 years
•

•

PSC, DLGC or WA
Ombudsman investigation

•

Loss of community confidence
in WMRC
Public/media concern
Statewide coverage
Damage to WMRC’s
reputation
Formal inquiry/sanctioned

•
•
•
•

Liability cost or business
loss of $30K to $250K
• WMRC personnel fined
•

3

Moderate
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Moderate health
impact on a
member of the
public or staff
• Medical attention
required
•

CCC or WA Police
investigation
Public/media outrage
Statewide/National media
coverage
Public pressure to stop
operations of the WMRC
Management changes
demanded

Moderate damage of • Community discussion and
local significance
concern
• Prosecution
• Community Petition or Special
probable (cost as
OCM convene
per revenue impact) • Local media adverse report
• Impact reversible
within 1 year
•
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2

1

•

Liability cost or business
loss of $10K to $30K

•

•

Liability cost or business
loss of <$10K

•

Minor

Insignificant

Policy 36: Risk Management

Minor injury/health
impact on a
member of the
public or staff

•

Minor damage of
• Minor/isolated concerns raised
local significance
by groups of members of
• Prosecution possible
public, customers, suppliers
(cost as per revenue
impact)
• Impact reversible
within 3 months

Minimal First Aid
required
• Temporary, minor
health impact on a
member of the
public or staff

•

Minimal release of
pollutants which
does not require
notification to third
parties
• Brief, non-hazardous
temporary pollution,
reversible within a
week

Event only of interest to
individuals
• No impact on community;
• Marginal impact on WMRC
operations
• Resolved in day to day
management
•
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5.3.3 Overall Risk Rating
The ‘Risk Scores’ of from both the ‘Risk Likelihood’ and ‘Risk Consequences’ are then multiplied to get
the ‘Overall Risk Rating’ (RL x RX = OR).

Score

Description

1-5

Low

6-12

Moderate

13-19

High

20-25

Extreme

5.4 Risk Evaluation Process
5.4.1 Effectiveness of Controls
In order to assess the significance of each risk, WMRc rates the effectiveness of the relevant
“controls”. A control can include any process, policy, device, practice or other action which impacts
on the consequence or likelihood of a particular risk occurring.
Effectiveness

Description

Highly Effective

Controls are well designed to minimise downside risk and are
clearly documented and embedded into the culture.
Accountabilities are understood.
There is no clear need to improve the controls within the
organisation’s present appetite for risk except in a dynamic
environment or as part of a commitment to continuous improvement.
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Moderately Effective

Controls address majority of root causes of downside risk but are
not yet fully documented or embedded into the culture. Recent
changes in accountabilities are not yet fully understood. To ensure
that the risk is managed in accordance with WMRC’s appetite for
risk, controls should be tightened. This may be a matter of
ensuring that treatment plans are progressing and/or completed.

Less than Effective

Controls do not satisfactorily address several of the root causes
of downside risk. WMRC is exposed to a higher level of risk than
it would normally tolerate, and remedial action is required.

Not Effective

WMRC does have in place any procedures designed to mitigate
against this risk. WMRC must take steps to understand this risk
as a matter of priority in order to design and implement
appropriate controls as soon as possible.

5.4.2 Risk Treatment
By assessing the risk’s initial rating, along with the effectiveness of its existing controls, the WMRC is
then able to assign a Residual Risk rating to each particular risk. The Residual Risk rating will then
determine WMRC’s response (i.e. how the risk should be treated) to bring the Residual Risk as close
as possible to the WMRC’s predetermined Risk Tolerance (‘Acceptable Risk’) for that Risk Category.
Residual Risk Rating

Risk Treatment

Extreme

Immediate action required, including urgent interim actions e.g.
cessation of activity is necessary to ensure safety.
ACCOUNTABILITY: CEO, relevant Manager, and Supervisor must be
advised.

High

Prompt action required to reduce risk to as ‘low as reasonably
practicable’ is required.
ACCOUNTABILITY: Relevant Manager, and Supervisor must be
advised if risk owners are unable to fix promptly or if additional
resources are required.

Moderate

If the WMRC’s risk tolerance is exceeded, actions should be taken to
reduce risk to as ‘low as reasonably practicable’ in a timely manner.
ACCOUNTABILITY: Supervisor and risk owner (if applicable).

Low

Risk is likely to be acceptable. Implement treatment plan.
ACCOUNTABILITY: Risk owner.
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5.6

Integrated Risk Register

An Integrated Risk Register (IRR) will be used to capture the WMRC’s strategic, operational and
special risks. The IRR will be reported to the Audit & Risk Management Committee on a quarterly basis.
6 OUR ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
Audit and Risk Management Committee
The Audit & Risk Management Committee is responsible for reviewing reports from the Chief
Executive Officer on the appropriateness and effectiveness of WMRC’s systems and procedures in
relation to risk management, internal control and legislative compliance. The Audit & Risk
Management Committee will report to Council the results of that review including a copy of the Chief
Executive Officer’s report.
Chief Executive Officer
The Chief Executive Officer is the overall sponsor of the risk management process and will set the
tone and promote a positive risk management culture by providing firm and visible support for risk
management. The CEO will review the appropriateness and effectiveness of all of the WMRC’s
systems and procedures in regard to risk management, internal controls and legislative compliance
over a rolling three-year cycle; and provide progress reports of the results the reviews to the Audit &
Risk Management Committee.
Management Team (MT)
The MT is responsible for the oversight of the Risk Management Framework, including the review of
risk management procedures and policies on an annual basis. It is responsible for setting the tone
and promoting a positive risk management culture within the WMRC. The MT maintains oversight
of the Integrated Risk Register and takes responsibility for ensuring mitigation strategies are being
implemented.
Members of the MT are responsible for completing risk management actions for risks identified within
their areas. This will be done through liaising and communication of requirements to their relevant
staff members and overseeing the action to completion.
Employees
All employees within the WMRC are expected to develop an understanding and awareness of their
risks and how they can contribute to the risk management process. It is the responsibility of every
employee within the WMRC to manage risks for which they are accountable. All employees are
responsible for escalating/communicating risks to their immediate supervisor. Employees are also
required to act in a manner that does not place at risk the health and safety of themselves, other
employees, contractors, customers and visitors to the WMRC.
7 OUR COMMITMENT TO RISK MANAGEMENT
This Integrated Risk Management Framework, the Integrated Risk Register and any subsequent riskbased audits will be reviewed by both the MT, and the Audit & Risk Management Committee at least
on an annual basis. However, a full and thorough review of all processes relating the WMRC’s risk
Policy 36: Risk Management
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management system is to be formally reviewed every three years, with the next full review due in June
2022.
This framework is to remain in force unless otherwise determined by Council.

Adopted / Modified
This investment policy will be reviewed at least once every two years or as required in the event of
legislative change.
Council Adoption
Reviewed/Modified
Reviewed/Modified

Policy 36: Risk Management

Meeting Date
1 August 2019

Resolution #
10.7.3
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Attachment 10-6B

Council Policy: Elected Members
Purpose & Scope
To provide a framework for Elected Member payment, gifts, meetings, ongoing development and
events.

Strategic Objectives
•

SCP 5 - Deliver responsible financial management and develop a productive and capable team

Relevant legislation
•
•
•

Regulations 12 and 30 of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996.
Divisions 8 and 10 of the Local Government Act 1995
Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

Policy
Payment of Sitting Fees
•
•

Elected members’ sitting fees and allowances are determined annually in accordance with rates
published by the Salaries and Allowances Tribunal.
Elected member payments are based on an annual sitting fee which is paid quarterly.

Meetings
•
•
•

Elected Members should attend Ordinary Council Meetings on the first Thursday of February,
April, June, August, October, and December. Meetings are hosted by Member Councils.
Special meetings are called where business is of an urgent nature and are held at Member
Council offices, WMRC offices or online.
The conduct of meetings is covered by the WMRC Local Law - Standing Orders.

Continuing Professional Development
•
•
•

Each councillor is required to complete training in accordance with regulations unless exempt.
Within a month of financial year end, the CEO is required to publish a report on the WMRC
website listing councillor names, titles of training courses undertaken, cost and provider.
Section 5.128 states that the absolute majority is required to adopt the policy on Elected Member
training, and it is required to be reviewed after each ordinary election.

Adopted / Modified
This policy is required to be reviewed every 3 years

Council Adoption

Meeting
Date
06/08/2020

Resolution
#
Item 10.7

Implementation Responsibility
Manager Finance & Governance
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Council Policy: Employee Payments
Purpose & Scope
To provide a framework for remuneration, superannuation, and additional payments to award or
contract for terminating employees.

Strategic Objectives
•
•

SCP 1 - Achieve a comprehensive, cost effective waste management service across the region
SCP 5 - Develop a strong and capable organisation, a productive and capable team and deliver
responsible financial management

Relevant legislation
•
•
•
•
•

Local Government Act 1995 Section 5.50
Local Government (Administration) Regulations Regulation 19A.
Local Government Industry Award 2020
Fair Work Act 2009 (Commonwealth)
Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 2009 (Commonwealth)

Policy
Payment
•

Pay, superannuation, entitlements, allowances, and work-related expenses should be paid in
accordance with the above legislation, WMRC policies and employment contracts.

Pay Review
The WMRC is required to ensure that salaries comply with the Fair Work annual wage review and
minimum Local Government Industry Award rates. Annual salary adjustments are subject to the
approval of Council and should consider:
•
•
•

annual inflation, based on the March quarter change in the CPI for Perth as published by the
Australian Bureau of Statistics
comparison to similar jobs in the labour market
the ability of the WMRC to pay.

Employees can progress within or to a higher level as their skills, experience and responsibilities
develop. Level changes are subject to CEO approval and depend upon satisfactory performance as
measured by annual performance and development review.

Superannuation
The WMRC is required to contribute the below
proportion of each employee’s ordinary time earnings
to an eligible superannuation fund of the employee’s
choice:
Employees may make voluntary contributions to a
superannuation fund through salary sacrifice.

Financial Year
2020/2021
2021/2022
2022/2023
2023/2024
2024/2025
2025/2026 onwards

Contribution
9.5%
10.0%
10.5%
11.0%
11.5%
12.0%
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Contributions are matched, dollar for dollar, up to a maximum of 6% of ordinary time earnings.
Voluntary contributions of 5% and above should be supported by a WMRC contribution of 6%.

Overpayments
There is a shared responsibility on the part of the employee and the WMRC to effectively resolve
and recoup overpayments.

Additional Payments to Award or Contract for Terminating Employees
An additional payment may be paid to an employee, who is not the CEO, at the sole discretion of
the WMRC upon the employee’s resignation, completion of contract, retirement due to ill health, or
to the employee’s beneficiaries following the employee’s death.
The value of a payment should not exceed $5,000 except where the additional payment is part of an
agreed voluntary severance by resignation. In other circumstances, the WMRC is required to give
local public notice in relation to the payment.
Severance or redundancy payments should comply with:
• Any federal or state award or industrial agreement applicable to the employee.
• Any applicable provisions within the employee’s contract of employment.
• Any applicable award or order made by a federal or state industrial tribunal arising from the
circumstances of that employee being specifically brought before that tribunal, subject to any
right of appeal.
• Where the Council so agrees, any recommendation made by Fair Work Australia or the Western
Australian Industrial Relations Commission arising from the circumstances of that employee
being specifically brought before that tribunal.

Training & Development
Payment of professional fees, subscription fees, study leave, or training costs may be covered by
the WMRC subject to prior agreement with the CEO.

Gifts
The WMRC may present an employee with a gift valued at $300 or less. If the value of the gift is
higher, local public notice should be given.

Adopted / Modified
This policy is required to be reviewed every 3 years
Council Adoption

Meeting Date
06/08/2020

Resolution #
Item 10.7

Implementation Responsibility
Manager Finance & Governance
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Council Policy: Events Attendance & Gifts
Purpose & Scope
To provide a framework for events attendance and gifts for Elected Members and WMRC staff.

Strategic Objective
SP5 – Develop a strong and capable organisation, deliver responsible financial management &
develop a productive and capable team

Relevant legislation
•

Section 5.90A of the Local Government Act 1995.

Policy
Gifts
Councillors and staff should not accept a gift, entertainment or contribution to travel valued at $300
or more.
Councillors and staff are required to notify the Chief Executive Officer when accepting gifts valued
between $50 and $299 from a person who is intending to seek or is currently seeking to undertake
an activity involving a local government discretion.

Events Attendance
The CEO and Elected Members are not required to gain Council approval to attend an event on
behalf of the WMRC. Tickets to the event should be paid for by the WMRC. Payment for the time
spent at the event is included in the Members Sitting Fees and as reasonable overtime the CEOs
employment contract.

Adopted / Modified
This policy is required to be reviewed every 3 years
Council Adoption

Meeting Date
06/08/2020

Resolution #
Item 10.7

Implementation Responsibility
Manager Finance & Governance
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Council Policy: Finance
Purpose
To provide a framework for the financial management of the WMRC’s accounts.

Strategic Objectives
•
•

SCP 1 - Achieve a comprehensive, cost effective waste management service across the region
SCP 5 - Develop a strong and capable organisation – responsible financial management

Relevant legislation
•
•
•
•
•
•

Local Government Act 1995
Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996
Australian Accounting Standards
Australian Accounting Interpretations
Australian Accounting Standards Board
The Trustees Act 1962 – Part III Investment

Policy
Accounting Standards
Accounting standards applicable and mandatory to WMRC operations should be adopted by Council
prior to their application.

Audits
The Auditors are appointed by the Office of the Auditor General. The Annual Financial Statements
and audit report are required to be reviewed by Audit and Risk Management Committee and
approved by Council.

Budget
The Annual Budget and midyear Budget Review are required to be approved by council in accordance
with legislation.

Borrowing
Any borrowings are required to be approved by Council. Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred
unless capitalised as part of the asset.

Corporate Credit Cards
Council are required to approve the issue of corporate credit cards and determine the limit(s).

Debt Collection and Financial Hardship
•
•

Outstanding debtor accounts should be pursued from 7 – 80 days overdue before, if worthwhile,
being referred to a debt collection service.
Account customers who request a payment plan due to financial hardship may have debt
collection processes suspended. Debt collection may be initiated 6 months after receiving final
communication from the account customer.
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•

An allowance for doubtful debts should be raised when there is objective evidence that it is not
collectible. Any bad debt write-offs should be approved by Council.

Donations
Decisions on donations to a maximum value of $500 or 2.5 tonnes may be made by the Chief
Executive Officer. Other requests for donations should be referred to Council for determination.

Financial Statements
•
•
•
•
•
•

Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with legislation and approved by Council.
Except for cash flow, the reports are prepared on an accrual basis.
Transfers between various cash and cash equivalents are not reported.
Variations to budget of greater than 10% are required to be reported to Council.
The GST component of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities, which are
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO, are presented as operating cash flows.
Revenues, expenses, and assets are recognised net of GST, except where the GST incurred is
not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). The net amount of GST recoverable
or payable is included in the statement of financial position.

Investment of Surplus Funds
Without Council approval, investments are limited to:
• Interest bearing deposits with Australian-owned banks listed as authorised deposit-taking
institutions by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority, with a local branch in the region.
• Financial institutions with a Standard and Poor’s credit rating of “AA-” or better. Where funds are
invested with a financial institution whose credit rating falls below the prescribed level, the funds
should be liquidated in the most effective and expedient manner.
• State/Commonwealth Government bonds.
• Bank accepted/endorsed commercial bills.
Speculative investments should not be made.

Asset Management
Assets
•
•
•
•
•

Fixed assets are carried at cost or fair value less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.
Fair Value measurement of non-current assets should be completed every 5 years.
An asset is impaired if its future cash flow is impacted by one or more ‘loss events’. Impairment
losses are recognised in profit or loss immediately.
Derecognition of assets occurs when contractual rights expire or when an asset is transferred to
another party. Derecognition of liabilities occurs when obligations are discharged.
Assets and liabilities are classified as current if they are expected to be settled within 12 months.

Capitalisation
The capitalisation threshold is $5,000

Depreciation
•
•

The amortisation of Crown Land is via the straight-line method over a period of 40 years.
Depreciation of buildings is via a straight-line method and other assets via the diminishing
method. Major depreciation periods used for each class of depreciable asset are:
Asset Class
Land
Buildings
Office Furniture (including computer equipment)

Useful Life
N/A
50 years
3-5 years

Depreciation Rate
N/A
2%
20-30%
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Plant & Equipment
Infrastructure

6.66 – 20 years
10-20 years

5-15%
5-10%

Adopted / Modified
This policy is required to be reviewed every 3 years
Council Adoption

Meeting Date
06/08/2020

Resolution #
Item 10.7

Implementation Responsibility
Manager Finance & Governance
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Council Policy: Major Strategic and
Financial Decisions
Purpose and Scope
To establish the circumstances under which WMRC Council decisions require unanimous support and
engender confidence amongst member Councils that the WMRC will not take decisions which might
adversely impact a minority of member Councils.

Strategic Objective
SCP 5 - Develop a strong organisation with responsible financial management

Relevant legislation
•

Local Government Act 1995

Policy
Relevant Council Resolutions
Council resolved at its meeting of 13 June 2019:
10.13.1 All decisions with major strategic and financial implications for member Councils are to require
unanimous WMRC support.
10.13.2 A major strategic and financial decisions policy is to be developed for the approval of Council.

Major Strategic and Financial Decisions
The following constitute major strategic or financial decisions, each triggering a requirement for
unanimity in decision making:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Approval of WMRC annual budget.
Approval of WMRC mid-term budget review.
Approval of WMRC Strategic Community Plan, including reviews.
Approval of WMRC Corporate Business Plan, including reviews.
Contractual commitments of five or more years, including all possible contract extensions, where
the value of the contract is $100,000 per annum or more.
Contractual commitments of $500,000 per annum or more.
Capital commitments of $500,000 or more.
Submissions or proposals to State or Federal Government with potential for significant impact on
member Council resources or operations.
Proposals with the potential to significantly shift costs between member Councils.
Proposals a simple majority of Council considers to represent a major strategic or financial decision.
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Unanimous Support Required
Major strategic and financial decisions require the unanimous support of Council. Votes on major
strategic and financial decisions should not be conducted unless all member Councils are represented
by a Member or Deputy Member at the Council meeting.

Amendments to this policy
This policy may be amended by a simple majority of Council.

Adopted / Modified
This policy is required to be reviewed every 3 years
Council Adoption

Meeting Date
06.08.2020

Policy 35: Major strategic and financial decisions

Item #
Item 10.8

Implementation Responsibility
Manager Finance & Governance
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Council Policy: Purchasing
Purpose and Scope
To ensure expenditure complies with legislation and provides value for money.

Strategic Objectives
SCP 1 - Achieve a comprehensive, cost effective waste management service across the region
SCP 5 - Develop a strong and capable organisation with responsible financial management

Relevant legislation
•
•
•

Local Government Act 1995
Local Government (Functions and General) Regulations 1996 Part 4
Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996

Policy
The WMRC aims to utilise equitable and consistent purchasing processes to achieve value for
money and effective financial risk management. Value for money means considering:
•
•

•
•
•
•

Costs such as transaction costs, delivery, distribution, holding costs, consumables, deployment,
training, maintenance, disposal, costs associated with transferring to a new supplier etc.
Technical merits including specifications, terms and conditions, quality, compliance, availability,
capacity, capability, value-adds offered, warranties, guarantees, repair and replacement policies,
response times, ease of inspection and maintenance, ease of after sales service, ease of
communications etc.
The supplier’s financial viability, capacity to supply, competency, and compliance history.
Safety requirements and standards in design and specification.
An evaluation of risk and opportunities arising from the supply, operation, and maintenance.
Any environmental, economic, and social benefits.

Purchasing Thresholds
Expenditure Amount (ex GST)
Up to $5,000
$5,001 - $50,000
$50,001 - $250,000
Over $250,000

Minimum Requirement
One verbal or written quote
Three written quotes
Request for Quote - minimum of 3 written quotes.
A Request for Tender if appropriate (F&G Reg. 13)
Request for Tender
If tender exempt (F&G Reg11(2)) - minimum of 3 written quotes.

The above thresholds apply to purchases, including from WALGA Preferred Suppliers and
Government departments, except in a sole supplier situation. These do not apply during
emergencies (Local Government Act 1995 s6.8 and F&G 11(3)); to Council approved purchases at
auction; for purchases of insurance with LGIS; or to other exclusions (F&G Reg 11). The expenditure
amount is exclusive of GST and are required to cover the entire purchase order or contract
expenditure, including extensions. Multiple purchase orders or contracts cannot be created to avoid
meeting a purchasing threshold or calling a public tender (F&G Reg.12).
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Staff, councillors, volunteers, and contractors are required to maintain high levels of integrity and
identify any conflicts of interest. Expenditure is required to be provided for in the annual budget.
Purchases, contracts, and contract extensions are required to be authorised by persons with
delegated expenditure authority as defined in the WMRC Delegation’s Register. Evidence of
purchases is required to accompany the relevant expenditure forms and records are required to be
maintained according to the WMRC recordkeeping plan.
Local suppliers should be prioritised to support the local economy and minimise environmental
impacts. Where possible, consideration should be given to suppliers who are Aboriginal Businesses
or an Australian Disability Enterprise.

Low Value Purchases (<$50,000)
Single Purchase - Purchase Order
A purchase order is required for one-off purchases (except for credit card and petty cash purchases).
Purchase orders are not required for the payment of rates, utilities, and taxes. A Procurement and
Purchase Order Request form is required to accompany relevant documentation such as a quote.

Ongoing Purchases - Contract
A Procurement and Contract Establishment form and relevant documentation are required.
Continuing purchases from the same supplier should be aggregated into a single contract. Low value
contracts with no determined duration, the market should be tested at intervals of 3 years to ensure
value for money is continuously achieved. If the current supplier gives the best value for money, a
contract extension may be given.

High Value Purchases ($50,000+)
Request for Quote & Tenders
Formal Request for Quotation (RFQ) and Request for Tender (RFT) documents is required to be
approved by the required person(s) as detailed in the Delegations Register. Invitations to quote or
tender need to give all parties an equal opportunity to respond. Prospective suppliers are required
to be advised of any new information that changes the requirements, including changes to the
deadline.
Responses are required to be assessed in accordance with legislative requirements, against the
selection criteria, and value for money. A RFQ or RFT Evaluation form is required to be completed.
Once the final determination is made and approved, respondents are required to be advised in
writing. Acceptance of a quotation is required to be confirmed by forwarding correspondence to the
supplier with details of the accepted unit price, total purchase value and WMRC quotation/contract
number. The correspondence may be via letter, email, purchase order or contract number.
Note that the supply of vehicles, plant, or equipment (including office equipment) that is
manufactured to industry or Australian Standards does not require a formal quotation process.
Instead, a minimum of three written quotations are required.
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Expressions of Interest
Expressions of Interest (EOI) may be carried out as a prerequisite for a tender process (F&G Reg.21)
if the required supply evidences one of the following criteria:
• Unable to sufficiently scope or specify the requirement.
• Significant variability for how the requirement may be met.
• Unique solutions and / or multiple options offered.
• Subject to a creative element.
• A significant number of potential tenderers requiring shortlisting based on non-price assessment.
EOIs and RFTs invite potential suppliers to compete for a contract to supply goods or services valued
at $250,000 or more. A tender may be called for lesser values if considered appropriate.

Contract Variations, Extensions and Renewals
Where a contract has been entered into as the result of a publicly invited tender process, then
Functions and General Regulation 21A applies. For other contracts, the contract must not be varied
unless the variation:
• is necessary for continuous supply and does not change the scope of the contract; or
• is an extension and was included in the original contract.
The market is required to be tested upon expiry of the original contract and extensions.

Sole Suppliers
Contracts for a unique good or service and valued at over $5,000 may be approved where:
• the purchasing requirement/specification has been documented
• the specification has been market tested and only one potential supplier has been identified
• market testing and supplier assessments have been evidenced in records, inclusive of a rationale
for why the supply is determined as unique.
• quotations / tenders cannot be sourced through more than one potential supplier.
For continuing purchasing requirements, testing the market every 3 years includes obtaining
evidence that only one potential supplier still genuinely exists.

Non-Compliance
Non-compliance with legislation, this Purchasing Policy, or the Code of Conduct, is required to be
reported to the Chief Executive officer or the Manager Finance and Governance. If investigated,
findings need to be considered in context of the person’s training, experience, seniority, and
reasonable performance expectations. Breaches may be treated as:
• an opportunity for additional training.
• a disciplinary matter (possibly subject to reporting requirements under the Public Sector
Management Act 1994)
• for serious misconduct, the matter will be reported in accordance with the Corruption, Crime and
Misconduct Act 2003.

Adopted / Modified
This policy is required to be reviewed annually

Council Adoption

Meeting Date

Item #

Implementation Responsibility

06.08.2020

Item 10.8

Manager Finance & Governance
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A. INTRODUCTION
1.

Background to Delegations

The aim of delegations is to assist with improving the time taken to make decisions within the
constraints imposed by legislation. This is consistent with the WMRC’s commitment to efficiency and
customer service.
A delegation is where a person or body is appointed to exercise a power or discharge a duty by the
person who has the responsibility to exercise that power or duty. In exercising a delegated authority,
such appointed person does so “on behalf” of the delegator.

2.

Requirements for Delegated Authorities

There are two requirements for a delegation to be effective:
•

there must be a power to delegate; and

•

a power to be delegated must exist.

Power to Delegate
The power to delegate must be contained within legislation. However, a legislative power to delegate
only relates to the powers or duties under the Act which the delegated power is located. 1
For example, the Local Government Act 1995 contains powers to delegate (as described below),
however it is not possible to rely on this power of delegation, to delegate functions of local government
under other legislation. For example, under the Bush Fires Act 1954 any delegation by a local
government can only be delegated by the delegation provisions of that Act.
Power to be Delegated
The power to be delegated must be able to be exercised by the person or body delegated that power.
The power must also be contained in the same legislation as the associated power to delegate.

3.

Delegated Authority under the Local Government Act 1995

The Local Government Act 1995 was introduced on 1 July 1996 and made significant changes to the
way local governments’ conduct their business. Its general aim was to enable local governments to
provide good open and accountable government to the community.

4.

Delegation by Council to CEO

Section 5.42 of the Local Government Act 1995 provides the local government may delegate to the
CEO the exercise of any of its powers or duties under the Act, subject to limitations in section 5.4. All
delegations made must be by absolute majority.
Section 5.43 of the Local Government Act 1995 specifies the decisions which cannot be delegated by
Council to the Chief Executive Officer. These are as follows:
•

any power or duty that requires a decision of an absolute majority or 75% majority of the local
government;

•

accepting a tender which exceeds an amount determined by the local government;

•

appointing an auditor;

Government of Western Australia, Department of Local Government Delegations – Local Government
Operational Guidelines - #17 Jan 2007

1
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•

acquiring or disposing of any property valued at an amount determined by the local government;

•

any of the local government’s powers under sections 5.98, 5.98A, 5.99, 5.99A and 5.100 of the
Local Government Act 1995;

•

borrowing money on behalf of the local government;

•

hearing or determining an objection of a kind referred to in section 9.5 of the Local Government
Act 1995;

•

any power under section 9.49(4) of the Local Government Act 1995 to authorise a person to
sign documents on behalf of the local government;

•

any power or duty that requires the approval of the Minister or the Governor; and

•

such other powers or duties that may be prescribed.

5.

Sub-delegation by CEO to an employee

Section 5.44 of the Local Government Act 1995 allows for the Chief Executive Officer to delegate to
an employee any of their powers or the discharge of any of their functions under the Act, other than
their power of delegation.
Section 5.44(2) of the Act provides that the delegation to an employee is to be in writing and s.5.44 (3)
states that the delegation shall be subject to any conditions imposed by the local government on its
delegation to the Chief Executive Officer. Section 5.44(4) allows the CEO to place conditions on any
delegations under this section.

6.

Sub-delegation by CEO to an employee under other legislation

Under common law, sub-delegation is only permitted where it is expressly provided for in legislation.
The Local Government Act 1995, expressly permits sub-delegation by a Chief Executive Officer, as
outlined in paragraph 5 above.
Numerous pieces of legislation do not specifically refer to a power of delegation. For example, the
Bush Fires Act 1954 does not provide for a CEO to delegate to another employee to exercise the
powers delegated by council to the CEO under s.48 of that Act. Therefore, only the CEO may exercise
the powers delegated by council to the CEO under that Act.

7.

Acting Through

In addition to covering delegations, the Local Government Act 1995 introduces the concept of “acting
through”. Section 5.45 of the Act states that in relation to delegations, nothing prevents a “local
government from performing any of its functions by acting through a person other than the CEO” or “a
CEO from performing any of his or her functions by acting through another person.”
The Act does not specifically define the meaning of the term “acting through”. However, the key
difference between a delegation and “acting through” is that a delegate exercises the delegated
decision-making function in his or her own right. The principal issue is that where a person has no
discretion in carrying out a function, then that function may be taken through the “acting through”
concept.
Alternatively, where the decision allows for discretion on the part of the decision maker, then that
function needs to be delegated for another person to have that authority.

8.

Register of Delegations

Under s.5.46 of the Local Government Act 1995, the CEO is to keep a register of the delegations
made to the CEO under s.5.42 and employees under s.5.44. Section 5.46(2) of the Act provides
that at least once every financial year, delegations are to be reviewed by the delegator.

Page 4 of 15

9.

Record of Delegations

Under s.5.46(3) of the Local Government Act 1995, delegates who are appointed under the Local
Government Act 1995 are to keep a written record of each occasion on which they exercise the powers
or discharge the duties delegated to them.
Regulation 19 of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996, states that the record is to
contain the following information:
•

how the person exercised the power or discharged the duty;

•

when the person exercised the power or discharged the duty; and

•

the person or classes of persons, other than council or committee members or employees of
the local government, directly affected by the exercise of the power or the discharge of the duty.

This Delegations Register identifies the relevant record of use for each delegation, to assist delegates
in determining what information to record when exercising a delegation. Note, that there is only a
specific requirement in legislation to keep a written record of the exercise of the delegation, where the
delegation has been made and exercised under the Local Government Act 1995. However, for
consistency, the same requirements should be followed for delegations made and exercised under
other legislation.

10. Primary and Annual Returns
A person to whom a power is delegated under the Local Government Act 1995 is considered to be a
‘designated employee’ under s.5.74 (b) of the Local Government Act 1995 and is required to complete
a primary return within three months of receiving a delegation. Annual returns are to be completed by
31 August in each year in accordance with s.5.76 of the Local Government Act 1995.

11. This Delegations Register
This Delegations Register:
•

details the related legislation where the power to delegate is derived from, along with the related
legislation or documents confirming the power delegated;

•

states if the relevant delegation can be sub-delegated by the CEO to employees and if so who
the delegations are sub-delegated to;

•

details in its appendix separate “one-off” delegations that have been made to the CEO directly
from the local government; and;

•

will be reviewed in accordance with the Local Government Act 1995 on an annual basis.

Page 5 of 15

B. DELEGATIONS
1.

Appointment of Acting CEO

Delegated by:

Local Government

Power to delegate:

Section 5.42 Local Government Act 1995 – a local government
may delegate to the CEO the exercise of any of its powers or any
of its duties as specified in s.5.42.

Delegated to:

Chief Executive Officer

Power/authority delegated:

Authority to appoint an officer in the role of Acting Chief
Executive Officer, in the absence of a Chief Executive Officer.

Conditions:

The appointment must be made in writing and is to be for a
maximum period of four (4) weeks.
The role of Acting Chief Executive Officer will assume all of the
Authorisations and Delegations of the Chief Executive Officer,
unless expressly written otherwise.

References:

Sections 5.36, 5.39(1a) Local Government Act 1995
Regulation 18A(1)(b) Local Government (Administration)
Regulations 1996

Power to sub-delegate:

Yes - s.5.44 Local Government Act 1995 – a CEO may delegate
to any employee of the local government the exercise of any of
the CEO’s powers or the discharge of any of the CEO’s duties
under the Local Government Act 1995.

Sub-delegated to:

Not sub-delegated.

Record of use:

Details of decisions made are to be recorded in writing and
retained in the Council record keeping system, along with any
evidentiary documents. Such records/documents must contain
sufficient information to ensure that the requirements of
Regulation 19 of the Local Government (Administration)
Regulations 1996 are met.

Date Adopted:

02/12/2010

Last reviewed:

03/12/2020
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2.

Payments from Municipal and Trust Funds and transfer to and from
Reserve Accounts

Delegated by:

Local Government

Power to delegate:

Section 5.42 Local Government Act 1995 – a local government
may delegate to the CEO the exercise of any of its powers or any
of its duties as specified in s.5.42.

Delegated to:

Chief Executive Officer

Power/authority delegated:

Regulation 12 Local Government (Financial Management)
Regulations 1996.
Authority to make payments from the municipal fund and trust
fund.
Section 6.11 Local Government Act 1995
This includes the transfer of funds to and from Reserve
accounts as allowed for in the budget.

Conditions:

All payments are to be authorised by two appropriately delegated
officers – being the CEO and a sub-delegate; or two Category A
sub-delegates; or a Category A and a Category B sub-delegate.

References:

N/A

Power to sub-delegate:

Yes - s.5.44 Local Government Act 1995 – a CEO may delegate
to any employee of the local government the exercise of any of
the CEO’s powers or the discharge of any of the CEO’s duties
under the Local Government Act 1995.

Sub-delegated to:

Group A: Manager Finance and Governance; Manager
Communications and Education and Manager Operations. Group
B: Executive Assistant. At the CEO’s sole discretion an employee
acting in one of the above positions may be authorised to become
a bank signatory should the need arise.

Record of use:

Details of decisions made are to be recorded in writing and
retained in the Council record keeping system, along with any
evidentiary documents. Such records/documents must contain
sufficient information to ensure that the requirements of
Regulation 19 of the Local Government (Administration)
Regulations 1996 are met.

Date Adopted:

02/12/2010

Last reviewed:

03/12/2020
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3.

Authorisation of Expenditure from Municipal and Trust Funds

Delegated by:

Local Government

Power to delegate:

Section 5.42 Local Government Act 1995 – a local government
may delegate to the CEO the exercise of any of its powers or any
of its duties as specified in s.5.42.

Delegated to:

Chief Executive Officer

Power/authority delegated:

Sections 6.7 and 6.9 Local Government Act 1995
Authority to authorise expenditure from the municipal fund and
trust fund.

Conditions:

All purchases must be within budget allocation or through Council
resolution;
All purchases must be made in accordance with Council Policy –
Purchases & Tenders

References:

Purchasing Authority Limits from Section 6.8 Local Government
Act 1995

Power to sub-delegate:

Yes - Section.5.44 Local Government Act 1995 – a CEO may
delegate to any employee of the local government the exercise of
any of the CEO’s powers or the discharge of any of the CEO’s
duties under the Local Government Act 1995.

Sub-delegated to:

Those positions detailed in the Purchasing Authority Limits form.

Conditions of sub-delegation:

Expenditure authorised must be within the limit detailed in the
Purchasing Authority Limits form.

Record of use:

Details of decisions made are to be recorded in writing and
retained in the Council record keeping system, along with any
evidentiary documents. Such records/documents must contain
sufficient information to ensure that the requirements of
Regulation 19 of the Local Government (Administration)
Regulations 1996 are met.

Date Adopted:

02/12/2010

Last reviewed:

03/12/2020
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4.

Power to Invest

Delegated by:

Local Government

Power to delegate:

Section 5.42 Local Government Act 1995 – a local government
may delegate to the CEO the exercise of any of its powers or any
of its duties as specified in s.5.42.

Delegated to:

Chief Executive Officer

Power/ authority delegated:

Section 6.14(1) Local Government Act 1995
Authority to invest money held in the municipal fund or the trust
fund of a local government that is not, for the time being, required
by the local government for any other purpose may be invested
as trust funds under the Trustees Act 1962 Part III.

Conditions:

To comply with the Local Government (Financial Management)
Regulations 1996 including Reg.19 – Management of
Investments.
All investments are to be authorised by two appropriately delegated
officers.

References:

Council Policy - Finance

Power to sub-delegate:

Yes – s.5.44 Local Government Act 1995 – a CEO may delegate
to any employee of the local government the exercise of any of
the CEO’s powers or the discharge of any of the CEO’s duties
under the Local Government Act 1995.

Sub-delegated to:

Finance and Governance Manager; Manager Communications and
Education and Operations Manager

Record of use:

Details of decisions made are to be recorded in writing and
retained in the Council record keeping system, along with any
evidentiary documents. Such records/documents must contain
sufficient information to ensure that the requirements of
Regulation 19 of the Local Government (Administration)
Regulations 1996 are met.

Date adopted:

02/12/2010

Last reviewed:

03/12/2020
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5.

Discounts on Fees for Council Services

Delegated by:

Local Government

Power to delegate:

Section 5.42 Local Government Act 1995 – a local government
may delegate to the CEO the exercise of any of its powers or any
of its duties as specified in s.5.42.

Delegated to:

Chief Executive Officer

Power/ authority delegated:

Section 6.12 Local Government Act 1995. Authority to provide up to a
10% concession on any fee for Council services.

Conditions:

N/A

References:

Fees & Charges as adopted by Council

Power to sub-delegate:

Yes – s.5.44 Local Government Act 1995 – a CEO may delegate
to any employee of the local government the exercise of any of
the CEO’s powers or the discharge of any of the CEO’s duties
under the Local Government Act 1995.

Sub-delegated to:

N/A

Record of use:

Details of decisions made are to be recorded in writing and
retained in the Council record keeping system, along with any
evidentiary documents. Such records/documents must contain
sufficient information to ensure that the requirements of
Regulation 19 of the Local Government (Administration)
Regulations 1996 are met.

Date adopted:

02/06/2016

Last reviewed:

03/12/2020
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6.

Inviting Tenders and Determining Tender Evaluation Criteria

Delegated by:

Local Government

Power to delegate:

Section 5.42 Local Government Act 1995 – a local government
may delegate to the CEO the exercise of any of its powers or any
of its duties as specified in s.5.42.

Delegated to:

Chief Executive Officer

Power/ authority delegated:

Section 3.57 Local Government Act 1995; and Regulations 11 to
24 Local Government (Functions & General) Regulations 1996
Authority to invite tenders in accordance with section 3.57 where:
•

there is a “discrete and identifiable” budget allocation
provided by Council as part of their budget adoption or
review; and
•
the value of the tender is not to exceed $1million (excluding
GST).
Authority to determine tender evaluation criteria, the form of
contract and the Contract Superintendent in accordance with
Regulation 14 where:
•

the value of the tender is not to exceed $1million (excluding
GST); and

•

the criteria are to be in accordance with Council Policy –
Purchasing & Tenders.

Conditions:

N/A

References:

Council Policy – Purchasing & Tenders

Power to sub-delegate:

Yes – s.5.44 Local Government Act 1995 – a CEO may delegate
to any employee of the local government the exercise of any of
the CEO’s powers or the discharge of any of the CEO’s duties
under the Local Government Act 1995.

Sub-delegated to:

Not sub-delegated.

Record of use:

Details of decisions made are to be recorded in writing and
retained in the Council record keeping system, along with any
evidentiary documents such as relevant tender documentation.
Such records/documents must contain sufficient information to
ensure that the requirements of Regulation 19 of the Local
Government (Administration) Regulations 1996 are met.

Date adopted:

02/12/2010

Last reviewed:

03/12/2020
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7.

Accepting Tenders

Delegated by:

Local Government

Power to delegate:

Section 5.42 Local Government Act 1995 – a local government
may delegate to the CEO the exercise of any of its powers or any
of its duties as specified in s.5.42.
Section 5.43(b) Local Government Act 1995 – a local
government cannot delegate to the CEO the power to accept a
tender which exceeds an amount determined by the local
government for the purpose of s.5.43(b).

Delegated to:

Chief Executive Officer

Power/ authority delegated:

Section 3.57 Local Government Act 1995
Regulations 11 to 24 Local Government (Functions & General)
Regulations 1996
Authority to reject and accept tenders.

Conditions:

A tender may only be accepted where the consideration involved
does not exceed $250,000.00 (excluding GST) and the appropriate
provision is made in the budget.

References:

N/A

Power to sub-delegate:

Yes – s.5.44 Local Government Act 1995 – a CEO may delegate
to any employee of the local government the exercise of any of
the CEO’s powers or the discharge of any of the CEO’s duties
under the Local Government Act 1995.

Sub-delegated to:

Not sub-delegated.

Record of use:

Details of decisions made are to be recorded in writing and
retained in the Council record keeping system, along with any
evidentiary documents such as relevant tender documentation.
Such records/documents must contain sufficient information to
ensure that the requirements of Regulation 19 of the Local
Government (Administration) Regulations 1996 are met.

Date adopted:

02/12/2010

Last reviewed:

03/12/2020
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8.

Inviting Expressions of Interest and Determining Evaluation Criteria

Delegated by:

Local Government

Power to delegate:

Section 5.42 Local Government Act 1995 – a local government
may delegate to the CEO the exercise of any of its powers or any
of its duties as specified in s.5.42.

Delegated to:

Chief Executive Officer

Power/ authority delegated:

Regulations 20 to 24 Local Government (Functions & General)
Regulations 1996
•

Authority to invite Expressions of Interest in accordance
with regulation 21, where the estimated value of the
proposed purchase does not exceed $1million (excluding
GST); and

•

Authority to determine appropriate expression of interest
evaluation criteria.

Conditions:

N/A

References:

N/A

Power to sub-delegate:

Yes – s.5.44 Local Government Act 1995 – a CEO may delegate
to any employee of the local government the exercise of any of
the CEO’s powers or the discharge of any of the CEO’s duties
under the Local Government Act 1995.

Sub-delegated to:

Not sub-delegated

Record of use:

Details of decisions made are to be recorded in writing and
retained in the Council record keeping system, along with any
evidentiary documents such as relevant expression of interest
documentation. Such records/documents must contain
sufficient information to ensure that the requirements of
Regulation 19 of the Local Government (Administration)
Regulations 1996 are met.

Date adopted:

02/12/2010

Last reviewed:

03/12/2020
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9.

Execution of Documents

Delegated by:

Local Government

Power to delegate:

Section 5.42 Local Government Act 1995 – a local government
may delegate to the CEO the exercise of any of its powers or any
of its duties as specified in s.5.42.

Delegated to:

Chief Executive Officer

Power/ authority delegated: Section 9.49A (4) and (5) of the Local Government Act 1995
Authority to sign documents on behalf of the local government
Conditions:

The Chief Executive Officer and senior employees are authorised
to execute a document as a deed on behalf of the City where there
is a requirement for the document to be executed as a deed;
All employees are authorised to sign documents on behalf of the
local government to all matters arising under delegated authority
given by the Council under Section 5.42 of the Act; and generally
as is necessary or appropriate in carrying out his or her function
under the Act or under any written law, so long as they do so in
accordance with WMRC Operations Policy - Execution of
Documents

References:

N/A

Power to sub-delegate:

Yes – s.5.44 Local Government Act 1995 – a CEO may delegate
to any employee of the local government the exercise of any of
the CEO’s powers or the discharge of any of the CEO’s duties
under the Local Government Act 1995.

Sub-delegated to:

Not sub-delegated.

Record of use:

Details of decisions made are to be recorded in writing and
retained in the Council record keeping system, along with any
evidentiary documents. Such records/documents must contain
sufficient information to ensure that the requirements of
Regulation 19 of the Local Government (Administration)
Regulations 1996 are met.

Date adopted:

07/02/2019

Last reviewed:

03/12/2020
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10. Disposing of Property
Delegated by:

Local Government

Power to delegate:

Section 5.42 Local Government Act 1995 – a local government
may delegate to the CEO the exercise of any of its powers or any
of its duties as specified in s.5.42.

Delegated to:

Chief Executive Officer

Power/ authority delegated:

Section 3.53 (2) and (3 of the Local Government Act 1995
Authority to dispose of property in accordance with section 3.58 of
the Local Government Act 1995

Conditions:

The delegation is subject to:

•

the value of the property not exceeding $250,000; and

•

the disposal of any land and / or building assets being
specified in the Annual Budget or Corporate Business
Plan.

References:

N/A

Power to sub-delegate:

Yes – s.5.44 Local Government Act 1995 – a CEO may delegate
to any employee of the local government the exercise of any of
the CEO’s powers or the discharge of any of the CEO’s duties
under the Local Government Act 1995.

Sub-delegated to:

Not sub-delegated.

Record of use:

Details of decisions made are to be recorded in writing and
retained in the Council record keeping system, along with any
evidentiary documents. Such records/documents must contain
sufficient information to ensure that the requirements of
Regulation 19 of the Local Government (Administration)
Regulations 1996 are met.

Date adopted:

07/02/2019

Last reviewed:

03/12/2020
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Expenditure Authority
Attachment 10-7B

Under Delegation 3 from Council, the CEO has sub-delegated to particular WMRC positions/roles the
power to authorise expenditure from the municipal fund and trust fund. The expenditure authority limits of
the WMRC positions/roles authorised under Delegation 3 are set out below.
Expenditure authority limits apply to purchase orders (committing council to expenditure) and invoices for
payment. Where the value of a purchase order or invoice exceeds an Officer’s expenditure authority, the
purchase order or invoice must be forwarded to an Officer with the appropriate expenditure authority limit.

3.

AUTHORISATION OF EXPENDITURE FROM MUNICIPAL AND TRUST FUND
DELEGATED BY:

Local Government

POWER TO DELEGATE:

Section 5.42 Local Government Act 1995 – a local
government may delegate to the CEO the exercise of any of
its powers or any of its duties as specified in s.5.42.

DELEGATED TO:

Chief Executive Officer

POWER/AUTHORITY DELEGATED:

Sections 6.7 and 6.9 Local Government Act 1995
Authority to authorise expenditure from the municipal fund and
trust fund.

CONDITIONS:

All expenditure must be within budget allocation or through
Council resolution.
All purchases must be made in accordance with Council
Policy – Purchasing & Tenders

WMRC Officer

Expenditure Limit

Group A
CEO

$250,000

Manager Finance and Governance

$35,000

Manager Operations

$35,000

Manager Communications and Education

$35,000

Group B
Customer Services & Finance Officer

$1,500

Approved: 3 December 2020

Attachment 10-9A
Submission on the Review of the WARR Act
November 2020

Status of this Submission
This Submission has been prepared through the Municipal Waste Advisory Council (MWAC) for the
Western Australian Local Government Association (WALGA). MWAC is a standing committee of
WALGA, with delegated authority to represent the Association in all matters relating to solid waste
management. MWAC’s membership includes the major Regional Councils (waste management) as
well as a number of Local Government representatives. This makes MWAC a unique forum through
which all the major Local Government waste management organisations cooperate.
This Submission therefore represents the consolidated view of Western Australia Local Government.
However, individual Local Governments and Regional Councils may have views that differ from the
positions taken here.

Executive Summary
The Association appreciates the opportunity to provide input into the second review of the Waste
Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 2007 (WARR Act). The review of the Act offers an
opportunity to address some key issues with the Act and ensure the legislation is fit for purpose in the
future.
Independent Waste Agency - In this Submission three options are presented for the future of the
Waste Authority; a fully independent waste agency, the status quo and the removal of the Waste
Authority from the Act. Feedback from Local Government, and WALGA’s existing policy position, is
that there should be an independent waste agency, tasked with policy development and program
delivery and the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation should focus on regulatory
functions.
Clarity required on Local Government Waste Services – there are different views within the sector
regarding waste services and the degree of direction that State Government should be providing.
Further discussion with Local Government is needed prior to any changes being made.
Include Waste Education / Behaviour Change in definition of waste services – Waste education
and behaviour change are recognised as an essential component of effective waste service delivery.
However the current definition of waste services does not include this.
Strengthen Act to enable Extended Producer Responsibility – Local Government strongly
supports state based Extended Producer Responsibility in the absence of effective and timely national
approaches. It is imperative the Act is strengthened to support this outcome.
Consideration of Circular Economy and Collaboration – Further work is needed to determine
what a circular economy would look like for WA and the waste sector cannot, alone, drive this work.
The review of the WARR Act offers an opportunity to embed circular economy into legislation. There
is also a need for increased collaboration across all waste streams, particularly in regional areas.
When the WARR Bill was developed the Association engaged actively with the Department and had a
collaborative working relationship in relation to the development of the legislation. This process was
very productive and the Association requests that in progressing any changes to the WARR Act that a
collaborative approach be taken to ensure that Local Government input is included.
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1. Introduction
The Association appreciates the opportunity to provide input into the second review of the Waste
Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 2007 (WARR Act). The WARR Act includes a provision to
require a review every 5 years. The first review commenced in December 2014 and was finalised in
September 2015 – no changes to the Act were made following this review. The Second review is now
occurring, with the release of a Discussion Paper by the Department of Water and Environmental
Regulation (DWER). The key areas that the Department has identified in the Paper include:
 Role, responsibility and resourcing of the Waste Authority
 Waste Authority / Department interaction
 Clarification regarding how the WARR Act is administered
 Increase capacity in the WARR Act to “improve waste services”
 Modifications in relation to the Container Deposit Scheme
 Any other matters.
The Paper identifies the need, in reviewing the Act, to ensure the issues raised by the Office of the
Auditor General review are addressed.
In developing this Submission, MWAC has drawn on a range of previous Submissions and other
resources including the WALGA Policy Statement on Waste Legislation and the Vision for Waste
Management in the Metropolitan area.
This Submission has five sections:
 Role of the Waste Authority
 Local Government Waste Services
 Product Stewardship and Extended Producer Responsibility
 Other potential improvements
 Administrative amendments.

2. Role of the Waste Authority
Section of the Discussion Paper
Section 4 Waste Policy Development
Section 6 Provision of Services to the Waste Authority
Questions from the Discussion Paper
1. Please provide feedback on the roles and functions of the Waste Authority and the CEO and department
under the WARR Act? What are the potential areas for improvement? What benefits or impacts may result from
clarifying the department’s role and responsibilities?
3. Please provide feedback on the proposal to allow the Waste Authority to directly employ its own staff, or to
enable the Minister for Environment or some other person to employ or appoint persons to work directly for the
Waste Authority. Will this support the work of the Waste Authority and the department?

In the Discussion Paper the Department identify that the Waste Authority has a role in formulating
waste policy or positions and advocating for their adoption. In the Act, the Waste Authority is
specifically tasked with formulation of the Waste Strategy, consultation with stakeholders in doing so,
and developing an annual business plan. However, all of these functions are subject to the approval
of the Environment Minister and the work of developing these documents is undertaken by the
Department. The Discussion Paper also states, “[i]mportantly the Waste Authority provides a
mechanism for State Government to receive external advice on waste policy and program
implementation”.
In considering how to comment on the role and function of the Waste Authority, MWAC has identified
three potential options:
 Independent Agency
 Status Quo
 Waste Authority removed from the WARR Act.
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In the following discussion, there is commentary on the advantages and disadvantages of each
approach. Acknowledging that in WA we do not have a direct experience of the Independent Agency
model.
Model
Independent Agency
Characteristics – this would be a
fully independent Agency, with the
ability to directly employ staff, with
a skills based Board. Modelled on
Green Industries South Australia.
It is anticipated the agency would
still be funded by the WARR
Account, and develop and
implement an annual Business
Plan – approved by the Minister.
The functions would be program
and policy related. DWER would
continue to provide regulatory
functions.
This is WALGA’s preferred model
based on the Waste Management
Legislation Policy Statement.

Status Quo
Characteristics - the current
approach with the Department
providing services to the Waste
Authority.

Waste Authority removed from the
Act
Characteristics – the Waste
Authority would be removed from
the Act and the responsibilities
ascribed to the Environment
Minister and Department of Water
and Environmental Regulation.

Advantages
Removes any ambiguity and
complexity in relation to the role of
the agency and staff.
Provides the opportunity for
approaches to be progressed
without need for Ministerial
approval for every action.
This type of structure, while likely
to be subject to the same type of
political forces as other
Government agencies would at
least be tasked with achieving
outcomes and be held
accountable for that. Currently
accountability is shared between
Minister, Department and Waste
Authority.
Opportunity to have open
discussion about how policy and
regulation interact.
Potential for a much broader remit
for the Agency (such as driving a
circular economy approach).
The current structure and
approach has evolved over time
and there is currently a high
degree of across Government
cooperation in the delivery of the
Waste Strategy. This is a
significant achievement for those
involved at the Ministerial,
Departmental and Waste Authority
level. However, it is not clear if
the current situation is a product of
the Waste Authority structure
itself.
Reduces costs (no Waste
Authority sitting fees), reduces
administration associated with the
Waste Authority and streamlines
decision making process.

Disadvantages
Moving to separate agency would
take time and could introduce
delays to the implementation of
the Strategy.
A separate agency model is not in
line with the Machinery of
Government review approach –
which has removed/reduced the
number of agencies.
It would require a high level of
engagement between the new
agency and DWER to ensure that
the regulatory approaches align
and support policy and programs.

There will continue to be a
situation where staff at the
Department are providing advice
to the Waste Authority and the
Minister. Decision making is
complex, as the Waste Authority,
Department and Minister all
involved in the process.

No guaranteed stakeholder input
into decision making process.

Discussion
Specifically on the question 3 regarding staffing for the Waste Authority, the Association does not
support the Waste Authority directly employing staff. This has occurred in the past and created a
situation where there was significant duplication of effort and structural complexity. It is outside the
scope of the WARR Act Review, but the Association considers that all functions of the Department
which relate to waste policy and programs should be brought together into one branch – so that staff
working on solutions for plastics and the Container Deposit Scheme are working alongside those
considering product stewardship policy and program development.
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Prior to the WARR Act, there was an advisory Waste Board, appointed on a representative basis from
Local Government and industry. This provided advice to Government. A waste strategy was
developed but never fully implemented during this time.
The level of engagement with stakeholders, and the extent to which stakeholder views will be taken
on board, is very much dependent on the culture of the organisation undertaking the engagement and
the Governments view regarding the need and importance of these activities. If there a high regard
for stakeholder input at a Departmental and Ministerial level, then structures and approaches will be
put in place to ensure that. If there is the opposite, then whatever structures are in place it is likely
they will be ineffective.
The current Minister and Department have shown a high degree of willingness to engage with
stakeholders, directly and through the formation of various working groups to provide input into
legislation, regulation, policy and Strategy implementation. For example, the Waste Reform Advisory
Group, Container Deposit Scheme Advisory Group and the FOGO Reference Group.
Feedback from Local Government supported a fully independent Waste Agency focused on policy
development and program delivery.

3. Local Government Waste Services
Section of the Discussion Paper
Section 7 Waste Services
Question from the Discussion Paper
4. What are your views about the proposal to enhance the capacity of the WARR Act to improve waste
services? Do you see any potential issues?

The Discussion Paper identifies a number of matters requiring clarification:
It has been identified that the powers under the WARR Act requiring a local government to
provide waste services are not clear, and there are limitations on the powers under waste
plans and waste collection permits. Further clarity appears necessary to ensure power
provide for broader sustainability outcomes.
Definitions from the Act
“local government waste” means —
(a) waste from residential sources; and
(b) any other waste of a kind prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this paragraph, but
does not include sewage or waste of a kind prescribed by the regulations as excluded for the
purposes of this definition;
“waste service” means —
(a) the collection, transport, storage, treatment, processing, sorting, recycling or disposal of waste; or
(b) the provision of receptacles for the temporary deposit of waste; or
(c) the provision and management of waste facilities, machinery for the disposal of waste and
processes for dealing with waste;
Provision of waste services
Under the WARR Act, there is no requirement that Local Governments have to provide waste
services, the Act S.50 (1) Subject to this Act and the EP Act, a local government may provide, or
enter into a contract for the provision on its behalf of, waste services. [Emphasis added]
The Act was drafted in this matter because there are clearly circumstance where Local Governments
cannot provide waste service for Local Government waste, or may choose not to provide them for a
range of economic, social and environmental reasons. For example, remote cattle stations or in a
mixed commercial or residential development. The Council of the Local Government ultimately
makes the decision regarding the scope of the Waste Services provided.
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However, the Act does provide the CEO of DWER with the power to require a Local Government to
provide a waste service to protect human health or the environment. There is an appeal provision in
the Act. To the Associations knowledge this power has not been used to date.
Feedback from Local Government identified several issues in relation to the current provisions:
 For smaller non-metropolitan Local Governments extreme concerns were expressed about the
potential to be forced to provide services by the State Government that were not financially
sustainable. Concerns were also expressed about the capacity of some smaller Local
Governments to meet the ever increasing expectations in relation to waste management, with
what started as a basic provision to protect human health and the environment now expanding
in scope. These Local Governments identified that where the Local Government could not
provide these services, the State Government would potentially need to step in and
fund/provide services. This is a vital consideration for remote aboriginal communities.
 Some metropolitan Local Governments indicated that a higher level of direction from the State
Government about services was necessary. As the WARR Act says ‘may’ not ‘must/will’
provide services, this is open to interpretation.
 It was highlighted that the definition of waste services does not include waste education/
behaviour change. As this is an essential element of effective waste management, it needs to
included in the definition to give the head of power to charge for waste education/behaviour
change as part of the waste services charge.
The Association recommends:
 Further discussion with Local Government to determine if any amendments to the WARR Act
can address issues with provision of service, or if other mechanisms would be appropriate.
 That waste education/behaviour change are included in the definition of waste services.
Limitations on the powers under waste plans
The current powers under the WARR Act in relation to waste plans are:
 The CEO (Director General) of DWER may require a Local Government to have a waste plan
 The CEO can require the Local Government to modify the plan – but must consult with the
Local Government prior to doing so and have regard to the Local Government views
 The CEO can modify the plan and charge any costs onto the Local Government
 Local Government must perform waste management activities in accordance with their waste
plan
 The CEO may require Local Government to report on the waste plan
 There are appeal provision to the State Administrative Tribunal.
Local Governments are currently developing the second round of Waste Plans, since the WARR Acts
inception. The current suite of powers for the CEO allows the modification of a plan (and recovery of
any costs) it also requires Local Government to implement and report on the Plan. These powers are
quite significant in relation to directing Local Governments activities in relation to waste management.
There is not a penalty if the Local Government does not comply with its Waste Plan. The Association
is not aware of any instance where the CEO has required the modification of a Local Governments
plan using the power in the Act.
Feedback from Local Government identified that the existing Waste Plan requirements already give
the Department substantial influence over how Local Government provide services – as the Plans
need to align with the Strategy – therefore expansion of the powers was not supported.
The Association does not support a change to the current Act and appeal provisions in relation to
Waste Plans.
Limitations on the powers waste collection permits
Issuing a waste collection permits allow the CEO to effectively contract out Local Government waste
services, if the “waste management techniques employed [by the Local Government] are not
consistent with modern practice”. How “modern practice” is defined is that the Waste Authority has a
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relevant ‘code of practice’ in place or if no relevant code of practice have regard to the advice of the
Waste Authority. This section of the Act has not been used, so it is difficult to identify to what extent
there are limitations. However, as its focus is on collection and does not include infrastructure
provision, education or charging mechanisms, it could be difficult to implement a service consistent
with ‘modern practice’ using this approach.
The Association does not support changes to the current Act, without a far greater understanding of
what exactly is proposed and how that would impact on the sector.
Power for broader sustainability outcomes
The current Objects of the Act identify that “The primary objects of this Act are to contribute to
sustainability, and the protection of human health and the environment, in Western Australia and the
move towards a waste-free society” [Emphasis added].
The Objects of the Act set the context for the legislation and offer a reference point as to its intent.
In relation to Local Government activities, sustainability considerations are already imbedded in the
Local Government Act 1995 section 1.3 (3) which captures this intent:
In carrying out its functions a local government is to use its best endeavours to meet the
needs of current and future generations through an integration of environmental protection,
social advancement and economic prosperity.
Although the definition is perhaps somewhat dated, this could be addressed through the ongoing
review of the Local Government Act, rather than a very specific definition of environmental
sustainability only applying to one aspect of the Local Government operations.
Proposed Reforms
In the Discussion Paper the proposed reforms are stated as:
There is benefit in ensuring the WARR Act includes the capacity for improved efficiency and
innovation for long-term viability of onshore processing, including market development for the
sustainable demand for locally produced recycled products – such as compost from large scale
food organics and garden organic (FOGO) processing – as well as the ability to ensure a
management framework that supports a resilient waste and resource recovery sector with
services to households that:
 Are cost effective, safe and reliable
 Are informed by the State Government’s environmental sustainability objectives
 Can adapt to and withstand market disruptions.
The Paper also notes that the current definitions in the Act are considered sufficient
However, further definition of the head powers and mechanisms that would apply to these
services, such as waste plans, or fees and charges, is considered important to drive better
practice waste management outcomes and actions that meet the Waste Strategy targets for
material recovery.
In relation to Waste Services the outcomes that the Paper identifies include:
 Support onshore processing
 Market development for recovered materials – such as FOGO
 Contingency planning
 Ensuring Local Government services meet the material recovery targets in the Strategy.
The Association considers that while there may be legislative support needed for some of these
outcomes, they do not necessarily relate only to Local Government waste services, as the private
sector is essential in providing for onshore processing, market development and contingency planning
and Local Government alone cannot drive these outcomes.
It is difficult to answers the question posed in the Discussion Paper as a clear proposal about exactly
what would change, what new powers would be inserted and their implications is not included.
Following the issues raised however, the implied reform is to insert the power into the WARR Act for
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the State Government to more specifically direct how Local Government provides waste services.
Feedback from the sector has identified that it is essential that waste services are tailored to the Local
Government area, for example the approach used in the metropolitan area will not necessarily work in
regional areas.

4. Product Stewardship and Extended Producer Responsibility
Section of the Discussion Paper
Section 8 Waste legislative issues
Question from the Discussion Paper
4. Please provide comments on product stewardship plans or extended producer responsibility schemes, and if
the WARR Act require amendments to support their introduction.

The current Act was developed with the intent that State based product stewardship/extended
producer responsibility would be enabled. The implementation of the Container Deposit Scheme
showed that the Act was not sufficient for this purpose, as amendments were required.
Although a national approach is preferred for Product Stewardship, as most products are sold into the
national market, there are instances where this approach has not worked or the approach has been
less than timely. The Container Deposit Scheme stalled at a national level, so States and Territories
have instead progressed (all slightly different) Schemes. The national TV and Computer Scheme was
developed and implemented, however the outcomes while useful are not currently equitable for WA
and some other jurisdictions, as there is only a national target, not individual jurisdiction targets. The
Scheme covers TVs, Computers and peripherals, which only make up about 70% of the ewaste Local
Governments in WA are collecting.
There is a clear case for taking a State based approach to product stewardship, should a national
approach be insufficient or not occur in a timely manner.
The Association recommends that the WARR Act be strengthened to ensure that State based
approaches to Extended Producer Responsibility can be taken.

5. Additional Amendments
Section of the Discussion Paper
Section 9 Other
Question from the Discussion Paper
8. Are there any other matters which should be considered as part of this review of the WARR Act?
9. How do you think the WARR Act could better support an innovative and thriving waste sector, and ensure
that waste and recycling services are effective?

How does WA transition to a circular economy?
Since the Act was introduced in 2007, there has been a significant shift in thinking in relation to waste
management, particularly with the advent of Circular Economy as a clear model and approach to
addressing not only waste management issues but broader social, economic and environmental
outcomes. If WA is going to progress a Circular Economy, it cannot be only be waste management
which drives this change – waste may be the symptom of what we need to change - but the solutions
lie in product design, innovative procurement, market and industry development, disruptive
technologies and approaches, social change and a new economic approach.
If it is the intent, as stated in the Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategy, for WA to
transition to a circular economy it is likely that a structure which works across Government will be
needed. As WALGA suggested in its submission on the draft Strategy and initial step would be to
model what a circular economy would look like for WA.
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Framework for Collaboration
At the time of the first WARR Act Review, the Association developed a Waste Vision Paper for the
sector identifying a new structure and approach to coordinating waste services across the
metropolitan area. A key part of this suggested approach was Regional Council consolidation:
 Reduce the number of Regional Councils from five to three
 Compulsory Local Government membership
 Ability to operate on a commercial basis
 Geographically based boundaries
 Ability to appoint skills based member of the Regional Council
 Provide mandatory and discretionary services.
Feedback from Local Government indicated that there was still interest in this approach and reforms
to the Local Government Act may facilitate other governance models to support this.
The WARR Act focuses strongly on Local Government activities, however Local Government waste is
only a proportion of the waste stream. The commercial and industrial and construction and demolition
waste streams, cumulatively, produce far greater amounts of material. Local Government, particularly
in the non-metropolitan area, may take a significant role in managing / or coordinating the
management of these waste streams. The current system where they are all considered separately
limits potential collaboration. Regional collaboration – across all waste streams – will assist in
developing economies of scale and may happen independently without Government intervention.
However, a framework for collaboration which has some Government impetus or organisation greatly
assist.

6. Administrative matters
This section focuses on the administrative changes the Department is proposing in relation to the
WARR Act.
Section of the Discussion Paper,
Proposed Change and consultation
question
Section 5 Administering the WARR Account
Clarifying what it means to ‘administer’ the
WARR Act, so that the Director General of
DWER has responsibility for financial
matters.
2. Are there any potential issues arising
from the proposed reforms to improve the
administration of the WARR Account?

Comments
Case for change – yes, effectively it is already occurring, so
the legislation should be amended to reflect this.
Comment
If other changes to the Waste Authority structure that WALGA
are suggesting do not eventuate this is a useful amendment to
clarify matters. However, WALGA would recommend far
greater levels of detail are provided in the Waste Authority
annual Report to Parliament on the level of expenditure
against the business plan.
Support amendment

Section 8 Waste legislative issues
Amendments in relation to the CDS portion
of the legislation in relation to a prohibition
on MRF operators disposing of containers
in a prohibited manner AND including a
provision to allow for transitional
arrangements for the Scheme Coordinator
Board.
5. Are there any potential issues that may
result from these proposals to improve
operational and administration aspects of
the CDS?

Case for change – yes.
Comment
In relation to the Material Recovery Facilities (MRF) operations
it is not practical for these sites to capture 100% of all
containers brought onto site, as some will be so contaminated
or damaged (e.g. glass fines) that they cannot be recovered.
In relation to the Scheme Coordinator Board, it is reasonable
to have transitional provisions (of the proposed 40 business
days) for if a Board member resigns suddenly.
Support amendment
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Section 8 Waste legislative issues
Alignment of definitions between the WARR
Act and EP Act on what the Governor can
put in regulation.
7. Please provide feedback on these
proposed changes to support regulations
that implement the waste management
framework.

Case for change – not evident in the Department Discussion
Paper.
Comment
This seems to be more a case of aiming for consistency than
any particular problem having occurred. The case is put
forward is that the definition in the WARR Act is not as broad
as the EP Act.
No substantive objection to the amendment, however
evidence of the problem has not been presented.

Section 8 Waste legislative issues
Proposal to increase the fines associated
with
7. Will increasing penalties under the
regulations be effective in deterring illegal
waste activities?

Case for change – not evident in the Department Discussion
Paper.
Comment
The Department identifies the current fines of max $10,000
with a $1,000 per day max are not likely to deter unlawful
waste disposal. The proposal is to increase the penalty to max
$20,000.
Those industries more directly impacted by this issue may be
able to provide information as to what level of penalty would be
appropriate. Feedback from Local Government indicated it was
imperative that the penalty was sufficient to deter the offence.
There are a range of other provisions in the various waste
reform documents and the Environmental Protection Act
changes which may address some of these issues.
No substantive objection to the amendment, however
evidence as to why the increase is likely to be more
effective has not been presented.
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Attachment 11-3A
Incoming Waste Tonne by Type 2020-21
Product Category - General Waste

Commercial
Commercial - General Waste
Commercial - Construction & Demolition
Member Council - Operation
Member Council -General Waste
Member Council - Other
Member Council - Bulk Waste
Member Council - Illegal Dumping
Member Council - Construction & Demolition
Council - Resident
Member Council Residents - General Waste
Member Council Residents - Construction & Demolition
Participating Council Residents - General Waste
Participating Council Residents - Construction & Demolition
Non-Member Council Residents - General Waste
Non-Member Council Residents - Construction & Demolition
Non Member Council - Operation

Jul

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Total

150.65
15.54

139.00
21.66

148.16
24.72

588.81
90.52

906.71
63.62
27.14
0.12
8.16

829.42
88.66
63.40
0.00
15.54

884.04
95.44
0.00
0.00
14.06

868.04
92.92
0.00
0.00
1.30

3488.21
340.64
90.54
0.12
39.06

13.55
3.18
0.00
0.00
16.32
0.00
0.00

83.65
13.02
0.00
0.00
45.28
1.80
0.00

95.65
17.02
26.95
1.92
42.64
5.34
0.38

98.84
7.28
36.45
4.96
34.27
4.94
1.12

291.69
40.50
63.40
6.88
138.51
12.08
1.50

101.14
13.40

74.10
15.12

99.54
29.38

90.35
23.66

365.13
81.56

143.80
218.38
0.00
26.96

111.26
217.30
32.22
22.52

46.70
253.22
84.64
29.98

82.44
250.88
109.20
17.68

384.20
939.78

6.76
0.00
7.83

43.41
0.00
45.45

42.81
10.04
21.77

36.88
12.42
25.80

129.86
22.46
100.85

2.20
3.80
0.39
1.00
29.04

2.50
5.50
0.10
0.50
21.58

4.10
6.00
0.28
0.80
26.22

3.90
7.20
0.26
2.20
21.00

12.70
22.50
1.03
4.50
97.84

11.96
11.00
0.00
0.00
1796.06

17.26
19.14
0.00
0.00
1934.92

22.42
22.03
0.00
0.00
2044.03

17.04
17.54
0.00
0.00
2041.45

0.00

68.68
69.71
0.00
0.00
7816.46

1733
1452
2264
0.00

Total
30791
21397
24588
7815.48

Commercial
Commercial - Greenwaste
Greenwaste Transfer Fee
Council - Operation
Member Council -Greenwaste
Member Council - GO Bin
Member Council - Bulk
Non-Member Council - Greenwaste
Council - Resident
Member Council - GreenWaste
Participating Council - GreenWaste
Non-Member Council - Greenwaste

Product Category - Recycling & Problematic Waste

Waste Tonnes by Year
2017 - 2018
2018 - 2019
2019 - 2020
2020 - 2021

Sep

151.00
28.60

Product Category - GreenWaste

Asbestos
Mattresses
Tyres
Degassing
Recycling Transfer Fee
Product Category - Verge Valet Collections
Member Council - Greenwaste
Member Council - Bulk Waste
Participating Council - Greenwaste
Participating Council - Bulk Waste
Monthly Totals

Aug

Jul

1761
1632
1685
1796

Aug

1880
1721
1778
1934

Sep

2484
1786
1878
2044

Oct

2608
2083
2525
2041

97.14

0.00
Nov

4295
1926
1782
0.00

0.00
Dec

3836
1753
1966
0.00

0.00
Jan

3705
1731
1877
0.00

0.00
Feb

2334
1959
1895
0.00

0.00
Mar

1707
1787
2286
0.00

0.00
Apr

2461
2026
2427
0.00

0.00
May

1987
1541
2225
0.00

Jun

Attachment 11-4A

Customer Service Charter
Our service commitment:
The Western Metropolitan Regional Council is committed to providing you with the best possible
customer service. This charter outlines the standards of service you can expect when engaging
with the Western Metropolitan Regional Council in person, on the phone and online. This includes
when you visit the West Metro Recycling Centre or interact with our staff at the office or elsewhere.

What are our services?
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

West Metro Recycling Centre: operates at Brockway Rd, Shenton Park as a waste transfer
station and community recycling centre. Open for local government, commercial and residential
use.
Western Metropolitan Regional Council Administration: located on Churchill Ave, Subiaco.
Verge Valet: contract management and community communications for pre-booked bulk and
green waste verge collections.
Community Waste Education + Events: Waste Watchers Events, Community stalls, Facility
Tours, School Waste Education Days, low waste event equipment loan and Bin Tagging.
Digital Communications and Education: Website, Social Media and Email Correspondence
to answer questions and communicate the latest in waste and recycling and WMRC services.
Community Recycling Stations: units to collect specific waste items at publicly accessible
locations within the community.
Recycling Hotline 9384 6711: answers to your waste and recycling questions.
Consultancy and advocacy: Using our expertise and detailed knowledge to assist our
Member and Participating Councils.

Who are our customers?
•
•
•
•
•
•

Local Government, commercial and residential customers who use the West Metro Recycling
Centre.
Councillors, staff and residents of our Member and Participating Councils.
Councillors, staff and residents of other surrounding local governments and regional councils.
Community members and organisations with whom we engage at events, tours and schools.
State Government
Our own staff

Customer Service Charter
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We value:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Quality and reliability of our services.
Transparency of our service delivery.
Excellence in all that we do.
Value for money.
Sound risk management.
Collaboration and partnerships.
Community education and engagement.

We commit to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

A safe working environment
Consistent, efficient, friendly and reliable customer service.
Open, two-way, respectful, professional communication.
Valuing your time and money.
Following protocol and procedure where appropriate.
Responding to and anticipating customer needs and expectations.
Ongoing community consultation and engagement.
Continuously improving our waste reduction and recycling performance.

We strive to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Provide safe, attentive, efficient, and friendly service at our Recycling Centre
Promptly answer all waste and recycling questions through our Recycling Hotline
Provide engaging, educational community events and tours.
Provide relevant, helpful, up-to-date, information about waste management and our services
through our user-friendly website.
Provide informative, engaging, reliable and relevant content on our social media
Acknowledge and a reply to emails in a timely manner.
Answer or return your phone calls promptly.

Our staff will:
•
•
•

Take personal responsibility and accountability.
Always do their best to assist you in a timely manner.
Demonstrate high levels of internal and external customer service.

Implementation, Improvement & Innovation
We aim to fulfil our Customer Service Charter every day in all that we do. We seek to reassess and
improve our Customer Service Charter along with our Strategic Community Plan on a regular
basis. Whether you are a resident, business, council or staff member you have an important role in
helping us to improve our customer service standards. We encourage open communication, invite
feedback, compliments, suggestions and complaints. We will routinely consult with all customers
on a regular basis. Your feedback provides us with valuable information and an opportunity to
improve and develop our services.
Thank you �
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ATTACHMENT 11.5A - Progress on WMRC Resolutions as at 23 Nov 2020
Key:

Red – resolution not yet commenced.

Orange – resolution underway.

Green – resolution complete

DATE

ITEM

TITLE

COMMENT

OCM
1 October 2020

10.6.1

Council approve the schedule of Verge Valet top-up fees and charges as provided
in this report.

Top up service named ‘Verge Valet
Extra’, now live at Mosman Park.
Schedule of fees and charges amended.
Complete.

10.7.2

The CEO be authorised to forward the WMRC Waste Plan 2020-2025 and
completed self-assessment checklist to the CEO DWER.

Complete.

10.8.1

Council endorse the WMRC Occupational Health and Safety Management Plan
2020-21.

OH&S Management Plan posted to the
website; and staff briefed on the new
plan. Complete.

1

